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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT
(incorporated in the Republic of Hungary with limited liability)

€50,000,000
11.50 per cent. Notes due 29 January 2013

Issue Price 99.332 per cent.

The €50,000,000 11.50 per cent. Notes due 29 January 2013 (the “Notes™) will be issued by Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. (the “Issuer” or the “Company”). Interest on the Notes
is payable semi-annually in arrear on 29 January and 29 July in each year. Payments on the Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of taxes in Hungary.
Interest will accrue from and including 29 July 2011 to but excluding the date fixed for redemption and will be at the rate of 11.50 per cent. per annum. If, by 29 January
2012, (a) the Notes have not been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Definitions™), interest will accrue from and
including 29 January 2012 at 14.50 per cent. per annum or, (b) the Notes have been assigned a rating of less than B- (or its equivalent) by a Rating Agency, interest will
accrue from and including 29 January 2012 at 13.50 per cent. per annum.

The Notes mature on 29 January 2013. The Notes are subject to redemption in whole, at their principal amount, together with accrued interest, at the option of the Issuer
at any time in the event of certain changes affecting taxes in Hungary. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase”. Following a Change of
Control, a Noteholder will have the right to require the Issuer to redeem the Notes held by such Noteholder at 101 per cent. of their aggregate principal amount, together
with accrued interest. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase”. The Issuer may redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, after 29 July
2012 at a redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Notes plus an applicable margin plus accrued interest up to the date for such redemption. See “Terms and
Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase”.

The Notes will constitute direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Status”.

The denomination of the Notes shall be €200,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof, up to and including €399,000. Application has been made to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the approval of this document for the purposes of Part IV of the Luxembourg Law dated 10 July 2005 on Prospectuses for Securities
(the “Luxembourg Law”). Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (the “Official List”) and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s Euro MTF market (the “Euro MTF”). References in this Information
Memorandum to the Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that the Notes have been admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the
Euro MTF. The Euro MTF is not a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (2009/39/EC). This Information Memorandum
constitutes a prospectus for the purposes of the Luxembourg Law dated 10 July 2005 on Prospectuses for Securities.

The Notes will initially be represented by a Global Note, without interest coupons, which will be deposited with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank
S.A/N.V. (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg™) on or about 29 July 2011. The Global Note will be exchangeable
for definitive Notes in bearer form in the denomination of €200,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof not less than 60 days following the request of the
Issuer or the holder in the limited circumstances set out in it. No definitive Notes will be issued with a denomination above €399,000. See “Summary of Provisions
relating to the Notes while in Global Form”.

AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the
section headed “Risk Factors” in this Information Memorandum.

Lead Manager

BNP PARIBAS



The Issuer takes responsibility for the information contained in this Information Memorandum and, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that (i) this Information Memorandum contains all information with
respect to the Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the “Group”) and the Notes which is
material in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, (ii) the statements contained in this Information
Memorandum relating to the Issuer, the Group and the Notes are in every material particular true and accurate
and not misleading, (iii) the opinions and intentions expressed in this Information Memorandum with regard
to the Issuer, the Group and the Notes are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant
circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions, (iv) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer,
the Group and the Notes the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes,
make any statement in this Information Memorandum misleading in any material respect and (v) all
reasonable enquiries have been made by the Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all
such information and statements.

This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of BNP
Paribas, the Issuer or the Trustee to subscribe or purchase, any of the Notes. The distribution of this
Information Memorandum and the offering of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.
Persons into whose possession this Information Memorandum comes are required by the Issuer and BNP
Paribas to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

This Information Memorandum may only be used for the purposes for which it has been published.

For a description of further restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and distribution of this Information
Memorandum, see “Subscription and Sale”.

No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this
Information Memorandum and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as
having been authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer, BNP Paribas or the Trustee. Neither the delivery of this
Information Memorandum nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create
any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon
which this Information Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented, or that there has
been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this
Information Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented, or that the information
contained in it or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is correct as of any time
subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing
the same.

Neither BNP Paribas nor the Trustee has separately verified the information contained in this Information
Memorandum. To the fullest extent permitted by law, BNP Paribas and the Trustee accept no responsibility
whatsoever for the contents of this Information Memorandum or for any other statement, made or purported to be
made by either of them or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes. BNP
Paribas and the Trustee accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise
(save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Information Memorandum or any such
statement. Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Notes is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a
recommendation by the Issuer, BNP Paribas or the Trustee that any recipient of this Information
Memorandum or any other such information should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes
should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Information Memorandum and
its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. Neither BNP Paribas nor
the Trustee undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the
arrangements contemplated by this Information Memorandum nor to advise any investor or potential investor
in the Notes of any information coming to its attention.

il



The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities
Act”) and are subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be
offered, sold or delivered within the United States.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references to “euros”, “Euros”, “EUR” and “€” are to the
currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to
the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended by the Treaty on European Union (as amended
from time to time), references to “dollars” and “U.S.$” are to United States dollars and references to “forint”
and “HUF” are to Hungarian forint. Unless otherwise specified, where financial information in relation to the
Issuer has been translated into Euros, it has been so translated, for convenience only, at the rate of HUF 280
equals €1. Such translation should not be construed as a representation that the amounts in question have
been, could have been or could be converted into Euros at that or any other rate.

The table below sets forth, for the periods and dates indicated, certain information regarding the exchange rate
between HUF and the Euro. This information is based on the exchange rate published by National Bank of
Hungary.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate between HUF and the Euro in the past are not necessarily indicative of
fluctuations that may occur in the future. These rates may also differ from the actual rates used in the
preparation of the Financial Statements and other information presented in this Information Memorandum.

HUF per EUR

Period Period
Year ended 31 December average end
2008 ...t 251.25 264.78
2009 ... 280.58 270.84
2000 i 275.41 278.75
Month ended
31 January 2011 ..o 275.45 273.30
28 February 2011 ....c..cccoevveinevinincinenccneniecnienes 271.18 272.34
31 March 2011 ..c.ooiiiiiicieiceceeeeceeeceee 270.72 265.78
30 APIIL 2011 i 265.36 264.14
31 May 2011 .o 266.78 266.78
30JUNe 2011 .o 266.66 265.61

The buying rate of the National Bank of Hungary of one EUR was HUF 269.40 on 25 July 2011.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements included herein may constitute forward-looking statements that involve a number of risks
and uncertainties. Certain such forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking

EEINT3 EERNT3 LEINT3 EERENT3

terminology such as “estimates”, “believes”, “expects”, “may”, “are expected to”, “intends”, “will”, “will
continue”, “should”, “would be”, “seeks”, “approximately” or “anticipates”, or similar expressions or the
negative thereof or other variations thereof or comparable terminology discussions of strategy, plans or
intentions. Such forward-looking statements are necessarily dependent on assumptions, data or methods that
may be incorrect or imprecise and that may be incapable of being realised. Such forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, the Issuer’s objective to maintain or increase its profitability and to remain
dominant in the Hungarian fertiliser market, the impact of the anticipated improvements in operational
efficiency and statements regarding planned capital expenditures. Factors that might affect such forward-
looking statements include, among other things, overall economic and business conditions in Hungary and its
neighbouring countries; the demand for the Issuer’s products; competitive factors in the industries in which
the Issuer competes; adverse weather conditions; changes in government regulation; changes in tax
requirements (including tax rate changes, new tax laws and revised tax law interpretations); results of
litigation or arbitration; changes in the price and availability of natural gas, electricity and other raw
materials; interest rate fluctuations and other market conditions, including foreign currency rate fluctuations;
fluctuations in the price of oil or natural gas; economic and political conditions in international markets,
including governmental changes and restrictions on the ability to transfer capital across borders and the
timing, impact and other uncertainties of future actions. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from these forward-looking statements.

The Issuer is not obliged to, and does not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statements made in
this Information Memorandum, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All
subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Issuer, or persons acting on the
Issuer’s behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained throughout this
Information Memorandum. As a result of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, a prospective purchaser
of the Notes should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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Overview

This overview must be read as an introduction to this Information Memorandum and any decision to invest in

the Notes should be based on a consideration of the Information Memorandum as a whole, including the full

terms and conditions. This overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its

entirety by, the remainder of this Information Memorandum.

Words and expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” or elsewhere in this Information

Memorandum have the same meanings in this summary.

The Issuer

Trustee

Principal Paying Agent
Additional Paying Agent
The Notes

Issue Price

Issue Date

Interest and Step-up

Status of the Notes

Form and Denomination

Events of Default

Redemption at the option of the Issuer

Nitrogénmivek Zrt.

BNP Paribas Trust Corporation UK Limited

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch
BNP Paribas Securities Services, London Branch
€50,000,000 11.50 per cent. Notes due 29 January 2013.
99.332 per cent. of the principal amount of the Notes.
29 July 2011

Subject as provided below, the Notes will bear interest from and
including the Issue Date at a rate of 11.50 per cent. per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrear on 29 January and 29 July in
each year.

If, by 29 January 2012, the Notes:

(a)  have not been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency
(as defined in Condition 18), the interest rate will be
14.50 per cent. per annum; or

(b)  have been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency of
less than B- (or its equivalent), the interest rate will
be 13.50 per cent. per annum; or

(c)  have been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency of
at least B- (or its equivalent), the interest rate will
remain at 11.50 per cent. per annum,

in each case, from and including 29 January 2012.

The Notes are direct, unsecured and unconditional obligations of
the Issuer.

The Notes will be in bearer form in the denomination of
€200,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof, up
to and including €399,000.

See “Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes in Global
Form”.

The events of default under the Notes are as specified in
Condition 8.

The Issuer may redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, at
any time on or after 29 July 2012 at a redemption price equal to



Change of Control

Negative Pledge

Financial Covenant

Restricted Payments

Limitation on Sales of Assets

Taxation and gross-up

Governing law

Listing and Trading

Clearing

the principal amount of such Notes plus a margin based on the
prevailing Rate of Interest (as described in Condition 5(¢)) up to
the date for such redemption.

In addition, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the
Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time in the event of
certain changes affecting taxes as more fully described in
Condition 5(b).

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined in
Condition 18 and pursuant to Condition 5(d)), each Noteholder
shall have the option to require the Issuer to redeem its Notes at
101 per cent. of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid
interest up to the date for such redemption.

The Notes will have the benefit of a negative pledge as described
in Condition 3(a).

The Issuer shall ensure that the ratio of Consolidated Net
Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA for each Relevant Period
will not be more than 3.00 to 1.00.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Issuer and its Subsidiaries will
be subject to limitations on the making of distributions and
similar payments, as described in Condition 3(d).

Subject to certain exceptions, the Issuer and its Subsidiaries will
be subject to limitations on the sale of assets, as described in
Condition 3(e).

The payment of interest and other amounts in respect of the
Notes will be made free of withholding taxes in Hungary, unless
such taxes are required by law to be withheld. In such case, the
Issuer will pay additional amounts as may be necessary in order
that the net amounts receivable by the holder, after such
deduction or withholding, shall equal the respective amounts
which would have been receivable by such holder in the absence
of such deduction or withholding except that no such additional
amounts shall be payable in certain circumstances.

See Condition 7 and “Taxation”.

The Notes, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or
in connection with them, will be governed by and shall by
construed in accordance with English law.

The courts of England will have jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Notes.

Application has been made to list the Notes on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange’s Official List and to admit such Notes to
trading on the Euro MTF.

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The Notes have the following
International Securities Identification Number (“ISIN”) and



Common Code:

ISIN: XS0653648161

Common Code: 065364816
Selling Restrictions See “Subscription and Sale”.

Risk Factors Investing in the Notes involves risks. See “Risk Factors”.



Risk Factors

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes. All
of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a
view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated
with the Notes are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the
Notes, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the
Notes for other reasons, and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of
holding the Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out
elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and reach their own conclusions prior to making any investment
decision.

Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under or in connection with
the Notes.

The Company has high exposure to natural gas market volatility

The Company’s industry is dependent on natural gas, which is subject to a high level of price volatility.
Natural gas is the principal raw material used to produce nitrogen-based fertilisers. The Company uses natural
gas both as a chemical feedstock and as a fuel to produce ammonia, urea, CAN, AN and other nitrogen
products. The Company’s expenditures on natural gas comprised approximately 51 per cent. of the total cost
of their nitrogen-based fertiliser sales in 2010.

Because the Company’s nitrogen-based fertiliser manufacturing facilities are located in Hungary, the price of
natural gas in Central Europe directly impacts a substantial portion of the Company operating expenses. The
price of natural gas is highly volatile. During 2010, the median daily price at the Central European Gas Hub
(“CEGH”), the most heavily-traded natural gas pricing basis in Central Europe, exceeded €18.9 per MWh,
reached a low of €11.624 per MWh on 23 March 2010 and escalated to a high of €25.046 per MWh on
20 December 2010. The June contract for the CEGH priced at €23.757 per MWh on 9 May 2011. The market
price of natural gas in Europe is also generally higher than the price of natural gas in certain other major
fertiliser-producing regions, including the Middle East. Recent declines in the price of natural gas have been
driven, in part, by the economic slowdown in the region and globally increasing sources. Any significant
change in economic activity in the region could cause the price of natural gas to rise significantly. Given the
volatility of pricing and the Company’s dependence on European natural gas, the price that the Company pays
for natural gas in the future may be higher than prices paid by producers in certain other fertiliser-producing
regions of the world, which could make it more difficult for the Company to compete against these producers
and any such event or circumstance could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations.

The Company may not be able to pass along higher operating costs to its customers in the form of higher
product prices. A significant increase in the price of natural gas (which can be driven by, among other things,
supply disruptions, governmental or regulatory actions, cold weather and oil price spikes) that is not hedged
or recovered through an increase in the price of related nitrogen products could result in reduced profit
margins and lower product production and any such event or circumstance could have an adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations.



There is no certainty in demand for the Company’s products

The Company’s business is cyclical, resulting in periods of industry oversupply during which the Company’s
results of operations tend to be negatively impacted. Historically, selling prices for the Company’s products
have fluctuated in response to periodic changes in supply and demand conditions. Demand is affected by
population growth, changes in dietary habits, non-food usage of crops, such as the production of ethanol and
other biofuels, and planted acreage and application rates, among other things. Supply is affected by available
capacity and operating rates, raw material costs and availability, government policies and global trade.
Periods of high demand, high capacity utilisation and increasing operating margins tend to result in new plant
investment and increased production, causing supply to exceed demand and prices and capacity utilisation to
decline. In particular, new production capacity is expected to increase in low-cost regions, although there is
no certainty that such products would viably compete in the Company’s markets. Future growth in demand
for fertiliser may not be sufficient to alleviate any existing or future conditions of excess industry capacity.
During periods of industry oversupply, the Company’s results of operations tend to be affected negatively as
the price at which they sell the products typically declines, resulting in reduced profit margins, write-downs in
the value of the inventory, lower production of key products and/or plant closures. Periods of oversupply
could adversely effect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Company competes with a number of foreign nitrogen-based fertiliser producers, including state-
owned and/or government-subsidised entities

The Company’s products are global commodities and the Company faces intense global competition from
other fertiliser producers and is subject to intense price competition from foreign competitors. Fertilisers are
global commodities, with little or no product differentiation, and customers make their purchasing decisions
principally on the basis of delivered price and to a lesser extent on customer service and product quality. The
Company competes with a number of foreign producers, including state-owned and government-subsidised
entities. Consolidation in the fertiliser industry has increased the resources of several of their competitors, and
the Company expects consolidation among fertiliser producers to continue. In light of this industry
consolidation, the Company’s competitive position could suffer to the extent that they are not able to expand
their own resources either through investments in new or existing operations or through acquisitions, joint
ventures or partnerships. Any increase in capacity could adversely affect the balance between supply and
demand and may put downward pressure on global and regional fertiliser prices, which could adversely affect
the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

Adverse we ather condi tions may decr ease demand f or fertilis er pr oducts and i ncrease the c ost of
natural gas

Weather conditions that delay or intermittently disrupt field work during the planting and growing seasons
may cause agricultural customers to reduce their consumption of nitrogen-based fertilisers. Adverse weather
conditions following harvest may delay or eliminate opportunities to apply fertiliser in the autumn. Weather
can also have an adverse effect on crop yields, which lowers the income of growers and could impair their
ability to purchase fertiliser from the Company or their agents. Weather conditions or, in certain cases,
weather forecasts, can also dramatically affect the price of natural gas, the Company’s principal raw material
used to make nitrogen-based fertilisers. Colder than normal winters and warmer than normal summers
increase the natural gas demand for residential use which increases the market price for natural gas. Adverse
weather conditions could therefore adversely effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Demand for the Company’s products is seasonal

The Company’s inability to predict future seasonal fertiliser demand accurately could result in excess
inventory, potentially at costs in excess of market value or product shortages. The fertiliser business is

10



seasonal. The strongest demand for the Company’s products occurs during the spring planting season, with a
second period of strong demand following the autumn harvest. The Company and their customers generally
build inventories during the low demand periods of the year in order to ensure timely product availability
during the peak sales seasons. Seasonality is greatest for ammonia due to the short application season and the
limited ability of the sales agents and their customers to store significant quantities of this product. The
seasonality of fertiliser demand results in sales volumes and net sales being the highest during the spring and
working capital requirements being the highest just prior to the start of the spring season. The Company’s
inability to predict future seasonal fertiliser demand accurately could result in excess inventory, potentially at
costs in excess of market value or product shortages. The Company’s quarterly financial results can vary
significantly from one year to the next due to shifts in planting schedules and purchasing patterns. Such
seasonal fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations, and on its ability to comply with its obligations under the Notes.

Seasonal demand and fluc tuations in ra w material costs can mak e it d ifficult for the C ompany to
effectively manage its inventory

If seasonal demand is less than the Company expects, it will be left with excess inventory that will have to be
stored (in which case their results of operations will be negatively impacted by any related storage costs)
and/or liquidated (in which case the selling price may be below the Company’s production, procurement and
storage costs). The risks associated with excess inventory and product shortages are particularly acute with
respect to the Company’s nitrogen-based fertiliser business because of the highly volatile cost of natural gas
and nitrogen-based fertiliser prices and the relatively brief periods during which farmers can apply nitrogen-
based fertilisers. Any such event or circumstance could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations.

The Company is subject to potentially onerous environmental and health and safety laws

The Company is subject to numerous environmental and health and safety laws and regulations, including
laws and regulations relating to land reclamation; the generation, treatment, storage, disposal and handling of
hazardous substances and wastes; and the clean-up of hazardous substance releases, as well as potential
environmental liabilities which may require it to make substantial expenditures. There can be no certainty as
to how much the cost of compliance with laws and regulations will be in the future. The impact of such laws
and regulations, and any costs associated with them, could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial
conditions and results of operations.

Capital Investment Programme

The Company is currently implementing an extensive programme to modernise its existing production
facilities, which will require significant capital expenditures (see “Description of Issuer — Investment
Strategy’). The capital investment programme is subject to a variety of potential problems and uncertainties,
including changes in economic conditions, delays in completion, cost overruns and defects in design or
construction. There can be no assurance that the modernisation of and planned improvements in the
Company’s facilities will be completed as originally planned or on schedule or that the expected
improvements in production, efficiency or volume will be fully realised.

The current investment programme requires substantial capital expenditure. The Company hopes to spend
approximately €30 million to €50 million to complete the proposed investment programme by the end of
2014. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, the Company may be
adversely affected and, in particular, may not be able to pursue its strategy of investing in its production
facilities or respond to competitive pressures. This could have a negative impact on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operation.
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Reliance on Key Senior Managers

The Company is dependent on its senior management for the implementation of its strategy and the
management of its day-to-day operations. If the Company is unable to retain key members of its senior
management and cannot hire new qualified personnel in a timely manner, its business, results of operations
and financial condition may be adversely affected as may its ability to satisfy its obligations under the Notes.

Publicly available information about the Company may be limited

The Company’s shares are not listed on any exchange. The Company is also unrated and it is not required to
undertake the financial reporting or ongoing disclosure obligations which investors may be used to seeing
undertaken by other companies in which they invest. A lack of readily available public information may make
it more difficult for an investor to assess the performance and current prospects of the Company at any time.
If investors experience a delay in important information coming to their intention or if information is not
accurately or fully brought to their attention, then it may make it more difficult for them to make informed
investment decisions with respect to the Notes.

Interests of persons with beneficial interests in shares in the Company may differ from the interests of
Noteholders

All shares of the Company are ultimately owned by two family members. As a result of their interest in the
Company, the Shareholders have the ability to significantly influence the Issuer’s business through certain
actions that require shareholders’ approval, including increase or decrease of the Issuer’s share capital,
appointment of directors, declaration of dividends, appointment of management and other policy decisions.
The interests of the Shareholders may be different from those of the Noteholders which may cause the Issuer
to take actions that are not in the best interests of the Noteholders.

Volatility of Financial Results

The Issuer’s results of operations are substantially affected by variations in the realised sale prices of its
products and the costs associated with its production. These elements are affected by many factors, including,
among others, the price and availability of raw materials (particularly natural gas), the demand for and prices
of the Issuer’s products, the efficiency of operations at its facilities, the timing and pricing of orders, industry
competition and excess industry capacity. There can be no assurance that these elements, or others that may
affect product prices or production costs, will not be adverse to the Issuer’s interests. Fluctuations in the
realised sale prices of the Issuer’s products or the costs associated with its production could have a material
adverse effect on the Issuer’s operating results or financial condition. Sharp fluctuations in such prices and
costs could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operation.

Raw Materials and Energy

The continuous supply of raw materials (most notably natural gas) and energy (electricity) is fundamental to
nitrogen-based fertiliser production. The price and availability of raw materials and energy are subject to
market conditions which can be negatively affected by a number of factors beyond the Company’s control,
including, but not limited to, interruptions in production by suppliers, suppliers’ allocation of materials or
energy to other purchasers, industry trends, transport costs, weather and natural disasters. Although the
Company seeks to secure adequate supplies of raw materials at competitive rates, there can be no assurance
that it will be able to secure such supplies on favourable commercial terms, or at all. Hungary is heavily
dependent on natural gas supplies which originate in Russia and, therefore, any major changes in European
relations with Russia, or in relations between specific Eastern European countries and Russia, could also
make it difficult for the Company to secure supplies of natural gas on favourable commercial terms. Any
interruption in the supply of raw materials or energy, or any substantial increases in their costs, could
adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to produce and sell products which could have an adverse impact on the
Issuer’s financial condition and results of operation.

12



If any interruption in electricity supply or natural gas supply were to occur, the Company’s production
facilities would shut down, after which a time period may be required to recommence the production
processes. Interruptions or failures in electricity supply could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company is exposed to concentration risk

The Company sells its products directly to clients and to third parties, integrators, who buy agricultural
product from manufacturers and provide financing and such products to end-users. The Company's largest
sole client is an integrator, KITE Zrt, who in the year ended 31 December 2010 accounted for approximately
25 per cent. of the Company's domestic sales. Although the Company believes its risks toward KITE Zrt are
mitigated by the fact that the Company is the only fertiliser manufacturer that can supply KITE Zrt with the
amount and type of product it requires, the Company's financial performance is dependant upon its major
clients and KITE Zrt in particular. If any major clients of the Company were to use other suppliers or to
experience financial difficulties, it would have an adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and
results of operations.

The Com pany’s op erations ar e d ependant on it b eing able to secur e an d maint ain the necessary
permits and approvals

The Company’s operations are dependent on numerous required permits, approvals and financial assurance
requirements from governmental authorities. The Company holds numerous environmental and other
governmental permits and approvals authorising operations at each of its facilities. Expansion of the
Company’s operations is also predicated upon securing the necessary environmental or other permits or
approvals. A decision by a government agency to deny or delay issuing a new or renewed material permit or
approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an existing permit or approval, could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s ability to continue operations at the affected facility and on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Operating Risks, Hazards and Disruptions

The Company’s operations are subject to numerous operating risks, including technical failures, fires and
accidents at its operating locations and facilities. These risks and hazards could result in damage to, or the
destruction of, the Company’s properties or production facilities and may reduce or stop production at such
properties or facilities. These risks and hazards may also result in personal injury or death, environmental
damage and possible legal liability. Disruptions in operations resulting from such risks or hazards could cause
actual production to differ from the Company’s production estimates. The effects of these risks, hazards and
potential disruptions could adversely affect the Company’s ability to produce and sell products, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to meet its obligations under the Notes.

Litigation and State Aid Reimbursement

The Company is subject to risks relating to legal and regulatory proceedings. Furthermore, the European
Commission has concluded that part of the state support granted in 2009 to the Company infringed EU state
aid rules, and the Hungarian state has been therefore obliged to recover some of the financial benefit which it
afforded to the Company. Although the Company does not expect the litigation and regulatory proceedings to
which it is currently a party to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of
operations, the Company cannot guarantee the ultimate outcome of such legal proceedings or regulatory
proceedings. Furthermore, the Company or its Subsidiaries may become involved in legal proceedings or
regulatory proceedings in the future which may have a material adverse effect on results of operations or
financial condition. For further information on the legal and regulatory proceedings currently facing the
Company, see “Litigation — Shell”, “Litigation EMFESZ”, “Litigation — Ownership Dispute” and “Litigation
— State Aid”.
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Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the
Notes

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

° have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits
and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in this Information Memorandum,;

° have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

o have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes;
o understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes; and
. be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for

economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

A potential investor should not invest in the Notes, which are complex financial instruments, unless it has the
expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under
changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have
on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

There is no public market for the Notes

There is no existing market for the Notes and there can be no assurance regarding the development of any
market for the Notes. Application has been made for admission to trading of the Notes on the Euro MTF
market. However, an active trading market in the Notes may not develop or be maintained despite a listing.
No assurance can be made as to the liquidity of any market that may develop for the Notes, the ability of the
Noteholders to sell the Notes or the price at which Noteholders may be able to sell the Notes. The liquidity of
any market for the Notes will depend on the number of Noteholders, prevailing interest rates, the market for
similar securities and other factors, including general economic conditions and the Company’s financial
condition, performance and prospects, as well as recommendations of securities analysts. Disruptions recently
experienced in the global capital markets have led to reduced liquidity and increased credit risk premiums and
have, therefore, resulted in a reduction in investment in securities globally.

The market price of the Notes may be volatile

The market price of the Notes could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to actual or anticipated
variations in the Company’s operating results and those of the Company’s competitors, adverse business
developments, changes to the regulatory environment in which the Company operates, changes in financial
estimates by securities analysts and the actual or expected sale of a large number of Notes, as well as other
factors, including the credit rating (if any) of the Company, and the trading market for notes issued by or on
behalf of Hungary as a sovereign borrower. In addition, in recent years, the global financial markets have
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations which, if repeated in the future, could adversely affect
the market price of the Notes without regard to the Company’s operating results, financial condition or
prospects or any credit rating of the Issuer.
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The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

In the event that a change in tax law causes the Company to be obliged to increase the amounts payable in
respect of any Notes, due to any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or on behalf of Hungary or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof
having power to tax, the Company may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions. See
“Condition 5 — Redemption and Purchase”.

The Comp any may n ot be able t o fina nce a r edemption at the option of the Notehol ders upon a
Change of Control

Should a Change of Control (as defined in Condition 18) occur, the Noteholders will have the right to require
the Company to repurchase all or part of the Notes at 101 per cent. of their principal amount, plus accrued and
unpaid interest. See “Condition 5 — Redemption and Purchase”. There can be no assurance made that the
Company will be in a position to finance a redemption at the option of the Noteholders upon a Change of
Control at all times throughout the term of the Notes.

Financial turmoil in emerging markets could cause the price of the Notes to suffer

The market price of the Notes may be influenced by economic and market conditions in Hungary and, to a
varying degree, economic and market conditions in other eastern European and former Soviet Union countries
and emerging markets generally. In the past, financial turmoil in emerging markets has adversely affected
market prices in the world’s securities markets for companies that operate in these economies. Even if the
Hungarian economy remains relatively stable, financial turmoil in these other countries could materially
adversely affect the market price of the Notes. During and since the recent financial and economic crisis,
many global securities markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. Continuation or
intensification of financial or economic turmoil could materially adversely affect the market price of the
Notes.

Payments of interest within the jurisdiction of a European Union Member State are subject to the EU
Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC (the “EU Savings Directive”) on the taxation of savings income,
Member States are required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of
interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to or for an individual resident in that other
Member State or to certain limited types of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a
transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect
otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional
period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange
with certain other countries) subject to a procedure whereby, on meeting certain conditions, the beneficial
owner of the interest or other income may request that no tax be withheld. A number of non-EU countries and
territories, including Switzerland, have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of
Switzerland).

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system
and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor any
Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any Note as a
result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to maintain a Paying Agent in a
Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the EU Savings Directive.

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the EU Savings Directive which may, if
implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above.
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Integral multiples of less than the denomination amount

The denomination of the Notes is €200,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof. Therefore, it is
possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of €200,000 that are not integral multiples of
€200,000. In such a case, a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of
less than €200,000 will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be
printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or
more denominations.
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Terms and Conditions of the Notes

The following are the terms and conditions substantially in the form in which they will be endorsed on the
Notes:

The issue of the Notes was authorised by a resolution of the General Meeting of the Issuer passed on 17 May
2011. The Notes are constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Trust Deed”) dated 29 July 2011 between the Issuer
and BNP Paribas Trust Corporation UK Limited (the “Trustee” which expression shall include all persons for
the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the
“Noteholders”). These terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) include summaries of, and are subject to, the
detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Notes and the coupons relating to them
(the “Coupons”). Copies of the Trust Deed, and of the Agency Agreement (the “Agency Agreement”) dated
29 July 2011 relating to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee, BNP Paribas Securities Services,
Luxembourg Branch as initial principal paying agent and any other paying agents named in it, are available
for inspection during usual business hours at the principal office of the Trustee (presently at 55 Moorgate,
London EC2R 6PA, United Kingdom) and at the specified offices of the principal paying agent for the time
being (the “Principal Paying Agent”). “Agents” means the Principal Paying Agent and any other paying
agents appointed from time to time with respect to the Notes. The Noteholders and the holders of the Coupons
(whether or not attached to the relevant Notes) (the “Couponholders”) are entitled to the benefit of, are
bound by and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice
of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

Form, Denomination and Title

(a) Form and denomination: The Notes are serially numbered and in bearer form in the
denomination of €200,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof up to and including
€399,000, each with Coupons attached on issue. No definitive Notes will be issued with a
denomination above €399,000.

(b) Title: Title to the Notes and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Note or Coupon will
(except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or
not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing
on it, or its theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

Status

The Notes and Coupons constitute (subject to Condition 3(a)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall
at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the
Issuer under the Notes and the Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable
legislation and subject to Condition 3(a) and (o), at all times rank at least equally with all its other present
and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

Negative Pledge and Covenants
So long as any amount remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) under the Notes or Coupons:

(a) Negative Pledge:

The Issuer shall not, and shall ensure that none of its Subsidiaries will, create, Incur, assume or
suffer to exist any Liens, other than Permitted Liens, on any of its or their assets, now owned or
hereafter acquired, or any income or profits therefrom, securing any Indebtedness, unless, at the
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(b)

(c)

same time or prior thereto, the Notes and any Coupons are secured equally and rateably with
such other Indebtedness or the Issuer grants such other security to the Noteholders as either (i)
the Trustee shall in its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the interests of
the Noteholders or (ii) as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the
Trust Deed) of the Noteholders.

Financial Covenant:

The Issuer shall ensure that the ratio of (x) the Consolidated Net Indebtedness as at the last day of
each Relevant Period to (y) Consolidated EBITDA for such Relevant Period will not be more than
3.00 to 1.00. Such amounts shall be computed, in the case of a Relevant Period ending on the last
day of a financial year of the Issuer, from the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements as at, and
in respect of the 12 months ending on, the last day of such Relevant Period and, in the case of a
Relevant Period ending on the last day of the first half of the financial year of the Issuer, on a pro
forma basis from the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ending on
the last day of such Relevant Period and the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the
fiscal year ending during such Relevant Period; in each case after giving effect on a pro forma
basis to:

) the incurrence, repayment, repurchase or other discharge of any Indebtedness, in each
case, during the Relevant Period and the receipt and application of the proceeds
therefrom as well as the funds for such repurchase, repayment or other discharge as if
any such transaction occurred on the date of determination with respect to paragraph (x)
above and on the first date of the Relevant Period with respect to paragraph (y) above;
and

(ii)  the exclusion of Consolidated EBITDA directly attributable to any Asset Sale or the
inclusion of Consolidated EBITDA directly attributable to any Asset Acquisition
(including, without limitation, any Asset Acquisition giving rise to the need to make
such calculation as a result of the incurrence or assumption of Indebtedness) occurring
during the Relevant Period as if any such transaction occurred on the first day of the
Relevant Period;

For purposes of this definition, any such pro forma Consolidated EBITDA in respect of an
Asset Acquisition may only be so included if such pro forma Consolidated EBITDA shall have
been derived from (i) financial statements of, or relating to or including, such acquired entity,
that have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards or (ii) such other financial
statements or financial reports of the acquired entity that the chief financial officer of the Group
believes in good faith to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the
acquired entity so as to permit such a pro forma Consolidated EBITDA to be prepared on the
basis of reasonable assumptions and estimates. If any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of
interest and is being given pro forma effect, the interest on such Indebtedness shall be
calculated as if the rate in effect on the date of determination had been the applicable rate for
the entire period (taking into account any Interest Rate Agreement applicable to such
Indebtedness if such Interest Rate Agreement has a remaining term in excess of 12 months). If
any Indebtedness is incurred under a revolving credit facility and is being given pro forma
effect, the interest on such Indebtedness shall be calculated based on the average daily balance
of such Indebtedness for the two consecutive fiscal six-month periods subject to the pro forma
calculation to the extent such Indebtedness was incurred solely for working capital purposes

Restricted Payments:
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(d)

(e)

The Issuer shall not, and shall ensure that each of its Subsidiaries will not, directly or indirectly:

(i) declare or pay any dividend, in cash or otherwise, or make any other distribution (whether
by way or redemption, acquisition or otherwise) in respect of its share capital (other than
a dividend or other distribution payable to the Issuer or a Subsidiary); or

(i) voluntarily purchase, redeem or otherwise retire for value any Capital Stock or
subordinated debt (other than (i) Capital Stock or subordinated debt held by the Issuer or
any Subsidiary and (ii) Capital Stock purchased by the Issuer from any Person other than
an Affiliate for re-sale to an Affiliate within 90 days of the date of purchase at a price at
least equal to the price which the Issuer paid for such Capital Stock),

(any such action, a “Restricted Payment”) if (w) at such time there exists an Event of Default or
any Potential Event of Default, or (x) if such Restricted Payment when aggregated with all other
Restricted Payments previously made in respect of the relevant fiscal year exceeds 25 per cent. of
the Group’s consolidated net profit (calculated in accordance with IFRS) for such fiscal year, or
(z) if such Restricted Payment would cause or result in a breach of one or more of the covenants
contained in this Condition 3.

Limitation on Sales of Assets:

The Issuer shall not and shall ensure that no member of the Group shall, consummate any Asset
Sale, unless (a) the value of the consideration received by the relevant member of the Group is at
least equal to the Fair Market Value, (b) 75 per cent. of the consideration for each such Asset Sale
is received in cash or Cash Equivalents and (c) an amount equal to such proceeds (less any costs
incurred in relation to such Asset Sale and any provision for taxes payable as a result of such
Asset Sale and amounts to be provided as a reserve in respect of liabilities associated with such
Asset Sale retained by members of the Group) (the “Disposal Proceeds”) is:

(i) applied to repay permanently any indebtedness of the Group (other than Indebtedness of
the Issuer subordinated to the Notes); or

(i) invested in assets of a nature or type that is used or usable in the ordinary course of a
Permitted Business of the Group; and

in each case, the Issuer or the member of the Group, as the case may be, shall apply or invest the
Disposal Proceeds on or prior to the date falling 12 months after the date when such proceeds are
received.

An Asset Sale consummated by way of set-off in order to discharge any indebtedness of the Group
(other than Indebtedness of the Issuer subordinated to the Notes), rather than the Issuer or member
of the Group receiving proceeds in cash or Cash Equivalents pursuant to (ii) above, shall not be
deemed to breach this Condition 3(e) provided that such Asset Sale is consummated on terms no
less favourable to the Issuer than if it had received cash or Cash Equivalents pursuant to (ii)
above.

Financial Information:

(i) The Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee as soon as they become available, but in any event
within 150 days after the end of its financial year, copies of its consolidated financial
statements for such financial year, audited by the Auditors and prepared in accordance
with IFRS consistently applied with the corresponding financial statements for the
preceding period.
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(f)

(ii)

(iif)

(v)

(vi)

The Issuer shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 60 days
after the end of each first half year of its financial years thereafter, deliver to the Trustee
the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements for such period.

The Issuer shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within (i) 150
days after the end of its financial year, or (ii) 60 days after the end of each first half year,
as the case may be, hold a conference call in English, with any Noteholders who so wish,
to explain the Issuer’s financial results for the latest financial period.

The Issuer shall ensure that each set of consolidated financial statements delivered by it
pursuant to this Condition 3(f) is:

(X)  prepared generally on the same basis as was used in the preparation of its Original
Financial Statements (including with respect to presentation of prior periods) and
in accordance with IFRS and consistently applied;

(y)  in the case of the statements provided pursuant to Condition 3(f)(i), accompanied
by a report thereon of the Auditors referred to in Condition 3(f)(i) (including
opinions of such Auditors with accompanying notes and annexes); and

(z)  in the case of the statements provided pursuant to Conditions 3(f)(i) and 3(f)(ii),
certified by an Authorised Signatory of the Issuer that the information with respect
to the Group included in the financial statements pursuant to Condition 3(f)(v)
gives a true and fair view of the Group’s consolidated financial condition as at the
end of the period to which those consolidated financial statements relate and of the
results of the Group’s operations during such period.

The Issuer undertakes to furnish such information to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or
any stock exchange or stock exchanges or any relevant authority or authorities on which
the Notes may, from time to time, be listed or admitted to trading (the “Stock Exchange”)
(with a copy to the Trustee) as such Stock Exchange may require as necessary in
connection with the listing or admission to trading on such Stock Exchange of the Notes.

The semi-annual and annual financial information to be delivered pursuant to Conditions
3(f)(1) and 3(f)(i1) will be prepared on the basis of accounting principles consistent with
those that formed the basis of the Original Financial Statements in respect of the Group,
in each case as at and for the periods covered by the relevant financial information, either
on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto.

Maintenance of Authorisations:

(i)

(ii)

The Issuer shall, and shall procure that its Subsidiaries shall, take all necessary action to
obtain and do or cause to be done all things necessary, in the opinion of the Issuer or the
relevant Subsidiary, to ensure the continuance of its corporate existence, its business
and/or operations; and

The Issuer shall, and shall procure that Subsidiaries shall, take all necessary action to
obtain, and do or cause to be done all things necessary to ensure the continuance of, all
consents, licences, approvals and authorisations, and make or cause to be made all
registrations, recordings and filings, which may at any time be required to be obtained or
made in any relevant jurisdiction for the execution, delivery or performance of the Notes
and the Agreements or for the validity or enforceability thereof;
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(9)

(h)

(k)

except where failure not to take such action does not and will not have a Material Adverse Effect.
Environmental Compliance:

The Issuer will, and will ensure that its Subsidiaries do, comply with all Environmental Laws
and obtain and maintain any Environmental Licences and take all reasonable steps in
anticipation of known or expected future changes to or obligations under the same, except
where failure to do so does not and will not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Maintenance of Property:

The Issuer will, and will procure that its Subsidiaries will, cause all of the property used in the
conduct of its or their business to be maintained and kept in good condition, repair and working
order and supplied with all necessary equipment and shall cause to be made all necessary
repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereof, all as, in the judgment
of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, may be reasonably necessary so that the business carried
on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all times, except where failure to do
so does not and will not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Maintenance of Insurance:

So long as any amount remains outstanding under the Notes or the Coupons, the Issuer and any
Subsidiary shall maintain insurance on those of their properties which are of an insurable nature
to the extent required under the laws of the relevant jurisdictions where such properties are
located, except where failure to do so does not and will not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Payment of Taxes and Other Claims:

The Issuer shall, and shall ensure that its Subsidiaries will, pay or discharge or cause to be paid
or discharged before the same shall become overdue all taxes, assessments and governmental
charges levied or imposed upon, or upon the income, profits or property of, the Issuer and its
Subsidiaries provided that none of them shall be in breach of this Condition 3(k) if the Issuer or
any Subsidiary has failed to pay or discharge or cause to be paid or discharged any tax,
assessment, charge or claim if such amount, applicability or validity is being contested in good
faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves in accordance with IFRS or
other appropriate provision has been made, or if a failure to pay or discharge or cause to be paid
or discharged such amount would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Officers’ Certificates:

(i) The Issuer will at the same time as delivering its audited annual financial statements
pursuant to Condition 3(f)(i), and in addition within 14 days of any request by the
Trustee, deliver to the Trustee written notice in the form of an Officers’ Certificate stating
whether any Potential Event of Default or Event of Default or Change of Control has
occurred and, if it has occurred and shall be continuing, what action the Issuer is taking or
proposes to take with respect thereto and that the Issuer has complied with its obligations
under the Trust Deed and the Conditions upon which the Trustee shall be entitled to rely
(without liability to any person).

(ii) The Issuer will at the same time as delivering its audited annual financial statements
pursuant to Condition 3(f)(i), and in addition within 14 days of a request from the Trustee,
deliver to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate specifying those companies which were, at a
date no more than 20 days before the date of such Officers’ Certificate, Subsidiaries.
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(m)

(iif)

The Issuer will at the same time as delivering its financial statements pursuant to
Conditions 3(f)(i) and 3(f)(ii) respectively, and in addition within 14 days of a request
from the Trustee, deliver to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate stating the ratio of
Consolidated Net Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA for the Relevant Period ending
on the balance sheet date of such financial statements and confirming compliance with
Condition 3(b) upon which the Trustee shall be entitled to rely (without liability to any
person).

Change of Business:

The Issuer shall not, and shall ensure that no Subsidiary will, engage in any business other than

a Permitted Business.

Mergers and Similar Transactions:

The Issuer will not consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey, transfer or lease, in one

transaction or a series of transactions, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all its assets to,

any Person (other than a Subsidiary), unless:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

either (A) the Issuer will be the continuing corporation or (B) the resulting, surviving or
transferee Person, if not the Issuer (the "Successor Company"), shall be a Person
organised and existing under the laws of Hungary or any state which is a member of the
European Union and the Successor Company (if not the Issuer) shall expressly assume,
by way of supplemental agreement in form satisfactory to the Trustee, all the obligations
of the Issuer under the Notes, the Coupons and the Agreements, as the case may be;

immediately after giving pro forma effect to such transaction (and treating any
Indebtedness which becomes an obligation of the Issuer or the Successor Company or any
of their respective Subsidiaries as a result of such transaction as having been Incurred by
the Issuer such Successor Company or such Subsidiary at the time of such transaction),
no Potential Event of Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;

immediately after giving pro forma effect to such transaction, the Issuer or the Successor
Company, as the case may be, would be able to Incur an additional €1.00 of Indebtedness
pursuant to Condition 3(b)(i);

the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of
Counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger or transfer and such supplemental
trust deed (if any) comply with the Trust Deed; and

the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the
Noteholders will not recognise income, gain or loss for United Kingdom or Hungarian
income tax purposes as a result of such transaction and will be subject to income tax on
the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case
if such transaction had not occurred,

provided, however, that paragraph (iii) will not be applicable to (A) a Subsidiary consolidating

with, merging into or transferring all or part of its properties and assets to the Issuer (so long as

no Capital Stock of the Issuer is distributed to any Person) or (B) the Issuer merging with an

Affiliate of the Issuer solely for the purpose and with the sole effect of reincorporating the

Issuer in another jurisdiction.
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The Successor Company will be the successor to the Issuer and shall succeed to, and be
substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the Issuer under, the Trust Deed, and
the predecessor Issuer in relation to the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed.

For the purposes of this Condition 3(n), the sale, lease, conveyance, assignment, transfer or
other disposition of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of one or more
Subsidiaries which properties and assets, if held by the Issuer instead of such Subsidiaries,
would constitute all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Issuer on a
consolidated basis, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all or substantially all of the properties
and assets of the Issuer.

(n) Claims Pari Passu:

The Issuer shall ensure that at all times the claims of the Noteholders, the Couponholders and
the Trustee against the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Notes and Coupons, rank at least
pari passu with the claims of all its other present and future unsubordinated unsecured creditors,
save for those claims that are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or similar
laws of general application in Hungary or any jurisdiction in which the Issuer has Subsidiaries,
assets or operations, or any other mandatory provisions of applicable law.

(0) Payments for Consent:

The Issuer will not, and will ensure that no Subsidiary will, directly or indirectly, pay or cause
to be paid any consideration to or for the benefit of any holder of Notes or Coupons for or as an
inducement to any consent, waiver or amendment of any of the terms or provisions of the Trust
Deed or the Notes or Coupons unless such consideration is offered to be paid, and if due to be
paid is paid, to all holders of Notes or Coupons that consent, waive or agree to amend in the
time frame set forth in the solicitation documents relating to such consent, waiver or agreement.

(p) Compliance with Laws:

Except where failure to be so in compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect, the
Issuer will at all times comply, and shall procure that each of its Subsidiaries complies at all
times, with all applicable provisions of the laws and directives of government authorities with
the force of law and regulations in Hungary, or, so far as the Issuer is aware, any other law or
regulation affecting it.

(q) Transactions with Affiliates:

Interest

The Issuer shall not, and shall ensure that none of its Subsidiaries will, directly or indirectly,
conduct any business, enter into or permit to exist any transaction or series of related
transactions (including the purchase, sale, transfer, assignment, lease, conveyance or exchange
of any property or the rendering of any service) with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate (an
“Affiliate Transaction”), including inter-company loans, unless the terms of such Affiliate
Transaction are (taking into account the creditworthiness of the relevant Affiliate) no less
favourable to the Issuer or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, than those that could be
obtained in a comparable arms’-length transaction for Fair Market Value with a Person that is
not an Affiliate of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries.

Subject as provided in the following paragraph of this Condition 4, the Notes bear interest from and including

the Issue Date at the rate of 11.50 per cent. (the “Rate of Interest”) per annum, payable semi-annually in
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arrear on 29 January and 29 July in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”). Each Note will cease to
bear interest from and including the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of
principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both
before and after judgment) until but excluding whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in
respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (b) the day seven
days after the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Noteholders of receipt of all sums due in
respect of all the Notes up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent
payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).

If, by 29 January 2012, the Notes:

(a)  have not been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency, the Rate of Interest per annum will be 14.50 per
cent. per annum from, and including, 29 January 2012 to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption;
or

(b)  have been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency of less than B- (or its equivalent), the Rate of Interest
per annum will be 13.50 per cent. per annum from, and including, 29 January 2012 to, but excluding,
the date fixed for redemption; or

(c)  have been assigned a rating by a Rating Agency of at least B- (or its equivalent), the Rate of Interest
per annum will remain 11.50 per cent. per annum,

in each case payable semi-annually in arrear as aforesaid.

Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is equal to or shorter than an Interest Period (as
defined below), the day-count fraction used will be the number of days in the relevant period, from and
including the date from which interest begins to accrue to but excluding the date on which it falls due, divided
by the product of (1) the number of days in the Interest Period in which the relevant period falls (including the
first such day but excluding the last) and (2) the number of Interest Periods normally ending in any year.

In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the
first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date
and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest Period”.

Redemption and Purchase
(a) Final Redemption:

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be redeemed at their
principal amount on 29 January 2013.

(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, on
giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be
irrevocable), at their principal amount, (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for
redemption), if (i) the Issuer satisfies, by way of an Officers Certificate, the Trustee immediately
prior to the giving of such notice that it has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as
provided or referred to in Condition 7 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or
regulations of Hungary or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having
power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations,
which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation
cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the
Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes
then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(b), the
Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating that the obligation referred to in
(i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and the
Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the
condition precedent set out in (ii) above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the
Noteholders and the Couponholders.

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer:

On and after 29 July 2012, the Issuer may, on giving not more than 60 nor less than 30 days’
irrevocable notice to the Noteholders, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at an amount
equal to the sum of (i) their principal amount and (ii) the product of the principal amount of the
Notes multiplied by one-half of the Rate of Interest prevailing on 29 July 2012, together with
additional amounts (as referred to in Condition 7), if any, to the redemption date.

Redemption at the Option of Noteholders:

The Issuer will, at the option of the holder of any Note, redeem such Note on the subsequent
Interest Payment Date at 101 per cent. of its principal amount together with interest accrued to,
but excluding, the date fixed for redemption in the event of a Change of Control. To exercise such
option, the holder must deposit such Note, together with all Coupons relating to it which mature
after the date fixed for redemption, with any Paying Agent together with a duly completed
redemption notice in the form obtainable from any of the Paying Agents, not more than 60 nor less
than 30 days prior to such date. No Note so deposited may be withdrawn (except as provided in
the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. Neither less than 30 nor more than
45 days’ notice of the commencement of the period for deposit of Notes for redemption pursuant
to this Condition 5(d) shall be given to the Noteholders and the Trustee.

Purchase:

The Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or
otherwise at any price (provided that they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons
relating to them). The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any such
Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be
deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of the Conditions or the Trust Deed.

Cancellation:

All Notes so redeemed or purchased and any unmatured Coupons attached to or surrendered with
them will be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold.

Payments

(@)

(b)

Method of Payment: Payments of principal, premium and interest will be made against
presentation and surrender (or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Notes or the
appropriate Coupons (as the case may be) at the specified office of any Paying Agent.

Payments subject to laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other
laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition
7. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect
of such payments.
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(c)

(d)

Surrender of unmatured Coupons: Each Note should be presented for redemption together with
all unmatured Coupons relating to it, failing which the amount of any such missing unmatured
Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such
missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal amount
due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will
be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon not later
than 10 years after the Relevant Date for the relevant payment of principal.

Payments on business days: A Note or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day
which is a business day in the place of presentation. No further interest or other payment will be
made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Note or Coupon may be presented for
payment under this Condition 6 falling after the due date. In this Condition “business day” means
a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open in the relevant city.

Paying Agents: The initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The
Issuer reserves the right at any time with the approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the
appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint additional or other Paying Agents, provided that it
will maintain (i) a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least
two major European cities approved by the Trustee (such approval not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed) and (iii) a Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member
state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to any law implementing
European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of
the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000. Notice of any change in the Paying
Agents or their specified offices will promptly be given to the Noteholders.

Taxation

All payments of principal, premium and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes and the

Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,

assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by

or within Hungary or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or

deduction is required by law. In that event the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt

by the Noteholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no

such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in

respect of any Note or Coupon presented for payment:

(@)

(b)

(c)

Other connection: by or on behalf of a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection
with Hungary other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or

Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: more than 30 days after the Relevant
Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts
on presenting such Note or Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or

Payment to individuals: where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an
individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27
November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or
introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or
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(d)

Payment by another Paying Agent: by or on behalf of a Noteholder or a Couponholder who
would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or
Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union.

Events of Default

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs and is continuing, the Trustee at its discretion

may, and if so requested by not less than two Non-Affiliated Noteholders holding at least 25 per cent. in

aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution

shall, give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and payable at their

principal amount together (if applicable) with accrued interest:

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9

(h)

Non-Payment of Principal: default is made in the payment of principal of any of the Notes when
due; or

Non-Payment of Interest: default is made in the payment on the due date of any premium or
interest in respect of any of the Notes (including any additional interest payable in accordance
with Condition 4) provided that such default will not be an Event of Default if the failure to pay is
remedied within 14 Business Days; or

Breach of Specific Covenants: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its
obligations under Conditions 3(a), (b), (¢), (d), (e) (n) or (0); or

Breach of Other Covenants: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its
obligations under Conditions 3(f), (g), (h), (1), (j), (k), (1), (m), (p), (q) or (r) and such default is
not remedied within 45 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the
Trustee; or

Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its
other obligations in the Notes or the Trust Deed which default is incapable of remedy or, if in the
opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion of the Trustee remedied within 60
days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or

Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries
for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes (or becomes capable of being declared)
due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of
default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as
the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee
for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised provided that the aggregate amount
of the relevant indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the
events mentioned above in this Condition 8(f) have occurred equals or exceeds €10 million or its
Euro Equivalent; or

Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied,
enforced or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any
of its Subsidiaries and is not discharged or stayed within 60 days provided that the value of one or
more of the events, or of the relevant property, assets or revenues, mentioned above in this
Condition 8(g) which have occurred equals or exceeds €10 million or its Euro Equivalent; or

Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future,
created or assumed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries becomes enforceable and any step is
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taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver,
administrative receiver, administrator manager or other similar person) provided that the value of
one or more of the events, or of the relevant property, assets or revenues to which the enforcement
relates, mentioned above in this Condition 8(h) which have occurred equals or exceeds €10
million or its Euro Equivalent; or

(i) Insolvency: the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to
be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend
payment of all or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes or makes a
general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant
creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or
affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries; or

() Judgment Default: any one or more judgments or orders is made against the Issuer or any
Subsidiary involving an aggregate liability in respect of a matter (or a series of related matters)
greater than €10 million or its Euro Equivalent, unless all those judgments and orders are
appealed, vacated or discharged within 90 days of their being made; or

(k) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution
of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or
substantially all of its business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed by a
reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (i) on terms approved by
the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, or (ii) in the case of a
Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise
vested in the Issuer or another of its Subsidiaries; or

(h Nationalisation: any step is taken by any person which is reasonably likely to result in the
seizure, compulsory acquisition, expropriation or nationalisation of all or a material part of the
assets of the Issuer or the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; or

(m) Invalidity or Unenforceability: (i) the validity of the Notes, Coupons or the Agreements is
contested by the Issuer, or the Issuer shall deny any of its obligations under the Notes, Coupons or
the Agreements (whether by a general suspension of payments or a moratorium on the payment of
debt or otherwise) or (ii) it is or becomes unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with one or
more of its respective obligations under any of the Notes, Coupons or the Agreements or (iii) all or
any of the Issuer’s obligations set out in the Notes, Coupons or the Agreements shall be or become
unenforceable or invalid; or

(n) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs of this
Condition 8.

9 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of principal, premium and interest will become void unless
presentation for payment is made as required by Condition 6 within a period of 10 years (in the case of
principal and premium) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date.

10 Replacement of Notes and Coupons
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If any Note or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced by the Paying Agent

in Luxembourg subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements,

upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such

terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require (provided that the

requirement is reasonable in light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must

be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution

(@)

(b)

(c)

Meetings of Noteholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of
Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by
Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the
Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in
principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting
convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or
representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at
any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the
principal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes
consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to modify the maturity of the Notes or the dates on which
interest is payable in respect of the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or
interest on or to vary the method of calculating the rate of interest on, the Notes, (iii) to change the
currency of payment of the Notes or the Coupons, or (iv) to modify the provisions concerning the
quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary
Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum will be two or more persons holding or
representing not less than 75 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25 per cent., in
principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly
passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which
such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not
less than 90 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as
valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly
convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several
documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders.

Modification and Waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or
Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which in the
opinion of the Trustee is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest
error, and (i) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or
authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which
is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any
such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Noteholders and the
Couponholders and, if the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the
Noteholders as soon as practicable.

Substitution: The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such
amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as are contained in the Trust Deed or
otherwise as the Trustee may require, but without the consent of the Noteholders or the
Couponholders, to the substitution of the Issuer’s successor in business or any Subsidiary of the
Issuer or its successor in place of the Issuer, or of any previous substituted entity, as principal
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13
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debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may
agree, without the consent of the Noteholders and Couponholders, to a change of law governing
the Notes, the Coupons and/or the Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion
of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

(d) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not
limited to those referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the
Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for
individual Noteholders or Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall
any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or
payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or
Couponholders.

Enforcement

At any time after the Notes become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without further
notice, institute such steps, actions or proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of
the Trust Deed and the Notes and Coupons, but it need not take any such steps, actions or proceedings unless
(a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by not less than
two Non-Affiliated Noteholders holding at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Notes
outstanding, and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. No
Noteholder or Couponholder may proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become
bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related
to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Noteholders or Couponholders on a report, confirmation or
certificate or any advice of any accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert,
whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any
engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a
monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such
report, confirmation or certificate or advice and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be
binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Noteholders.

Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue
further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects
except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form
a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) or upon such terms as the
Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Notes include (unless
the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single
series with the Notes. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any
series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other
securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. The

30



15

16

17

18

Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Noteholders and the holders of
securities of other series where the Trustee so decides.

Notices

Notices to the holders of Notes will be valid if published in the leading newspaper having general circulation
in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) and (if at any time the Notes are listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that Stock Exchange so require) either on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or in a leading newspaper having general circulation in
Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or, if in the opinion of the Trustee such
publication shall not be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in Europe. Any
such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than
once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made.

Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the
Noteholders in accordance with this Condition.

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999:

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of
Third Parties) Act 1999.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) Governing Law: The Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations
arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance
with, English law.

(b) Jurisdiction: The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise
out of or in connection with the Notes or the Coupons and accordingly any legal action or
proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes or Coupons (“Proceedings”) may be
brought in such courts. Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer has submitted irrevocably to the
jurisdiction of such courts.

(c) Agent for Service of Process: Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer has irrevocably appointed
an agent in England to receive service of process in any Proceedings in England based on any of
the Notes or the Coupons.

Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the
meanings set out below:

“Accounting Standards” means IFRS or any other internationally recognised set of accounting
standards deemed equivalent to IFRS by the Committee of European Securities Regulators from time
to time;

“Affiliates” of any specified person means any other persons, directly or indirectly, controlling or
controlled by or under direct or indirect control with such specified person. For the purposes of this
definition, “control” when used with respect to any person means the power to direct the management
and policies of such person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities,
by contract or otherwise; and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative to the
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(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

(9
(h)
(i)

foregoing; and the term “Non-Affiliatated”, with respect to any specified persons, means that such
specified persons are not Affiliates of each other;

“Agreements” means the Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed;

“Agency” means any agency, authority, central bank, department, committee, government, legislature,
minister, ministry, official or public or statutory person (whether autonomous or not);

“Approved Jurisdiction” means England & Wales, Hungary and any member nation of the European
Union as constituted on the Issue Date;

“Asset Acquisition” means (i) an Investment by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries in any other Person
pursuant to which such Person shall become a Subsidiary of the Issuer or any Subsidiaries as the case
may be, or shall be consolidated or merged with the Issuer or any Subsidiaries or (ii) the acquisition by
the Issuer or any Subsidiaries of assets of any Person which constitute all or substantially all of the
assets of such Person or which comprise a material division or line of business of such Person;

“Asset Sale” means any direct or indirect lease, sale, sale and lease-back, transfer or other disposition
either in one transaction or in a series of related transactions, by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to
a Person that is not part of the Group, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or
similar transaction, of any of its assets (including any shares of Capital Stock of a member of the
Group) or properties, the value of which exceeds 10 per cent. of total Production Assets as shown on
the latest available annual or semi-annual consolidated balance sheet of the Group prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standards in any 12-month period, other than:

the creation of a Lien (but not the sale or other disposition of the property subject to such Lien) in
compliance with Condition 3(a);

the licensing or sublicensing of rights to intellectual property or other intangibles in the ordinary
course of business;

the sale, lease or other disposition of damaged, obsolete, worn out, negligible, surplus or outdated
equipment or machinery or raw materials or inventory, in each case which is no longer used or
usable, in the ordinary course of business;

the lease, assignment or sublease of any property in the ordinary course of business;

sales or other dispositions of assets or property received by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries
upon the foreclosure on a Lien granted in favour of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or any
other transfer of title with respect to any ordinary course secured investment in default;

the surrender or waiver of contract rights or the settlement, release, or surrender of contract, tort or
other claims, in the ordinary course of business;

sales and other dispositions of inventory in the ordinary course of business;
sales and dispositions of cash and Cash Equivalents in the ordinary course of business;

the disposition of receivables in connection with the compromise, settlement or collection thereof
in the ordinary course of business or in bankruptcy or similar proceeds of any customers or
vendors of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries;

the sale or transfer of value added tax receivables by the Issuer at Fair Market Value or the sale or
transfer of any Investment received in exchange therefor;
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(k)

()

(@)

(b)

any royalty or similar arrangement in connection with a Permitted Business to the extent that such
royalty or similar arrangement is included in the definition of Indebtedness; and

any sale or other disposition that complies with Condition 3(n);

“Attributable Indebtedness” in respect of a Sale/Leaseback Transaction means, as at the time of
determination, the present value (discounted at the interest rate borne by the Notes, compounded semi-
annually) of the total obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the
lease included in such Sale/Leaseback Transaction (including any period for which such lease has been
extended);

“Auditors” means KPMG Hungéaria Kft. or, if they are unable or unwilling to carry out any action
requested of them under the Agreements, such other internationally recognised firm of accountants as
may be nominated by the Issuer and notified in writing to the Trustee for this purpose;

“Authorised Signatory” means, in relation to the Issuer, any Person who is duly authorised and in
respect of whom the Trustee has received a certificate or certificates signed by a director or another
Authorised Signatory of the Issuer setting out the name and signature of such Person and confirming
such Person’s authority to act;

“Business Day” means a day which is a TARGET Business Day and also a day (other than a Saturday
or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets settle Euro payments in London with
Budapest;

“Capital Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any and all shares, interests (including partnership
interests), rights to purchase, warrants, options, participations or other equivalents (however
designated, whether voting or non-voting) of such Person’s equity, including any Preferred Stock of
such Person, whether now outstanding or issued after the Issue Date, including without limitation, all
series and classes of such Capital Stock but excluding any debt securities convertible into or
exchangeable for such Capital Stock;

“Capitalised Lease Obligations” means an obligation that is required to be classified and accounted
for as a capitalised lease for financial reporting purposes in accordance with [FRS, and the amount of
Indebtedness represented by such obligation will be the capitalised amount of such obligation at the
time any determination thereof is to be made as determined in accordance with IFRS, and the Stated
Maturity thereof will be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease
prior to the first date such lease may be terminated without penalty;

“Cash Equivalents” means:

any evidence of Indebtedness with a maturity of one year or less issued or directly and fully
guaranteed or insured by a corporation organised under the laws of an Approved Jurisdiction or
any Agency or instrumentality thereof; provided that the full faith and credit of an Approved
Jurisdiction (or similar concept under the laws of the relevant Approved Jurisdiction) is pledged in
support thereof;

commercial paper with a maturity of one year or less, issued by a corporation organised under the
laws of an Approved Jurisdiction and rated at all times at least A-1/P-1 by Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services, Moody’s or by Fitch Ratings, as the case may be, to the extent that the aggregate
amount of Cash Equivalents (as defined in this paragraph (b)) invested by application of Disposal
Proceeds do not exceed at any time €1 million or its Euro Equivalent;
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(a)

(b)

(c)

current account balances, deposits, certificates of deposit, promissory notes, acceptances or money
market deposits with a maturity of one year or less of (i) any institution organised in an Approved
Jurisdiction having combined, consolidated, capital and surplus and undistributed profits (or any
similar concept) of not less than U.S.$500 million (or the equivalent in another currency)
determined in conformity with Accounting Standards and as set forth in the most recent publicly
available financial reports published by such institution or (ii) the Hungarian branch or Subsidiary
of an institution referred to in (i);

repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements relating to marketable direct
obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the government of an Approved Jurisdiction,
which obligations mature within 30 days from the date of acquisition; and/or

interests in any money market funds at least 95 per cent. of the assets of which consist of Cash
Equivalents of the type referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d) above;

“Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if:

the Controlling Shareholders cease to hold, whether directly or indirectly: (a) more than 50 per
cent. of the Voting Stock of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or (b) Voting Stock having the
right in general to cast more than 50 per cent. of the votes capable of being cast in general
meetings of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or (c) the right to determine the composition of
the majority of the management board the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or

the Controlling Sharcholders cease to have the power to control the management and policies of
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or

any person or group of persons acting in concert, other than the Controlling Shareholders, gains
control of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; and,

for the purposes of this definition, “control” when used with respect to any person means the power to

direct the management and policies of such person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership

of Voting Stock, by contract or otherwise;

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

“Commodity Hedging Agreement” means, in respect to any Person, any forward, futures, spot
deferred or option contract or other similar agreement or arrangement to which such Person is a party
or a beneficiary entered into for protection against or to benefit from fluctuations in the price of any
commodity produced or used by the Issuer or any Subsidiaries pursuant to a Permitted Business;

“Consolidated Depreciation and Amortisation” means, in respect of any period, the consolidated
depreciation and amortisation expense of the Group as shown on the most recent financial statements
of the Group prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards (excluding amortisation expense
attributable to a prepaid item that was paid in cash in a prior period);

“Consolidated EBITDA” for any period means the sum of Consolidated Net Income, plus the
following to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income:

Consolidated Interest Expense;
Consolidated Income Tax Expense;
Consolidated Depreciation and Amortisation; and

all other non-cash charges of the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries (excluding any such non-cash
charge to the extent that it represents an accrual of or reserve for cash expenditures in any future
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(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

period) less all non-cash items of income of the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries (other than
accruals of revenue by the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business);

in each case for such period;

“Consolidated Income Tax Expense” means, in respect of any period, the consolidated expenses of
the Group in respect of income taxes as shown on the most recent financial statements of the Group
prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards;

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, the consolidated interest expense (net of
interest income) of the Group including bank charges, amortisation of finance costs, net of finance
income as shown on the most recent financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards;

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, the consolidated net income of the Group as
shown on the most recent financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with Accounting
Standards; provided, however, that there shall not be included in such Consolidated Net Income:

any net income of any Person (other than the Issuer) if such Person is not a Subsidiary, except
that:

(i) subject to the exclusion contained in paragraph (d) below, the Issuer’s equity in the net
income of any such Person for such period shall be included in such Consolidated Net
Income up to the aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Person during
such period to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries as a dividend or other distribution
(subject, in the case of a dividend or other distribution paid to a Subsidiary, to the
limitations contained in paragraph (c) below); and

(i) the Issuer’s equity in a net loss of any such Person for such period shall be included in
determining such Consolidated Net Income but only to the extent that such loss has been
funded by cash by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries;

any net income of any Subsidiary if such Subsidiary is subject to restrictions, directly or
indirectly, on the payment of dividends or the making of distributions by such Subsidiary, directly
or indirectly, to the Issuer except that:

(i) subject to the exclusion contained in paragraph (d) below, the Issuer’s equity in the net
income of any such Subsidiary for such period shall be included in such Consolidated Net
Income up to the aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Subsidiary during
such period to the Issuer or another Subsidiary as a dividend or other distribution (subject,
in the case of a dividend or other distribution paid to another Subsidiary, to the limitation
contained in this paragraph); and

(ii) the Issuer’s equity in a net loss of any such Subsidiary for such period shall be included in
determining such Consolidated Net Income;

any gain (or loss) realised upon the sale or other disposition of any assets of the Issuer or its
Subsidiaries or any other Person (including pursuant to any sale-and-leaseback arrangement)
which are not sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business and any gain (or
loss) realised upon the sale or other disposition of any Capital Stock of any Person;

any extraordinary net of tax gains or losses that are distinguished by their unusual nature and the
infrequency of their occurrence; and in each case, for such period;
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(a)
(b)
(c)

(a)

(b)
(c)

“Consolidated Net Indebtedness” means at any date of determination (and without duplication) all
consolidated Indebtedness of the Group net of cash or Cash Equivalents as shown on the most recent
financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards;

“Consolidated Total Asset Value” means, at any date of determination, the amount of the
consolidated total assets of the Issuer and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as calculated in accordance
with the then most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Condition 3(f);

“Controlling Shareholders” means Mr. Laszl6 Bige and Mr. Zoltan Bige;

“Currency Agreement” means in respect of a Person, any foreign exchange contract, currency swap
agreement or other similar agreement as to which such Person is a party or a beneficiary;

“Disposal Proceeds” has the meaning given in Condition 3(e);

“Disqualified Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock which by its terms (or by
the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable at the option of the
holder) or upon the happening of any event:

matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than redeemable only for Capital Stock of such
Person which is not itself Disqualified Stock) pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise;

is convertible or exchangeable at the option of the holder for Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock;
or

is mandatorily redeemable or must be purchased upon the occurrence of certain events or
otherwise, in whole or in part;

“Environment” means living organisms including the ecological systems of which they form part and
the following media:

air (including within natural or man-made structures, whether above or below ground);
water (including water under or within land and water in drains and sewers); and/or
land (including land under water);

“Environmental Law” means all laws and regulations of any relevant jurisdiction which:

have as a purpose or effect the protection or, and/or prevention of harm or damage to, the
Environment;

provide remedies or compensation for harm or damage to the Environment; and
relate to hazardous substances or health or safety matters;

“Environmental Licences” means any authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, licence,
exemption, filing or registration required at any time under Environmental Law;

“Euro” or “€” means the currency introduced pursuant to Article 1091(4) of the Treaty establishing the
European Community as amended by the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty of Amsterdam and
as further amended from time to time;

“Euro Equivalent” means with respect to any amount denominated in a currency other than Euro, at
any time for the determination thereof, the amount of Euro obtained by converting such other currency
involved into Euro at the spot rate for the purchase of Euro with such other currency as most recently
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(i)

(ii)

(i)

published under “Currency Rates” in the section of the Financial Times entitled “Currencies, Bonds &
Interest Rates” or, otherwise, as reasonably determined by the Trustee;

“Event of Default” has the meaning given in Condition 8 hereof;
“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given in the Trust Deed;

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any asset or property, the price which could be negotiated
in an arm’s length market transaction, for cash, between a willing seller and a willing and able buyer,
neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. Fair Market Value
will be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer, whose determination will be
conclusive or, in the case of any sale of the Capital Stock of a Subsidiary exceeding €5 million (or its
Euro Equivalent), in writing by an Independent Appraiser;

“Group” means the Issuer and its consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole;

“guarantee” means any financial obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any Person directly or
indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any Person and any obligation, direct or indirect,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person:

to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness
of such Person (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, or by agreements to keep
well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take or pay or to maintain financial
statement conditions or otherwise); or

entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Indebtedness of
the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part),

provided, however, that the term “guarantee” shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit
in the ordinary course of business. The term “guarantee” used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.
The term “guarantor” shall mean any Person guaranteeing any obligation;

“Hedging Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to any Interest
Rate Agreement, Currency Agreement or Commodity Hedging Agreement;

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards (formerly International Accounting
Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB (as amended,
supplemented or re-issued from time to time), as consistently applied, and any variation to such
accounting principles and practices which is not material;

“Incur” means issue, assume, guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for; provided, however, that
any Indebtedness or any other obligation of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a
Subsidiary (whether by merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise) shall, whether or not such
Indebtedness was Incurred in connection with, as a result of, or in contemplation of such acquired
person becoming a Subsidiary, be deemed Incurred at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary. The
term “Incurrence” when used as a noun shall have a correlative meaning. Solely for purposes of
determining compliance with Condition 3(e) (Limitation on Sales of Assets and Subsidiary Stock):

amortisation of debt discount or the accretion of principal with respect to a non interest bearing or
other discount security;
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(ii)

(iif)

the payment of regularly scheduled interest in the form of additional Indebtedness of the same
instrument or the payment of regularly scheduled dividends on Capital Stock in the form of
additional Capital Stock of the same class and with the same terms; and

the obligation to pay a premium in respect of Indebtedness arising in connection with the issuance
of a notice of redemption or the making of a mandatory offer to purchase such Indebtedness,

will not be deemed to be the Incurrence of Indebtedness;

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person on any date of determination (without duplication);

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of indebtedness of such Person for borrowed
money;

the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds,
debentures, notes or other similar instruments;

the principal component of all obligations of such Person in respect of letters of credit, bankers’
acceptances or other similar instruments (including reimbursement obligations with respect
thereto except to the extent such reimbursement obligation relates to a trade payable and such
obligation is satisfied within 30 days of Incurrence);

the principal component of all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred and unpaid purchase
price of property (except trade payables), which purchase price is due more than six months after
the date of placing such property in service or taking delivery and title thereto;

Capitalised Lease Obligations and all Attributable Indebtedness of such Person;

the principal component or liquidation preference of all obligations of such Person with respect to
the redemption, repayment or other repurchase of any Disqualified Stock or, with respect to any
Subsidiary, any Preferred Stock (but excluding, in each case, any accrued dividends);

the principal component of all Indebtedness of other Persons secured by a Lien on any asset of
such Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such Person; provided, however,
that the amount of such Indebtedness will be the lesser of (a) the Fair Market Value of such asset
at such date of determination and (b) the amount of such Indebtedness of such other Persons;

the principal component of Indebtedness of other Persons to the extent guaranteed by such Person;
and

to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, net obligations of such Person under
Hedging Obligations (the amount of any such obligations to be equal at any time to the
termination value of such agreement or arrangement giving rise to such obligation that would be
payable by such Person at such time).

The amount of Indebtedness of any Person at any date will be the outstanding balance at such date of

all unconditional obligations as described above and the maximum liability, upon the occurrence of the

contingency giving rise to the obligation, of any contingent obligations at such date.

In addition, “Indebtedness” of any Person shall include Indebtedness described in the preceding

paragraph that would not appear as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person if:

(i)
(ii)

such Indebtedness is the obligation of a partnership or joint venture that is not a Subsidiary;

such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner of the partnership or joint venture
(a “General Partner”); and
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(iii) there is recourse, by contract or operation of law, with respect to the payment of such
Indebtedness to property or assets of such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person; and then such
Indebtedness shall be included in an amount not to exceed:

(a) the lesser of (i) the net assets of the General Partner and (ii) the amount of such
obligations to the extent that there is recourse, by contract or operation of law, to the
property or assets of such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person; or

(b) if less than the amount determined pursuant to clause (a) immediately above, the actual
amount of such Indebtedness that is recourse to such Person or a Subsidiary of such
Person, if the Indebtedness is evidenced in writing and is for a determinable amount and
the related interest expense shall be included in Consolidated Interest Expense to the
extent actually paid by the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

“Indebtedness for Borrowed Money” means any Indebtedness of any Person for or in respect of (i)
moneys borrowed, (ii) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility, (iii) amounts
raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or
similar instruments, (iv) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts
which would, in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards in the jurisdiction of
incorporation of the lessee, be treated as finance or capital leases, (v) the amount of any liability in
respect of any purchase price for assets or services the payment of which is deferred primarily as a
means of raising finance or financing the acquisition of the relevant asset or service and (vi) amounts
raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase agreement and the sale of
receivables or other assets on a “with recourse” basis) having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

“Independent Appraiser” means any of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC, KPMG LLC, Deloitte &
Touche LLP, Ernst & Young LLP or such other reputable financial institution, accountancy or appraisal
firm of international standing appointed at its expense by the competent management body of the
Issuer or relevant Subsidiary; provided it is not an Affiliate of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

“Interest Rate Agreements” means, with respect to any Person, any interest rate protection
agreement, interest rate future agreement, interest rate option agreement, interest rate swap agreement,
interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, interest rate hedge agreement or other
similar agreement or arrangement as to which such Person is party or a beneficiary;

“Investment” in any Person means any direct or indirect advance, loan (other than advances to
customers in the ordinary course of business that are recorded as accounts receivable on the balance
sheet of the lender) or other extensions of credit (including by way of guarantee or similar arrangement
but excluding amounts represented by deposits with a bank or other financial institution) or capital
contribution to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for
property or services for the account or use of others), or any purchase or acquisition of Capital Stock,
Indebtedness or other similar instruments issued by such Person, provided that each of the following
shall not be deemed to be an Investment:

(a) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business; and
(b) endorsements of negotiable instruments and documents in the ordinary course of business.

If the Issuer or any Subsidiary issues, sells or otherwise disposes of any Capital Stock of a Person that
is a Subsidiary such that, after giving effect thereto, such Person is no longer a Subsidiary, any
Investment by the Issuer or any Subsidiary in such Person remaining after giving effect thereto will be
deemed to be a new Investment at such time. The acquisition by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of a
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Person that holds an Investment in a third Person will be deemed to be an Investment by the Issuer or
any Subsidiary in such third Person at such time. Except as otherwise provided for herein, the amount
of an Investment shall be its Fair Market Value at the time the Investment is made and without giving
effect to subsequent changes in value;

“Issue Date” means 29 July 2011;

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, encumbrance, easement, restriction, covenant, right of way,
servitude, lien, charge or other security interest (including, without limitation, anything analogous to
any of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction and any conditional sale or other title retention
agreement or lease in the nature thereof);

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, property, condition
(financial or otherwise), operations or prospects of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or the Group,
(b) the Issuer’s ability to perform its obligations under the Notes or the Trust Deed or (c) the validity,
legality or enforceability of the Notes or any Agreement; provided that, to the extent that the Trustee is
directed to take any action by an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders or so requested in writing by
not less than two Non-Affiliated Noteholders holding at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal
amount of the Notes outstanding, and any such action requires the determination of whether an event
or occurrence has had a Material Adverse Effect, the Trustee shall have no duty to enquire or satisfy
itself as to the existence of an event or occurrence having a Material Adverse Effect and shall be
entitled to rely conclusively upon such Extraordinary Resolution or request of the Noteholders
regarding the same, and shall bear no liability of any nature whatsoever to the Issuer, any Noteholder
or any other Person for acting upon such Extraordinary Resolution or request of the Noteholders;

“Net Cash Proceeds” with respect to any issuance or sale of Capital Stock or Indebtedness, means the
cash proceeds of such issuance or sale net of lawyers’ fees, accountants’ fees, underwriters’ or
placement agents’ fees, discounts or commissions, and brokerage, consultant and other fees actually
incurred in connection with such issuance or sale and net of taxes paid or payable as a result thereof;

“Officer” means, with respect to any Person, any managing director, director, general director, the
chairman of the board, the president, any vice president, principal executive officer, deputy general
director, the chief financial officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, the
controller, the treasurer or the secretary of such Person or any general partner or other person holding a
corresponding or similar position of responsibility;

“Officers’ Certificate” means a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by two Officers of the Issuer
at least one of whom shall be the principal executive officer of the Issuer;

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from legal counsel of international standing who is
acceptable to the Trustee;

“Original Financial Statements” means the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as
at and for the year ended 31 December 2010;

“Permitted Business” means (a) the production, transportation and processing of nitrogen-based
fertilisers, chemical products and industrial gases, (b) any sales and marketing relating to any of the
foregoing, (c) research and development, social responsibility and staff training and infrastructure
development; (d) any business reasonably related, ancillary or complementary thereto and (e) any
activity as set out in the Issuer’s Statutes as activities of the Issuer as at the Issue Date;

“Permitted Liens” means, without duplication:
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(i)
(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Liens existing as at the Issue Date, provided that the principal amount secured by such Lien has
not been increased since the Issue Date;

Liens granted in favour of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

any Liens arising by operation of law or in the ordinary course of business (including, without
limitation, Liens arising pursuant to forward gas contracts and other Commodity Hedging
Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business);

Liens for ad valorem, income or property taxes or assessments and similar charges which either
are not delinquent or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which
the Issuer or any Subsidiary has set aside in its accounts reserves to the extent required by
Accounting Standards;

Liens on the property, income or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary securing Indebtedness to
the extent that the total value of any such property, income or assets secured by such Liens does
not exceed €10,000,000;

a right of set off, right to combine accounts or any analogous right which any bank or other
financial institution may have relating to any credit balance of any of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries;

(vii)  any Liens arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness

secured by a Lien permitted by any of the above exceptions, provided that the Indebtedness
thereafter secured by such Lien does not exceed the amount of the original Indebtedness and such
Lien is not extended to cover any property not previously subject to such Lien;

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture,
association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organisation, government, or any agency or
political subdivision thereof or any other entity;

“Potential Event of Default” means any event or circumstance which in the Issuer’s reasonable
opinion could, with the expiry of a grace period, the passage of time, the giving of notice and/or the
fulfilment of any other requirement become an Event of Default;

“Preferred Stock” as applied to the Capital Stock of any Person, means Capital Stock of any class or
classes (however designated) which is preferred as to the payment of dividends or distributions, or as
to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such
Person, over shares of Capital Stock of any other class of such Person;

“Production Assets” means property, plant and equipment of the Group determined in accordance
with Accounting Standards;

“Rating Agency” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, Moody’s and/or Fitch Ratings, or their
respective successors or any rating agency substituted for any of them by the Issuer from time to time
with the prior written approval of the Trustee;

“Relevant Date” in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it
first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date
on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after
that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders or Couponholders that, upon further presentation
of the Note or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made,
provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation;

"Relevant Period" means
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(a)
(b)

(@)

(b)

each financial year of the Issuer; and

each period beginning on the first day of the second half of a financial year of the Issuer and
ending on the last day of the first half of its next financial year.

“Sale/Leaseback Transaction” means an arrangement relating to property now owned or hereafter
acquired whereby the Issuer or a Subsidiary transfers such property to a Person and the Issuer or a
Subsidiary leases it from such Person;

“Stated Maturity” means

with respect to any Indebtedness, the date specified in such Indebtedness as the fixed date on
which the final instalment of principal of such Indebtedness is due and payable; and

with respect to any scheduled instalment of principal of or interest on any Indebtedness, the date
specified in such Indebtedness as the fixed date on which such instalment is due and payable;

“Subsidiary” means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, association or other business entity,
whether now existing or hereafter organised or acquired, (a) in the case of a corporation, of which
more than 50 per cent. of the total voting power of the Voting Stock is held by the Issuer and/or any of
its Subsidiaries and the Issuer and/or any of its Subsidiaries has the power to direct the management,
policies and affairs thereof; or (b) in the case of a partnership, joint venture, association, or other
business/entity, with respect to which the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries has the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of such entity by contract, if (in the case of each of
(a) or (b) above) in accordance with IFRS such entity would be consolidated with the Issuer for
financial statement purposes;

“TARGET Business Day” means a day on which the TARGET System is open for the settlement of
payments in Euro;

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer (TARGET?2) system or any successor thereto;

“taxes” means any taxes (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to
pay or any delay in paying any of the same) which are now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed by any competent taxing authority;

“Total Assets” means the consolidated assets of the Issuer as shown on the latest available annual or
semi-annual consolidated balance sheet of the Issuer prepared in accordance with IFRS;

“U.S.$” denotes the lawful currency of the United States of America; and

“Voting Stock” of a Person means all classes of Capital Stock of such Person then outstanding and
normally entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of the
board of directors, managers or trustees (or Persons performing similar functions).
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Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form

The Global Note contains provisions which apply to the Notes while they are in global form, some of which
modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this Information Memorandum. The
following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Principal Amount and Exchange

The Global Note is exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for the Definitive
Notes described below in the event that the Global Note is held on behalf of a relevant Clearing System and
such relevant Clearing System is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason
of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do
so. Thereupon, the holder may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of its intention to exchange the
Global Note for Definitive Notes on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) specified in the notice.

On or after the Exchange Date, the holder of the Global Note may surrender the Global Note to or to the order
of the Principal Paying Agent. In exchange for the Global Notes, the Issuer shall deliver, or procure the
delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes (having
attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid on the Global Note),
security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements and in or
substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to the Trust Deed. On exchange of the Global Note, the Issuer
will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with any relevant
Definitive Notes.

“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 60 days after that on which the notice requiring exchange
is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal
Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is located.

Payments

Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Notes represented by the Global Note will be made
against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes,
surrender of the Global Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent as
shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. A record of each payment to made will be
endorsed in the appropriate schedule to the Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that
such payment has been made in respect of the Notes. For the purpose of any payment made in respect of a
Global Note, Condition 6(d) shall not apply and all such payments shall be made on a day on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open in the financial centre of the currency of the Notes.

Notices

So long as the Notes are represented by the Global Note and the Global Note is held on behalf of a relevant
Clearing System, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that relevant
Clearing System for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required
by the Conditions, except that, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s Euro
MTF market and the rules of that Exchange so require, notices shall also be published either on the website of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or in a leading newspaper having general circulation in
Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort).
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Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal, premium and interest on the Notes while the Notes are
represented by the Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10
years (in the case of principal and premium) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 18).

Meetings

The holder of the Global Note shall (unless the Global Note represents only one Note) be treated as being two
persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting,
as having one vote in respect of each €1,000 in principal amount of Notes.

Purchase and Cancellation
Cancellation of any Note following its purchase will be effected by reduction in principal amount of the
Global Note.

Trustee’s Powers

In considering the interests of Noteholders while the Global Note is held on behalf of a relevant Clearing
System, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such relevant Clearing System or its
operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the
Global Note and may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holder of the Global Note.

Similarly, where the Conditions provide that the Trustee shall act if requested to do so by not less than two
Noteholders, the Trustee may accordingly regard directions from individual accountholders as if such
accountholders were individual respective Noteholders.

Put Option

The Noteholders’ put option in Condition 5 may be exercised by the holder of the Global Note giving notice
to the Principal Paying Agent of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised
within the time limits and pursuant to the conditions specified in Condition 5.
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Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, expected to amount to approximately €49,666,000 less fees, will
be used solely for the repayment of two loans granted by Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. in favour of the
Company (see “Banking Facilities™).
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Description of Issuer

OVERVIEW

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. (the “Company”) is the sole producer of nitrogen-based fertilisers in Hungary with an
annual capacity of approximately one million tonnes of fertiliser and a market share of the Hungarian
nitrogen-based fertiliser market of 67 per cent. as at 31 December 2010.

The legal name of the Company is Nitrogénmiivek Vegyipari Zartkoriien Mikodi Részvénytarsasag, and its
registered office is at H-8105 Pétfiird6, Hosok tere 14, Hungary. The Company was incorporated as a private
company with limited liability (zdartkoriien miikédd részvénytarsasdag) under the Act Nr. VI./1988 on the
Business Associations (recent effective legislation Act Nr. IV./2006) on 1 February 1990.

The Company’s principal products are calcium ammonium nitrate (“CAN”), ammonium nitrate, urea and
nitrosol. The Company’s products are largely sold to agricultural producers, both in Hungary and in
neighbouring countries.

In the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company produced 518,149 tonnes of CAN, 167,525 tonnes of
ammonium nitrate, 146,883 tonnes of urea and 81,613 tonnes of nitrosol.

Total sales revenues for the same period amounted to HUF 59,885 million, comprising HUF 23,780 million
for CAN, HUF 10,124 million for ammonium nitrate, HUF 10,182 million for urea and HUF 2,793 million
for nitrosol.

Total sales revenues for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 amounted to HUF 59,884
million and HUF 47,625 million respectively.

The Company’s headquarters and main production facilities are situated in Pétfiird6, between Veszprém and
Székesfehérvar, south-west from Budapest, Hungary.

Mr. Laszl6 Bige together with his son, Mr. Zoltan Bige, own all of the shares in the Company.
History

Fertiliser production began in Petfiird6 in 1931 when the Hungarian Ammonia Factory was established to
produce nitrogen-based chemicals from the locally-mined lignite. In the same year the Pét Nitrogen Fertiliser
Factory was established. In 1933, the two factories merged under the name of Péti Nitrogén Miitragyagyar Rt.

The production facilities underwent modernisation and expansion programmes at various stages during the
next 30 years in order to implement more efficient technologies and to meet the increasing demand from
Hungarian agricultural users. In 1968, an ammonia plant (running on natural gas) was built, together with
atmospheric nitric acid plants (partially pressurised) and a urea plant and complex fertiliser factory. With this
change in plant, the principal raw material used in the production of ammonia was changed from lignite to
natural gas. The switch to natural gas resulted in improvements to the Company’s productivity and energy
consumption levels; it also brought environmental benefits and represented a move away from the less
healthy working conditions that are associated with mining and with coal-fired/lignite production facilities.

A new fertiliser factory was built close to the original site as part of a large Hungarian state investment
between 1970 and 1975 to meet a growth in agricultural demands experienced in the late 1960s and early
1970s. These plants are still in operation today and they represent the Company’s main production site.

During the 1990s, the Company renewed its focus on improving energy efficiency and reducing the
environmental impact of production, as well as shutting down inefficient activities and products. The majority
of the old production units were closed due to the decline in market demand or inefficient technologies used
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(for instance, the NPK fertiliser, isopropyl amine and furfurylalcohol production facilities). The old ammonia,
urea, nitric acid and fertiliser units were closed.

Bige Holding Invest Kft, which is solely owned by Mr. Laszlé Tibor Bige and Mr. Zoltan Bige, bought
Nitrogénmiivek in 2002 from MOL Magyar Olaj- és Gazipari Rt. (MOL Hungarian Oil and Gas Public
Limited Company) and Hydro Central Europe B.V.

Laszl6 Tibor Bige and his son, Zoltan Bige, became the direct shareholders of Nitrogénmiivek in 2003.

In 2003, the Company joined the European Fertiliser Manufacturers Association (“EFMA”), and since 2004
the Company has marketed its products under the Genezis brand name and has developed a national sales
network (as further described under “Sales and Marketing”).

In 2004, a nationwide consulting network was set up and the company started to sell the fertiliser products of
Bige Holding Kft. In 2005, an investment project was launched by the Company at a cost of approximately
EUR 100 million; this included the construction of a dual-pressure acid plant, a fertiliser plant to produce
granulated fertiliser, a cooling tower system and a flexible fertiliser packaging plant. In 2007, these plants
went into operation. The new plants enhanced the energy efficiency of the Company and raised its annual
capacity, and thus enabled the old nitric acid plants to be closed down.

The value of fixed assets of the Company’s fertiliser factories and of the Pét Nitrogen Fertiliser Factory was
valued at EUR 400 million as of 30 June 2010 by American Appraisal Co.

Organisational structure

The following chart describes the Bige group’s corporate structure:
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The Company is a private company limited by shares with a registered share capital of HUF 1,518,000,000.
As at 31 December 2010, the Company had 1,600 issued and outstanding shares of the same class with a
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nominal value of HUF 330,000 each, all of which were fully paid, and 3,000 shares which are currently not
paid for and have not yet been issued. Each share is entitled to one vote. Mr. Laszl6 Tibor Bige owns 95 per

cent. of the shares. The remaining 5 per cent. are owned by Mr. Zoltan Bige.

Mr. Laszlo Tibor Bige is the Chairman CEO of the Company.

Following the change of regime in 1991, Mr. Lészl6 Tibor Bige founded his first company, Bige Holding Kft.,
(which initially was called, Bige Heringh Kft.), which was a chemicals trading company.

Mr. Laszlo Tibor Bige’s company — Bige Holding Kft. — acquired the majority of shares of Tiszamenti
Vegyimiivek Rt. in 1997 when it was privatised. Tiszamenti Vegyimiivek Rt. has operated as Bige Holding
Kft. since 2004.

The following diagram shows the internal organisational structure of the Company:
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Competitive Strengths

The Company’s principal competitive strengths can be summarised as follows:

Regional leader

The Company is the sole producer of nitrogen-based fertilisers in Hungary and one of the largest in
Central Europe with a total 1 million tonne/year production capacity. The Company’s share of the
Hungarian nitrogen-based fertiliser market stood at 67 per cent. in 2010 and the Company aims to keep
it around that level in the future. The Company believes that such market presence allows it to better
understand local trends, react faster to demand changes and seasonality, and optimise margins.

The Company’s production facilities operate to high technological standards, which provide the
Company with operational flexibility to adjust its product mix quickly and at an optimal cost to
respond to evolving demand. The Company’s total sales volumes amounted to 926,000 tonnes in 2010,
compared to 809,000 tonnes in 2009 and 637,000 tonnes in 2008.

Strategic location and cost advantages

The Company’s location in Central Europe and within the European Union gives it unique access to
serve a diversified mix of large and high-growth markets, such as Poland, Germany, Austria, the Czech
Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Serbia and Slovenia. The Company considers its position in those
markets is assisted by (i) transportation costs that make it uneconomical to transport nitrogen-based
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fertilisers beyond a 1000- km radius from the production centre, (ii) EU tariffs for fertilisers produced
outside the EU and (iii) its proximity and regional transportation infrastructure that allows the
Company to react quickly to evolving demand.

Additionally, being the largest producer in the region generates economies of scale in procurement,
production and transportation that the Company’s Central European competitors cannot match.
Furthermore, physical proximity of abundant dolomite significantly reduces its costs to produce high
margin products such as calcium ammonium nitrate.

Procurement strategy

Following the 2008 economic crisis, the Company decided to change its natural gas procurement
policy from U.S. Dollar-, oil-linked long-term contracts to a more dynamic combination of spot and
short-term purchases on the Central European Gas Hub (“CEGH”) in Vienna. The Company believes
this strategy adopted in early 2009 generates the following advantages: (i) it matches procurement
practices followed by global industry leaders; (ii) it provides a natural hedge to the Company’s former
foreign exchange exposure by switching purchases in U.S. Dollars for natural gas denominated in
Euros that match the Company’s sales in Euros; and (iii)) CEGH prices have been on average 35 per
cent. lower, including transportation costs, in 2010 than the oil-linked natural gas prices paid by many
of the Company’s regional competitors. Please see “Procurement and Supply” for further details on
cost differentials related to natural gas prices.

Product diversity and quality

The Company can offer to its clients and partners a wide range of nitrogen-based and other complex
fertilisers such as NPK. Many of the Company’s regional competitors have smaller plants that can only
produce one or a limited amount of prilled products. The Company’s ability to offer granulated
calcium ammonium nitrate and ammonium nitrate that optimise timely dosage into the soil
differentiates the Company from many of its Eastern European competitors. Additionally, the
Company can package its products in several formats and sizes that match the consumption patterns of
its clients.

Distribution network and strong brand recognition

The Company employs a network of 45 sales agents in Hungary to distribute and promote its products.
The Company estimates that it reaches 6,000 clients and end-users per month, the sales force identifies
client consumption patterns early on which informs production plans as well as competitive changes.
The Company believes this is a critical element of its ability to defend its domestic market share and
profitability. Moreover, its network acts as adviser to end users by providing technical knowledge and
analysis of soil samples and crop yields to design optimal fertilisation plans.

In 2004, the Company consolidated all its products under the Genezis brand and developed a
marketing strategy to differentiate its products from the products of its competitors. The Company
believes its clients and partners in Hungary associate the brand with high quality products that warrant
a price premium.

Strong management team and stable, experienced workforce

The Company has a dynamic management team with extensive domestic and international expertise
and a proven management track record in improving the operating results of the Company’s production
assets. Members of the Group’s senior management team combine industry and marketing expertise
with extensive financial and management experience.
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Business Strategy

The Company’s main strategic objective is to continue to be the leading Central European nitrogen-based

fertiliser producer. To achieve this objective, the Company intends to implement a strategy which includes

the following key elements.

Retain a dominant position in Hungary

Hungary is the Company’s largest and most profitable market and it will preserve and seek to improve
its relationships with end users and partners to address their needs and sustain its brand recognition. To
do so, the Company will continue to invest in its distribution network to provide advice to consumers
and adjust the Company’s production plans to match domestic demand.

Diversify and seize organic growth opportunities in high-potential neighbouring markets

The Company will pursue international growth as a means to diversify economic risk. This initiative is
destined to create buffers in case of unexpected slowdowns in domestic demand and as a tool to protect
profitability in Hungary. Furthermore, the Company believes some of the neighbouring markets offer
high growth opportunities that could absorb contemplated capacity upgrades in its plants. Among
others, Germany represents a priority for the Company with very attractive pricing dynamics and
market size. Poland is another priority market with high volume potential and a fragmented market that
is open for new entrants.

In order to tackle this opportunity, the Company intends to continue expending the Company’s
network of international distributors and partners, keeping its operational shutdown time to 30 days
every two years, as well as invest selectively to increase the Company’s capacity in their production
bottlenecks. Namely, the Company plans to invest up to €40 million in the period from 2011 to 2014 in
the expansion of their ammonia plant from 1,200 tonnes/day up to 1,400 or 1,650 tonnes/day (see
“Investment Strategy”).

Environmental protection

The Company continues to strive to achieve high standards of environmental protection, health and
safety and plans to continue to promptly adapt to evolving environmental legislation.

Generate cost savings by actively managing energy consumption

The Company’s energy consumption - both natural gas and electricity - represents 60 per cent. of total
operating cost. The Company is committed to keep improving its operations to reduce the specific
energy consumption in its processes. The Company is planning investments of up to 40 million over
the next three years intended to reduce energy consumption by 10 per cent. in its ammonia plant.

The Company’s natural gas procurement strategy is critical in its attempts to reduce costs. The
Company has secured transportation capacity on a long-term basis for the main pipelines serving its
plants. Although it is currently purchasing natural gas in the CEGH, the Company remains vigilant to
market prices and will opportunistically commit to longer term contracts or consider purchasing a
portion of their required volumes in other markets and under different pricing formulae.

Maintain a prudent financial strategy

The fertiliser business remains volatile and unexpected margin and demand swings can affect the
Company’s ability to deploy capital. Accordingly, the Company will continue to be disciplined and use
its partners to provide financing to fertiliser end users. The Company’s sales will continue to be pre-
paid by its clients in order to minimise credit risk and working capital needs. Furthermore, the
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Company is diversifying its funding sources away from commercial banks in order to preserve
working capital availability. Finally, the Company intends to maintain a prudent capital structure with
net debt not exceeding two-and-a-half times EBITDA in the future.

PRODUCTS

Nitrogen-based fertilisers

Nitrogen-based fertilisers are one of three main groups of artificial fertilisers, along with phosphorus-bearing
products and potassium-bearing products. According to the International Fertiliser Association, global
agricultural consumption for the three principal crop nutrients in 2008 was approximately 169 million tonnes.
This amount comprised approximately 101 million tonnes, or 60 per cent., of nitrogen, 39 million tonnes, or
23 per cent., of phosphate and 29 million tonnes, or 17 per cent., of potassium-bearing products. Nitrogen, the
key element of nitrogen-based fertilisers, is essential for plant growth and development as it is the main
constituent of protein. Nitrogen supply performs an important role in determining a plant’s growth, vigour,
colour and yield. Nitrogen is the plant nutrient most widely needed to meet the requirements for high crop
yields. It is also an important constituent of chlorophyll. As a basis of nearly all nitrogen-based fertilisers,
ammonia can be applied directly to the soil; however, for a number of reasons, including environmental, more
often it is processed into other nitrogen-based products before application.

The Company’s core product range includes:

. Ammonium Nitrate (“AN”);

. Calcium Ammonium Nitrate (“CAN”);

° Urea;

° Nitrosol; and

° Other chemical products and industrial gases.

Set out below are further details for each of these categories of products and the primary products they
include.

Ammonium nitrate

Ammonium nitrate is produced by way of neutralisation of ammonia gas with unconcentrated nitric acid and
subsequent granulation. It is sold by the Company as a finished product and is mainly used as a fertiliser in
agriculture. AN fertiliser comprises 34 per cent. nitrogen. It has advantages in its uniform particle size (in
both prilled and granulated form) and low transportation costs.

Calcium Ammonium Nitrate

Ammonium nitrate was traditionally the principal fertiliser made by the Company. However, more recently it
has become more popular to combine ammonium nitrate with calcium oxide and magnesium oxide. This
product, containing 27 per cent. nitrogen, 7 per cent. calcium oxide and 5 per cent. magnesium oxide, has
been proved to improve environmental and agronomical properties. It is now the most popular nitrogen-based
fertiliser among Hungarian and many foreign agricultural producers. AN and CAN products are marketed
under the name Pétis6. The Company owns the patent to the name “Pétisé” (registered under Number 114929
at the Hungarian Patent Office), and it renews this patent on an annual basis. The product range includes
prilled and granulated form Pétiso, as well as Pétiso combined with sulphur. The calcium oxide, and other
‘dolomite’ raw materials used in the production of CAN, are mined locally around the Pétfiirdé production
site.
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Urea

Urea is an organic compound of carbon, nitrogen (46 per cent.), oxygen and hydrogen and is produced from
synthetic ammonia and carbon dioxide as an assortment of granules, flakes, pellets, crystals and solutions.
Urea is the most widely used dry nitrogen-based fertiliser. It is a solid nitrogen product typically applied in
granular form. Once applied to the soil, urea is converted to ammonia, which reacts with water to form
ammonium.

Nitrosol

Nitrosol is a liquid fertiliser containing 30 per cent. nitrogen. Agricultural producers can apply Nitrosol as a
spray. This has the advantage of being able to be applied in a more accurate uniform dosage.

NPK

NPK is the name given to a group of compound fertilisers to which have been added further agronically
‘active’ ingredients such as phosphates and potassium. The exact amounts of the active ingredients is
accurately measured in order to produce NPK products which are tailored to meet specific customer needs.

In 2010, 84 per cent. of the Company’s sales revenue were attributable to Pétiso, ammonium nitrate, urea and
nitrosol products. The remaining 16 per cent. of sales revenue was from the sales of raw chemical products
and other chemical products.

Production Volumes

The following table sets out the production volumes of the Company’s primary products for the three years
ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Year ended 31 December

2008 2009 2010

(Thousand tonnes)

PEHSO/CAN ..ottt 303,504 421,184 517,289
AMMONIUM NITFALE ...eooivieiiiiieee e e eenenees 200,312 198,697 167,525
UREA . ..ottt 119,452 139,319 146,882
NITOSOL . 67,892 62,183 81,602
Total 691,600 821,383 913,298

Note: The table above sets out the volume of production of certain principal products of the Company, irrespective of
whether such products are sold to the Company’s customers or utilised in other production processes by the

Company.

PRODUCTION

The Company’s main production facilities are situated on a 140 hectare site at Pétfiirdd village, between
Veszprém and Székesfehérvar, south-west from Budapest, Hungary. The Company owns 434 hectares in the
surrounding area on which, for instance, the Company’s sewage treatment plant is located and from where
water used by the production facilities is sourced. The current production facilities comprise five main
production plants: (i) the ammonia plant (which started production in 1975), (ii) nitric acid plant (2007); urea
plant (1975); (iv) granulation plant (2007) and CAN plant (1975). The production units and the closely related
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energy supply units (water, natural gas, steam and electricity) are intended to be used continuously, and
production is most efficient if energy and raw materials are supplied at a continuous rate. The Company,
therefore, plans on the basis of shutting down production entirely for a period of approximately one month
every two years, during the summer months, in order to perform any maintenance required on the production
facilities.

Almost 60 per cent. of production and service units are controlled by computer-aided process management
systems (DCS systems). This process also includes some safety benefits. The Company has purchased
software licences in respect of its DCS systems which it can use for an unlimited period (the licensors are
Honeywell & Emerson Co.).

The main contractor for the Nitric Acid plant is Chemoproject s.a., and for the Ammonium Nitrate and CAN
plants it is Prochem s.a., both of whom have granted the necessary patents and licences to the Company for an
unlimited period.

The Company’s ammonia plant produces on average 1,200 tonnes per day ammonia using the ‘Kellogg
process’. This is the standard production method used throughout the world by nitrogen-based fertiliser
producers.

Ammonia is used as a raw material for urea and ammonium nitrate-based solid and liquid fertilisers. 30 per
cent. of ammonia is used for urea production in the Company’s ‘CO2 stripping’ type urea plant, where the
Company produces 600 tonnes/day of prilled urea.

Half of the remaining ammonia is used for nitric acid production in the Company’s new, high capacity dual
pressure nitric acid plant, where the Company produces 1,650 tonnes/day diluted nitric acid (60 per cent.
concentration). The vaporised ammonia mixed with air is reacted in a high temperature (900 degrees Celsius)
platinum gauze, forming nitrogen-monoxide. The exotherm reaction heat is used for steam production.
Nitrogen oxide is reacted with remaining oxygen forming nitrogen dioxide that after compressing to a higher
pressure is absorbed in an absorption column forming nitric acid.

In the Company’s fertilisers plants, nitric acid is neutralised with ammonia gas in atmospheric pressure or
under pressurised reactors. Some of the exothermic reaction heat is used for removing the majority of the
water content of the acid. The remaining moisture is removed in different evaporators to produce a practically
water free ammonium-nitrate melt. This melt is mixed together with previously milled, dried dolomite
powder. In the older plant — originally a Norsk Hydro complex fertiliser process — the Company produces
either CAN-27 or AN-34 (if dolomite powder is not used) with a prilling process. After screening, cooling and
anti-caking, the Company stores the fertilisers in bulk or smaller packaging (50 kg package or 700 kg larger
bags). In the new granulation plant — so called ‘pug-mill’ granulation process, licensed by Zaklady Azotowe
Kendzezyn (“ZAK”), Poland, is used. This process involves the ammonium nitrate melt being fed to the ‘pug-
mill’ granulator. After shaping, the moisture content is removed in a long large diameter drying drum. After
screening, the normal particle size fraction is cooled and transported to either the bulk storage or to the
packaging plant.

Production Capacity
95 per cent. of production takes place in five core plants (ammonia, nitric acid, urea and the two fertiliser
plants).
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The following table sets out the current annual production capacity for the Company’s principal products:

Capacity Capacity

(tonne/day) (tonne/year)
AINIMNONIA. .....eiiiiiiiie ittt eee e e e e e eet e e e e e e e eseaaareeeeeeseennnnees 1,200 400,000
NIEC ACTA. ittt 1,650 560,000
UT@Q.. ettt sttt b et b e st b e st b et b et be et 600 200,000
Ammonium nitrate, 34 per cent. Nitrogen in Prilling Plant 1,400 450,000
Pétiso (CAN, 27 per cent. Nitrogen in Prilling Plant)...........cccccoevvevnnnen. 1,400 435,000
Ammonium nitrate, 34 per cent.) Nitrogen in Granulation Plant)................ 1,100 330,000
Pétiso (CAN, 27 per cent. Nitrogen in Granulation Plant)............c.ccceee... 1,400 435,000
INIETOSOL .ttt 1,800 500,000

Note: The ratios between daily and yearly capacities are different due to plant shut downs and planned
maintenance.

The Company has had an MSZ EN ISO 9001 quality assurance system in place since 1997, and has operated
since 2000 in accordance with the provisions of the MSZ EN ISO 14001 environmental management system.

PROCUREMENT AND SUPPLY

The basic component for fertiliser production is ammonia which is produced by the Company from natural
gas. Energy costs are the key cost elements of the Company (being responsible for approximately 65 per cent.
of total operating costs in the year ended 31 December 2010). The natural gas consumption of the Company
was 500 million m3 in the year ended 31 December 2010. The Company is one of the largest gas consumers
in Hungary. After natural gas, the next main source of energy in terms of volume is electricity, and the
Company’s consumption was approximately 150 GWh.

Natural Gas Procurement

The natural gas supplier to the Company prior to 2008 was EMFESZ, and later E.ON Fo6ldgaz Trade and Shell
before the crisis at the end of 2008. Pricing was based on the ‘Gazprom formula’ (under which the gas price
follows the price of two oil distillates). Following a commercial dispute with EMFESZ and Shell, the supply
contracts were terminated and the Company was supplied by E.ON until February 2009. See the sections
“Litigation — Shell” and “Litigation — EMFESZ”.

Since the beginning of 2009, the Company has been purchasing its natural gas supplies from Western
European gas markets directly (from the Netherlands, England, Germany and Austria). The natural gas is
directly sourced in Austria through the Central European Gas Hub (“CEGH”). Both ‘over-the-counter’ and
stock exchange trading takes place through the CEGH, where there are almost 100 active traders. CEGH is
the only gas trading outlet in Central and Eastern Europe and the Company believes that it benefits from a
significant competitive advantage over its regional rivals since it is close to the CEGH outlet and the
Company has secured access to this infrastructure.

Purchasing Strategy

The Company purchases natural gas on the ‘spot’ market, ensuring that the Company stays abreast of market
trends. Currently the ‘spot’ market price is generally found to be lower than the ‘Gazprom formula’ price
because it reflects prevailing supply and demand of natural gas in the region rather than across trends in
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general oil prices. Many industrial users have committed themselves to long-term contracts linked to the
Gazprom formula, and are currently — at a competitive disadvantage due to the lower prevailing gas market.

The following table shows the historical natural gas prices; spot market versus GAZPROM formula (in
USD/1000m3):

2009 2010

Q1 1Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 |Q3 | Q4

Spot Prices

. 165 | 151 | 140 | 175 | 184 | 210 | 253 | 291
(TTF Heren basis)

GAZPROM-formula prices
(on an individual traders’ basis (on a bilateral 483 | 362 | 265 | 281 | 329 | 361 | 379 | 384
contract basis))

The composition of the purchasing portfolio changes constantly based on market forecasts and analyses. The
main purchasing horizons are for daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly and six-monthly products. The number of
suppliers is stable and the Company purchases gas from several suppliers, thus aiming to minimise supplier
risk.

In the event that acquiring gas directly from Russia (and therefore using the then prevailing ‘Gazprom
formula’) proves to be more beneficial in the long run, the Company also has access to the gas from
Ukrainian-Hungarian cross-border capacities which is priced using this method.

The ‘spot’ price currently sourced through the CEGH is quoted in EUR (whereas the ‘Gazprom formula’ is
quoted in U.S.$), thus the Company considers its FX exposure to be reduced when using the ‘spot’ price
owing to the Company’s export revenues principally being denominated in EUR. In the Company’s view, this
provides a form of natural currency hedge. The Company does not currently employ any other means of
currency hedge.

Transaction Capacity

There is currently a bottleneck on the Hungarian-Austrian Gas (“HAG”) pipeline which is the only supply
alternative to cheaper Western European ‘spot’ gas. The Company has secured long-term access to the
Austrian-Hungarian cross-border pipelines. The contract covers the period from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2019,
with Foldgazszallitd Zrt (Natural Gas Transmission Company) (“FGSZ”) for the Hungarian side of the
shipment. On the Austrian side the access is secured with a long-term capacity contract which was signed
with OMV Gas GmbH, and which is to run from 1 October 2016 to 1 October 2026. Annual contracts are in
place until this contract enters into force on 1 October 2016. In the event that acquiring gas directly from
Russia proves to be more advantageous in the long run, the Company also has access to Ukrainian-Hungarian
cross-border capacities, which could be contracted into on the same basis as the FGSZ contract.

Electrical Power

Recent liberalisation of the Hungarian electricity market triggered significant changes to purchasing methods
within Hungary. There are currently more than 100 licensed traders on the Hungarian electricity market,
including the major European energy companies. The Hungarian electrical energy market (known as HUPX)
was launched on 20 July 2010. This market provides traders with relative security and aims to ensure the
efficient procurement of energy in Hungary.
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The electrical energy requirements of the Company are currently served by entering into trades on a monthly
basis, for which suppliers also compete on a monthly basis. If the market environment sees it become
advantageous to do so, the Company would be able to switch to a longer-term electricity trading strategy.
Currently, however, the Company believes that monthly pricing for electricity offers the more competitive
pricing strategy.

Within Hungary, transportation costs and tariffs which the Company faces were approximately
10 per cent. of the Company’s electricity cost in the year ended 31 December 2010. Transportation and tariffs
represent a minor expense of the Company, being responsible for approximately 0.65 per cent. of total
operating cost in the year ended 31 December 2010.

Hungarian Natural Gas Market

The total natural gas consumption is approximately 13 to 15 billion m3 in Hungary annually (this figure
represents the average total natural gas consumption amount before economic downturn in 2008) with strong
seasonality in demand due to higher consumption in the winter heating season.

The vast majority (approximately 90 per cent.) of Hungarian demand is supplied from import and the
proportion is set to increase in the longer-term due to decreasing domestic production.

Two international pipelines enter into Hungary: one from Ukraine (Brotherhood Pipeline) and one from
Austria (HAG pipeline). Brotherhood transit pipeline carries Russian gas to Hungary for internal consumption
and exports to the former Yugoslavia via Serbia. Approximately 80 per cent. of the export arrives through this
pipeline, while the remaining 20 per cent. comes from Austria (HAG pipeline). Since 1996, the Hungarian
grid has been interconnected with the western European grid via the HAG pipeline that runs between Gyor in
Hungary and Baumgarten in Austria. Much of the natural gas arriving from Austria comes in the first instance
from Russia. Therefore 80 to 90 per cent. of the imported gas comes either directly or indirectly from Russia
(and other former Soviet Union countries). Hungary’s gas supplies are, therefore, heavily dependent on the
Russian gas company, Gazprom (see “Risk Factors — Raw Materials and Energy”).

It is typical in the region that Gazprom supplies the local regional distributor or wholesaler with natural gas
based on a long-term contract, the duration of which is typically 20 to 25 years, with prices set by ‘the
Gazprom formula’. The price formula applied by Gazprom is generally calculated quarterly, reflecting the
average price of the previous nine months various petrochemical product prices. The price is then fixed for
the following quarter and is quoted in U.S.$. This is the pricing method applied in Hungary. The price is set
quarterly, in accordance with a long-term gas supply agreement between Gazprom and the Hungarian
wholesaler, E.ON Foldgaz Trade.

The wholesalers and regional distributors and most traders in Hungary apply this formula in their sales pricing
for natural gas, thus the final consumers are able (almost exclusively) to purchase natural gas in accordance
this formula. All of the Company’s suppliers (local regional distributors and gas trading companies) use this
formula for the purchase and/or sale of natural gas.

Security of Supply

The amount of commercial reserves in Hungary is approximately 4 billion m3, and the strategic reserves are
approximately 1.2 billion m3. This represents sufficient gas to supply total Hungarian consumption for a
couple of months during the winter period. During the Russian/Ukrainian gas crisis in 2009, the strategic
reserves were not used; moreover, during this time, Hungary in fact sold natural gas to Serbia from its
commercial reserves. However, during this time the consumption of large consumers was restricted in order to
protect households, e.g. the power plants had to switch to oil burning for a short period. This situation did not
influence the operation of the Company.
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SALES AND MARKETING

The following table sets out the total sales volumes, and the split between domestic and export sales, of the
Company’s principal products for the three years ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Year ended 31 December

2008 2009 2010

(Thousand tonnes)

Ammonium Nitrate.............cccoceeevinininniecence 200 180 187
DOMESLIC ... 171 149 144
EXPOFt ..ot 29 31 43
PEtISO/CAN ... 273 421 509
DOMESHIC ..o 167 239 208
EXPOFt ..o 106 182 301
UK@A ..ottt e 97 146 163
DOMESTIC ... 43 49 47
EXDOFL...oocoioieee e 54 97 116
INIEFOSOL.....cooiiiiicccccc e 67 67 67
DOMESLIC ... 46 18 17
EXPOFL....ocoiiiiiiiiiiiiicie e 21 49 50

As the above table illustrates, the Pétisd export volumes have significantly increased since 2008. This is as a
result of the new granulated Pétis6 product being more competitive on the export markets than the prilled
version of the product. The change in ratio between the domestic and export volumes in 2010 was also for this
reason. The sale volume figures for urea on the export markets also shows an increasing trend due to increases
in sales of urea to industrial users (industrial uses for urea include glue production and formaldehyde
production, for instance).

The following table sets out the total sales revenue contribution per principal product during the three years
ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Year ended 31 December

2008 2009 2010

(million HUF )
Ammonium NITFate ......ccocuvveviiieiiiiiiieeeeeeeceeeeee e 14,103 10,701, 10,124
PEtISO/CAN ....oviiiiiiiicieceeceeee e 15,941 19,058 23,780
UT@.. ettt sttt 8,189 8,378 10,182
NITOSOL .ttt 3,753 2,590 2,793
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Domestic sales

Historically, the domestic Hungarian market, which according to the Annual Report of the Hungarian
Research Institute of Agricultural Economics has a total annual consumption of 1.2 million tonnes of fertiliser
products of which 1 million comprises nitrogen-based products, has played a strategic role for the Company
due to transportation costs and domestic prices. Hungarian agricultural users currently remain the primary
target market for the Company. However, the Company believes its current share of the Hungarian market (67
per cent. of the total nitrogen-based domestic fertiliser consumption in 2010 according to the Hungarian
Research Institute of Agricultural Economics, and the monthly reports of the Hungarian Central Statistics
Office and Hungarian Customs and Finance Guard) represents the optimal market share in terms of its pricing
strategy. Significantly higher domestic market share is not a target for the Company, because extra volumes
would be expected to increase the sales costs of the distribution network and thus reduce the average price
level.

Distribution

The Company uses third party distributors to sell its products as well as its own sales force. The distributors
were responsible for 80 per cent. of total domestic sales in 2009, and 87 per cent. in 2010.

Key partner distributors are classified into two main groups based on their activities:

)] Genezis brand dealers: fertiliser distributors who sell the Genezis products relying on their own sales
teams in narrow geographical areas. Some of the Company’s most important partners include
Chemical-Seed Kft., Hogyészi Agrokémiai Kft., Fertilia Kft. and Novochem Kft.

(i)  Integrators: companies who play a major role in Hungarian agriculture. One of the largest partners in
this context is KITE Zrt. These ‘integrators’ are able to supply financing solutions to end users, in
order to help them to secure forward-purchase agreements over the Company’s fertiliser products.

KITE Zrt is the Company's largest single customer accounting for 25 per cent. of domestic sales volumes in
the year ended 31 December 2010. Although the size of Kite poses a concentration risk for the Company, the
Company’s risks in this regard are mitigated by the fact that Kite is unable to source similar products from
another supplier on economical terms. Kite offers a range of agricultural services to the farming users in
Hungary through a network of 52 sales agents. Many of the shareholders of Kite Zrt. are Hungarian
agricultural companies.

The Genezis partner network

In August 2009, the Company created a national organisation called the Genezis partner network with a view
to reaching consumers directly and in an effort to ensure the sustainability of its business. Genezis offers
tailored products and prices to producers in the Hungarian agricultural industry and its agents visit more than
6,000 Hungarian agricultural producers and end users every month.

To improve its relationship with key end users, the partner network established a nationwide specialist
advisory network which gives end users nutrient management recommendations as well as crop nutrition
technology based on the needs of the given crops and end users, thus helping to disseminate good agricultural
practices as widely as possible. The Genezis partner network offers farmers valuable professional support in
Hungary, helping to boost the competitiveness of Hungarian agricultural producers in the domestic and
international markets.
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The following map shows the number of Genezis sales agent operating on a county-by-county basis within
Hungary as at 31 December 2010:

3 sales agents 1
Borsod-Abaig Zemgiin 3
|\ 3 sales agents
Szabodcs-Sratmibe-Bereg 4

The majority of Hungarian end users are small farmers who rely on financial assistance or other financing
options in order to be able to secure the purchase of the amounts of fertiliser that they require. The Company
does not offer any form of financing options or initiatives to its suppliers or end users. 70 per cent. of the end
users that are reached by the Genezis sales network purchase the Company’s products through traders, or
‘integrators’, who provide the necessary funding to them. The remaining 30 per cent. of end users contract
with the Company directly and pay upfront for their product requirements.

The following table sets out the Hungarian domestic historical prices by HUF/tonnes for the Company’s
primary products for the three years ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010:

Year ended 31 December

2008 2009 2010

(HUF/tonnes)
Ammonium NItrate .........cooeveveeeiiieeieeee e 71,506 61,391 57,443
PELISO/CAN ..o 56,094 51,458 51,218
U@ttt 84,657 69,911 67,958
NILOSOL 1.ttt 58,485 54,154 39,808

The decline in prices for the Company’s products during the last two years, as illustrated in the above table,
reflects decreases in international prices which serve as benchmark for the Company’s products. Additionally,
in 2009 and 2010 the Company actively lowered its prices in order to regain market share.
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The following table sets out the Company’s historical percentage market share in the Hungarian nitrogen-
based fertiliser market:

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
The Company 67 54 51 63 77 76
Other producers 33 46 49 37 23 24

Source: Annual market and sales reports of the Company, the Hungarian Research Institute of Agricultural
Economics and monthly reports of Hungarian Central Statistical Office and Hungarian Customs and Finance
Guard.

Export sales

Nitrogénmiivek’s objective is to prioritise sales into those markets where it can realise the highest margins. As
Hungary represents the most profitable opportunity by virtue of prevailing local prices and limited
transportation costs, volumes allocated for the export markets primarily depend on Hungarian demand and
production quantities. Moreover, the Company also seeks to preserve its relationship with key partners by
ensuring product availability for them, thus serving to maintain the Company’s consistent participation in the
markets in which it competes.

The Company’s primary export target destinations are the neighbouring markets of Germany, Poland, Austria,
Slovakia, Czech Republic, Italy, Romania, Serbia and Croatia. Given the nature and bulk of fertiliser
products, they cannot viably and economically be transported to destinations further than approximately 1,000
km from the production site. Therefore, the export radius is effectively restricted to a well-determined limit.
However, conversely this factor also serves to restrict the number of competitors which can viably operate
within the Company’s distribution area.

In 2010, Poland became the largest export market for the Company with 101% sales volume growth since
2009. Nitrogénmiivek is currently reinforcing its local commercial representation to better serve this priority
market as its total size, rising purchasing power and fragmented competition make it an attractive market for
large producers such as Nitrogénmiivek. Germany offers the highest sales prices due to demand for high-
specification products. However, high customer concentration and aggressive incumbents create hurdles for
the Company’s growth in the country. Slovakia, the Czech Republic and Romania are the closest and
historically the most important export markets where the Company has well established distribution
arrangements. The north of Italy has historically been the main destination of urea exports. However, as urea
consumption increases in Hungary, the Company has redirected increasing urea volumes to the domestic
market.

The following table sets out historical export prices by HUF/tonnes for the Company’s primary products for
the six years ended 31 December 2010:

2010* 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Ammonium nitrate 43,570 50,732 66,676 40,823 41,044 35,723
Pétis6/CAN 43,561 37,082 61,777 34,437 34,677 29,551
Urea 60,174 52,044 84,171 57,310 51,983 43,347
Nitrosol 42,306 32,875 51,707 30,339 31,688 27,489
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If the price trend of Pétisé and urea continues to increase, the Company expects to increase sales volumes of
these products by decreasing ammonium nitrate volumes by a corresponding amount. The corresponding
production volume ratio between the Pétisé and ammonium nitrate is 1.26 : 1.00.

The following table sets out the total export sales volumes of the Company’s primary products for the three
years ended 31 December 2008, 2009 and 2010:

Year ended 31 December

2008 2009 2010

(Thousand tonnes)

AMMONIUM NITALE ....vviieieiirieieiereeeeeereeeeete e 28 30 43
PEEISO/CAN ..ottt 106 183 300
U8, 54 102 116
NITOSOL ottt 21 49 50

The following table sets out the export volumes in tonnes per year of the Company’s principal products to
neighbouring countries for the two years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010:

(tonnes per Austria Czech Germany Italy Poland Serbia Slovenia Slovakia Romania
year) Republic

2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010 | 2009 | 2010
Ammonium - - 1,100 | 5,100 - - 3,800 | 5,100 | 6,900 (14,100 - 1,500 | 1,100 - 7,600 | 5,900 | 5,800 | 8,500
Nitrate
CAN 18,800 [38,400(46,500{33,400|51,300|53,600 | 6,000 | 5,700 {26,000 |58,300| 4,300 | 1,000 | 8,900 | 6,700 |16,800 |39,000 | 3,800 | 6,300
Nitrosol - - 45,100 - - - - - - - - - 4,000 - - - - -
Urea 18,200 |17,200|17,000| 16,000 | 1,100 | 1,100 |14,300| 6,000 |11,700|17,400| 3,400 - 126,200 (21,800 | 10,500 | 16,900 | 3,000 | 1,400
MARKETING STRATEGY

The Company aims to combine its marketing and fertiliser advisory capacity. By co-ordinating activities that
are closely related, the Company aims to raise awareness of its products and brands among end users and thus
increase sales of fertiliser products.

As part of the Bige group, the Company has the advantage that it is able to offer its entire product portfolio in
order to satisfy many of the various requirements that agricultural producers might have for nitrogen-based
products. The Company not only aims to support users with products satisfying broad demands, but also by
providing other advisory services too.

The main task of the nationwide Genezis partner network is to offer the right type and price of fertilisers on a
customised basis for individuals, businesses and areas, bearing in mind the notion of sustainable development.

The Genezis partner network aims to offer farmers a valuable professional support service in Hungary,
helping to boost the competitiveness of Hungarian agricultural products generally.
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Marketing communication

Establishing a unique image is a crucial issue for the Company and, in particular, for its marketing strategy.
The Company seeks to create a clear and unified image both internally and externally that distinguishes itself
from its competitors. The Company attaches great importance to participating in trade fairs and exhibitions.
Besides the main domestic fairs - Agro+Mashexpo, Babolna International Farm Show - the Company also
takes part in agricultural fairs organised on target markets. The key objective here is to raise awareness of the
Genezis brand name and show that the Company is active in the relevant market.

Participating in the various professional events is an important part of the sales and advisory activity. Sales
agents and advisers are able to forge close contacts with users.

The Company believes that it is also important to co-operate with other companies on the agricultural market,
such as partners which focus on crop protection and seed sales. The Company organises shows and
presentations in relation to the experiments set up in the various agricultural regions.

In addition to providing general information on products, materials specific to crops are also compiled and
disseminated to clients and prospective clients as well as advertisements on crop-specific technologies.

Since 2010, the packaging bags used by the Company in both in Hungary and abroad have looked the same.
This approach revolves around the Genezis brand name as well as the “HUNGARIAN LAND, JOBS,
FERTILISER” logo.

The Company places advertisements and public relations articles in respected agricultural journals to
strengthen its image and present new products, as well as crop-specific articles depending on the given
farming season. Since 2008 the Company has organised campaigns at the start of the spring and the autumn,
supported by newspaper and radio advertisements. Other industrial journals (e.g. chemical industry,
environment) along with daily county newspapers and specialised books are also useful media for
advertisements and public relations promotion. In the electronic media (such as TV), the Company often
organises short advertisements around programmes connected with agriculture or which are popular.

The Company’s website is crucial from the perspective of effective marketing communication. The
www.nitrogen.hu and www.genezispartner.hu websites provide comprehensive content and contain regularly
updated information for agricultural producers.

The Company has received several awards for its activities in the industry. In 2008, the Company received an
Environmental Innovation Award for undertaking significant technical and technological innovations during
the major investment in its new nitric acid plant.
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BANKING FACILITIES

The following table sets out the breakdown of loans outstanding and working capital facilities available
to the Company as at 19 July 2011:

Account balance

Credit Amount of as at 19 July
institution Type/purpose |loan/borrowing | Currency | 2011 Expiration
Multicurrency
overdraft 31August
Commerzbank | facility 294,444,418 HUF 283,103,173 2011
Multicurrency
revolving loan
Budapest Bank | agreement 1,500,000 EUR 1,266,000 | 30 June 2015
Overdraft 12 August
Volksbank facility 1,892,800,000 HUF 1,892,800,000 2011
Long-term
multicurrency
current asset
Budapest Bank | loan 6,500,000 EUR 4,955,000 | 30 June 2015
Current asset 31 January
MFB loan 8,000,000,000 HUF 8,000,000,000 2013

15 December

MFB Investment loan 51,230,735 EUR 29,867,519 2014
Raiffeisen
Bank Zrt. Trading House 35,700,000 EUR Zero| 31 May 2014

Various credit | Other leasing
institutions arrangements 141,495,000 HUF 141,495,000 July 2013

As at 31 March 2011, the Company had indebtedness of HUF 10,622,262,757 and EUR 40,748,162. The
following is a summary of the security granted by the Company in respect of its financing arrangements:

)] Commerzbank (HUF 729,462,757 multicurrency overdraft facility) collateral in the form of ability to
withdraw moneys from the Company’s bank accounts.

(i1) Budapest Bank (EUR 1,344,000 multicurrency revolving credit facility) General mortgage of HUF
3,000,000,000 on one of the Company’s properties. Furthermore assignment to the bank from the
Company’s existing and future receivables in respect of Fertitia Kgt. up to an amount of sales
revenue in proportion to the credit, together with collateral in the form of ability to withdraw moneys
from the Company’s bank accounts.

(ii1) Volksbank (HUF 1,892,800,000 overdraft facility) secured by a third ranking mortgage of up to HUF
2,000,000,000 over the Company’s CAN prilling plant, together with collateral in the form of ability
to withdraw moneys from the Company’s bank accounts.
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(iv) Budapest Bank (EUR 5,264,000 long-term multicurrency working capital loan) secured by a general
mortgage up to HUF 3,000,000,000 over the Company’s properties, together with collateral in the
form of ability to withdraw moneys from the Company’s bank accounts.

v) Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. (“MFB”) (HUF 8,000,000,000 current asset loan) secured by a first
rank mortgage of up to HUF 10,000,000,000 on the Company’s new Nitric Acid plant, new
Granulation plant, Packaging plant, Ammonia plant, Urea plant and, new cooling tower and the
fertiliser plant, together with collateral in the form of ability to withdraw moneys from the
Company’s bank accounts.

(vi) Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. (EUR 34,140,162 investment loan) secured by a second ranking
mortgage of up to EUR 52,000,000 on the Company’s Nitric Acid plant, Granulation plant,
Packaging plant, Ammonia plant, Urea plant and cooling tower, together with collateral in the form
of ability to withdraw moneys from the Company’s bank accounts.

The following table sets out additional operating payment obligations of the Company subject to
encumbrances as at 31 March 2011:

Credit Institution Amount Currency Expiration
Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. 2,491,423.46 EUR 15 June 2011
CIB Bank Zrt 144,116,000 HUF 1 July 2011

The Company has registered a lien in favour of Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. over all current and future receivables
derived from the 2,000,000 dinitrogen oxide emission reduction unit quota purchase agreement concluded on
14 July 2005 between the Company and Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH. Raiffeisen Bank Zrt.
provided an advance payment guarantee in respect of the above purchase agreement to the value of EUR
2,491,423.46, and, accordingly, Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. has the right to make instant collections from the
Company’s bank accounts over the term of the agreement. The agreement is currently due to expire on 15
June 2011, but the Company expects to renew this agreement.

CIB Bank Zrt has guaranteed the Company’s contractual obligation to pay on a monthly basis for its gas
pipeline usage.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY

Strategic Investments carried out between 2005-2007

In 2005 the Company began an extensive investment project at a cost of approximately EUR 100 million. The
investment focused on the construction of four new facilities; a nitric acid plant; a CAN granulated fertiliser
plant; a cooling water supply unit; and a fertiliser packing unit.

Nitric Acid Plant and Emission Reduction Unit (ERU) Quotas

Nitric acid is one of the raw materials (together with ammonia) used in the production of CAN. The Company
installed a new dual-pressure nitric unit at a cost of EUR 58 million. It was commissioned in August 2007.
The current capacity of the unit is 1650 (60 per cent.) tonnes/day nitric acid.

Grande Paroisse is the licensor for the technical process used at the plant, and the so called “EnviNOx”
environment protection process technology was made by Uhde. The project was overseen by Chemoproject.

The new unit eventually decreased the nitrous-oxides (“NOy”) and di-nitrogen-oxide (“N20”’) emission at the
Company. This reduction enabled the Company to participate in N20 emission reduction unit (“ERU”) trade,
which the Company expects to amount to approximately 1 million ERU annually between 2008 and 2012.

AN/CAN Fertiliser Granulation Plant
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A new unit that can produce either 1,100 tonnes/day capacity ammonium-nitrate or 1,400 tonnes/day capacity
CAN started its production at the end of 2007. This plant has been operating continuously since January
2008.

The investment cost for this plant was EUR 33 million. The licensor of the neutraliser part of the process was
Uhde, while the granulation processing part was made by ZAK.

The unit is able to produce either granulated AN or granulated CAN which is a product currently in high
demand in the Company’s market area.

Cooling Water Supply Unit

The Company invested in a new cooling water system for the new nitric acid and AN/CAN fertiliser plants in
May 2007, manufactured by EGI-GEA Ltd. The investment cost was EUR 3.5 million.

Fertiliser Packing Unit

A new 2X400 tonnes/day big bag or alternatively unit package fertiliser packing facility was commissioned in
May 2007.

The investment cost was EUR 4 million. Packing machines were made by Beumer, and the main contractor of
the project was Javer & Boecker.

Capacity expansion at ammonia plant

Capital expenditure in the next five years is expected to total up to a maximum of EUR 50 million. Over that
period, the Company intends to continue to invest with the aim of increasing production capacities and
reducing energy consumption. In preparation for increasing the export volumes of nitrate fertiliser, the
Company plans to expand the capacity of the ammonia plant to 1,400 tonnes/day by 2014, and reduce energy
consumption by a further 10 per cent. The cost of this investment is expected to amount to up to EUR 40
million.

The project to boost capacity and lower energy consumption is currently at the study preparation phase. The
plan is to prepare the feasibility study with the help of M.W. Kellogg by mid-2011, which will be in respect of
the investments which the Company plans to be carry out by 2014.

Capacity expansion at nitric acid plant

The actual capacity of the Company’s nitric acid plant is currently 1,650 tonnes/day (60 per cent. nitric acid);
during the overhaul in the summer of 2010, the capacity of the heat recovery boiler in one of the core
facilities of the plant, the burning element, was raised to 1,800 tonnes/day.

In December 2010, Grande Paroisse completed a study which aims to bring the capacity of the nitric acid
plant up to 1,800 tonnes/day and the Company is preparing to raise the capacity of the nitric acid plant to
1,800 tonnes/day. It is expected that the investment required for this expansion will total up to EUR 10
million.

The capacity boost for the ammonia plant and nitric acid plant capacities referred to above are intended to
then allow for an increase in production and exports of nitrogen-based fertilisers.

Planned (and prepared) investments aim to reduce energy consumption

Recently the Company has planned two important investment projects:
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Electrical energy production with expansion steam turbine generator system

In the production facility's steam system, expansion valves are used to reduce roughly 50 to 60 tonnes per
hour of steam from a pressure of 40 bar to 13.5 bar. The Company plans to replace the steam expansion
through valves with a steam turbine generator in the thermal energy supply system, producing around 3 MW
of electrical energy. By generating 3 MW of the Company’s own electricity they will aim to reduce electricity
purchases by around 20 per cent.

The cost of this investment is expected to be in the region of EUR 1.5 million, and it is anticipated that the
investment costs would be effectively recovered within two years on account of the resulting savings in
electricity purchases. The investment project will take 12 to 14 months.

Ammonia plant, conversion of process condensate cleaning unit

At the start of 2010, the Company purchased a conversion licence from Instytut Nawozoéw Sztucznych
Pulawy in Poland to convert the process condensate cleaning unit, along with basic engineering plans. During
the overhaul in July 2010, the Company made it possible to connect the new solution to the system during
operations.

Once the investment funds are available, it is intended that this project will be carried out over approximately
an eight to 12 month period. The annual natural gas demand is expected by the Company to fall by
approximately 5 Mm3 as a direct result of this planned investment.

This investment will cost in the region of EUR 1 million and it is expected that the payback time of the
investment will be approximately one year.

FERTILISER INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Fertilisers serve an important role in the global agriculture industry by providing vital nutrients that help
increase both the yield (including sometimes the frequency of the yield) and the quality of farmed crops. The
performance of the global fertiliser industry is driven by several key factors, including population growth,
changes in dietary habits, planted acreage and fertiliser application rates, available production capacity and
operating rates, raw material costs, government policies and the global trade in agricultural produce.
According to a 2009 report by the United States Department of Agriculture, the global consumption of coarse
grains, a key food staple, grew steadily between 1990 and 2002, and then at an accelerated rate beginning in
2003. According to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development — Food and Agriculture
Organisation of the United Nations (“OECD-FAQ”), global consumption of coarse grain is expected to have
an average compound annual growth rate of 1.6 per cent. per year between 2008 and 2018.

To meet the expected growth in demand, the Company believes that, due to the limited amount of arable land
available for agricultural use, increases in crop production will come primarily from improved crop yields.
Historically, yield improvement has been driven by the use of higher quality seed, more efficient farming
practices and increased fertiliser application. According to Fertecon, an independent fertiliser industry
consultant, global consumption of nitrogen-based and phosphate-based fertilisers is projected to grow at
CAGRs of 1.7 per cent. and 3.2 per cent., respectively, between 2008 and 2020.

The fertiliser sales strategy of the Company in the coming five years is expected to be principally led by
domestic sales. The Company intends to place 55 to 70 per cent. of production quantities on the domestic
market during this time. This is also the Company’s strategy for the longer term.

The Company believes that the use of fertilisers by Hungarian agricultural users is likely to increase in the
coming five years, by an average growth rate of 4 to 5 per cent. each year. Assuming such growth, the use of
fertiliser products per hectare could rise in five years by around 10 to 20 per cent. above its present level. The
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Company expects its relative share of the Hungarian market to fall if the use in fertiliser increases. This is
because the Company does not expect that its production capacity will be able to continue to grow at such a
rate as the expected rise in domestic demand.

Demand for fertiliser in the region has generally been higher than the available supply. This is because
demand for foodstuffs, and therefore for agricultural products - like fertilisers, has tended to rise at a faster
rate than fertiliser production capacity has been able to.

Expected Hungarian market trends

Research by EFMA predicts growth in fertiliser use of 4 to 5 per cent. per annum for Hungary in the coming
10 years. Accordingly, average fertiliser use per hectare is expected to grow in a similar trend.

International and European trends

Based on independent market research, the Company does not expect any new production unit investments or
the appearance of new producers in the European Economic Area — at least in the short-term future. (Source:
Forecast of Food, Farming and Fertiliser Use in the European Union 2007-2017, European Fertiliser
Manufacturers Association, Annual Forecast Issue.)

In the long run, the Company expects to see a decreasing inflow of imported fertiliser products and the
declining competitiveness of competitors in the countries to the east of Hungary (notably Ukraine, Russia,
Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan). This expectation is predicated on the convergence of energy prices towards
European levels (for example, an International Monetary Fund loan agreement which the Ukraine is currently
party to has prohibited the Ukrainian government from subsidising the fertiliser industry in the Ukraine),
which in turn is expected to result in higher production costs in those countries. The majority of plants in
these countries are outdated, and manufacturers will have to invest substantial capital in order to significantly
increase production.

The Company expects an increase in demand for corn, oil-seed crops and rapeseed, since these are the
principal raw materials currently used in the production of bioethanol and biodiesel. The demand for
bioethanol and biodiesel is expected to grow if the global price of oil rises. The use of bioethanol and
biodiesel as a substitute for traditional petrochemical products may lead towards the increasing importance of
agriculture and, indirectly, towards an increase in the demand for fertiliser.

Competition

Fertiliser products can viably be transported economically within a geographical radius of approximately
1,000 km. The transportation costs for imported products coming from further away than this is high.
Moreover, Hungary is a landlocked country and the Company’s production site and surrounding distribution
area is a long way from any seaport. This fact makes it economically less viable for competitor producers to
export fertiliser to Hungary from, for instance, the Middle East or from North-West Europe.

The main competitors in the region are: Borealis Agrolinz Melamine (Linz, Austria), Petrokemija d.d.
(Kutina, Croatia), Azomures (Tirgu Mures, Romania), and Duslo, a member of the Agrofert Group (Sala,
Slovakia).

Producers in the former Soviet Union countries

Nitrogen-based fertiliser producers in the former Soviet Union countries, notably Russia, are currently able to
operate at a lower cost than European producers due to the significantly lower price of natural gas in those
countries. This fact represents a competitive advantage for some non-European producers. However, these
producers do also suffer certain competitive disadvantages compared to the European producers.
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Many of the production facilities currently operating in the former Soviet Union countries are relatively old,
and transportation costs can be significantly higher than in Europe. Ammonium nitrate represents the main
nitrogen-based fertilisers which is currently produced in the former Soviet Union countries. Although the
active ingredient content of CAN is smaller than the content of ammonium nitrate, CAN is generally the more
favoured nitrogen-based fertiliser among users on account of its composition. First, this is because the
explosive resistance of CAN fertiliser is better than that of ammonium nitrate (ammonium nitrate is highly
explosive). For this reason, in some countries (Germany and certain Scandinavian countries for instance),
ammonium nitrate is not authorised for distribution to agricultural users. Secondly, CAN has agronomical
advantages owing to the presence of calcium and magnesium carbonate which helps to neutralise some of the
hydrogen ions produced during the process of nitrification in the soil. For this reason, the use of CAN can
help to prevent the acidification of the farmland. Depending on soil quality and climate, acidification can
result in significant production decreases for agricultural land.

Furthermore, the majority of former Soviet Union country-based producers do not currently have granulation
technology operational in their facilities. On most Western European markets, owing to a lack of demand, it is
difficult to sell prilled products even at a significantly lower price.

The quality of nitrogen-based fertilisers produced in the former Soviet Union countries is often poorer than
those produced by the Company.

The domestic agricultural production of Russia and Ukraine has experienced a 3.5 fold growth rate during the
recent couple of years, and hence the domestic market currently absorbs the majority of the fertiliser produced
in the local production facilities.

Finally, the European Union has implemented measures to protect its fertiliser markets, with import tariffs
currently being imposed on imports of ammonium nitrate-based fertiliser products from certain non-EU
countries. A specific duty of EUR 47.07/tonne is applied to imports from Russia, and a specific duty of EUR
32.82/tonne is applied to imports from Ukraine.

Fertilisers Europe (formerly known as “EFMA” or, the European Fertiliser Manufacturers Association), of
which the Company is a member, has been actively lobbying the EU to have these specific duties maintained
and/or extended. The duties are dictated based on the 661/2008 EU regulation on anti-dumping duty for
ammonium nitrate imported from the Russian Federation.

In the longer term, the Company expects that natural gas prices will tend to converge toward the levels then
found among the countries of Europe, and which in turn the Company anticipates may have a downward
pressure on the inflow of imported nitrogen-based products.

Barriers to Entry

The Company believes that the following barriers of entry should be considered when considering the
eventuality of a new competitor establishing a new production site either in Hungary or in the neighbouring
countries:

6] the Company estimates that it would cost a minimum of HUF 100 billion if it or a competitor were to
rebuild or build new production facility to their current production scale;

(i)  production of nitrogen-based fertiliser has significant infrastructure requirements which would have to
be met, such as a bilateral electricity network, access to continuous water for cooling, and access to gas
pipelines;

(iii)  construction of a new facility, on the scale of the Company’s but with state-of-the art technology,
would be expected to take approximately five years to complete from the date all relevant permissions
were obtained;
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(iv)
™)

(vi)

fertiliser producers in the EU are required to meet strict security requirements;

if production plants and related technologies are not in the immediate vicinity of each other, then
production would suffer due to significant transport costs (with furthermore very specific and thus
expensive transport facilities needed (e.g. ammonia can be transported only in liquid form)) of the
different components needed for the production process; and

the final product can viably be distributed and sold within a radius of 1,000 km. Above this distance,
transport costs make the product not competitive on the given market from sales price point of view.
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MANAGEMENT

Details of the Company’s senior management are given below:

Laszlo Tibor Bige, Age 53, Chairman-CEO
Laszl6 Tibor Bige has been the majority owner of the Company since 2002, with a shareholding of 95 per
cent.

Mr. L. Bige has founded, developed and managed different companies in Hungary and Romania in the
chemical and fertiliser industries. In previous ventures, his responsibilities included purchasing and
distributing chemicals and fertilisers as well as scheduling their transportation and delivery to customers. His
25 years of experience in the sector provide him with considerable insights into customer preferences,
logistics and distribution dynamics. Mr. L. Bige holds a degree in pharmacology from the Babes-Bolyai
University, Kolozsvarand is the board member of the Hungarian Chemical Industry Association.

Chairman of the Board of Directors at the Company.

Zoltan Bige, Age 33, General Manager

Zoltan Bige holds a minority of the Company’s shares (5 per cent.) and has been the general manager since
2004. His main responsibilities include risk management and designing and executing the Company’s natural
gas and power purchasing strategy. Prior to his position at Nitrogénmivek, Mr. Z. Bige held different
responsibilities in companies in the chemical industry (Bige Holding Ltd.), in the milling and baking industry
(SC MOPACO SA) and fruit-growing (Alma Trade Ltd.). He holds a bachelor degree in business
administration and management from the University of Corvinus, Budapest. He speaks English fluently.

Member of the Board of Directors at the Company.

Dr. Istvan Blazsek, Age 64, Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Istvan Blazsek has been the chief executive officer at the Company since 2006. After graduating from the
Chemical University of Veszprém as a chemical engineer, he went on to obtain a degree in economics from
the Budapest University of Economics, specialising in industry. He has been working at the company since
1971 and has held different positions in Technology and Operations departments. In 1992, he was appointed
technical director and deputy CEO. Dr. Blazsek is a well-recognized chemical expert who is invited regularly
to speak in specialized forums and universities. He is the president of the Foundation for the Environmental
Engineering Education at the University of Pannonia, Veszprém and vice-president of the Hungarian
Chemical Industry Association and the Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Veszprém. Dr. Blazsek holds a
PhD from the Chemical University of Veszprém and is an honourable associate professor at the University of
Pannonia. He speaks English fluently.

Member of the Board of Directors at the Company.

Eszter Fabry, Age 58, Chief Finance Officer

Eszter Fabry has been working at the Company since 2001 and was appointed the company's chief financial
officer in 2006. Eszter Fabry graduated as an industrial economist from the College of Finance and
Accounting in Budapest in 1985, and she went on to specialise in tax and financial control at the College of
Finance and Accounting in Zalaegerszeg in 1994. She speaks German fluently.

Member of the Board of Directors at the Company.

Based on a government resolution on the unconditional state payment guarantee related to loans of the
Company, the Hungarian Development Bank designated the following Board members from 26 October
2010:
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Sdandor Ormandi, Board member

Laszlo Haraszti, Board member

The designation of the Board members is indeterminate.

The members of the Company’s board of directors can be contacted at H-8105 Pétfiird6, Hésok tere 14,
Hungary.

Other members of the Company’s management team:

Janos Szilagyi, Age 61, Technical director

Janos Szilagyi holds a degree in chemical engineering from the Chemical University of Veszprém. He has
been working at the Company for 38 years and has held various positions in Technology and Operations
departments. From 2001, he was the company's production director and has held his current position since
2007. He speaks English fluently.

Péter Suba, Age 39, Commercial director

Péter Suba has been the head of the commercial division since 2007. He previously worked as a sales
manager in various industries such as in the petrochemical segment of the Hungarian Oil Company (MOL), as
the Head of Domestic Sales at TVK Group, and in the fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) sector as a
channel-manager of the Hungarian affiliate of Pepsi Co. He obtained a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Faculty of Economics and Economic Sciences at the University of Debrecen. He
speaks English fluently.

Jozsef Medve, Age 56, HR director

Jozsef Medve graduated as a chemical engineer from the Budapest University of Technology before obtaining
further qualifications in economic engineering in the chemical industry, tax consulting and employment law
consulting. He has been working at the Company since 1980, and has held the position of human resources
director since 2001.
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PRODUCTION SHUTDOWN IN 2008/2009

Under normal circumstances, the Company shuts down its production facilities for approximately one month
every two years (during the summer) for maintenance reasons.

Some plants can produce different products; it is the management’s decision to switch from one product to
another if necessary. Such a change generally only requires a maximum of two hour shut down of the plant.

The global liquidity crisis and abrupt movements in foreign exchange markets in the latter part of 2008
resulted in cashflow issues for the Hungarian agriculture industry because financial institutions curtailed
credit to the agricultural sector, and this forced the Company’s clients to postpone and reduce their fertiliser
purchases.

Due to this situation, the Company was forced to suspend operations from October 2008 until February 2009.
During this period, the Company only ran its plants at maintenance level and had to cancel purchases of
natural gas under its take-or-pay contracts. The latter resulted in litigation with different natural gas suppliers.
See “Litigation — Shell”.

In order to restart production the company took a loan in the amount of HUF 10 billion (approximately
EUR 35.7 million) from MFB Bank Zrt., to which the Hungarian State has provided a guarantee in
accordance with the decision of the Hungarian government. Other Hungarian companies received similar
assistance during this period.

The European Commission has concluded that part of the state support granted in 2009 to the Company
infringed EU state aid rules. The aid was nevertheless found to be compatible with the Commission's
temporary rules for the economic crisis but the remuneration of the State was insufficient and the Hungarian
state was therefore be obliged to recover some of the financial benefit which it afforded to the Company. See
“Litigation — State Aid”.

LITIGATION

Shell

In October 2008, Shell unilaterally modified the payment terms of a contract for gas with the Company by
requesting prepayment instead of payment-on-delivery. The Company did not accept this payment term and,
therefore, refused to off-take the gas.

Shell sued the Company for an amount of approximately U.S.$ 16 million based on a take-or-pay clause in
the contract. In its arbitration award of December 2010, the Arbitration Court ordered the Company to pay the
claimed amount, together with ancillary costs. The Company subsequently filed a lawsuit against Shell,
aiming to declare the invalidity of the arbitration award. On 16 May 2011 the Municipality Court of Budapest
upheld the decision of the Arbitration Court. As a result of this decision, the Company paid an amount
equivalent to U.S.$ 15.73 million, together with procedural costs, to Shell. The Company intends to file a
petition with the Supreme Court for a revision of the Municipality Court’s judgement.

EMFESZ

The Company had filed lawsuit against EMFESZ as a consequence of the latter unilaterally increasing the
contractual price of its gas, and terminating gas supply in July 2008. The Company’s claims had been partially
decided by the Arbitration Court in favour of the Company, and EMFESZ had, therefore, been obliged to pay
an amount of approximately EUR 5.5 million. The partial decision was, however, challenged by EMFESZ on
the grounds of invalidity of the competent court, but subsequently the court dismissed EMFESZ’s action.
Following this, EMFESZ applied to the Supreme Court for a legal review of the decision, which was rejected.
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In respect of the remaining but yet to be awarded claims of the Company, in the event that the court does not
find in favour of the Company, no payment obligation would be expected to fall on the Company other than
for the eventual payment of procedural costs (this is owing to the fact that EMFESZ has not yet raised any
counterclaim in the lawsuit against the Company).

EMFESZ also filed a lawsuit against the Company expecting the Arbitration Court to rule that the termination
of the gas supply contract on their part had been valid, but the Arbitration Court dismissed the action of
EMFESZ. EMFESZ subsequently filed a lawsuit against Nitrogénmiivek, aiming to declare the invalidity of
the arbitration award, which procedure is still pending before the Metropolitan Court. In the event that the
court does not find in favour of the Company, no payment obligation would be expected to fall on the
Company other than for the eventual payment of procedural costs.

Ownership Dispute

In the middle of 2008, a private individual, Gydrgy Rozsnyoi, claimed that he was entitled to exercise a call
option in respect of 50 per cent. of the common stock of the Company, and initiated a lawsuit before the
competent court asking for the handing over of such common stock. In 2010, the court of first instance
(Szabolcs-Szatmar-Bereg County Court) dismissed Gyorgy Rozsny6i’s action on the basis that his option
right had ceased to exist when the loan secured by such option right was repaid. The judgement was upheld
by the Court of second instance (Court of Appeal Szeged). The judgement is legally binding (final) and may
not be appealed, however a petition for review may be submitted to the Supreme Court within 60 days from
the receipt of the written judgement on the grounds of infringement of law.

Since the action was initiated, the common stock value of the Company has increased from HUF 528 million
to HUF 1.518 billion. Accordingly, the proportion of the common stock which is the subject of Gyorgy
Rozsny6i’s claim has been reduced, and it now represents a claim in respect of ownership of 17 per cent. of
the common stock of the Company.

The increase in common stock has been recognised by the cognisance Registry Court in Veszprém County
and no person or party has contested this or sought legal remedy for this so far. The Hungarian law firm,
Kovacs Réti Szeghed, has advised the Company that, in that law firm’s legal opinion, Gydrgy Rozsnyoi has
no viable claim to entitlement in respect of the increased part of the common stock of the Company.
However, if Gyorgy Rozsnydi intends to file for the review of the judgment and his claim is successful, then
the shareholdings of Mr. Laszlo Bige might be reduced.

State Aid

The European Commission has concluded that part of the state support granted in 2009 to the Company
infringed EU state aid rules. The aid was nevertheless found to be compatible with the Commission's
temporary rules for the economic crisis but the remuneration of the state was of an insufficient amount and
the Hungarian state was, therefore, obliged to recover some of the financial benefit which has been afforded
to the Company. An EU resolution has declared that Hungary must recover the difference between the cost
paid by the Company and the relevant interest based on the Commission’s temporary rules for the economic
crisis.

For the HUF-denominated loan provided by MFB, no additional payment obligation had arisen for the period
until 31 December 2010. For the EUR-denominated loan provided by MFB, an additional payment obligation
in the amount of EUR 345,640 arose which was duly paid by the Company for the period until 31 December
2010. The Company concluded an agreement with the Hungarian State represented by the Ministry of
National Development of Hungary on the amendment of the payment of the guarantee fees previously
concluded. According to the agreement, in the period after 31 December the difference between the cost paid
by the Company and the relevant interest based on the Commission’s temporary rules shall be paid by the
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Company to the Hungarian State as a guarantee fee for the interest periods set forth in the loan contracts.
Nitrogénmiivek intends to file an action with the General Court of the European Union against the European
Commission for the annulment of the Commission Decision.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into various intra-group transactions with other members of the Bige Holding
Group.

The Company purchases from other members of the Group pallets, packaging materials and NPK which it
then on-sells to agents and end users. The other members of the Group also take part in the sale of nitrogen-
based fertilisers, and “small packaged” nitrogen-based fertiliser products which the Company produces. There
can be no assurance that the Issuer would not have been able to obtain different or more favourable terms for
such transactions from third parties.

Mr. Laszl6 Tibor Bige’s loan debt to the Company as at 31 December 2010 is HUF 1,108,128,000, and the
current outstanding interest is HUF 372,391,000. The expiry date of the loan agreement 3 December 2011.
The interest payment obligation according to the loan agreement is the current basis rate of the Central Bank
of Hungary plus 5 per cent.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Since 31 December 2010, production has been at maximum capacity and the Company’s present intention is
to maintain this capacity level up until 31 December 2011. If this is achieved, any investment programmes
will be limited to those which can be undertaken despite continuous production.

Short term investment will, therefore, be limited to those projects which are required for compliance with
environmental and safety restrictions. Such investments will aim to reduce risks posed by the 10,000 tonnes
atmospheric ammonia tank (for instance, by the addition of a safety water curtain, an acoustic emission
measurement system and a new lightning protection system). The project design and selection of the
contractors has now been completed; the necessary purchases have been made and the implementation of the
investment project is currently underway.

A total of EUR 1 million is planned to be spent on these works together with further noise reduction,
environmental and safety developments that are also currently under preparation and design stages.

A further investment currently being undertaken is the partial replacement of insulation in the high
temperature steam and technology systems in the ammonia plant, together with a corrosion preventive
treatment for the structure. The aim of this investment is to decrease the specific natural gas consumption in
that facility. The cost is expected to be in the region of HUF 100 million. The constructor has already been
selected and works are planned to commence before the end of 2011.

The Company started the corrosion protection and cover replacement for its two fertiliser storage warchouses
(with total 70,000 tonnes capacity) in March 2011. The project was finalised in July 2011 at a cost of nearly
HUF 500 million.

The Company has also recently commenced the modification of a third fertiliser storage warehouse. After this
investment the Company hopes to be able to store 90,000 tonnes fertiliser in bulk. Coupled with this
investment, the Company is constructing two high capacity modern big-bag fillers and a filling station for
bulk fertiliser. The Company expects that this will significantly increase its filling capacity. The cost of this
investment is expected to be up to HUF 500 million. The design, requests for proposals and technical
preparations are currently underway. Construction is expected to be completed in the third quarter of 2011.
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Taxation

Hungarian Taxation

The following is a general discussion of certain Hungarian tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership
and disposition of Notes. It does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations which
may be relevant to a decision to purchase Notes, and, in particular, does not consider any specific facts or
circumstances that may apply to a particular purchaser. This summary is based on the laws of Hungary
currently in force and as applied on the date of this Information Memorandum, which are subject to change,
possibly with retroactive effect.

Prospective purchasers of Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences of
the purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes, including the effect of any state or local taxes, under the tax
laws of Hungary and each country in which they are tax resident. The acquisition of the Notes by non-
Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders or the payment of interest under the Notes may trigger additional tax
payments in the country of tax residence of the Noteholder, which is not covered by this summary but is
where the provisions of the treaties on the avoidance of double taxation should be taken into consideration.

Taxation of non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders other than individuals

Non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders other than individuals are not subject to Hungarian withholding tax
on interest received. Profits realised by non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders, other than individuals in the
form of interest or as capital gains on the sale of the Notes, are not subject to corporate income tax in
Hungary, provided that the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Notes are not attributable to any
Hungarian permanent establishment of such Noteholders.

Taxation of individual non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders

Individual non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders are subject to tax in Hungary only with respect to their
Hungarian source income or income that is otherwise taxable in Hungary if an international treaty or
reciprocity so requires. Interest received with respect to the Notes is regarded as Hungarian source income if
the Issuer obliged to pay the interest is Hungarian tax-resident. In general, such income is subject to a 16 per
cent. withholding tax in Hungary. However, provided that Hungary has an applicable treaty on the avoidance
of double taxation in place with the country of residence of the Noteholder, such treaty may fully exempt
Noteholders from withholding tax or may reduce the applicable withholding tax rate.

Interest, as defined in Schedule 7 of Act XCII of 2003 on the Rules of Taxation (ART) implementing certain
provisions of the EU Savings Directive, realised on the Notes by citizens of any Member State of the
European Union other than Hungary is not subject to Hungarian withholding tax where the payor (kifizeto) of
such interest provides data to the Hungarian state tax authority in accordance with Schedule 7 of the ART.

An individual non-Hungarian tax-resident Noteholder, as defined under Schedule 7 of the ART, is not subject
to tax in Hungary where such Noteholder realises capital gains income from Hungary since such income is
not considered to be Hungarian source income.

Taxation of Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders other than individuals

Under Act LXXXI of 1996 on Corporate Tax and Dividend Tax (Corporation Tax Act), Hungarian resident,
non-individual taxpayers are subject to full, all-inclusive corporate income tax liability. Resident entities are
those established under the laws of Hungary. Foreign persons having their place of management in Hungary
are also considered to be Hungarian resident taxpayers. Taxable income is based on the pre-tax profit as
shown in the financial statements and adjusted by certain increasing and decreasing items set forth by tax
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legislation. Taxable income includes all types of income realised during the financial year, such as interest
income and income from capital gains. The regular rate of Hungarian corporate income tax is 10 per cent. in
respect of amounts up to 500 million on a before-tax basis, and 19 per cent. thereafter.

Taxation of individual Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders

Individual Hungarian tax-resident Noteholders are subject to tax on their worldwide income. Interest received
and capital gains realised with respect to publicly traded debt securities, such as the Notes, are subject to tax
at 16 per cent. Individual Hungarian tax residents are persons: (i) who are Hungarian citizens; (ii) whose stay
in Hungary exceeds 183 days within a calendar year; (iii) who have a permanent domicile (allandé lakohely)
in Hungary; or (iv) whose centre of vital interests (1étérdekek kézpontja) is in Hungary, if they do not have a
permanent domicile in Hungary or have permanent domiciles both in Hungary and in any other country.

Luxembourg Taxation

The following summary is of a general nature and is included herein solely for information purposes. It is
based on the laws presently in force in Luxembourg, though it is not intended to be, nor should it be construed
to be, legal or tax advice. Prospective investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own professional
advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including Luxembourg tax law, to which they may be
subject.

Withholding Tax
Non-resident holders of Notes

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the laws of 21 June 2005 (the
“Laws”) mentioned below, there is no withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest
made to non-resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes, nor
is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Notes held by non-
resident holders of Notes.

Under the Laws implementing the EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on taxation of
savings income in the form of interest payments and ratifying the treaties entered into by Luxembourg
and certain dependent and associated territories of EU Member States (the “Territories”), payments of
interest or similar income made or ascribed by a paying agent established in Luxembourg to or for the
immediate benefit of an individual beneficial owner or a residual entity, as defined by the Laws, which
is a resident of, or established in, an EU Member State (other than Luxembourg) or one of the
Territories will be subject to a withholding tax unless the relevant recipient has adequately instructed
the relevant paying agent to provide details of the relevant payments of interest or similar income to
the fiscal authorities of his/her/its country of residence or establishment, or, in the case of an individual
beneficial owner, has provided a tax certificate issued by the fiscal authorities of his/her country of
residence in the required format to the relevant paying agent. Where withholding tax is applied, it will
be levied at a rate of 15 per cent. during the first three-year period starting 1 July 2005, at a rate of
20 per cent. for the subsequent three-year period and at a rate of 35 per cent. thereafter. Responsibility
for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent. Payments of interest
under the Notes coming within the scope of the Laws would at present be subject to withholding tax of
15 per cent.

Resident holders of Notes

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the law of 23 December 2005
(the “Law”) mentioned below, there is no withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or
interest made to Luxembourg resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect
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of Notes, nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of Notes
held by Luxembourg resident holders of Notes. Under the Law payments of interest or similar income
made or ascribed by a paying agent established in Luxembourg to or for the immediate benefit of an
individual beneficial owner who is a resident of Luxembourg will be subject to a withholding tax of 10
per cent. Such withholding tax will be in full discharge of income tax if the beneficial owner is an
individual acting in the course of the management of his/her private wealth. Responsibility for the
withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent. Payments of interest under
the Notes coming within the scope of the Law would be subject to withholding tax of 10 per cent.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to
provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid
by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident or certain other persons established in that other
Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless
during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the
ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to
information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories, including
Switzerland, have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).
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Subscription and Sale

BNP Paribas has, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 27 July 2011, agreed with the Issuer, subject to
the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe the Notes at 99.332 per cent. of their principal amount less
an arrangement fee plus accrued interest, if any. A portion of such fee may be re-allowed to certain investors.
In addition, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse BNP Paribas for certain of its expenses in connection with the
issue of the Notes. The Subscription Agreement entitles BNP Paribas to terminate it in certain circumstances
prior to payment being made to the Issuer.

BNP Paribas will make offers and sales into the United States through United States registered broker dealer
affiliates.

BNP Paribas and its affiliates have performed and are expected to perform in the future various financial
advisory, investment banking and commercial banking services for, and may arrange loans and other non-
public market financing for, and enter into derivative transactions with, the Issuer and its affiliates.

General

Neither the Issuer nor BNP Paribas has made any representation that any action will be taken in any
jurisdiction by BNP Paribas or the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the Notes, or possession or
distribution of this Information Memorandum (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any other offering or
publicity material relating to the Notes (including roadshow materials and investor presentations), in any
country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. BNP Paribas has agreed that it will comply,
to the best of its knowledge and belief, in all material respects, with all applicable laws and regulations in
each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes this
Information Memorandum (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any such other material, in all cases at its
own expense. It will also ensure that no obligations are imposed on the Issuer in any such jurisdiction as a
result of any of the foregoing actions.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and Notes are subject to United
States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exemptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within
the United States or to United States persons. BNP Paribas has represented and agreed that it has not offered,
sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes within the United States or to United States
Persons, except as permitted in the Subscription Agreement.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes within the United
States by a dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of
the Securities Act.

United Kingdom
BNP Paribas has represented and agreed that:

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated, and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated, an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”) received by it in connection
with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not
apply to the Issuer; and

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything
done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

78



Hungary

BNP Paribas has represented and agreed that if the Notes are offered in a private placement in Hungary (i) all
written documentation prepared in connection with a private placement in Hungary will clearly indicate that it
is a private placement; (ii) it will ensure that all investors receive the same information which is material or
necessary to the evaluation of the Issuer’s current market, economic, financial or legal situation and its
expected development, including that which was discussed in any personal consultation with an investor; and
(iii) the following standard wording will be included in all such written communication:

“PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 OF ACT CXX OF 2001 ON THE CAPITAL MARKETS, THIS -NAME OF
DOCUMENT- WAS PREPARED IN CONNECTION WITH A PRIVATE PLACEMENT IN HUNGARY.”
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General Information

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to the
Official List and to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF market.

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in Hungary in connection
with the issue and performance of the Notes. The issue of the Notes was authorised by a decision of
the general meeting of the Company passed on 17 May 2011.

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group
since 31 December 2010 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the
Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2010.

Neither the Issuer nor any of its Subsidiaries is nor has been involved in any governmental, legal or
arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the
Issuer is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Information Memorandum, which may
have or has had in the recent past significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the
Issuer or the Group.

Each Bearer Note and Coupon will bear the following legend: “Any United States person who holds
this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the
limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records) with a Common Code of 065364816.
The ISIN for the Notes is XS0653648161.

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of
Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg.

There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s business,
which could result in any member of the Issuer’s group being under an obligation or entitlement that is
material to the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations to Noteholders in respect of the Notes being
issued.

Where information in this Information Memorandum has been sourced from third parties, this
information has been accurately reproduced, and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain
from the information published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted which would render
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party information is
identified where used.

For as long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, and starting on the date on
which this Information Memorandum is made available to the public, copies (and English translations
where the documents in question are not in English) of the following documents will be available,
during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), at the office of
the Issuer:

(a)  the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer Notes, the
Coupons and the Receipts);

(b)  the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;

(c)  the published annual report and audited accounts of the Issuer for the three financial years
ended 31 December 2008, 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010;
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10.

(d) a copy of this Information Memorandum together with any supplement to this Information
Memorandum or further Information Memorandum; and

(e)  all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any
expert any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Information Memorandum.

KPMG Hungaria Kft. have audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the accounts of the Company
for the years ended 31 December 2008, 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. The auditors of the Company are members of Magyar
Konywizsgaloi Kamara (the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors).
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KPMG Hungaria Kft. Tel.: +36(1)887 7100

Vaci Ut 99. Fax: +36(1) 887 71 01
H-1139 Budapest E-mail:  info@kpmg.hu
Hungary Internet: kpmg.hu

This is an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2010 Consolidated Financial Statements
of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. issued in Hungarian. If there are any differences, the Hungarian language original prevails.
This report should be read in conjunction with the complete Consolidated Financial Statements it refers to.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.
(“the Company”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2010, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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This is an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2010 Consolidated Financial Statements
of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. issued in Hungarian. If there are any differences, the Hungarian language original prevails.
This report should be read in conjunction with the complete Consolidated Financial Statements it refers to.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2010, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.

Budapest, 17 May 2011
KPMG Hungdria Kft.

\ A 1

L3szl6 Kajtar

Partner, Professional Accountant
Registration number: 000269
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Nitrogénmiivek Vegyipari Zartkoriien Miikodd Részvénytéarsasag

Consolidated Financial Statements
2010

prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU

Pétfiirdd, 17 May 2011

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Al figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of financial position

Description Note 2010 2009

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment )] 29,024,486 29,567,045
Intangible assets 2) 134,651 101,130
Investments (4) 17,297 33,869
Other non-current assets (5) 1,165,858 763,542
Deferred tax assets (22) 53,709 71,664
Total non-current assets 30,396,001 30,537,250
Current assets

Inventories (6) 11,250,147 12,670,545
Emission allowances (3) 193,054 91,549
Current tax assets 82,584 256,574
Trade receivables N 6,250,068 7,866,512
Other financial assets and derivatives (8) 10,540,917 10,407,548
Other receivables 9) 1,664,706 1,823,878
Cash and cash equivalents (10) 9,768,409 4,296,972
Assets classified as held for sale (11) 37,012 79,908
Total current assets 39,786,897 37,493,486
TOTAL ASSETS 70,182,898 68,030,736

Pétfiirds, 17 May 2011 }i\l’l&%ﬁ

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Al figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

Description Note 2010 2009
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital (12) 1,518,000 1,518,000
Translation reserve (13) 5,819 736
Hedging reserve 0 0
Retained earnings (14) 16,877,450 12,092,148
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company 18,401,269 13,610,884
Total equity 18,401,269 13,610,884
Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings (15) 16,370,977 21,562,957
Other non-current financial liabilities (16) 1,258,044 650,614
Other non-current liabilities (17) 7,782,113 8,255,499
Provisions 21) 0 40,000
Deferred tax liability (22) 410,870 1,042,265
Total non-current liabilities 25,822,004 31,551,335
Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings (15) 5,881,270 8,384,850
Current tax liabilities 624 143
Trade payables (18) 2,372,358 2,854,175
Other financial liabilities and derivatives (19) 3,818,933 216,659
Other current liabilities (20) 13,366,351 10,811,401
Provisions (21) 520,089 601,289
Total current liabilities 25,959,625 22,868,517
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 70,182,898 68,030,736

Pétiiirdd, 17 May 2011
Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Description
Revenue
Other income
Total operating income
Material-type expenses
Staff costs
Depreciation and impairment
Other expenses

Changes in self-manufactured stocks
Capitalised value of self-manufactured assets
Total operating expenses

Results from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance losses/gains

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Translation difference

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow
hedges

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred
to profit or loss

Income tax on other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Petfiirds, 17 May 2011

(28)

(29)

2010 2009
54,820,422 44,756,033
5,064,488 2,869,022
59,884,910 47,625,055
41,202,107 29,859,832
4,536,992 3,602,915
1,613,999 1,598,960
5,854,805 1,825,720
210,857 2,002,623
-314,363 3,205
53,104,397 38,893,255
6,780,513 8,731,800
1 :202’406 1,979,994
3,029,206 5,717,038
-1,826,800 -3,737,044
4,953,713 4,994,756
168,411 1,194,770
4,785,302 3,799,986
5,083 1,580
0 0
0 0
0 0
5,083 1,580
4,790,385 3,801,566
4,785,302 3,799,986
4,790,385 3,801,566

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share

Note captal

Equity

Atiributable to equity holders of the Company

Retained
earnings

Fair value
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Translation
reserve

Hedging
reserve

Total

Non-
controlling
interest

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2009

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income
Translation difference

Effective portion of changes in fair
value of cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net change in fair value of cash flow
hedges transferred to profit or loss, net
of tax

Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets, net of tax
Net change in fair valug of available-
for-sale financial assets transferred to
profit or loss, net of tax

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to
owners

Issue of shares

Dividends

Total transactions with owners

528,000

980,000

990,000

-844 8,124,102

3,799,986

1,580

1,580

1,580 3,799,986

168,060

168,060

8,651,258
3,799,986

1,580

1,580
3,801,566

168,060
930,000

1,158,060

8,651,258
3,799,986

1,580

1,580
3,801,566

168,060
990,000

1,158,060

[ Balance at 31 December 2009 [ ] [

1,518,000 |

736 |

[ 12,092,148 | 13,610,884 |

[ 13,610,884 |

Pétfiirdd, 17 May 2011

oot W

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Retained
eamings

Fair value
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Hedging

Note Equity reserve

Non-
Total controlling
interest

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2010

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income
Translation difference

Effective portion of changes in fair
value of cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net change in fair valug of cash flow
hedges transferred to profit or loss, net
of tax

Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets, net of tax
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets transferred to
profit or loss, net of tax

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to
owners

Issue of shares

Dividends

Total transactions with owners

1,518,000 736 12,092,148

4,785,302

5,083

5,083

5,083 4,785,302

13,610,884
4,785,302

5,083

5,083
4,790,385

13,610,884
4,785,302

5,083

5,083
4,790,385

I Batance at 31 December 2010

1,518,000 5,819 16,877,450

18,401,269

18,401,26.;‘

W

Pétflirdé, 17 May 2011

Dr. Istvan Blazsek

Chief Executive Officer




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Description

Profit after tax

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Impairment and reversal on inventories
Impairment on receivables and reversal thereof
increase/Decrease in provisions

Gains/Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment
Unrealised exchange gains/losses
Decrease/Increase in inventories
Decrease/Increase in available-for-sale assets
Decrease/Increase in emission allowances
Increase/Decrease in trade receivables
Decrease/Increase in other financial assets
Decrease/increase in other receivables
Decrease/Increase in other assets

Decrease/Increase in other non-current fiabilities
Decrease/Increase in trade payables
Decrease/Increase in other financial liabilities
Decrease/Increase in other current liabilities

Net change in income tax assets, liabilities
Change in receivables and liabilities from derivative
transactions

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest income
Interest expense

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

Pétfirds, 17 May 2011

Note

2010 2009

4,785,302 3,799,986
1,704,559 1,613,086
1,637 1,769
32,473 7,202
-121,200 240,888
5,315 -7,430
348,005 300,123
1,418,761 1,645,164
42,896 0
-101,505 91,549
1,660,060 -2,802,877
-122,482 -3,200,760
330,653 -59,533
-402,316 741,434
-473,386 1,627,752
-426,111 2,422,157
3,674,448 81,599
2,554,950 1,154,441
-438,969 1,172,054
0 0
14,462,460 2,318,324
-244,478 -307,356
1,638,741 2,727,986
171,481 -359,297

15,685,242 4,379,657

Dt. Istvan Blazsek

Chief Executive Officer




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

Description

Dividends received

Interest received

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Sale of property, plant and equipment

Granting and repayment of loans
Dishursement/Repayment of loans to employees
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and business units
Cash used for acquisition of subsidiaries, business units

Net cash flows from investing activities

Issue of shares

Borrowings

Repayment of loans and borrowings
Dividends paid

Interest paid

Net cash flows from financing activities
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Pétfiirds, 17 May 2011

F-10

Note

(10)

(10)

2010 2009
0 0
233,697 306,430
-1,276,854 -862,922
7,190 17,627
15,487 144,101
1,279 848
0 0
0 0
-1,019,201 -393,916
. 0 990,000
7,914,445 26,726,063
-15,403,217 -26,341,515
0 0
-1,710,915 -2,710,690
9,199,687 -1,336,142
5,466,354 2,649,599
4,296,972 1,645,793
5,083 1,580
9,768,409 4,296,972

Dr Istvan Blékzse
Chief Executive Officer




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2010

. GENERAL

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. (hereinafter referred to as “the Company”) was established on 1 February 1990. Registered
office: 8105 Hungary, Pétfiirdd, Hosok tere 14.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).

Péti Gépészeti Kft. and Péti VMA Kit. were wound up through voluntary liquidation in 2010, the related interests
were derecognised, and the assets and liabilities of the companies were taken over by Nitrogénmivek Zrt., thus
the liquidation had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In the period covered by the consolidated financial statements the Company held no interest in associates or
jointly controlled entities.

The Group primarily is involved in the manufacture of artificial fertilisers containing solid nitrogen and nitrogen
solution. The group also manufactures industrial gases (argon, hydrogen, nitrogen).

Group subsidiaries:

Ownership Ownership

Company Country Scope of activities share in share in

2010 2009

: . A Manufacture and distribution of artificial o o
Nadudvari Agrokémiai Kft. Hungary fertiisers and nitrogen compounds 100% 100%
Nitrogén - Pinkerton Kit. Hungary  Investigation and security services 53.33% 53.33%
Nitropet Deutschland GmbH. Germany  Retail and wholesale 100% 100%
Nitropet ltalia S.R.L. Italy Retail and wholesale 100% 100%

. . . Retail and wholesale of agricultural 0 0
NITROPET Slovakia s.r.o. Slovakia oroducts and chemicals 51% 51%

Transportation and agency activities;
NITRO PET d.o.0. Serbia retail distribution of chemical products 100% 100%
and artificial fertilisers

. Manufacture, packaging and o o
PETI NITROKOMPLEXKft. ~ Hungary distribution of artificial fertilisers 100% [

b Dl f A T Manufacture and distribution of 0 o
Péti Polietilén Zsak Kit. Hungary polythene packaging materials 100% 100%
E%EI‘_H CHEMICAL IMPEX Romania Wholesale of chemical products 100 % 100 %
RSR Nitro Kft. “under v.I.” Hungary  Logistics 100 % 100 %




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

1. ADOPTION, STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)  Adoption and statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Annual General Meeting on 17 May 2011.
(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position:
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.

The financial year corresponds to the calendar year.
{¢) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hungarian forint (HUF), which is the Company's
functional currency. The functional currency of each subsidiary is the currency of the country where the relevant
subsidiary is registered, since selling prices are typically determined by the economy of the country where the
subsidiary is active.

Financial information presented in forint has been rounded fo the nearest thousand (THUF), while information
presented in other currencies has been rounded to one currency unit.

{d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the following accounting policies
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. Information about
significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements refating to the following areas is
included in Note 4.
- determination of useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

valuation of emission reduction units (ERU)

recovery of deferred tax assets

recovery of investment tax credit
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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align
them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisition of entities under common control

Acquisitions whereby an entity that is under the control of the shareholder that controls the Group, are accounted
at the date of acquisition by recognising the acquired assets and liabiliies at the carrying amounts recorded
previously in the books of the acquired entity. The components of equity of the acquired entity are added to the
same components within Group equity. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in equity. The part
of cash paid for the acquisition in excess to the net asset value acquired is recognised as a deduction from
retained earnings.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from infra-group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Foreign currency
(i Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the fransactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising
on retranslation are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments and differences from cash flow hedges, which are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items measured at cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

(ii) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments, if any, arising on
acquisition, are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the franslation reserve
is transferred to profit or loss.

When the settiement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised within other comprehensive
income in the translation reserve.

(c) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables, sight deposits and borrowings on the date that they are
originated. All other financial instruments are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale
and that are not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets. The Group's investments in equity

and debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
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initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign
currency differences on equity instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within
equity in the fair value reserve. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss. However, if an equity investment has no quoted price in an
active market and its fair value cannot be measured reliably, it is measured subsequent to initial recognition at
cost less impairment.

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly aftributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabiliies are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(d) Equity
Share capital

Ordinéry shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

{e)  Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and Measurement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the
assets and restoring the site on which they are located, as well as borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment increases the cost of that
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within
other income or other expenses in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of

the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-
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to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the cost of an asset, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over
their useful lives, since the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.
The residual value of production plants and related production machinery and equipment is zero, since their
expected useful lives correspond to their expected economic lives, considering that the Group intends to use
such assets until exhaustion.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

o buildings 35-50 years
o plant and equipment 5-35 years
o fixtures and fittings 2 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each reporting date.
()  Intangible assets
Measurement

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, less its residual value.
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets, from the date that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
e rights and concessions 2-5years

{g9) Leasedassets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Group's statement of financial
position.
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(h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

Purchased inventories

The cost of purchased inventories is determined based on average weighted purchase price and includes direct
acquisition expenditure incurred, as well as costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their existing location and
condition.

Manufactured inventories

Cost of manufactured inventories is determined based on their direct production cost on the reporting date and
includes production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

()  Emission allowances, emission reduction units (ERU)
Carbon dioxide (CO2) quota

The Group receives emission allowances free of charge in Hungary as part of the European Emission Trading
System since it emits greenhouse gases. These allowances are valid until the end of a pre-determined emissions
period. The allowances are credited each year based on the National Allocation Plan. The group must settle its
liability based on actual emissions by surrendering the emission allowances. In the event the actual emissions
exceed the quantity of emission allowances received, the difference may be purchased from a third party to
settle the liability.

The initial measurement of emission allowances received free of charge is at fair value as of the acquisition date,
which is the market price traded on the active market (bluenext.com). See Note 1.2.9. These allowances received
free of charge are recognised as emission allowances under fixed assets or current assets as part of intangible
assets. Emission allowances purchased from third parties are initially measured at the same amount paid for the
allowances. Thereafter the emission allowances are measured at cost net of impairment. Emission allowances
are not amortised.

Emission allowances can be sold on the market while valid. Emission aflowances are derecognised when sold,
or when surrendered to settle liability based on actual emissions.

Emission allowances to be surrendered within one year are recognised under current assets.

The Group records provisions for fiabilities which arise on account of actual emissions. Provisions are measured
based on a best estimate of the expense required to settie the liability prevailing as of the reporting date. See
Note 1.2.m.

Dinitrogen oxide (N,O) emission reduction units

The quantity of emission reduction units (ERU) in the acid plant (J1 project) changes every year depending on
production and the level of emission reduction achieved. In connection with the company's JI project and in line
with the Kyoto Protocol, the state must be informed of the emission reduction achieved, which involves
submitting a verified report to the Minister of Environment and Water; once in possession of the approval and the
emissions reduction purchase agreement (ERPA) an application must be made for the state to transfer the
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emission reduction units to the Company's clients who are contracted for emission units (Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH, UHDE GmbH). When the ERUs are transferred they are recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss as other income at the values stated in the purchase agreements.

If the Group becomes entitled to emission reduction units, but they have not been transferred, then these
emission reduction units are recognised as part of intangible assets as emission allowances under current
assets. The initial measurement of emission reduction units received free of charge is at fair value as of the
acquisition date, which is the market price traded on the active market (bluenext.com). See note 1.2.q. For lack of
any active market the price is based on available market information, a price that would be applied between two
informed and willing independent parties. Since there was no active market for ERUs in the reporting year, and
the purchase agreements are generally not public, the group construed the market price to be the price stated in
the previous purchase agreement.

()  Impairment
Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for
an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost can also be
objective evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. Impairment losses are accounted as other expenses in profit or loss. Interest on the
impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.

individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.Other financial assets are
grouped together based on similar credit risk characteristics and are assessed for impairment collectively.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumuiative loss that
has been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve, to profit or loss.
The cumulative loss that is transferred to profit or loss is the difference between the cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit
or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest
income.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. In the case of available-for-sale equity
securities, the reversal is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
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The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

In the case of emission allowances, fair value less costs to sell is a good approximate for the recoverable
amount, and since costs to sell are negligible, the Group considers the price as at the reporting date quoted in an
active market to be the recoverable amount, if available, otherwise the market price determined based on
information available (see Note 1.2).

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are fargely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
groups of assets (‘cash-generating unit or CGU").

Assets not involved directly in production do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that
such an asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated to the assets in the unit in
proportion to their carrying amounts. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

In respect of assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(k)  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately prior to the
classification as held for sale the assets (or components of the disposal group) are remeasured in accordance
with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets {or disposal group) are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less cost to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

()  Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into
a separate enity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or
loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an

asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as expense when the Group is demonstrably committed to a detailed formal
plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to provide termination benefits as a result of
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an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy, without a realistic possibility of withdrawal.
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as expense if the Group has made an offer
encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances
can be estimated reliably.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under shortterm cash bonus if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(m) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be measured reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
curent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. When unwinding the
discount representing efapse of time the balance sheet value of the provision increases year-by-year by the
effect of discount. The increment is accounted as interest expense.

Provisions are typically allocated for emission quotes, termination benefits and early retirement pensions,
disputes and environmental protection liabilities.

Emission quotas

The Group allocates provisions for the liabllity to deliver emission allowances based on actual carbon dioxid
emission (see Note 1.2), the amount of which is set to the extent of emission allowances existing at the reporting
date based on their carrying amount and for liabilities not covered by existing emission allowances based on
market value of emission allowances as at the reporting date, since such liabilities can be settled by purchasing
emission allowances.

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions connected to redundancies are recognised, if
by the reporting date the Group created justified expectations on the part of employees relating to the
redundancy. As a prerequisite, the redundancy plan has to be approved by the Board and communicated to
those concerned by the reporting date.

The provision is allocated based on best estimate refating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled
several years later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.

Provisions for environmental protection liabilities

Provisions for environmental protection costs are recognised if environmental remediation is probable and
related costs are reliably quantifiable. The provision is accounted generally parallel to the acceptance of a
relevant formal plan or task, if it is earlier, to the sale or closing down of inactive places. The provision is
allocated based on best estimate relating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled several years
later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.
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{n) Revenues

Goods sold

Revenue is recognised when economic benefit in connection with the transaction is likely to inflow to the Group
and its amount can be measured reliably. Revenue is booked net of taxes related to sales and discounts when
goods are delivered or services provided and risks and rewards are transferred.

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration net of returns, trade discounts
and volume rebates. Revenue does not include value added tax.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are met:
persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales supply agreement, that the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred fo the buyer;
the Group has no actual control over the goods and there is no continuing management involvement
with the goods;
the consideration can be measured reliably;
financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and
the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably.

The Group sells its products on domestic markets in a "bill and hold” system. In the case of bill and hold
transactions revenue is booked when all tfie following conditions are met in addition to the above: ‘
- the buyer obtains ownership;

it is probable that delivery will take place

the goods are ready for delivery, physically separated under the name of the buyer,

the buyer expressly acknowledges the demand for subsequent delivery,

normal payment terms apply;
or if one or more of these conditions are not met, revenue is booked at the latest when the buyer obtains
ownership and delivery takes place.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the confract of sale. If
transportation is carried out by the Group, usually transfer occurs when the product is received at the destination
indicated by the customer; however, for shipments arranged by the costumer, transfer occurs upon loading the
goods onto the carrier of the transporter. For inventories stored at the customer's site (as an external venue),
transfer occurs when the goods are released from warehouse for the given customer.

If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is
recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

Services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
performed.
Revenue from services is recognised when all the following conditions are met:

the consideration can be measured refiably;

financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and

the associated costs can be estimated reliably.

Commissions

When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the Group and it is booked when conditions listed in point
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(if) are met.

Usually the Group sells the products of its related companies in the capacity of an agent. Revenue is booked
when sale takes place based on the contract concluded by the principal and the customer and the Group is
entitled to receive the commission.

Rental income

Rental income from operative leases is recognised evenly over the term of the lease in the profit or loss. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

(o) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term
of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

()  Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises the following: interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial
assets), dividend income, exchange gains on FX items and gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend
income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which
in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date, while for unlisted securities it is the date when the
relevant authorised body makes decision relating to distribution.

Finance expenses comprise the following: interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, exchange losses on FX items and impairment losses recognised on available-for-sale financial
assets.

(99 Government grants

An unconditional government grant is recognised in profit or loss, if it will be received.

Other government grants are recognised in profit or loss when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant.

Grants related to asset purchases are booked at fair value as deferred income and are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in proportion to expensing the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred (including govemment grants received in the form of
emission allowances received free of charge, see Note 1.2.7) are recognised in profit or loss as other income at
fair value in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Investment tax credits are recognised similarly
to government grants related to asset purchases.

(n  Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit o loss, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities
will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utifised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year

ended 31 December 2009, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
None of these expected to have an effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

The Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for financial instruments.
Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the
individual notes.

(a)  Trade receivables, other financial assets not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of trade receivables and other financial assets for disclosure is determined based on present value of
future cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.

(b)  Trade payables, other financial liabilities not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of frade payables and other financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is determined based on present
value of future principal and interest cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.
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4. IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES
Critical estimates and assumptions

When applying accounting policies detailed in Section 2, management of the Group used certain assumptions
which have an impact on the reported amounts (apart form effects of estimates). These key assumptions are:

Emission reduction units (ERU): ERUs are initially measured at market price, however, since in the
reporting year ERUs had no active market and sale agreements are typically not public, the Group
deemed the price set forth in the sale agreement already concluded to be the market price.

Estimation uncertainties

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of estimates that affect the
amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements and the related notes. These estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of current events, however, actual results may differ from these estimates. These
most important estimates are described below:

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment: The estimate of the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment was made based on the technical content of the assets and past experience of the individual
asset types, such as the frequency of replacements and faults. The fact that the actual useful life of the
assets can differ depending on the capacity in use, technology changes or technical factors does cause
some uncertainty, and therefore the Group analyses on an annual basis whether the previous estimate
is still pertinent, and revises the useful life estimate where necessary.

Recovery of deferred tax liabilities: Recovery of deferred tax liability is subject to future taxable profit.
The availability of future taxable profits is supported by a business plan that is prepared for a period in
relation to which the Group is able to prepare a reliable plan.

Use of investment tax credits: The use of investment tax credits depends on future taxable profits. The
Group confirms the availability of future taxable profits with a business plan, prepared for the period that
the investment tax credits may be used. The recovery of investment tax credits is contingent upon the
uncertainties inherent in the estimates used for the business plan. Such factors of uncertainty include,
among others, expected sales volumes, market sales prices, the market price of material costs
(principally gas), capacity in use, tax rates and items reconciling the tax base.
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1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

g Potond qipmen ASOS Tom
and fittings _
Opening gross valueat1January  gg46308 21,379,394 257,039 4,686,106 36,168,847
aégggﬁgi;"’m business unit 0 0 0 585394 585394
oo scope 0 9911 6 0 eems
- Derecognitions 15,938 121,611 24,287 0 -161836
- Transfers and reclassification + -5,948 14,115 -9,131 0 -964
- Capitalisation 1303172 3,631,287 22135 4,956,594 0
- Subsequent capitalisation 6,757 487,413 0 0 494170
- Translation differences 0 0 -133 0 -133
Closing gross value at 31December 44434351 25,400,509 245687 314,906 37,005453
- Add'it'!qns from business unit 0 0 0 1206785  1.206.785

acquisitions R =
- Derecognitions 908 51,319 7944 84438 154,609
C?f:gffj;?o‘i“:cfpf’“°"a‘ from 0 70,067 7,098 0 71165
- Transfers and reclassification + 0 0 0 6,342 -6,342
- Capitalisation 139,635 996,727 43360 1,179,722 0
- Translation differences 0 175 -232 0 -57
Clasing gross valle 2t ¥ December 11973078 26,276,025 263773 251,189 38,064,065
3:f3;’r‘f;;§9”'““‘a‘ed depreciation 4 017507 4,648,428 220,632 0 6,086,587
- Depreciation 339,348 1,210,760 23,465 0 1,573,573
- Increase in depr. due to expanded 0 5607 64 0 5,601

cons. scope ' !
- Derecognitions -2,650 -110,222 -23,869 0 -136,741
- Transfers + 194 4,329 4,637 0 502
- Transtation differences 0 -70 -130 0 -200
Closing accumuiated deprecialion 2t 1554031 5,758,852 215,525 0 7,528,408
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1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Other
Lndond Pt squpmant SR T
9 quip and fittings
- Depreciation 333,416 1,254,939 26,380 0 1,614735
- Derecognitions -507 -43,701 -17,943 0 62,151
- Decrease due to removal from
consolidation scope 0 -37,413 -3,896 0 -41,309
- Transfers (+-) 0 0 0 0 0
- Translation differences 0 116 -220 0 -104
Closing accumulated depreciation
at 31 December 2010 1,886,940 6,932,793 219,846 0 9,039,579
Net opening value at 1 January 2009 8,628,781 16,730,966 36,407 4,686,106 30,082,260
ggg;‘“"‘g value at 31 December g 59350 19,641,657 30162 314,906 29,567,045
Net closing value at 31 December . .
2010 9,386,138 19,343,232 43,927 251,189 29,024,486

Assets under construction

In 2010 renovation work was completed in the Nitric Acid plant, in the Ammonia plant and in the Board's
Headquarters. Within capital expenditure resulting in additions to assets, only acquisition of loading machines

exceeded THUF 100,000.

As part of the granulation plant investment project started in 2004, the granulation unit was capitafised on 1 April
2009. The expense incurred by 1 April 2009 in connection with the granulation plant unit - including borrowing

costs — totalled THUF 10,854,510.

Contractual investment liabilities

As of 31 December 2010 the Group's contractual commitments for property, plant and equipment purchases

amounted to THUF 2,260,189 (as of 31 December 2009: THUF 2,166,018).
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Value of leased assets
Assets acquired under finance lease are included in property, plant and equipment.

Description 2010 2009
Gross value 352,974 250,780
Accumulated depreciation 122,991 55,925
Net value 229,983 194,855

The Group leases loading machines and passenger cars under finance lease; ownership will betransferred to the
Group at the end of the lease term.

Value of assets pledged as collaterals

As at 31 December 2010 land and buildings with a carrying amount of THUF 9,793,007 (31 December 2009:
THUF 9,914,201) and plant and equipment with a carrying amount of THUF 17,123,951 (31 December 2009:
THUF 17,360,373) were pledged as collateral for bank loans. See Note 15.

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Rights and

Description . Other Total

P . concessions -
Gross opening value at 1 January 2009 103,754 499,175 602,929
- Addition due to expanded cons. scope 128 0 128
- Other additions 3,172 76,103 79,275
- Derecognitions -489 0 -489

_- Transfers 344,957 -501,455 156,498
Closing gross value at 31 December 2009 451,522 73,823 525,345
- Other additions 56,473 0 56,473
- Derecognitions -265 0 -265
- Decrease due to removal from cons. scope -2,844 0 -2,844
Closing gross value at 31 December 2010 504,886 73,823 578,709
Opening accumulated depreciation 1 January 2009 58,359 340,830 399,189
- Depreciation 15,210 10,177 25,387
- Incr. in depr. due to exp. cons. scope 128 0 128
- Derecognitions -489 0 -489
- Transfers 341,065 -341,065 0
g(l)cazmg accumulated depreciation at 31 December 414,273 0,042 424215
- Depreciation 12,152 11,200 23,352
- Derecognitions -264 0 -264
- Decrease due to removal from cons. scope -3,245 0 -3,245
(zig):zmg accumulated depreciation at 31 December 422,916 21142 444,058
Net opening value at 1 January 2009 45,395 158,345 203,740
Net closing value at 31 December 2009 37,249 63,881 101,130
Net closing value at 31 December 2010 81,970 52,681 134,651

Rights and concessions primarily include purchased software.
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3. EMISSION ALLOWANCES

Emission allowances are CO, emission allowances received based on Government Decree 66/2006.111., and N.O
emission reduction units as per ACT LX of 2007.

Changes in terms of quantity and carrying amount is presented in the table below:

Descrition ,:2(1%232 fs\s&m CO; emission quota Total
Unit THUF Unit THUF THUF
Opening balance at 1 January 2009 0 0 0 0 0
Receipt in relation to 2009 emission 750,780 1,519,420 25,708 100,485 1,619,905
Purchase of 2009 quota 0 0 448 1,786 1,786
Delivery due to 2009 emission 0 0 26,156 102,271 102,271
Sale in 2009 717,412 1,427,871 0 0 1,427,871
Closing balance at 31 December 2009 33,368 "91,549 0 0 - 91,549
Receipt in relation to 2010 emission 797,010 1,715,580 12,854 44,093 1,759,673
Eﬁrzl)wase of 2010 quota (CER and 0 0 11,085 39773 39.773
Delivery due to 2010 emission 0 0 23,909 83,866 83,866
Sale in 2010 761,587 1,614,075 0 0 1,614,075
Closing balance at 31 December 2010 68,791 193,054 0 0 193,054
4,  INVESTMENTS
Description 2010 2009
Loans granted 5117 6,502
Long-term receivables from contracts 0 15,488
Other investments 12,180 11,879
Total 17,297 33,869

Loans granted include housing loans provided to employees under favourable terms.
No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.
Long-term receivables include trade receivables overdue by more than one year.

Other investments include the amount of capital investments not consolidated.
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5.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Description 2010 2009
Advances to suppliers of investment projects 1,043 470 655,701
Other non-current assets 122,388 107,841
Total 1,165,858 763,542

6. INVENTORIES

Description 31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Raw materials and consumables 3,258,348 3,546,033
Work in progress, semi-finished goods 357,286 354,530
Finished goods 7,420,266 7,413,825
Goods 214,247 1,356,157
Total - . 11,250,147 12,670,545

Cost and net realisable value in 2010 of inventories carried at net realisable value

Net realisable

Net realisable

Cost value Cost value
Description 31 Dzegfgwber 31 December 3 D;gsgwber 31 December
2010 2009
Finished goods 2,825 1,188 2,804,845 2,602,778
Total 2,825 1,188 2,804,845 2,602,778

The Group booked impairment on own-manufactures stocks which did not met quality requirements.

7. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Description 2010 2009
Trade receivables 6,282,541 7,873,914
- of which related: 3,977,795 5,273,746
Impairment for doubtful receivables 32,473 7,402
Total trade receivables 6,250,068 7,866,512

Trade receivables bear no interest and in general have a term of 30 days.

No impairment was booked on receivables from related parties neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous

year.
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8.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DERIVATIVES

Description 2010 2009
Receivables from government 7,368,497 8,022,080
Loans granted 1,488,831 1,108,649
- of which to related parties: 1,487,018 1,106,729
Debt securities 273,750 221,241
Subscribed, but unpaid capital 990,000 990,000
Other financial assets 419,839 65,578
Total 10,540,917 10,407,548

The receivable derived from the development (investment) tax credit is recognised in the 'receivables from the
state' row. The Company can use the investment tax credit for the new acid plant capitalised in 2007 and for the
granulation plant investment capitalised in 2009 up to the sum of THUF 6,100,178 and THUF 2,370,000,
respectively. The amount of the development tax credit that can be used in the given year is 80% of the
corporate tax payable. The credit may be used in the year of capitalisation and in the 9 subsequent fiscal years
(2007-2016 and 2009-2018), provided that in the four fiscal years after the tax credit was first used (2008-2011)
the annual wage cost accounted at the Company exceeds the annual wage cost of the fiscal year prior to the
start of the development by at least three times the minimum wage calculated for the fiscal year as of the first
day of the fiscal year. In 2008 (and 2007) the Company met this criterion, and so a tax credit of THUF 653,583
was used in 2010 (2007 and 2008: THUF 448,098).

In 2009 the Company did not use tax credit based on Sections 28 and 145(4) of Act CXVI of 2009, and declared
that the 2009 wage cost did not decrease below the wage cost in the fiscal year preceding the start of the
project.

The Group disbursed loan to related parties in HUF. As at 31 December 2010 loans amounting to THUF 378,891
bear no interest (31 December 2009: THUF 274,336) and loans amounting to THUF 1,108,127 are interest-
bearing loans (31 December 2009: THUF 834,313). This item also includes loans to senior officers, which are
disbursed in HUF and bear interest. The interest equals the prevailing central bank base rate + 5%. See Note
34.

Loans disbursed are unsecured.

No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.

Debt securities include discounted treasury bills.
On 17 July 2009 the general meeting of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. decided to issue registered ordinary shares. The
shares were subscribed by existing owners in proportion to their holding. Negotiations regarding reschedulement

of the payment deadline specified in the resolution on capital increase were under process when these financial
statements were approved.

F-30




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

9. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Description 2010 2009
Budgetary support due 0 58
Advances paid to suppliers of investment projects 0 4,057
Advances on stocks 788,928 302,167
- of which related: 0 37,351
Prepayments on services 12,167 6,282
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 329,504 338,693
tParfggd and reclaimable taxes and duties (except for income 488,711 631,474
Receivables from self-governments 7,515 12,200
Receivables from employees 3,790 3,747
Interest and penaities receivable ) ) 0 268,370
Other receivables 34,001 256,830
Total 1,664,706 1,823,878

Advances on stocks include the amount paid in advance on the grounds of natural gas purchase
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income typically include items which will be accounted as costs only in the
next period when actually occurred.

Prepaid and reclaimable taxes and duties comprise reclaimable VAT included in suppliers' invoices and on
continuous services, reclaimable energy tax and receivables from the Customs and Finance Guard; these items
were settled in the year following the reporting year.

The penalty and default interest receivables from the granulation plant general contractor, Prochem s.a. were
settled in 2010 Q1.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Description 2010 2009

Cash 2,243 10,202
Bank deposits 1,626,346 994,158
KELER Zrt. security deposit account 151,320 0
Short-term fixed deposits 7,988,500 3,292,612
Total 9,768,409 4,296,972

The Group had no cash equivalents as at 31 December 2009 and 2010.
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11.  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The assets held for sale contain the property, plant and equipment of the old, decommissioned acid plant.

After the capitalisation of the new acid plant the Group decided to close the old Russian (2C) and Japanese (3C)
acid plants and shut down the production there. The plants were reclassified as of 30 October 2007 under assets
held for sale. The Company also decided to sell the assets and the related components if a suitable bid was

received.

The 2C acid plant was demantled and assets were sold to based on the contract concluded with the Russian firm

OJSC “Nevinnomyssky Azot".See Note 24.

No contract has been signed yet relating to the sale of assets of the 3C acid plant.

Net value of asset

Net value of asset

Dexcription 2010 2009
Acid plants 37,012 79,908
Total 37,012 79,908
Equity
12. SHARE CAPITAL
Composition of share capital:
. 31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Description .
Number  Nominal value Number
Tibor Laszl6 Bige 4,370 1,442,100 4,370 1,442,100
Zoltan Bige 230 75,900 230 75,900
Balance of share capital 4,600 1,518,000 4,600 1,518,000

The Company has only ordinary shares with a face value of THUF 330 each.

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and have one vote per share at the

Company's general meeting.
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13.  TRANSLATION RESERVE

Translation reserve includes all exchange differences arisen from translating the financial statements of foreign
operations from 1 January 2007, the date of transition to IFRS for the Group.

14. RETAINED EARNINGS

The following amounts cannot be distributed as dividends from the retained earnings in the given financial year:

Financial year Amount

2009 1,000,000
2010 1,348,029
Dividends

The Group paid no dividends in 2009 and 2010.
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Interest rates: one third of 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate, as reference rate + interest
margin between 0.5 and 4.00 %.

Terms and conditions of existing loans and borrowings:

Loans as at 31 December 2009

Short-
3?:?2839 Balance  Longterm o
Financial institution Type of loan Collaterals e Currency portion portion
(Thousand) THUF THUF THUF
MFB current asset loan [0} 9,624,392  HUF 9,624,302 9,624,392 0
MFB investment loan (if) 42,685 EUR 11,560,927 9,246,521 2,314,406
German carbon
K&H Bank aid Il (iii) 6,104  HUF 6,104 0 6,104
multicurrency
multipurpose : :
UniCredit Bank credit facility (iv) 810,372  HUF 810,372 0 810,372
multicurrency
Commerzbank overdraft facility v) 2,042,691  HUF 2042691 1,177,779 1764912
long-term
multicurrency
Budapest Bank current asset loan (vi) 5882 EUR 1,593,081 1,509,391 83,690
multicurrency
revolving loan
Budapest Bank agreement (vii) 1,500 EUR 406,260 0 406,260
OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan (viii) 45000 HUF 45,000 0 45,000
warehouse
warrant coverage
CIB Bank Zrt. loan (ix) 2,784,046  HUF 2,784,046 2,784,046
RB Kereskeddhaz Kft.  trading house 135112 HUF 135,112 0 135112
RB Kereskeddhaz Kft.  trading house 32,232 HUF 32,232 0 32,232
CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 3,330  HUF 3,330 2,728 602
Merkantil Bank vehicle loan 3195  HUF 3,195 2,017 1,178
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 539  HUF 539 44 495
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 526  HUF 526 85 441
Total long-term loans 21,562,957
8,384,850

Total short-term loans
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest rates: one third of 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate, as reference rate + interest
margin between 0.5 and 4.00 %.

Loans as at 31 December 2010

. . Balance Long-term  Short-term
;‘S"t'at:::;'q Type of loan Collaterals  31.12.2008 Currency Balance portion portion
{Thousand) THUF THUF THUF
MFB Zrt. current asset loan 0] 7,715,271 HUF 7,715,271 7,715,211 0
MFB Zrt. investment loan (i) 34,140 EUR 9516,570  7,134572 2,381,998
multicurrency
multipurpose credit
Volksbank Zrt. facility (iif) 1,892,800 HUF 1,892,800 0 1,892,800
multicurrency
Commerzbank Zrt.  overdraft facility (iv) 1472,917  HUF 1,172,917 0 1172917
long-term
i multicurrency current ) . )
Budapest Bank asset loan v) 5573 EUR 1,553,474 1,208,939 344,535
multicurrency
revolving loan
Budapest Bank agreement (vi) 1422  EUR 396,382 309,412 86,970
Raiffeisen Bank
Zrt. overdraft facility 2 HUF 2 0 2
CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 2,728  HUF 2,728 2,075 653
Merkantil Bank vehicle loan 2,017  HUF 2,017 708 1,309
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 86 HUF 86 0 86
Total long-term loans 16,370,977
Total short-term loans 5,881,270

(a) Loan collateral

Collateral for loans drawn by the Group:
(i) Magyar Fejlesziési Bank Zrt. (MFB)
Collateral for THUF 10,000,000 loan contract for working capital financing.

- Mortgage up to THUF 10,000,000 on the new acid plant, the new granulation and packaging plant, the new
cooling tower, ammonia plant, urea plant and the fertiliser plant, all wholly owned by the company, and the
movable property contained thereon/in up to THUF 10,000,000.

- Unconditional payment guarantee from the Hungarfan state up to 80% of the THUF 10,000,000 loan and
related charges.

- Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
(a) Loan collateral (continued)

(if) Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. (MFB)

Collateral for EUR 52,000,000 investment loan contract

- Mortgage up to EUR 52,000,000 on the new acid plant, the new granulation and packaging plant, the new
cooling tower, the ammonia plant, urea plant and the fertiliser plant, all wholly owned by the Gompany, and
the movable property contained thereon/in up to EUR 52,000,000.

- Unconditional payment guarantee from the Hungarian state up to 80% of the EUR 52,000,000 loan and
related charges based on point 1 of Government Resolution 1086/2008 (Xi1.20) on the unconditional
payment guarantees of the state for the credits of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

(i) Volksbank Zrt.

Collateral for THUF 2,000,000 loan

- Third rank mortgage up to THUF 2,000,000 and refated charges over the CAN plant wholly owned by the
Company. )

(iv) Commerzbank Zrt.
Collateral for THUF 5,300,000 overdraft facility

The Bank has a right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the
contract.

(v) Budapest Bank Nyrt.

Collateral for long-term multi-currency working capital credit facility of EUR 6,500,000
(Long-term multi-currency working capital loan of Budapest Bank)

- General mortgage of THUF 3,000,000 on one of the Company's properties.
- Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

(vi) Budapest Bank Nyrt.

Collateral for an EUR 1,500,000 multi-currency revolving credit facility
(Budapest Bank multi-currency revolving credit facility)

- Assignment to the bank from the Company's existing and future receivables vis-a-vis Fertilia Kft. up fo an
amount of sales revenue in proportion to the credit.
- Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

{vii) OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan collateral
(Liability existing as at 31 December 2010, cancelled on 24 March 2011.)

- mortgage on machinery to be purchased from the loan, up to the amount of the loan and related charges

- mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén Zsak Kit. up to a loan amount of THUF
225,000 and related charges

- right to make instant collections from the bank accounts of Péti Polietilén Zsak Kit.

- third-ranked mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén Zsak Kft. up to the bank
guarantee value of THUF 180,000
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
(a) Loan collateral (continued)

(viiiy  Raiffeisen Bank Zrt.

Collaterals for a bank guarantee of EUR 2,491,423.46

Based on the lien contract related to the bank guarantee agreement, Nitrogénm(ivek Zrt. registered a lien for the
bank on all current and future receivables derived from the 2,000,000 dinitrogen oxide emission reduction units

(quota) purchase agreement concluded on 14 July 2005 between Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. and Kommunalkredit
Public Consulting GmbH.

- Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.
(b)  Breach of loan covenants

The Group complied with loan covenants in all cases.

(c) .Finance leases

The following table details finance lease obligations:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Minimum Present value of Minimum lease Present value of
Description lease Interest  finance lease ayments Interest  finance lease

payments obligations pay obligations
Due within 1 year 70551 12618 57,933 56,520 14,247 42,273
Due vithin 1-5 years 150,040 10,420 140,520 125249 14711 110,538
Due over 5 years 2288 214 2,074 0 0 0
Present value of
finance lease
obligations 223,779 23,252 200,527 181,769 28,958 152,811
16. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Description 2010 2009

Long-term liabilities from contracts 1,117,857 542,933
Other non-current financial liabilities 140,187 107,681
Total 1,258,044 650,614

Long-term liabilities from contracts include gas bill payment liability to BOTHLI TRADE AG due in 2014.
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2010 2009
Deferred income 7430 888 7743611
Other non-current liabilities 351 225 511 888
Total 7782113 8255 499

Deferred income includes the amount due to investment tax credit (see Note 8), which were accounted as
government grant relating to assets. The amount is recognised over the average useful life of the assets (24
years) in the profit for the period starting from the capitalisation of the related investment projects, that is 2007

and 2009.

Other non-current fiabilities include the portion to be accounted in years 2012-2013 in an amount of THUF
351,225 from the advance payment transferred based on a contract concluded with Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH (KPC) for the sale of N2O emission reduction units produced in the perjod 2009-2012 at

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.

18. TRADE PAYABLES

Description 2010 2009
Trade payables 2,372,358 2,854,175
- of which to related parties: 285.703 338511
Total trade payables 9372.358 2854175
19. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVES
Description 2010 2009

Other financial liabilities 3,818,933 216,659
Total 3,818,933 216,659

Other financial liabilities include THUF 3,478,666 payable to Shell Zrt. based on an Arbitration Court award.
Fulfilment of the liability was suspended until a further decision of the court refating to the invalidity of the

arbitration award. See Note 27.
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20. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2010 2009
Budgetary support received 0 49,000
Deferred income 505,913 407,153
Advances from customers 10,771,507 8,034,457
- of which related 965,960 52,811
Taxes and duties payable (except for income taxes) 1,453,814 1,869,699
Liabilities to self-governments 20,604 4,570
Liabilities to employees 369,946 134,775
Liabilities to Magyar Szénhidrogén Készletezd Szévetség (Mszksz) 238,648 207,913
Rentals and other fees received in advance 1,033 3,940
Accrued costs 3,823 98,301
Other current liabilities 1,063 1,593
Total 13,366,351 10,811,401

Deferred income includes the portion of deferred income connected to investment tax credit which has not yet
been accounted in the profit or loss for the period. Deferred income is refeased in proportion to depreciation. in
2010 THUF 276,752 (2009: THUF 274,005). See Note 8.

Liabilities to employees comprise wages, bonuses and refated contributions.

Advances from customers include normal advances from customers as well as amounts received in refation to
storage contracts concluded with third parties. These are amounts which were received from customers but do
not qualify for revenue accounting.

Fee payment liabilities to Magyar Szénhidrogén Készletezé Szévetség include the amount booked among other
expenses but financially not settied.

21. PROVISIONS

Early retirement

descipion ESSn et B O Ta
benefits
Balance at 01 January 2009 111,289 15,112 50,000 224,000 400,401
Aliocation 0 0 0 326,000 326,000
Use 0 -15,112 -10,000 -60,000 -85,112
Balance at 31 December 2009 111,289 0 40,000 490,000 641,289
Allocation 0 0 0 204,800 204,800
Use 0 0 0 326,000 326,000
Balance at 31 December 2010 111,289 0 40,000 368,800 520,089
Short-term portion 2009 111,289 0 0 490,000 601,289
Long-term portion 2009 0 0 40,000 0 40,000
Short-term portion 2010 111,289 0 40,000 368,800 520,089
Long-term portion 2010 0 0 0 0 0
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21.  PROVISIONS (continued)

Emission quotas

The Group allocated provisions for its obligation to deliver carbon dioxide emission allowances.

See Note 3.

Environmental protection

The Company updated the tasks to be carried out using provisions allocated for environmental protection. The
tasks identified are renwing the ,Integrated Environmental Permit” and partially emptying the calcareous sluge
Teservoir.

Other

The provision for expenses expected in relation to litigations and for the compensated penalty contested by
CHEMOPROJEKT s.a. are recorded on these grounds.
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES
Recognised deferred tax assets and tax liabilities

Deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and accounted in profit or loss as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 comprises the following:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Tax asset Tax liability Net Tax asset Tax liability Net
Property, plant and equipment 14,387 -1,036,500 -1,022,113 ‘ 18,375 -1,505,247 -1,486,872
Emission allowances 0 -35,551 -35,551 0 -17,394 -17,394
Trade receivables 247023 0 247,023 20,410 0 20,410
Inventories 15,316 -863,534 -848,218 52,487 -582,864 -530,377
Other assets 373 -17,911 -17,538 4,953 -20,632 -15,679
Loans and borrowings 0 52,432 -52,432 19,635 -71,366 -51,731
Trade payables 3,162 -1 3,161 192 -1 191
Other liabilities 1,290,078 -38,087 1,251,091 904,545 -43,272 861,273
Provisions 95,774 0 05,774 121,845 0 121,845
Derivative transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other items 0 0 0 0 0 0
Development tax allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tax loss carried forward 21,642 0 21,642 127,733 0 127,733
Tax assets (tax liabilities) 1,687,755 -2,044,916 -357,161 1,270,175 -2,240,776 -970,601
Sweeping of accounts -1,634,046 1,634,046 0 -1,198,511 1,198,511 0
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) 53,709 -410,870 -357,161 71,664 -1,042,265 -970,601
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22.  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

Recognised deferred tax assets and tax liabilities (continued)

Analysis of changes in net deferred tax assets and tax liabilities:

bglpa i"ci;'gt {\ccoupted Accounted in Closing {\ccour)ted Accounted in bgllao:(i::gat
1 January in profit or other ] balance at in profit or other ) 31 December
2009 loss ft_:r com_prehensnve 31 December loss ft_)r the com!)rehensw 2010
the period income 2009 period e income

Property, plant and equipment -899,081 -587,791 0 -1,486,872 464,759 0 -1,022,113
Emission allowances 0 17,394 0 -17,394 -18,157 0 -35,551
Trade receivables 68,826 -48,416 0 - 20,410 229,581 0 249,991
Inventories -1,868,649 1,338,269 0 -530,380 -317,841 0 -848,221
Other assets 131,197 -146,876 0 -15,679 -4,827 0 -20,506
Loans and borrowings 1119807 1,171,538 0 -51,731 701 0 52,432
Trade payables 186 5 0 191 2,969 1 3,161
Other liabilities 1,478,075 -616,799 0 861,276 389,818 0 1,251,004
Provisions 23,716 98,129 0 121,845 -26,071 0 95,774
Other items 0 0 0 0 15,288 -15,288 0
Tax loss carried forward 3,169 124,843 -279 127,733 -105,682 -409 21,642
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) 57,246 1,027,568 -279 -970,601 629,136 -15,696 -357,161

Other amounts accounted in other comprehensive income derive from translation differences of deferred tax due to changes in exchange rates.
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23. REVENUE
Description 2010 2009
Sale of own products 44,314,761 34,298,323
Sale of goods 6,746,942 8,867,910
Sale of materials 2,867,575 840,616
Rendering of services 891,144 749,184
Total 54,820,422 44,756,033
Composition of revenue by geographical regions:
Description 2010 2009

Hunga& 28,738,340 28,988,362
italy 1,354,748 1,216,315
Austria 3,325,494 1,826,057
Slovakia 4,251,784 1,919,094
Czech Republic 4,808,626 3,802,289
Romania 1,483,219 790,585
Poland 4,244,663 1,618,764
Germany 3,902,349 2,442,559
Bosnia - Hercegovina 11,062 18,967
Slovenia 1,947,656 1,507,281
Croatia 0 9,354
Switzerland 387,604 0
Serbia 142,121 514,623
Russian Federation 70,001 0
Other European countries 152,755 101,040
Other CEE 0 743
Total 54,820,422 44,756,033
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24. OTHER INCOME

Description 2010 2009
Gain on sale of property, plant, _eqpipment and intgngible assets 6,814 9,501
Sr?(?ﬁt? Trom the sale of N;O emission reduction units. See Notes 3 1591330 1454714
Reversal of impairment allocated on inventories 200,369 299
Release of provisions 24,000 85,112
Grants received 329,894 324,779
Default interest received 11463 12,828
Damages 155,306 31,728
Penalties 0 © 4880
temn due to forgiven default interest required by the tax authority 88,359 0
Liabilities forgiven by creditors 10,579 0
Assignment of trade receivables 191,040 0
Reimbursed legal and court costs 82,345 0
%a;g gjr:) tseat;a1 §>f acid plant assets 2334162 0
Income from the sale of impaired self-manufactured products 1,769 0
Free receipt of CO; emission quota 0 100,485
Subsequent discouts received 15,573 0
Other 21,485 361,555
Total 5,064,488 2,869,022

Grants received include THUF 276,752 release of deferred income due to investment tax credit (31 December
2009: THUF 274,005).
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25. MATERIAL-TYPE EXPENSES

Description 2010 2009
Costs of raw and auxiliary materials 2,687,451 1,697,973
Costs of wire/pipeline energy 26,881,972 21,183,838
Costs of maintenance and other materials 850,800 454,007
Transportation costs 1,540,172 1,492,432
Maintenance costs 521,684 217,762
Keep-up costs 279,583 216,992
Security costs 132,400 118,719
Travel and accommodation costs, inland and abroad 24,816 14,865
Rentals and utilisation fees 147,638 149,787
Hiring of labour 116,528 0
Accounting and audit fees 35,350 25,856
Advisory and expert fees ) - 52,083 75,454
Advertising costs 55,774 43,167
Bank charges 105,448 100,476
Insurance premiums 153,793 171,172
Fees and duties paid to authorities 104,614 0
Membership fees 50,930 0
Release of costs in connection with N2O quota emission units 31,299 0
Dismantling costs of closed plants 318,833 0
Packaging utilisation fees 59,387 0
Legal fees 241,632 0
Costs of sale 110,229 0
Research and development costs 74,277 0
Other services' 215,744 691,176
Costs of goods sold (COGS) 6,237,075 3,152,190
Services sold (mediated) 172,625 53,966
Total 41,202,107 29,859,832

1 The European Commission launched a procedure against Hungary to examine state aid C 14/2009 provided by
Hungary to Nitrogénmiivek Zrt., for the purpose of establishing whether the joint and several guarantees provided
by the Government of the Republic of Hungary on 20 December 2008 along with the loans extended by the MFB
Hungarian Development Bank Ltd (to which the guarantees were related), qualified as state aid in accordance
with Article 107 (1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union.
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25.  MATERIAL-TYPE EXPENSES (continued)

The Resolution of the Commission received on 28 October 2010 found that the aid provided by Hungary was only
partly compatible with the internal market, and therefore it ordered the Hungarian State to recover the unlawful
state aid from the beneficiary (Nitrogénmivek Zrt) amounting to the difference between the total effective
financing costs and the subsidised rate as per the Temporary Framework (Communication of the Commission:
Temporary Union framework for State aid measures to support access fo finance in the current financial and
€Conomic crisis).

For the period prior to 28 December 2010, Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. settled the amount of (re)payable aid as
determined by the Hungarian State together with the guarantee fee, upon request by the Ministry of the Economy.
Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. is currently negotiating with the Ministry of the Economy on the (re}payment conditions for the
period after 28 December 2010. The period during which Nitrogénmeivek Zrt. can attempt to seek legal remedy
against the decision made by the European Commission has yet to commence.

26. STAFF COSTS

Description 2010 2009

Wage cost 3,182,567 2,452,873
Other staff benefits 410,095 337,599
Wage contributions 944,330 812,443
Total 4,536,992 3,602,915
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27. OTHER EXPENSES

Description 2010 2009

Loss on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1,896 2,072
Use of CO, emission quotas 39,773 102,271
Impairment on trade receivables 32,473 7,402
Impairment on inventories 1,637 202,067
Provisioning 204,800 326,000
Scrapped and missing assets 228,450 76,700
MSZKSZ membership fee 818,428 404,711
Amount awarded to Shell Zrt.! ) 3,176,666 0
Taxes and contributions 695,798 410,303
Support given 71,524 1,476
Damage 212,542 20,478
Damages 16,693 23,932
Default interest payable 53,571 87,572
Bad debts written off 1,476 0
Fines and penalties paid 15,721 0
Assignment of trade receivables 191,040 0
Self-revision and default charge 19,434 98,195
Self-revision items 0 11,432
Other 72,883 51,109
Total 5,854,805 1,825,720

1 In October 2008, Shell unilaterally modified the payment terms for the Company by requesting prepayment
instead of payment-on-delivery. The Company did not accept this payment term and, therefore, refused to off-
take the gas.

Shell sued the Company for an amount of USD 15,730,246 at the Court of Arbitration of the Hungarian Chamber
of Commerce and Industry based on a take or pay clause in the contract.

in arbitration award Vb/09221 dated 29 December 2010, the Arbitration Court ordered Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. to pay

the claimed amount and its ancillary costs, also providing thet such amount must be paid in three instalments by
31 May 2011.
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27.  OTHER EXPENSES (continued)

Although Nitrogénmivek Zrt. filed a lawsuit against Shell to the Budapest Municipal Court, aiming to declare the
invalidity of the arbitration award and, following this, in the proceeding under case number 9.G.40.314/2011 the
Company has obtained the suspension of the execution of the arbitration award until a further decision of the
court, Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. has reduced its profit for 2010 by the amount that might be payable to Shell Hungary
Zrt.See Note 19.
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28. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income and finance costs recognised in profit or loss

Description 2010 2009
Interest income on loans and receivables 20,609 25,264
Interest income on bank deposits 223,869 288,481
Net exchange gain on FX items without forward exchange
transactions 957,928 1,666,049
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables 0 200
Other finance income Total finance income 1,202,406 1,979,994

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised

cost 1,729,621 3,088,477
Net exchange loss on FX items without forward exchange

transactions 1,299,585 2,628,223
Other finance costs 0 338
Total finance costs 3,029,206 5,717,038
Net finance costs -1,826,800 -3,737,044

Finance income and finance costs recognised in other comprehensive income

Description 2010 2009

Translation difference 5,083 1,580

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 0 0
Net changes in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit

. 0 0
or loss for the period
Income tax on finance income and finance costs recognised in 0 0
other comprehensive income
Finance income/costs recognised in other comprehensive 5,083 1,580

income, net of tax

29. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group considers corporation tax and in Hungary special tax (until 2009) as income tax. The base for special
tax differs from the corporation tax base.

Income tax rates for the Company:

Description 2010 2009

Corporation tax 18.49 % 16 %
Special tax 0% 4%
Income tax rate 18.49 % 20 %
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29. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

According to laws effective as at the reporting date, for 2011 and 2012 corporation tax rate is 10 % in respect of
the amount of tax profit up to HUF 500 million, and 19 % for the part of tax profit over such limit. As from 2013
there will be a standard corporation tax rate of 10%.

Due to the statutory tax rate changes, the Group assessed deferred tax on temporary differences reversing in
2011 and 2012 using the tiered tax rates, while for temporary differences reversing after 2013 using a tax rate of
10%.

Income tax recognised in the profit or loss for the period in the consolidated annual report for the years ended 31
December 2009 and 2010 comprises the following:

Description 2010 2009

Current period income tax expense

Current period income tax expense 797,834 132,452
Previous years adjustments -287 34,750
Total current period income tax expense 797,547 167,202
Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences ) 629,136 © 1,027,568
Total deferred tax expense -629,136 1,027,568
Income tax 168,411 1,194,770

Reconciliation of income tax calculated based on accounting profit and current period income tax, as well as of
applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate is presented in the table below:

Description 2010 2009
Profit for the period 4,785,302 3,799,986
Income tax expense 168,411 1,194,770
Profit before income tax 4,953,713 4,994,756
Expected income tax calculated at the income tax rate of the
Company 18.49% 915,979  20% 998,951
Impact of tax rate in foreign countries 0% 23995 0% 4,371
Impact of different tax rates 0% -14,064 0% 766
Impact of tax rate changes -14% 699,699 3% 139,855
Non-deductible expenses 2% 92,012 2% 106,190
Income exempt of tax -2% 90,811 2% -100,708
Tax allowances -1% 47850 (0% 0
Current year tax loss for which no deferred tax assets were
allocated 0% 0 0% 8,177
Changes in unrecognised temporary differences 0% 0 0% 2,418
Previous years adjustments -1% 24,951 1% 34,750
Income tax 3% 168,411 24% 1,194,770
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group is exposed to the following risks derived from financial instruments:

credit risk
liquidity risk

market risk (including currency and interest rate risk)

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for setting the risk management guidelines and
frameworks for the Group. His task is to design and set up a standard risk management policy and strategy, and
continuously monitor the risks to which the Company is exposed. The CEQ is also responsible for regularly
reviewing risk management policies and strategies, as well as updating and modifying them if market

circumstances change.

Carrying amount of financial instruments of the Group by categories:

31 December

31 December

Description 2010 2009
Cash and cash equivalents 9,768,409 4,296,972
Loans granted 1,493,948 1,115,150
Trade receivables 6,250,068 7,882,000
Other financial assets 8,822,417 9,078,157
Total loans and receivables 26,334,842 22,372,279
Holdings 12,180 11,879
Debt securities 229,669 220,743
Total available for sale financial assets 241,849 232,622
Loans and borrowings 22,252,247 29,947,807
Other non-current financial liabilities 1,258,044 650,614
Trade payables 2,372,358 2,854,175
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 3,818,933 216,659
Total other financial liabilities 29,701,582 33,669,255

There were no open derivatives in 2010 and at the reporting date (2009: THUF 0).
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(a)  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. From
the perspective of the Group this primarily means the non-payment risk of clients.

Trade receivables and other financial assets

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
However, the Group also considers the geographical position of its customer base, past experience, features of
agriculture, the seasonal nature of fertiliser use and the impact of the economic crisis on the Company's primary
customers. The Company monitors the payment abilities of its primary customers and any influencing factors.
The Group sets the payment conditions offered to individual customers based on provisional and if necessary ad-
hac reviews of creditworthiness as well as the factors outfined above. The Group prescribes payment by letters of
credit for some export customers. The Group maintained for both domestic and foreign customers the system of
sales with advance payments introduced as a response to the economic crisis.

In Hungary the Group primarily sells to a relatively low number of wholesalers.

Maximum value as at 31 December of assets exposed to credit risk is presented in the following table:

31 December 31 December

Description 2010 2009

Domestic trade receivables — wholesalers 2,987,479 5,603,538
Domestic trade receivables — other 2,312,232 925,837
Foreign trade receivables 950,357 1,352,625
Loans granted 1,493,948 1,115,150
Cash and cash equivalents 9,768,400 4,296,972
Other financial assets 8,822,417 9,078,157
Debt securities 229,669 220,743
Maximum value of assets exposed to credit risk

as at 31 December 26,564,511 22,593,022

21 wholesalers accounted for THUF 2,987,479 of domestic trade receivables as of 31 December 2010 (THUF
5 603,538 for 16 wholesalers as of 31 December 2009).

Collection policy

For trade receivables past their payment deadline the Group sends reminder letters to partners every fortnight,
who then have eight days to settle their debts. For accounts not settled, payment by transfer is prohibited and
goods may only be sold going forward with cash payments. After the third reminder letter the collection is
enforced through legal channels.

Default interest

Letters confirming default interest are sent o our debtors every quarter.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Rating and impairment of receivables

The receivables in the accounting records are rated per debtor ~ based on the maturity date of the receivable, the
willingness and ability of the debtor to pay, and past experience of the debtor. During the rating process,
impairment is recorded on overdue and doubtful receivables with due consideration of their recoverabiity.

The Group's credit risk exposure is reflected by the carrying value of the financial assets.

The impairment recorded on trade receivables is presented in the following tables broken down by maturity and

the reporting year changes to impairment. There are no matured receivables under loans and other financial
receivables, and so no impairment is recorded.

The following table shows cost and impairment of trade receivables by maturity:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Description Cost Impairment Cost
Not yet due 4,727,607 0 6,542,043 0
Between 1 - 90 days 1,396,817 17 1,003,094 5318
Between 91 - 180 days 6,493 76 30,255 251
Between 180 - 360 days 81,651 26,587 276,224 5,231
Over 360 days 97,891 33,51 67,478 26,294
Total 6,310,359 60,291 7,919,094 37,094

Changes in impairment allocated on trade receivables:

Description 2010 2009
Opening balance at 1 January 37,004 42,948
Current year impairment 32,473 7,402
Current year reversal 0 -200
Derecognition of impairment 9276 13,056
Balance of impairment at 31 December 60,291 37,094
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to settle its financial liabilities when they fall due. The
purpose of fiquidity management is to ensure sufficient resources for the settlement of liabilities when they fall
due.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabiliies when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group prescribes for its entities that they must maintain a strong liquidity position and shape the liquidity
profiles of their assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to ensure balanced cash flows and the settlement of all
liabilities when due.

In light of the demand for the Group's products and the seascdnality of the agricultural sector the Group really has
to focus on ensuring continuous liquidity. Adequate liquidity is ensured by aligning sales prices to demand, using
prepaid sales as well as short-term working capital loans and overdraft facilities secured by goods.

As of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 the Group had no unused credit facility. As of 31 December
2010 and 31 December 2009 the Group had no current account credit facility due to changes in its loan structure.
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities by maturity (principal and interest cash flows):

Descriotion Carrying Contractual cash Between 0- Between 6- Between 1- Between 2- Over$§
P amount flows 6 months 12 months 2 years 5 years years
31 December 2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities 33,791,694 37,328,379 9,786,635 2,945,008 5,092,122 19,699,479 173,936
Loans and borrowings 29,947,807 33,825,067 6,614,480 2,909,962 5,018,946 19,107,743 173,936
Other non-current financial liabilities 650,614 664,912 0 0 73,176 591,736 0
Trade payables 2,838,400 2,838,400 2,829,073 9,327 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 354,873 0 343,082 25,719 0 0 0

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2009,
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

{b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Between
. . Contractual  Between 0- Between 1-2  Between 2- Over 5
Description Carrying amount cash flows 6 months 612 years 5 years years
months
31 December 2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities 29,701,582 32,443,586 11,082,795 2,199,089 4,405,562 14,753,852 2,288
Loans and borrowings 22,252,247 24,865,051 4,807,614 2,164,106 3,775,259 14,115,784 2,288
Other non-current financial liabilities 1,258,044 1,268,371 0 0 630,303 638,068 0
Trade payables 2,372,358 2,372,358 2,372,358 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 3,818,933 3,937,806 3,002,823 34,983 0 0 0

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2010. (2009: THUF 0)

The above tables present the undiscounted cash flows of the Groups financial liabilities according to their earfiest possible maturity. The gross nominal outflow reflects the
undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities.
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(c) Market risk {continued)

At 31 December 2010 (in THUF):

Description EUR usD Other
Trade receivables 1,979,646 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 2,182,838 79,412 0
Total loans and receivables 4,162,484 79,412 0
Holdings 10,579 0 0
Total available for sale financial assets 10,579 0 0
Loans and borrowings " 11,466,426 0 0
Other non-current financial liabilities 63,508 630,443 0
Trade payables 496,995 0 35,255
Other financial liabiliies and derivatives 24,894 0 739
Total other financial liabilities 12,051,823 630,443 35,994

The Group applied the following significant exchange rates expressed in HUF

Average rate Spot exchange rate at the

reporting date
Currency 2010 2009 2010 2009
1EUR= 27541 280.58 278.75 270.84
1CHF = 199.94 185.82 222.68 182.34
1RON = 65.41 66.19 65.07 63.94
1RSD = 267 299 262 2.83
1USD= 208.15 202.26 208.65 188.07
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(c) Market risk (continued)
Analysis of exchange-rate sensitivity

The appreciation in the HUF around the reporting date would have increased or decreased equity and profit vis-a-
vis the following currencies as shown in the following table. The analysis was based on exchange rate changes
deemed reasonably possible by the Group on the reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other variables
remain constant, including interest rates. The analysis is based on the same principles as for comparative data,
with the exception of the exchange rate fluctuation deemed reasonably possible, which is different, as
demonstrated in the table below.

2010 2009
Currency Rate of Rate of
strengthening Equity Result  strengthening Equity Result
(%) : (%) -
HUF/EUR 11 1,795,147 1,793,983 16 2,782,991 2,782,991
HUF/USD 21 149,082 149,082 24 321,913 321,913

The table shows the impact on equity and profit or loss of an appreciation in the HUF against the given foreign
currencies.

If the HUF were to weaken as of the reporting date against the currencies above, this would have the same but
opposing effect on equity and profit or loss, provided that all other variables remain constant.

in the table above, the change in profit or loss is also included in the amount of the change in equity.
Interest risk

Interest rate risk is derived from the changes in the interest rates on the Group's interest-bearing assets and
drawn loans.

F-58




NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(c) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate structure of the interest-bearing financial instruments of the Group as at the reporting date:

Description 2010 2009
Fixed-interest instruments
Financial assets 10,005,007 4,529,033
Financial liabilities 630,443 559,525
Total carrying amount 10,635,450 5,088,558

Floating-rate instruments

Financial assets 1,108,128 843,313
Financial liabilities 22,449,961 30,079,631
Total carrying amount - ’ 23,558,089 30,922,944

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate financial instruments

The Group generally does not have fixed rate financial assets and liabiliies which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, nor did it conclude interest rate swaps for hedging purposes. Therefore a change in the
interest rate as at the reporting date would not affect the Company's equity and profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments
The following increases in interest rates as of the reporting date would have decreased equity and profit or loss

as shown in the table below. This analysis assumed that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant.

2010 2009
A Increase Increase
Description (basis  Equity  Resut  (basis  Equity  Result
point) point)

(F:i"j;‘)“g"a‘e instruments 60 85686 85086 104 150586 150,586
Floating-rate instruments

o) 8 0 0 14 3576 3576
(Fé‘zfgg‘g"a‘e instruments 10 14081 14,081 1 20511 2051
ﬁ:fh flow sensitlvity, 909767 99,767 174673 174673

A fall in the interest rate as of the reporting date would have the same but opposing effect on equity and profit or
loss, provided that all other variables remain constant.
In the table above, the change in profit or loss is also included in the amount of the change in equity.
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(d)  Fair value of financial instruments

The following table presents fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments:

Description

Note

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

2?:3&';? Fair value c;?‘:';y&';g Fair value
Loans granted 1,493,948 1,493,948 1,115,150 1,115,150
Trade receivables 6,250,068 6,250,068 7,882,000 7,882,000
Other financial assets 8,822,417 8,822,417 9,078,157 9,078,157
Cash and cash equivalents 9,768,409 9,768,409 4,296,972 4,296,972
Total loans and receivables 26,334,842 26,334,842 22372279 22,372,279 .
Holdings 12,180 12,180 11,879 11,879
Debt securities 229,669 229,669 220,743 220,743
Total available for sale financial
assets 241,849 241,849 232,622 232,622
Loans and borrowings 22252247 22252247 29,947,807 29,947,807
Other non-current financial liabilities 1,258,044 1,258,044 650,614 650,614
Trade payables 2372358 2372358 2854175 2,854,175
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 3,818,933 3,818,933 216,659 216,659
Total other financial liabilities 29,701,582 29,701,582 33,669,255 33,669,255
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(d)  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels of
the fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:
- Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilifies
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs)

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Description
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total available for sale financial

0 241,849 0 0 232,622 0
assets

Total carrying amount 0 241,849 0 0 232,622 0

There were no reclassification among levels in the above periods.

(e)  Capital management

The Group aims to establish a strong equity position to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and the
market and support the future development of its business activities. The management constantly monitors the
yields achieved, which are the operating profit, profit before tax and the debt service indicator. The management
also monitors the registered capital/equity ratios of the Company and the subsidiaries to ensure they comply with
statutory levels.

Debt service indicator:

(Profit after tax in reporting year — dividend + reporting year depreciation + reporting year interest on long-term
liabifity + reporting year interest on member loan) / (next year's repayment instalment of long-term liability and
member loan + reporting year interest of long-term liability)

The debt service indicator is calculated based on the figures in the Company's separate Hungarian financial
statements and the Company's bank loan agreements.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

Operating profit of the Company for 2010 in the annual report prepared in accordance with Hungarian accounting
rules amounted to THUF 5,571,918, (in 2009: THUF 3,407,052), profit before taxation in 2010 amounted to THUF
5,588,309, (in 2009: THUF 1,730,068).

Debt service indicator in 2010 1.55 (in 2009 0.75).

When managing its capital the Group strives towards achieving a balance between the highest possible profi,
dividend and liabilities as well as a strong equity position.

The Group aims to keep the debt service ratio at the level permitted by the loan agreements.

Withdrawing dividends is subject to a debt service ratio of at least 1.3.

Legal regulations applicable for the Company and its Hungarian subsidiaries prescribe the following provisions for
equity:

To protect creditors, the Business Associations Act prescribes the following in terms of equity compliance: "If,
according to the annual report prepared pursuant to the Accounting Act, a business association does not have -
sufficient equity to cover the share capital prescribed for its form of business association over two consecutive
financial years, and the members (shareholders) of the business association fail to provide for the necessary
equity within a period of three months after approval of the annual report prepared pursuant fo the Accounting Act
for the second year, the business association shall be required to adopt a decision within sixty days of this
deadline on restructuring the enterprise into a different form of business association, or for its termination without
legal succession"

Serbian laws do not contain any restrictive sanctions with regard to the Serbian subsidiaries.

Al of the Group members complied with the capital requirements above in 2009 and 2010.

31. OPERATING LEASES
Operating leases with the Group as lessee

The amount of minimum lease payments in connection with non-cancellable operative lease obligations was zero
both in 2009 and 2010.

Operating leases with the Group as lessor

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Description 2010 2009

Due within 1 year 21,023 24,264

Total 21,023 24,264

Operating leases relate to temporary lease of parts of property and other equipment not used for own purposes.
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32,

CONTINGENT RECEIVABLES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee

The Company provided guarantees as follows:

to Koronas Szarvas Kit. for the THUF 60,000 working capital loan and related charges as provided by
Pilisvorosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative, an agent of the Hungarian Development Bank, with
Pilisvorosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative as the beneficiary.

Other contingent liabilities

In order to resolve on amicable terms the legal dispute in process at the Arbitration Court and suspended until
30 June 2011 with E.ON Fdldgaz Trade Zrt., Nitrogénmdivek Zrt. concluded a contract to purchase a given
quantity of natural gas. The commitment has already been fulfilled with respect to a significant part of the
quantity undertaken, and Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. will fulfill the remaining obligation by 30 June 2011.

Litigation

As of the reporting date the Group had the following pending litigation:

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt., claimant, launched an action against OTP Bank Nyrt., respondent, at the Budapest
Municipal Court for the payment of compensation. The company lodged an appeal against the first-instance
ruling passed on 21 July 2010. The Budapest Municipal Court of Appeal set a date for the second-instance
hearing of 31 March 2011. (FB. 22.G.41.593/2009/16)

In lawsuit VB09221 launched by Shell Hungary Zrt. the Court of Arbitration obligated the respondent,
Nitrogénmiivek Zrt., to pay USD 15,730,246 plus charges to Shell Hungary Zrt. on take or pay grounds.
Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. applied to the Budapest Municipal Court to have this ruling annulled under case number
9.G.40.314/2011, and the Budapest Municipal Court suspended the obligation to pay the amount of USD
15,730,246. The first hearing in this legal action is set for 18 May 2011.

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt., claimant, filed an application against Shell Hungary Zrt., respondent, on 1 June 2010 at
the Court of Arbitration of the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry regarding "unlawfulness of
termination”. The first hearing of this case was on 24 February 2011. The hearing was held then postponed
without setting a date for the new hearing; no ruling has yet been made. (VB/10097)

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt, claimant, filed an application against Shell Hungary Zrt,, respondent, at the Court of
Arbitration of the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry regarding the "lack of integrity of the take or
pay clause”. The first hearing of this case was on 12 April 2011. The hearing was held then postponed without
setting a date for the new hearing; no ruling has yet been made. (VB/10116)

Chemoprojekt a.s. launched legal action against Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. at the Vienna Court of Arbitration to
establish whether the fine imposed on Chemoprojekt a.s was justified.
The Court of Arbitration has yet to reach a decision.

On 29 September 2009 EMFESZ Kft., claimant, filed an application at the Court of Arbitration of the
Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry against Nitrogénmivek Zrt. regarding the "validity and
legitimacy of the claimant's rescission statement as of 21 November 2008 and thus the retroactive termination
of the Gas Supply Agreement". The Court of Arbitration rejected the application of EMFESZ Kit. and ordered it
to pay the legal costs. (VB/09208)
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32,

CONTINGENT RECEIVABLES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

In the pending legal action launched by Nitrogénmivek Zrt., claimant, against EMFESZ Kit, respondent,
under number VB/08170 the Court of Arbitration found in favour of Applications | and Il of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.
with a partial ruling. For applications Il and 1V, the applications by the claimant in the case submitted to the
Court of Arbitration but suspended until a ruling is reached in case VB/09208 are as follows:

= third application "to obligate EMFESZ Kft. to pay a penalty of HUF 4,130,042,580 and default interest on
account of short shipment,”

= fourth application "the rescinding by the respondent (EMFESZ) of the Gas Supply Agreement concluded
between the parties is not valid, and therefore the Agreement was not terminated”. (VB/08170)

EMFESZ K#t., claimant, submitted an application to the Budapest Municipal Court on 28 July 2010, requesting
that partial ruling VB/08170 from 12 July 2010 (ordering the payment of HUF 2,063 million) be annulled, and
also requesting that the execution of the partial ruling be suspended. (FB 15.G.41.426/2010.)

On 2 February 2011 the Budapest Municipal Court rejected the application of EMFESZ Kit. for the annulment
of the partial ruling, as a result of which the suspension of the execution of the partial ruling was lifted. This
ruling may no longer be appealed. Due to the lack of any voluntary action the company launched execution
proceedings in 2011.

EMFESZ Kit. submitied a petition for review to the Supreme Court against the ruling rejecting its application for the
annulment of the partial ruling. The date of the review hearing is 21 June 2011.

On 10 August 2009 E.ON Féldgaz Trade Foldgazkereskedd Zrt., claimant, submitted an application to the
Court of Arbitration at the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry requesting that it obligate
Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. to pay a fine of USD 16,952,685 and default interest thereon.

At the request of both parties the council suspended the proceedings until 30 June 2011. (VB/09182)

On 20 July 2010 Vertis Kbmyezetvédelmi Pénziigyi Zrt., claimant, submitted an application to the Veszprém
County Court, requesting that Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. be obliged to pay EUR 201,671 + VAT along with default
interest, and requesting that it be established “the claimant is entitled in the future fo the contractual success
fee for all further sales completed between the claimant and the Customer”.

The Veszprém County Court postponed the first hearing set for 9 December 2010. At the hearing on 7 March
2011 the Veszprém County Court passed an interim and partial ruling, in which it found that Nitrogénmiivek
Zrt. has an obligation to pay success fee. Nitrogénmivek Zrt. submitted an application dated 21 March 2011
against the ruling to the Gy6r Court of Appeal, requesting the change of the interim and partial ruling thus the
rejection of the application of the claimant. The Gy6r Court of Appeal has not set a date for the hearing yet.
(1.G.40.101/2010/10.)

Provisions were allocated for the Company's other payment fiabilities as well, in the amount of expected
payments. See Note 21.

33.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At the general meeting of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. held on 22 March 2011 the owners decided to distribute THUF
1,350,000 dividends.

There were no events after the reporting date which would require modifications in the financial statements.
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34. RELATED PARTIES
Transactions with key management personne/

Key management personnel received the following benefits:

Description 2010 2009
Short-term benefits (honoraria, bonus) 544,536 228,138
Total 544,536 228,138

There were no other transactions with key management personnel.
Transactions with other related parties
Balances with related parties are detailed in the individual notes. Balances are unsecured.

Transactions with related parties are as follows:

Description ' 2010 2009
Sale of goods to related parties 11,628,044 4,519,539
Purchase of goods from related parties 5,424,059 2,150,441
Services provided to related parties 90,219 827
Services used from related parties 121,787 93,940
Loans granted to related parties 103,731 0
Loans repaid by related parties 103,731 0
Loans receivaed from related parties 103,731 0
Loans repaid to related parties 103,731 0
Interest on loans to key management personnel 87,374 113,729
Unconditional payment guarantee to key management personnel 273,815 0
Interest on unconditional payment guarantee to key management 21,997 0

personnel
The Group used maintenance and security services provided by related companies.

Balance of loans to key management personnel:

Description 2010 2009
Loans to key management personnel 1,108,127 834,312
Interest on loans to key management personnel 372,391 263,019

The loans were granted to owners who are at the same time key management personnel. Terms and conditions
of the loans are detailed in Note 8.

Other transactions were concluded at arm's length prices.
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This 15 an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2009 Consolidated Financial Statements of Nitrogénmivek
Zrl. issued m Hungarian, [f there are any differences, the Hungaran language onginal prevails. This report should be read in
conjunetion with the complete Consolidated Finaneial Statements it refers to.

KPMG Hungaria Eft.
\

Independent Auditors” Report
To the sharcholders of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. (“the Company™), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining mternal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud
or error, sclecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that arc
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used
and the reasonablencss of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KPMG Hungéria Kft., @ Hungarian limited liability company and

a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member

firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative
Company registration: Budapest, Févérosi Birés4g, no: 01-09-063193
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This 1s an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2009 Consolidated Financial Statements of Nitrogémmivek
Zrt. issued in Hungarian. If there are any differences, the Hunganan language onginal prevails. This report should be read in
corjunction with the complete Consolidated Financial Staternents it refers to.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of Nitrogénmiivek Zit. as at 31 December 2009, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by EU.

Budapest, 16 July 2010
KPMG Hungéria Kft.

Laszio Kagtar

Laszlo Kajtar

Partner, Registered Auditor
Identification number: 000269
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU

Pétfiird6, 16 July 2010

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Description

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Investments

Other non-current assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-ctrrent assets

Current assets

Inventories

Emission allowances

Current tax assets

Trade receivables

Qther financial assets and derivatives
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Pétfirdd, 16 July 2010
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2009 2008
29,567,045 30,082,260
101,130 203,740
33,869 178,310
163,542 22,108
11,664 69,049
30,537,250 30,555,467
12,670,545 14,311,418
91,549 0
256,574 590,164
1,866,512 5,034,877
10,407,548 1,206,140
1,823,818 1,405,048
4,296,972 1,645,793
79,908 79,908
37,493,486 30,279,408
68,030,736 60,834,875

Dr. Istvan Blazsek

Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

Description Note 2009 2008

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital (12) 1,518,000 528,000
Translation reserve (13 736 -844
Hedging reserve 0 4]
Retained earnings (14) 12,092,148 8,124,102
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the 13,610,884 8651258
Company

Total equity 13,610,884 8,651,258
Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings (15) 21,562,957 14,576,934
Cther non-current financial liabilities (16) 650,614 533,641
Other non-current liabilities (N 8,255,499 6,627,741
Provisions (21) 40,000 214,000
Deferred tax liability (22) 1,042,265 11,803
Total non-current liabilities 31,551,335 21,964,125
Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings (15) 8,384,850 14,799,333
Current tax liabilities 143 189,526
Trade payables (18) 2,864,175 5,101,448
Other financial liahilities and derivatives (19 216,659 117,764
Cther current liabilities (20) 10,811,401 9,825,020
Provisions (21) 601,289 186,401
Total current hiabilities 22,868,517 30,219,492
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 68,030,736 60,834,875

Pétfirds, 16 July 2010
Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Description

Revenue

Other income

Total operating income

Material-type expenses

Staff costs

Depreciation and impairment

Other expenses

Changes in self-manufactured stocks
Capitalised value of self-manufactured assets
Total operating expenses

Results from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance losses/gains

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Translation difference

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow
hedges

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred
to profit or loss

Income tax on other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period attributable to:
Owmers of the Company

Comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Pétflrdé, 16 July 2010
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(28)

(29)

2009 2008
44,756,033 47,981,465
2,869,022 464,076
47,625,055 48,445,541
29,859,832 40,311,642
3,602,915 4,168,617
1,598,960 1,372,337
1,825,720 1,575,681
2,002,623 -5,980,068
3,205 57,498
38,893,255 41,380,711
8,731,800 1,064,830
1,979,994 2,849,423
5,711,038 8,835,455
-3,737,044 - 5,986,032
4,994,756 1,078,798
1.194,710 155,566
3,799,986 923,232
1,580 -174
0 1,156,525
0 2,608,748
0 -290,464
1,580 1,160,985
3,801,566 2,084,217
3,799,986 923,232
3,801,566 2,084,217

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note Equity Sha_re Translation Hedging Revaluation Fair value Reta?ned Total cnrl?:?;ﬁng Total equity
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings inerest
Balance at 1 January 2008 528,000 -51 -1,161,778 ] ] 7,200,870 6,567,041 0 6,567,041
Profit for the period 0 0 0 0 0 923,232 923232 0 923,232
Other comprehensive income
Translation difference 0 -793 0 0 0 0 -793 0 -193
Effective portion of chranges in fait 0 0 1,156,525 0 0 0 1156525 0 1,156,525
value of cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net change in fair value of cash flow
hedges transferred to profit or loss, net 0 0 2318303 0 0 0 2,318,303 0 2,318,303
of tax
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale ﬁ?lan cial assets, net of tax 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets transferred to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
profit or loss, net of tax
Total other comprehensiva income 0 -793 1,161,778 0 0 0 1,160,985 1 1,160,985
Total comprehensive income 0 -793 1,161,778 0 [ 923232 2084217 1 2084217
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
OWners
Issue of shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total transactions with owners 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1] 0
| Balance at 31 December 2008 528,000 M 0] [) 0] 8124102 | 8551258 | [)] 8,651.258 |

Petfiirdd, 16 July 2010
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

Attributable to equity holders of the Compary

Note Share Translation Hedging Revaluation Fair value

Equi ]
q [y caplla | reserve reserve reserve reserve

Non-
Total controlling Total equity
interest

Retained
eamings

Balance at 1 January 2009 528,000 814
Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Translation difference 1.580
Effective portion of changes in fair

value of cash flow hedges, net of tax

Net change in fair value of cash flow

hedges transferred to profit or loss, net

of tax

Net change in fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets, net of tax

Net change in fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets transferred o

profit or loss, net of tax

Total other comprahensive income 1,580
Total comprehensive income 1,580
Transactions with owners, recorded

directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to

OWTErs

Issue of shares 990,000

Dividends

Total transactions with owners 996,000

8,124,102 8,651,258 8,651,258
3,799,986 3,799,986

1,580 1,580

1,580 1,580
3,799,986 1,580 3,801,566

168,060 168,060 168,060
990,000 990,000

168,000 1,158,060 1,158,060

| Balance at 31 December 2009 I I [ 1,518,000 | 736 |

| 12,002,148 | 13,610,884 | [ 13610884 |

Pétfiirdé, 16 July 2010
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Description Note 2009 2008

Profit after tax 3,799,986 923,232
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (1.2 1,613,086 1,375,889
Impairment and reversal on inventories ) 1,769 47548
Impairment on receivables and reversal thereof 1,202 4,787
Increase/Decrease in provisions (23) 240,868 309,876
Gains/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment -1,430 -12,608
Unrealised exchange gains/losses 300,123 47141371
Decrease/Increase in inventories ) 1,645,164 6,579,765
Decrease/Increase in emission allowances 3 -91,549 4,912
Increase/Decrease in trade receivables 2,802,871 1,193,8/0
DecreasefIncrease in other financial assets -3,200,760 -370,913
DecreasefIncrease in other receivables -59,533 -144.885
DecreasefIncrease in other assets -741,434 -18,979
Decrease/Increase in other non-current liabilities (19) 1,621,152 144,595
DecreasefIncrease in trade payables 2422151 1,143,816
Decrease/Increase in other financial liabilities 81,599 -2,362
Decrease/Increase in other current liabilities (22) 1,154,441 3,988,969
Net change in income tax assets, liabilities 1,172,054 13,241
Change in receivables and liabilities from derivative

transactions 0 4,542,192
Cash flows from operating activities 2,318,324 2,936,016
Interest income -307,356 -279,190
Interest expense 2,121,986 2,021,222
Income tax paid -359,297 -189,803
Net cash flows from operating activities 4,379,657 -1,371,181

Pétfirds, 16 July 2010
Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

Description Note 2009 2008
Dividends received 0 0
Interest received 306,430 286,598
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1.2) 862,927 -1,401,784
Sale of property, plant and equipment (1,2) 17,627 17,627
Granting and repayment of loans 144,101 1,050,253
Disbursement/Repayment of loans to employees 848 -1.210
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and business units 0 140,000
Cash used for acquisition of subsidiaries, business units 0 9,142
Net cash flows from investing activities -393,916 82,342
Issue of shares 990,000 0
Borrowings (15) 26,726,063 11,649,221
Repayment of loans and borrowings (15) -26,341,515 -10,627,738
Dividends paid 0 0
Interest paid (28) -2,110,690 -1,994,913
Net cash flows from financing activities -1,336,142 -1,073,430
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents 2,649,599 -2.368,875
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January (10) -2,369,668 4,015,461
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 1,580 -193
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (10) 281,511 1,645,793

Pétfirds, 16 July 2010
Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2009

. GENERAL

A Nitrogénm(vek Zrt (hereinafter referred to as the Company”) was established on 1 February 1990. Registered
office: 8105 Hungary, Pétfirds, Hosok tere 14.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as "Group entities”). In the
period covered by the consolidated financial statements the Company held no interest in associates or jointly

controlled entities.

The Group primarily is involved in the manufacture of artificial fertilisers containing solid nitrogen and nitrogen
solution. The group also manufactures industrial gases (argon, hydrogen, nitrogen).

Group subsidiaries:

Ownership  Ownership
Company Country Scope of activities share in share in
2009. 2008.
Manufacture and distribution of
Nadudvari Agrokémiai Kft. ~ Hungary artificial fertilisers and nitrogen 100% 100%
compounds
Nitrogén - Pinkerton Kft. Hungary Investigation and security services 53.3%% 53.33%
g';;EpHet Deutschiand H. Germany Retail and wholesale 100% 100%
Nitropet ltalia S.R.L. Italy Retail and wholesale 100% 100%
NITROPET Slovakia Slovakia Retail and wholesalle of agricultural 519 51%
products and chemicals
Transportation and agency activities;
Nitro-Pét d.o.o. Serbia retail distribution of chemical 100% 100%
products and artificial fertilisers
Péti Gépészeti Kft. Hungary Metallurgy 100% 100%
I Manufacture, packaging and " o
PetiNivokomplex Kt Hungary distribution of artificial fertilisers 100% 100%
Pati Polietilén Zsak Kit. Hungary Manufacture and distibution of 100% 100%
polythene packaging materials
Péti VMA Kft. Hungary Technical review and analysis 100% 100%
gELBH CHEMICAL IMPEX Romania Wholesale of chemical products 100 % 100 %
RSR Nitro Kft. Hungary Logistics 100 % 0
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1. ADOPTION, STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

{a)  Adoption and statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 July 2010.
(b)  Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position:

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.

The financial year corresponds to the calendar year.
{c)  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hungarian forint ("Ft" or HUF), which is the Company's
functional currency. The functional currency of each subsidiary is the currency of the country where the relevant
subsidiary is registered, since selling prices are typically determined by the economy of the country where the
subsidiary is active.

Financial information presented in forint has been rounded to the nearest thousand (THUF), while information
presented in other currencies has been rounded to one currency unit.

{d)  Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the following accounting policies
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. Information about
significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounis recognised in the financial statements relating to the following areas is
included in Note 4.
+ determination of useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

valuation of emission allowances (ERU)

measurement of hedging transactions

recovery of deferred tax assets

recovery of investment tax credit
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and to the opening statement of financial position as at 1 January 2007, and
have been applied consistently by Group entities.

(a)  Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align
them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisition of enlities under common controf

Acquisitions whereby an entity that is under the control of the shareholder that controls the Group, are accounted
at the date of acquisition by recognising the acquired assets and liabilities at the carrying amounts recorded
previously in the books of the acquired entity. The components of equity of the acquired entity are added to the
same components within Group equity. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in equity. The part
of cash paid for the acquisition in excess to the net asset value acquired is recognised as a deduction from
retained earnings.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

{b)  Foreign currency
@ Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising
on retranslation are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments and differences from cash flow hedges, which are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items measured at cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

(i Foreign operations
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The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments, if any, arising on
acquisition, are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve
is transferred to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable 1o a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are
considered to form part of a net investrment in a foreign operation and are recognised within other comprehensive
income in the translation reserve.

()  Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial insirumentis

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables, deposits and borrowings on the date that they are
originated. All other financial instruments are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

Financial assets and liabilites are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly atiributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale
and that are not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets. The Group's invesiments in equity
and debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly atributable transaction costs. Subsequent o
initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign
currency differences on equity instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within
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equity in the fair value reserve. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss. However, if an equity investment has no quoted price in an
active market and its fair value cannot be measured reliably, it is measured subsequent to initial recognition at
cost less impairment.

Other financial kabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derivative financial instrumenis
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposures.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Atiributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are
accounted for as described below.

Cash flow hedges

A cash flow hedge is hedging the exposure arising from the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or
loss.

When a hedge is concluded, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging relationship to which
hedge accounting is to be applied, as well as the risk management goals and strategies of the hedge.
Documentation includes identification of the hedge, the related hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess hedge effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the
hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. These hedges are expected to be highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows. Effectiveness is assessed on the reporting date.

When a derivative is included in a hedging relationship, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity, while
any ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is
removed and included in profit or loss in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss, e.g.
when the forecast transaction takes place. In the case of an effective hedge, the amount transferred to profit or
loss is included under the same line item in the statement of comprehensive income as the result of the hedged
transaction.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. If the hedge expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, or the designation
is revoked, amounts previously recognised within equity in other comprehensive income remain in equity until the
forecast transaction occurs, then are transferred to profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, then these amounts are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Other non-trading derivatives

Other non-trading derivatives are financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. When a
derivative financial instrument is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all
changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss under results of financial transactions.
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(d  Equity
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

{(¢)  Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and Measurement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the
assets and restoring the site on which they are located, as well as borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment increases the cost of that
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within
other income or other expenses in profit or loss.

Subsequent cosis

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-
to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the cost of an asset, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over
their useful lives, since the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.
The residual value of production plants and related production machinery and equipment is zero, since their
expected useful lives correspond to their expected economic lives, considering that the Group intends to use
such assets until exhaustion.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
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e buildings 35-50 years
e plant and equipment 5-35 years
o fixtures and fittings 2 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each reporting date.

i Intangible assets

Measurement

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible

assets, from the date that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
e rights and concessions 2-5 years

(g) Leased assels

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial
position.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

Purchased inventories

The cost of purchased inventories is determined based on average weighted purchase price and includes direct

acquisition expenditure incurred, as well as costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their existing location and
condition.
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Manufaciured inventories

Cost of manufactured inventories is determined based on their direct production cost on the reporting date and
includes production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Cost also may include any gain or loss on cash flow
hedges concluded to hedge foreign exchange risk of forecasted purchases of raw materials, transferred from
comprehensive income through row item changes in manufactured inventories.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

(y  Emission allowances
Carbon dioxide (CO?2) quota

The Group receives emission allowances free of charge in Hungary as part of the Furopean Emission Trading
System since it emits greenhouse gases. These allowances are valid until the end of a pre-determined emissions
period. The allowances are credited each year based on the National Allocation Plan. The group must settle its
liability based on actual emissions by surrendering the emission allowances. In the event the actual emissions
exceed the quantity of emission allowances received, the difference may be purchased from a third party to
settle the liability.

The initial measurement of emission allowances received free of charge is at fair value as of the acquisition date,
which is the market price traded on the active market (bluenext.com) (see Note |.2.q.). These allowances
received free of charge are recognised as emission allowances under fixed assets or current assets as part of
intangible assets. Emission allowances purchased from third parties are initially measured at the same amount
paid for the allowances. Thereafter the emission allowances are measured at cost net of impairment. Emission
allowances are not amortised.

Emission allowances can be sold on the market while valid. Emission allowances are derecognised when sold,
or when surrendered to settle liability based on actual emissions.

Emission allowances to be surrendered within one year are recognised under current assets.

The Group records provisions for liabilities which arise on account of actual emissions. Provisions are measured
based on a best estimate of the expense required to settle the liability prevailing as of the reporting date (see
Note 1.2.m.).

Dinitrogen oxide (N0) emission reduction units

The quantity of emission reduction units (FRU) in the acid plant (JI project) changes every year depending on
production and the level of emission reduction achieved. In connection with the company's JI project and in line
with the Kyoto Protocol, the state must be informed of the emission reduction achieved, which involves
submitting a verified report to the Minister of Environment and Water; once in possession of the approval and the
emissions reduction purchase agreement (FRPA) an application must be macle for the state to transfer the units
to the company's clients who are contracted for emission units (Kommunalkredit Public Consulting GmbH, UHDE
GmbH). When the ERUs are transferred they are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as other income at
the values stated in the purchase agreements.

If the Group becomes entitled to emission reduction units, but they have not been transferred, then these
emission reduction units are recognised as part of intangible assets as emission allowances under current
assets. The initial measurement of emission reduction units received free of charge is at fair value as of the
acquisition date, which is the market price traded on the active market (bluenext.com) (see note |.2.q.). For lack
of any active market the price is based on available market information, a price that would be applied between
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two informed and willing independent parties. Since there was no active market for ERUs in the reporting year,
and the purchase agreements are generally not public, the group construed the market price to be the price
stated in the previous purchase agreement.

()  Impairment
Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for
an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost can also be
objective evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. |mpairment losses are accounted as other expenses in profit or loss. Interest on the
impaired asset continues 1o be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.Other financial assets are
grouped together based on similar creditrisk characteristics and are assessed for impairment collectively.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that
has been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve, to profit or loss.
The cumulative loss that is transferred to profit or loss is the difference between the cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit
or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest
income.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. In the case of available-for-sale equity
securities, the reversal is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-financial assers

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

In the case of emission allowances, fair value less costs to sell is a good approximate for the recoverable
amount, and since costs to sell are negligible, the Group considers the price as at the reporting date quoted in an
active market to be the recoverable amount, if available, otherwise the market price determined based on
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information available (see Note .2).

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
groups of assets ("cash-generating unit or CGU").

Assets not involved directly in production do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that
such an asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated to the assets in the unit in
proportion to their carrying amounts. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

In respect of assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(k  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately prior to the
classification as held for sale the assets {or components of the disposal group) are remeasured in accordance
with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less cost to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

{i  Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or
loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as expense when the Group is demonstrably committed to a detailed formal
plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to provide termination benefits as a result of
an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy, without a realistic possibility of withdrawal.
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as expense if the Group has made an offer
encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances
can be estimated reliably.

Shori-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
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related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

{m) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. When unwinding the
discount representing elapse of time the balance sheet value of the provision increases year-by-year by the
effect of discount. The increment is accounted as interest expense.

Provisions are typically allocated for emission quotes, termination benefits and early retirement pensions,
disputes and environmental protection liabilities.

Emission quotas

The Group allocates provisions for the liability to deliver emission allowances based on actual carbon dioxid
emission (see Note 1.2), the amount of which is set to the extent of emission allowances existing at the reporting
date based on their carrying amount and for liabilities not covered by existing emission allowances based on
market value of emission allowances as at the reporting date, since such liabilities can be settled by purchasing
emission allowances.

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions connected to redundancies are recognised, if
by the reporting date the Group created justified expectations on the part of employees relating to the
redundancy. As a prerequisite, the redundancy plan has to be approved by the Board and communicated t©
those concerned by the reporting date.

The provision is allocated based on best estimate relating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled
several years later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.

Provisions for environmental protection liabilities

Provisions for environmental protection costs are recognised if environmental damage assessment or
remediation is probable and related costs are reliably quantifiable. The provision is accounted generally parallel
to the acceptance of a relevant formal plan or task, if it is earlier, to the sale or closing down of inactive places.
The provision is allocated based on best estimate relating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled
several years later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.

{n) Revenues
Goods sold
Revenue is recognised when economic benefit in connection with the transaction is likely to inflow to the Group

and its amount can be measured reliably. Revenue is booked net of taxes related to sales and discounts when
goods are delivered or services provided and risks and rewards are transferred.
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Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration net of returns, trade discounts
and volume rebates. Revenue does not include value added tax.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are met:
persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales supply agreement, that the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer;
the Group has no actual control over the goods and there is no continuing management involvement
with the goods;
the consideration can be measured reliably;
financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and
the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably.

The Group sells its products on domestic markets in a "bill and hold” system. In the case of bill and hold
transactions revenue is booked when all the following conditions are met in addition 1o the above:

the buyer obtains ownership;

itis probable that delivery will take place

the goods are ready for delivery, physically separated under the name of the buyer;

the buyer expressly acknowledges the demand for subsequent delivery,

normal payment terms apply;
or if one or more of these conditions are not met, revenue is booked at the latest when the buyer obtains
ownership and delivery takes place.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale. If
transportation is carried out by the Group, usually transfer occurs when the product is received at the destination
indicated by the customer; however, for shipments arranged by the costumer, transfer occurs upon loading the
goods onto the carrier of the transporter. For inventories stored at the customer's site (as an external venue),
transfer occurs when the goods are released from warehouse for the given customer.

If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is
recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

Services

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
performed.

Revenue from services is recognised when all the following conditions are met:
the consideration can be measured reliably;
financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and
the associated costs can be estimated reliably.

Comimissions

When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the Group and it is booked when conditions listed in point
(ii) are met.

Usually the Group sells the products of its related companies in the capacity of an agent. Revenue is booked

when sale takes place based on the contract concluded by the principal and the customer and the Group is
entitled to receive the commission.
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Rental income

Rental income from operative leases is recognised evenly over the term of the lease in the profit or loss. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

(o) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. | ease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term
of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

{(p)  Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises the following: interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial
assets), dividend income, exchange gains on FX items, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets, derivatives held for trading, and changes in the fair value of hedges to be recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group's right to receive payment is established, which in the
case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date, while for unlisted securities it is the date when the relevant
authorised body makes decision relating to distribution.

Finance expenses comprise the following: interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, exchange losses on X items, changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading, changes in the
fair value of hedges to be recognised in profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on available-for-sale
financial assets.

{9 Government grants

An unconditional government grant is recognised in profit or loss, if it will be received.

Other government grants are recognised in profit or loss when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant,

Grants related to asset purchases are booked at fair value as deferred income and are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in proportion to expensing the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred {including government grants received in the form of
emission allowances received free of charge, see Note |.2.i) are recognised in profit or loss as other income at
fair value in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Investment tax credits are recognised similarly
to government grants related to asset purchases.

(N Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
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recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities
will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(s)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2009, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
None of these expected to have an effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except for IFRS
9 Finarcial Instruments, which becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2013 consolidated financial statements and
might have an effect on classification and measurement of financial assets; however, the expected effects have
not been assessed yet.
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3.  DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for financial instruments.
Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the
individual notes.

(a)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is based on the closing bid price quoted on an active market valid
on the reporting date.

{b)  Trade receivables, other financial assets not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of trade receivables and other financial assets for disclosure is determined based on present value of
future cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.

(c)  Trade payables, other financial liabilities not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of trade payables and other financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is determined based on present
value of future principal and interest cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.

(d) Derivative transactions
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market
price is not available, then fair value is estimated based on the present value of the difference between the

contractual forward price and the forward price as at the reporting date discounted using a risk-free interest rate
{based on government bonds) for the residual maturity of the contract.
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4. IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES
Critical estimates and assumplions

When applying accounting policies detailed in Section 2, management of the Group used certain assumptions
which have an impact on the reported amounts (apart form effects of estimates). These key assumptions are:

Emission reduction units (ERU): ERUs are initially measured at market price, howsver, since in the
reporting year ERUs had no active market and sale agreements are typically not public, the Group
deemed the price set forth in the sale agreement already concluded to be the market price.

Estimation uncerainties

The preparation of financial staternents in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of estimates that affect the
amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements and the related notes. These estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of current events, however, actual results may differ from these estimates. These
most important estimates are described below:

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment: The estimate of the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment was made based on the technical content of the assets and past experience of the individual
asset types, such as the frequency of replacements and faults. The fact that the actual useful life of the
assets can differ depending on the capacity in use, technology changes or technical factors does cause
some uncertainty, and therefore the Group analyses on an annual basis whether the previous estimate
is still pertinent, and revises the useful life estimate where necessary.

Hedges: Gains or losses on hedges are calculated based on estimates relating to future exchange
rates and interests as well as the timing and amount of hedged future gas purchases. Uncertainty lies in
the fact that these factors are subject to market expectations and changes in the economic
environment.

Recovery of deferred tax liabilities: Recovery of deferred tax liability is subject to future taxable profit.
The availability of future taxable profits is supported by a business plan that is prepared for a period in
relation to which the Group is able to prepare a reliable plan.

Use of investment tax credits: The use of investment tax credits depends on future taxable profits. The
Group confirms the availability of future taxable profits with a business plan, prepared for the period that
the investment tax credits may be used. The recovery of investment tax credits is contingent upon the
uncertainties inherent in the estimates used for the business plan. Such factors of uncertainty include,
among others, expected sales volumes, market sales prices, the market price of material costs
(principally gas), capacity in use, tax rates and items reconciling the tax base.
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IIl. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Describtion Land and Plant and o L(l)ithrﬁrent Assets under Total
P buildings equipment ar? d fFi)ttings construction

;’Opoesn'”g grossvalueatJanuary ;59406 19757,888 262,288 8,427,396 35,243,618
- Additions from business unit 0 0 0 1167 508 1.167.508
acquisitions e e
- Derecognitions 97,023 61,237 23,247 4710 -186,217
- Transfers and reclassification + 2,426 -517,583 -133 0 -55,890
- Capitalisation 2,644,799 2,240,326 18,963 4,904,088 0
- Translation differences 0 0 -232 0 232
Closing gross value at 31 December g gg5 308 1,379,394 257,039 4,686,106 36,168,847
- Additions from business unit 0 0 0 585 394 585 304
acquisitions ' ’
- Addition due to expanded 0 9911 64 0 9.975
consolidation scope ' ’
- Derecognitions 15,938 121,611 -24,28] 0 -161,836
- Transfers and reclassification + -5,948 14,115 9131 0 -964
- Capitalisation 1,303,172 3,631,287 22,135 4,956,594 0
- Subsequent capitalisation 6,757 487,413 0 0 494,110
- Translation differences 0 0 -133 0 -133
Sosing gross value at 31 December  41134,351 25,400,509 245687 314,906 37,005,453
Opening accumulated depreciation at
1 January 2008 909,537 3,740,346 218,291 0 4,868,174
- Depreciation 311,857 1,016,836 24,110 0 1,353,463
- Derecognitions -3.329 -55,238 21,523 0 -80,090
- Transfers + 538 53,516 -133 0 -54,787
- Translation differences 0 0 173 0 173
Closing accumulated depreciation 1217527 4,648,428 220,632 0 6,086,587

at 31 December 2008
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1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

- Land and Plant and cher Assets under
Description buildi - equipment ) Total
uildings equipment and fittings construction

- Depreciation 339,257 1,186,349 23,465 0 1,549,071
- Increase in depr. due to expanded 0 5627 64 0 5,601
cons. scope
- De.pr(.acmluon on subsequent 91 24 411 0 0 24,602
capitalisation
- Derecognitions -2,650 110,222 -23,869 0 -136,741
- Transfers + -194 4,329 -4.637 0 502
- Translation differences 0 -/0 -130 0 -200
Closing accumulated depreciation
at 31 December 2009 1,554,031 5,758,852 215,525 0 7528408
Net opening value at 1 January 2008 6,386,569 15,517,542 43,997 8,421,396 30,375,504
2'&;;'05'“9 value at 31December g 553781 16,730,966 36,407 4,686,106 30,082,260
Do closing value at 31 December g eg0300 19,641,657 30162 314,906 29,567,045

Assels under consiruction

As part of the granulation plant investment project the granulation unit was capitalised on 1 April 2009. The
expense incurred by 1 April 2009 in connection with the granulation plant unit - including borrowing costs —
totalled THUF 10,854,510 E FT (by 31 December 2008 THUF 10,438,398).

The packaging and neutralisation plant units were capitalised in 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Reclassification lo assets held for sale

The Group reclassified the company's old decommissioned acid plant to assets held for sale. See Note 11.

Capitalised borrowing costs

The costs of investment loans capitalised on investments amounted to THUF 599,413 by 1 April 2009, the
capitalisation date for the granulation plant (THUF 552,774 by 31 December 2008).

Contractual investment liabilities

As of 31 December 2009 the Group's contractual commitments for property, plant and equipment purchases
amounted to THUF 2,166,018 (as of 31 December 2008: THUF 170,425).
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Value of leased assets

Assets acquired under finance lease are included in property, plant and equipment.

Description 2009 2008
Gross value 250,780 63,164
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 55,925 19,837
Net value 194,555 43,921

The Group leases passenger cars under finance lease; the cars will be owned by the Group at the end of the
lease term.

Value of assels pledged as collaterals

As at 31 December 2009 land and buildings with a carrying amount of THUF 9,914,201 (31 December 2008:
THUF 8,883,724) and plant and equipment with a carrying amount of THUF 17,360,373 (31 December 2008:

THUF 14,408,609) were pledged as collateral for bank loans. See Note 15.

2.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Description Rights qnd Other Total
concessions
;5(;8833 opening value at 1 January 78,385 503,935 582,320
- Other additions 25,446 470 25,916
- Derecognitions -11 0 11
- Transfers 0 -5,230 -5,230
(ZI(I)(())Zlng gross value at 31 December 103,754 499,175 602,029
- Addition due to expanded cons. scope 128 0 128
- Other additions 3172 76,103 19,215
- Derecognitions -489 0 -489
- Transfers 344,957 -501,455 -156,498
Closing gross value at 31 December 451,522 73,823 525,345
2009
g)penlng accumulated depreciation 1 43,815 336,577 380,392
anuary 2008
- Depreciation 14,621 4,253 18,874
- Derecognitions -11 0 11
Closing accumulated depreciation at
31 December 2008 58,359 340,830 399,189
- Depreciation 15,210 10177 25,387
- Incr. in depr. due to expanded cons. 178 0 128
scope
- Derecognitions -489 0 -489
- Transfers 341,085 -341,065 0
Closing accumulated depreciation at 414273 9.942 424215
31 December 2009 ' ) '
Net opening value at 1 January 2008 34,570 167,358 201,928
Net closing value at 1 December 2008 45,395 158,345 203,740
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Net closing value at 1 December 2009 37,249 63,881 101,130

Rights and concessions primarily include purchased software.
3. EMISSION ALLOWANCES

Emission allowances are CO, emission allowances received based on Government Decree 66/2006.111., and N,Q
emission reduction units as per ACT LX of 2007.

Changes in terms of quantity and carrying amount is presented in the table below:

Description rl\(lazdouglin:: rs1$llj(r)1?t €O, emission quota Total
Unit THUF Unit THUF THUF
Opening balance at 1 January 2008 0 0 38,380 4,912 4,912
Delivery due to 2007 emission 0 0 28,556 4,863 4,863
Derecognition of unused quotas 0 0 9,824 49 49
Closing balance at 31 December 2008 0 0 0 0 0
Receipt in relation to 2008 emission 150,780 1,519,420 25,108 100,485 1,619,905
Purchase of 2009 quota 0 0 448 1,786 1,186
Delivery due to 2009 emission 0 0 26,156 102,211 102,211
Sale in 2009 17412 1,421,811 0 0 1,421,811
Closing balance at 31 December 2009 33,368 91,549 0 0 91,549
4. INVESTMENTS
Description 2009 2008
Loans granted 6,502 1,073
Security deposit 0 50,961
Long-term receivables from contracts 15,488 27
Other investments 11,879 120,249
Total 33,869 178,310

Loans granted include housing loans provided to employees under favourable terms.
No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.
Long-term receivables include trade receivables overdue by more than one year.

Other investments include the amount of capital investments not consolidated.
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5. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Description 2009 2008
Advances to suppliers of investment projects 655,701 3,036
Other non-current assets 107,841 19,072
Total 163,542 22,108

6. INVENTORIES

Description 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Raw materials and consumables 3,546,033 3,536,350
Work in progress, semi-finished goods 354,530 306,286
Finished goods 1,413,825 9,459,412
Goods 1,356,157 1,015,430
Total 12,670,545 14,317,418

Cost and net realisable value in 2009 of inventories carried at net realisable value

Net realisable

Net realisable

- Cost value Cost value
Description 31 D;(():ggber 31 December 3 D;gggber 31 December
2009 2008
o e : : v :
Finished goods 2,804,845 2,602,778 199,935 153,965
Goods 0 0 15,838 14,107
Total 2,804,845 2,602,718 215,185 168,072
1. TRADE RECEIVABLES
Description 2009 2008
Trade receivables 1,813,914 5,047,290
- of which related: 5,273,746 4,018,187
Impairment for doubtful receivables 7402 12,413
Total trade receivables 1,866,512 5,034,817

Trade receivables bear no interest and in general have a term of 30 days.

No impairment was booked on receivables from related parties neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous

year.
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8.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DERIVATIVES

Description 2009 2008
Receivables from government 8,022,080 5,652,080
L oans granted 1,108,649 1,552,765
- of which to related parties: 1,106,729 1,550,459
Debt securities 221,241 0
Subscribed, but unpaid capital 990,000 0
Other financial assets 65,578 1,295
Total 10,407,548 1,206,140

The receivable derived from the development (investment) tax credit is recognised in the ‘receivables from the
state’ row. The Company can use the investment tax credit for the new acid plant capitalised in 2007 and for the
granulation plant investment capitalised in 2009 up to the sum of THUF 6,100,178 and THUF 2,370,000,
respectively. The amount of the development tax credit that can be used in the given year is 80% of the
corporale tax payable. The credit may be used in the year of capitalisation and in the 9 subsequent fiscal years
(2007-2016 and 2009-2018), provided that in the four fiscal years after the tax credit was first used (2008-2011)
the annual wage cost accounted at the Company exceeds the annual wage cost of the fiscal year prior to the
start of the development by at least three times the minimum wage calculated for the fiscal year as of the first
day of the fiscal year. In 2008 (and 2007) the Company met this criterion, and so a tax credit of THUF 243,458
was used in 2008 (and THUF 204,640 in 2007).

In 2009 the Company did not use tax credit based on Sections 28 and 145{4) of Act CXVI of 2009, and declared
that the 2009 wage cost did not decrease below the wage cost in the fiscal year preceding the start of the
project.

Subsequent events related to investment tax credits are presented in Note 33.

The Group disbursed loan to related parties in HUF. As at 31 December 2009 loans amounting to THUF 274,336
bear no interest and loans amounting to THUF 834,313 are interest-bearing loans. This item also includes loans
to senior officers, which are disbursed in HUF and bear interest. The interest equals the prevailing central bank
baserate + 5%. See Note 34.

Loans disbursed are unsecured.

No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.

Debt securities include discounted treasury bills.
On 17 July 2009 the general meeting of Nitrogenmivek Zrt. decided to issue registered ordinary shares. The

shares were subscribed by existing owners in proportion to their holding. The issuance value of the shares has
not been paid by the reporting date. See Note 12.
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9.  OTHER RECEIVABLES

Description 2009 2008
Judgetary support due 58 0
Advances paid to suppliers of investment projects 4,057 0
Advances on stocks 302,167 4,016
- of which related: 37,351 4,016
Prepayments on services 6,282 10,455
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 338,693 140,857
tParxe(ie;ld and reclaimable taxes and duties (except for income 631474 1237277
Receivables from self-governments 12,200 1.977
Receivables from employees 3,141 4,799
Interest and penalties receivable 268,370 0
Other receivables 256,830 5,667
Total 1,823,878 1,405,048

Advances on stocks include the amount paid in advance on the grounds of natural gas purchase
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income typically include items which will be accounted as costs only in the
next period when actually occurred.

Prepaid and reclaimable taxes and duties comprise reclaimable VAT included in suppliers' invoices and on
continuous services, reclaimable energy tax and receivables from the Customs and Finance Guard; these items
were settled in the year following the reporting year.

Deferred interest income include penalties and default interest receivable from the granulation plant general
contractor, Prochem s.a. The item was settled in 2010 Q1.

Other receivables include THUF 223,128 paid in connection with the contract concluded with RB. Kereskedéhaz
KFt.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Description 2009 2008

Cash 10,202 6,117
Bank deposits 994,158 881,332
Short-term fixed deposits 3,292,612 158,344
Total 4,296,972 1,645,793

The Group had no cash equivalets as at 31 December 2008 and 2009.
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11.  ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

The assets held for sale contain the property, plant and equipment of the old, decommissioned acid plant

After the capitalisation of the new acid plant the Group decided to close the old Russian (2C) and Japanese (3C)
acid plants and shut down the production there. The plants were reclassified as of 30 October 2007 under assels
held for sale. The Company also decided to sell the assets and the related components if a suitable bid was
received.

A contract was signed on 14 May 2008 between the Company and MAINEX LLC Louisville, KY, USA to sell the
2C acid plant for USD 2,350,000.

Due to non-performance of the contract by MAINEX LLC the Company cancelled it on 17 December 2008,

The amount specified in the contract was transferred by MAINEX LLC as an advance payment in late 2008 and
early 2009.

MAINEX LLC contested the cancellation in August 2009 at the Court of Arbitration; no decision has yet been
made.

The Company received an offer from QJSC *Nevinnomyssky Azot’, a firm in Russia, as a result of which a
purchase contract was signed between the companies on 6 October 2008 for USD 11.6 million. The plans are
currently being dismantled and the contract is being executed.

Description Net value of asset Net value of asset
P 2009 2008.
Acid plants 79,908 79,908
Total 79,908 79,908
Equity
12. SHARE CAPITAL
Composition of share capital:
31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Description i
P Number Nominal value  Number Nominal
value
Tibor Laszlo Bige 4,370 1,442,100 1,520 501,600
foltén Bige 230 75,900 80 26,400
Balance of share capital 4,600 1,518,000 1,600 528,000

The Company has only ordinary shares with a face value of THUF 330 each.

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and have one vote per share at the
Company's general meeting.

On 17 July 2009 the general meeting decided to issue 3,000 registered ordinary shares with face value of THUF
330 each at issuance value of THUF 330 per share. The shares were subscribed by existing owners in
proportion to their holding. The issuance value of the shares has not been paid by the reporting date.
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13. TRANSLATION RESERVE

Translation reserve includes all exchange differences arisen from 1 January 2007 from translating the financial
statements of foreign operations.

14.  RETAINED EARNINGS

The following amounts cannot be distributed as dividends from the retained earnings in the given financial year:

Financial year Amount
2008 503,454
2009 1,000,000

In 2009 THUF 168,060 other capital contribution received from a related party in the form of interest assumed
was booked as increase in retained earnings.

Dividends

The Group paid no dividends in 2008 and 2009.
As al the reporting date there were no approved but unpaid dividends.
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15.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Interest rates: 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate/3 reference rate+ 0.5-4% interest margin.

Terms and conditions of existing loans and borrowings:

Loans as at 31 December 2008

] . Balance Long-term  Short-term
Bal
Financial Type of loan 31.12.2008  Currency alance portion portion
institution
(Thousand) THUF THUF THUF
14,878,92
MFB-OTP investment loan 56,194 EUR 210,104,663 4,774,258
K&H Bank German carbon aid | 3,745 HUF 3,745 0 3,745
K&H Bank German carbon aid Il 39,436 HUF 39,437 6,105 33,332
K&H Bank current asset loan 2,155 ushD 517,688 0 517,638
multicurrency overdraft
Commerzbank facility 4,702,011 HUF 4,702,011 2,944,444 1,757,567
multicurrency
UniCredit Bank multipurpose credit facility 6,471 ushD 1,215,911 0 1,215,911
multicurrency
UniCredit Bank multipurpose credit facility 16 EUR 4154 0 4,154
long-term multicurrency
Budapest Bank current asset loan 6,500 EUR 1,721,070 1,475,619 245,451
multicurrency revolving
Budapest Bank loan agreement 1,500 EUR 397,170 0 397170
RB Kereskeddhaz  trading house 803,186 HUF 803,186 0 803,186
RB Kereskeddhaz  trading house 216,700 HUF 216,700 0 216,700
CIB Kereskeddhaz  trading house 4,579,152 0 4579152
OTP Bank Nyrt current asset loan 200,000 HUF 200,000 0 200,000
OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan 94,935 HUF 94,935 45,000 49,935
CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 238 HUF 238 0 738
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 986 HUF 986 539 447
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 962 HUF 962 564 399
Total long-term loans 14,576,934
Total short-term loans 14,799,333
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NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest rates: 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate/3 reference rate+ 1.5-4% interest margin.

Loans as at 31 December 2009

. . Balance Long-term  Short-term
Bal
Ilr:lls‘:latrsl(l:lgrl] Type of loan Coel‘lle;ter 31.12.2009 Currency afance portion portion
(Thousand) THUF THUF THUF
MFB current asset loan (i) 9,624,392  HUF 9,624,392 9,624,392 0
MFB investment loan (i) 42,685 EUR 11,660,927 9,246,521 2,314,406
K&H Bank German carbon aid Il (i) 6,104  HUF 6,104 0 6,104
multicurrency
multipurpose credit
UniCredit Bank facility (iv) 810,372  HUF 810,372 0 810,372
multicurrency
Commerzbank overdraft facility v 2,942,691  HUF 2,942,691 177,779 1,764,912
long-term
multicurrency current
Budapest Bank asset loan (vi) 5882 EUR 1,593,081 1,509,391 83,690
multicurrency
revolving loan
Budapest Bank agreement (vii) 1,500 EUR 406,260 0 406,260
OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan (viii) 45,000  HUF 45,000 0 45,000
warehouse warrant
CIB Bank Zrt. coverage loan (ix) 2,184,046 HUF 2,184,046 2,184,046
RB Keresked6haz
Kit. trading house 135112 HUF 135,112 0 135112
RB Kereskeddhaz
Kit. trading house 32,232 HUF 32,232 0 32,232
CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 3,330 HUF 3,330 2,128 602
Merkantil Bank vehicle loan 3,195 HUF 3,195 2,017 1,178
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 539  HUF 539 44 495
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 526 HUF 526 85 441
Total long-term loans 21,562,957
Total short-term loans 8,384,850
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15.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest rates: 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate/3 reference rate+ 0.5-4% interest margin.

(@)

Loan collateral

Collateral for loans drawn by the Group:

U

Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zt. (MFB)

Collateral for THUF 10,000,000 loan comract for working capital financing.

M

Mortgage up to THUF 10,000,000 on the new acid plant, the new granulation and packaging plant, the new
cooling tower, ammonia plant, urea plant and the fertiliser plant, all wholly owned by the company, and the
movable property contained thereon/in up to THUF 10,000,000.

Unconditional payment guarantee from the Hungarian state up to 80% of the THUF 10,000,000 loan and
related charges.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zt. (MFB)

Collateral for EUR 52,000,000 investment loan contract

(i)

W)

v)

Mortgage up to FUR 52,000,000 on the new acid plant, the new granulation and packaging plant, the new
cooling tower, the ammonia plant, urea plant and the fertiliser plant, all wholly owned by the company, and
the movable property contained thereonfin up to EUR 52,000,000,

Unconditional payment guarantee from the Hungarian state up to 80% of the EUR 52,000,000 loan and
related charges based on point 1 of Government Resolution 1086/2008 (XII.20) on the unconditional
payment guarantees of the state for the credits of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

Kereskedelmi és Hiielbank Nyr.

Collateral for THUF 64,435 investment/development loan contract (K&H Bank "German Carbon Aid" loan
agreement)

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

Collateral assignment contract between Kereskedelmi és Hitelbank Nyrt. and the Company in relation to the
carbon aid loans.

UniCredit Bank Zit.

Collateral for multi-purpose credit facility up to THUF 2,000,000

General mortgage up to THUF 2,400,000 on the properties wholly owned by the Company in Pétfurds, land
register no. 2361/73 and in Pétfurdé land register no. 2361/74, and the movable property contained
thereon/in up to THUF 2,400,000.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Commerzbank Z1t.

Collateral for current account overdraft facility up to THUF 5,300,000

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts
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15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Loan collateral (continued)

(vi) Budapest Bank Nyrt.

Collateral for long-term multi-currency working capital credit facility of EUR 6,500,000
(Long-term multi-currency working capital loan of Budapest Bank)

General mortgage of THUF 3,000,000 on one of the company's properties.
Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

(vi)  Budapest Bank Nyri.

Collateral for a EUR 1,500,000 multi-currency revolving credit facility
{Budapest Bank multi-currency revolving credit facility)

Assignment to the bank from the Company's existing and future receivables vis-a-vis Fertilia Kft. up to an
amount of sales revenue in proportion to the credit.
Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

(vii)  OTP Bank Nyr. invesiment loan collateral

mortgage on machinery to be purchased from the loan, up to the amount of the loan and related charges
mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén 7sék Kft. up to a loan amount of THUF
225,000 and related charges

right to make instant collections from the bank accounts of Péti Polietilén Zsék Kft.

third-ranked mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén Zsak Kft up to the bank
guarantee value of THUF 180,000

(ix) CIB Bank /.

loan contract of THUF 3,300,000 to cover warehouse wairants
Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.
Call option agreement for warehouse warrants serving as collateral for the contract.
Security interest on docket part of warehouse warrants serving as collateral.

Security interest account.

(x) Raiffeisen Bank Zrt.

bank guarantee of EUR 3,165,672
Based on the lien coniract related to the bank guarantee agreement, Nitrogénmivek Zrt. registered a lien for the
bank on all current and fuiure receivables derived from the 2,000,000 carbon dioxide emission uniis (giota)

purchase agreement concluded on 14 July 2005 between Nifrogénmivek Zrt. and Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts over the term of the contract.

15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
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(b)  Breach of loan covenants
The Group complied with loan covenants in all cases.
()  Finance leases

The following table details finance lease obligations:

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Minimum Present value of .
Minimum lease

Present value of

Description lease Interest  finance lease Interest finance lease
- payments e
payments obligations obligations
Due within 1 year 56520 14,247 273 19,783 1,491 18,292
Due within 1-5 years 125249 14711 110,538 16,687 322 16,365
Due over 5 years 0 a 0 0 0 0
Present value of
finance lease
obligations 181,769 28,958 152,811 36,410 1,813 34,657
16. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Description 2009 2008
Long-term liabilities from contracts 542,933 518,379
QOther non-current financial liabilities 107,681 15,262
Total 650,614 533,641

Long-term liabilities from confracts include gas bill payment liability to BOTHLI TRADE AG due in 20174
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17.  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2009 2008
Deferred income 1,743,611 5,669,240
Qther non-current liabilities 511,888 958,507
Total 8,255,499 6,621,741

Deferred income includes the amount due to investment tax credit (see Note 8), which were accounted as
government grant relating to assets. The amount is recognised over the average useful life of the assets (24
years) in the profit for the period starting from the capitalisation of the related investment projects. See Note 1.

Other non-current liabilities include the portion to be accounted in years 2011-2013 in an amount of THUF

511,888 from the advance payment transferred based on a contract concluded with Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH (KPC) for the sale of N2O emission reduction units produced in the period 2009-2012 at NZRt.

18. TRADE PAYABLES

Description 2009 2008
Trade payables 2,854,175 5,101,448
- of which to related parties: 338,511 822,328
Total trade payables 2,854,115 5,101,448

19. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVES

Description 2009 2008
Qther financial liabilities 216,659 117,764
Total 216,659 117,164
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20. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2009 2008

Budgetary support received ' 49,000 0
Deferred income 407,153 518,017
Advances from customers 8,034,451 6,950,221
- of which related 52,811

laxes and duties payable (except for income taxes) 1,869,699 885,597
Liabilities to self-governments 4570 175,700
Liabilities to employees 134,775 1,069,654
Liabilities to Magyar Szénhidrogén Készletezd Szovetség (Mszksz) 207,913 0
Rentals and other fees received in advance 3940 3814
Accrued costs 98,301 228,219
Other current liabilities 1,593 3,137
Total 10,811,401 9,825,020

Deferred income includes the partion of deferred income connected to investment tax credit which has not yet
been accounted in the profit or loss for the period. Deferred income is released in proportion to depreciation. In
2009 THUF 274,005 was released (2008: THUF 196,868). See Note 8.

Liabilities to employees comprise wages and related contributions.
Advances from customers include normal advances from customers as well as amounts received in relation to
storage contracts concluded with third parties. These are amounts which were received from customers but do

not qualify for revenue accounting.

Fee payment liabilities to Magyar Szénhidrogen Készletez6 Szévetség include the amount booked among other
expenses but financially not settled.

21.  PROVISIONS

Early retirement .
Environmen

Description Egl:;;:" pfe ?2?&2?:1 tal Litigation Other Total
benefits protection
Balance at 31 December 2007 4,912 33,363 50,000 0 2,250 90,525
Allocation 106,377 15,112 0 224,000 345,489
Use 0 -33,363 0 2250 -35,613
Balance at 31 December 2008 111,289 15,112 50,000 0 224,000 400,401
Allocation 0 0 0 326,000 0 326,000
Use 0 15112 -10,000 0 60,000 85,112
Balance at 31 December 2009 111,289 0 40,000 326,000 164,000 641,289
Short-term portion 2008 111,289 15112 0 0 60,000 186,401
L.ong-term portion 2008 0 0 50,000 0 164,000 214,000
Short-term portion 2009 111,289 0 0 326,000 164,000 601,289
Long-term portion 2009 0 0 40,000 0 0 40,000
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21.  PROVISIONS (continued)

Emission quolas

The Group allocated provisions for its obligation to deliver carbon dioxide emission allowances.

See Note 3.

Environmental protection

The Group recorded provisions for the costs expected in connection with re-cultivating the waste dump
abandoned on the site of the production plants. The amount was updated based on latest data available.
Litigation

In 2009 the Group allocated THUF 24,000 provisions to cover its expected liabilities (interest) from the contract
concluded with MAINEX LLC (Kentucky, USA) for the sale of the Russian acid plants, and THUF 302,000 to
cover expected liabilities from the lawsuit launched by Shell Hungary Zrt. due to alleged breach by NZrt of the
gas purchase agreement.

Other

The provision for the bank guarantee used by the Company and contested by Prochem s.a. and for the
compensated penalty contested by CHEMOPROJEKT s.a. are recorded on these grounds in the respective

amounts of THUF 60,000 and THUF 164,000. The amount contested by Prochem s.a. (THUF 60,000) was
repaid in 2009 and the provision was released. The penalty issue is still not resolved.
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Z22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES
Recognised deferred tax assets and tax liabiliiies

Deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and accounted in profit or loss as at 31 December 2008 and 2009 comprises the following:

31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Tax asset Tax liability Net Tax asset Tax liability Net
Property, plant and equipment 18,375 1,605,247 -1,486,872 24,803 -923,884 -899,081
Emission allowances 0 -11,394 -11.,394 0 0 0
Trade receivables 20,410 0 20,410 68,826 0 68,826
Inventories 52,481 -582,864 -530,377 29,186 1,897,832 -1,868,646
Other assels 4,953 -20,632 -15,679 291,179 -165,982 131,197
Loans and borrowings 19,635 -11,366 51,131 1,119,807 0 1,119,807
Trade payables 192 -1 191 186 0 186
Other liabilities 904,545 43,212 861,273 1,623,738 -45,666 1,478,072
Provisions 121,845 0 121,845 36,658 -12,942 23,16
Derivative transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other items 0 0 0 0 0 0
Development tax allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tax loss carried forward 121,133 0 121,133 3,169 0 3,169
Tax assets (tax liabilities) 1,270,175 -2,240, 116 -970,601 3,103,552 - 3,046,306 51,246
Sweeping of accounts -1,198,511 1,198,511 0 -3,034,503 3,034,503 0
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) 11,664 -1,042,265 -970,601 69,049 - 11,803 51,246
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES (continued)
Recognised deferred lax assels and tax liabflities (continued)

Analysis of changes in net deferred tax assets and tax liahilities:

Opening Accounted Accounted bglla?:clzzgat Accounte  Accounted Closing balance
balance at 1 in profit or in other 31 d in profit in other at 31 December
January 2008 loss for comprehens or loss for comprehens 2009
. AN December . AN
the period ive income 2008 the period  ive income

Property, plant and equipment 561,542 -337.539 0 -899,081 587,191 0 -1.486,872
Emission allowances 0 0 0 0 17,394 0 17,394
Trade receivables 85,021 -16,195 0 68,826 48,416 0 20,410
Inventories -348,310 -1,520,339 0 -1,868,649 1,338,269 0 530,377
Other assets 31,931 99,266 0 131,197 146,876 0 15,679
Loans and borrowings 63,878 1,183,685 0 1.119.807  -1,171,638 0 51,731
Trade payables 3.954 -3,768 0 186 5 0 191
Other liabilities 690,504 1,078,016 -290,445 1,478,075 616,799 0 861,273
Provisions 14,680 9,036 0 23,116 98,129 0 121,845
Tax loss carried forward 3872 6584 -19 3.169 124,843 219 127,733
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) -143,768 491,478 -290,464 67,246  -1,027,568 219 -970,601

Within derivative transactions THUF 290,445 was accounted in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges in 2007; in 2008 this amount was transferred to the profit or
loss for the period after the transactions were closed. As at 31 December 2009 there was not deferred tax booked in other comprehensive income.
Other amounts accounted in other comprehensive income derive from translation differences of deferred tax due to changes in exchange rates.
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23. REVENUE
Description 2009 2008
Sale of own products 34,298,323 40,508,280
Sale of goods 8,867,910 4,188,987
Sale of materials 840,616 2,577,990
Rendering of services 749,184 763,400
Other 0 2,808
Total 44,756,033 47,981,465
Composition of revenue by geographical regions:
Description 2009 2008

Hungary 28,988,362 30,820,295
ltaly 1,216,315 2,595,821
Austria 1,826,067 2,902 559
Slovakia 1,919,094 2,195,353
Czech Republic 3,802,289 2,558,995
Romania 790,585 293,131
Poland 1,618,764 0
Germany 2442 559 3,118,115
Josnia - Hercegovina 18,967 0
Slovenia 1,607,281 1,960,956
Croatia 9.354 4,154
Serbia 514,623 244,021
Other European countries 101,040 26,8471
Other CEE 143 18
Outside Europe 0 4]
Total 44,756,033 47,981,465
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24.  OTHER INCOME

Description 2009 2008

(Gain on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 9,501 13.032
Result from the sale of N:O emission reduction units. See Notes 3

and 1/. 1,454,114 4913
Reversal of impairment allocated on inventories 299 0
Release of provisions 85112 2,250
Grants received 324,179 229121
Default interest received 12,828 40,915
Damages 1,728 21,368
Penalties 488,021 24,101
Performance bank guarantee (Prochems.a.) 0 52,390
Free receipt of CO); emission quota 100,485 0
Release of accrual due to sale from STK inventory surplus 210,581 0
Other _ 150,974 15,980
Total 2,869,022 464,076

Grants received include release of deferred income due to investment tax credit.
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25. MATERIAL-TYPE EXPENSES

Description 2009 2008
Costs of raw and auxiliary materials 1,697,973 2,832,502
Costs of wire/pipeline energy 21,183,838 30,791,464
Costs of maintenance and other materials 454,007 489,164
Transportation costs 1,492,432 1,239,613
Maintenance costs 211,162 456,355
Keep-up costs 216,992 233,627
Security costs 118,719 117,377
Travel and accommodation costs, inland and abroad 14,865 48,030
Rentals and utilisation fees 149,187 58,125
Accounting and audit fees 25,856 21,573
Advisory and expert fees 15,454 134,625
Advertising costs 43,167 116,374
Bank charges 100,476 101,027
Insurance premiums 171172 141,494
Other services 691,176 467,225
Costs of goods sold (COGS) 3,152,190 2,923,198
Services sold (mediated) 53,966 139,969
Total 29,859,832 40,311,642
26. STAFF COSTS
Description 2009 2008
Wage cost 2452813 2,835,232
Other staff benefits 337,599 350,624
Wage contributions 812,443 982,761
Total 3,602,915 4,168,617
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2]. OTHER EXPENSES

Description 2009 2008

Loss on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 2,072 423
Use of CO: emission quotas 102,271 4913
Impairment on trade receivables 1402 12413
Impairment on inventories 202,06/ 41,13
Provisions 326,000 345,489
Scrapped and missing assets 16,700 208,428
MSZKSZ membership fee 404,711 15,594
[axes and contributions 410,303 695,989
Support given 1476 71,105
Damage 20478 18,079
Damages 23932 9,166
Default interest payable 81577 23,404
Self-revision and default charge 98,195 38,328
Self-revision items 11432 0
Other 51,109 28,631
Total | 1,825,720 | 1,575,681
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28. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income and finance costs recognised in profit or loss

Description 2009 2008
Interest income on loans and receivables 25,264 21,367
Interest income on bank deposits 288,481 266,546
Net exchange gain on FX items without forward exchange
transactions 1,666,049 2,453,563
Changes in fair value of and gain on forward exchange
transactions held for trading 0 94,321
Changes in fair value of ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 0 0
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables 200 1,626
Other finance income Total finance income 1,979,994 2,849,423
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost 3,088,477 2,027,466
Net exchange loss on FX items without forward exchange
transactions 2,628,223 2,602,419
Changes in fair value of and loss on forward exchange
transactions held for trading 0 4,205,510
Other finance costs 338 0
Total finance costs 5,717,038 8,835,455
Net finance costs 3,131,044 -5,986,032
Finance income and finance costs recognised in other comprehensive income
Description 2009 2008

Translation difference 1,580 -1
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 0 -1,166,525
Net changes in fa!r value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit 0 2 608,748
or loss for the period
Income tax on finance income and finance costs recognised in

o 0 -290,464
other comprehensive income
Finance income/costs recognised in other comprehensive 1,580 1,160,985

income, net of tax
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29. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group considers corporation tax and in Hungary special tax as income tax. The base for special tax differs
from the corporation tax base.

Income tax rates for the Company:

Description 2009 2008
Corporation tax 16% 16%
Special tax 4% 4%
Income tax rate 20% 20%

According to laws effective as at the reporting date, the corporation tax rate of the Company increases to 19% as
from 2010, while the 4% special tax will cease.

Income tax recognised in the profit or loss for the period in the consolidated annual report for the years ended 31
December 2008 and 2009 comprises the following:

Description 2009 2008
Current period income tax expense
Current period income tax expense 132,452 647,044
Previous years adjustments 34,750 0
Total current period income tax expense 167,202 647,044
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,027,568 -491,478
Total deferred tax expense 1,027,568 -491,478 ‘
Income tax 1,194,710 155,566

Reconciliation of income tax calculated based on accounting profit and current period income tax, as well as of
applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate is presented in the table below:

Description 2009 2008

Profit for the period 3,799,986 973,233
Income tax expense 1,194,770 155,566
Profit before income tax 4,994,756 1,078,799
Expected income tax calculated at the income tax rate of the

Company 20% 998,951 20% 215,760
Impact of tax rate in foreign countries 0% 4,371 0% 306
Impact of different tax rates 0% 66 0% 490
Impact of tax rate changes 3% 139,855 0% 1,394
Non-deductible expenses 2% 106,190 8% 86,165
Income exempt of tax -2% -100,708  -14% -148,529
Other items 0% 0 0% -20
Current year tax loss for which no deferred tax assets were

allocated 0% 8177 0% 0
Changes in unrecognised temporary differences 0% 2418 0% 0
Previous years adjustments 1% 34,750 0% 0
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Income tax 24% 1,194,710 14% 155,566

30. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group is exposed to the following risks derived from financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk {including currency and interest rate risk)

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for setting the risk management guidelines and
frameworks for the Group. His task is to design and set up a standard risk management policy and strategy, and
continuously monitor the risks to which the Company is exposed. The CEO is also responsible for regularly
reviewing risk management policies and strategies, as well as updating and modifying them if market
circumstances change.

Carrying amount of financial instruments of the Group by categories:

Description 3 Dzegggnber 3 Dzegggnber
Cash and cash equivalents 4,296,972 1,645,793
Loans granted 1,115,150 1,610,799
[Tade receivables 1,882,000 5034.811
Other financial assets ) 90718151 1322
Total loans and receivables 22,312,279 6,646,998
Holdings 11,879 120,249
Debt securities 220,743 0
Total available for sale financial assets 232627 120,249
| .oans and borrowings 29,947,801 29,316,267
Other non-current financial liabilities 650,614 533,641
Trade payables 2,854,175 5,101,448
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 216,659 117,764
Total other financial liabilities 33,669,255 35,129,120

There were no open derivatives at the reporting date in 2009.
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
{a)  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. From
the perspective of the Group this primarily means the non-payment risk of clients.

Trade receivables and other financial assets

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
However, the Group also considers the geographical position of its customer base, past experience, features of
agriculture, the seasonal nature of fertiliser use and the impact of the economic crisis on the Company's primary
customers. The Company monitors the payment abilities of its primary customers and any influencing factors.
The Group sets the payment conditions offered to individual customers based on provisional and if necessary ad-
hoc reviews of creditworthiness as well as the factors outlined above. The Group prescribes payment by letters of
credit for some export customers. As a result of the economic crisis which emerged in 2008 the Group introduced
sales with advance payments for both domestic and foreign customers.

In Hungary the Group primarily sells to a relatively low number of wholesalers.
Maximum value as at 31 December of assets exposed to credit risk is presented in the following table:

31 December 31 December

Description 2009 2008

Domestic trade receivables — wholesalers 5,603,538 2,843,560
Domestic trade receivables - other 925,837 1,937,184
Foreign trade receivables 1,352,625 254,133
Loans granted 1,115,150 1,610,799
Cash and cash equivalents 4,296,977 1,645,793
Other financial assets 9,078,157 1,322
Maximum value of assets exposed to credit risk

as at 31 December 22,312,219 8,292,791

16 wholesalers accounted for THUF 5,603,538 of domestic trade receivables as of 31 December 2009 (THUF
2,843,560 for 21 wholesalers as of 31 December 2008). In 2009 these customers generated sales revenue of
THUF 12,038,873 (THUF 16,683,539 in 2008), which is 45.80 % of domestic sales revenue (57.17% in 2008).
Collection policy

For trade receivables past their payment deadline the Group sends reminder letters to partners every fortnight,
who then have eight days to settle their debts. For accounts not settled, payment by transfer is prohibited and
goods may only be sold going forward with cash payments. After the third reminder letter the collection is
enforced through legal channels.

Default interest

Letters confirming default interest are sent to our debtors every quarter.
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30. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Rating and impairment of receivables

The receivables in the accounting records are rated per debtor - based on the maturity date of the receivable, the
willingness and ability of the debtor to pay, and past experience of the debtor. During the rating process,
impairment is recorded on overdue and doubtful receivables with due consideration of their recoverability.

The Group's credit risk exposure is reflected by the carrying value of the financial assets.

The impairment recorded on trade receivables is presented in the following tables broken down by maturity and

the reporting year changes to impairment. There are no matured receivables under loans and other financial
receivables, and so no impairment is recorded.

The following table shows cost and impairment of trade receivables by maturity:

Description 31 December 2099 31 December 2098
Cost Impairment Cost Impairment
Not yet due 6,542,043 0 4,710 0
Between 1- 90 days 1,003,094 5318 266,262 0
Between 91 - 180 days 30,255 251 39,231 3.219
Between 180 - 360 days 216,224 5231 8,293 2,919
Over 360 days 67,478 26,294 53,868 36,810
Total 1,919,094 37,094 5,077,825 42,948

Changes in impairment allocated on trade receivables:

Description 2009 2008
Opening balance at 1 January 42,948 11132
Current year impairment 1,402 12,413
Current year reversal 200 0
Derecognition of impairment 13,066 46,597
Balance of impairment at 31 December 37,094 42,948
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to settle its financial liabilities when they fall due. The
purpose of liquidity management is to ensure sufficient resources for the settlement of liabiliies when they fall
due.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group prescribes for its entities that they must maintain a strong liquidity position and shape the liquidity
profiles of their assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to ensure balanced cash flows and the settlement of all
liabilities when due.

In light of the demand for the Group's products and the seasonality of the agricultural sector the Group really has
to focus on ensuring continuous liquidity. Adequate liquidity is ensured by aligning sales prices to demand, using
prepaid sales as well as short-term working capital loans and overdraft facilities secured by goods.

As of 31 December 2008 the Group had an unused credit facility of THUF 789,034, As of 31 December 2009 the
Group had no current account credit facility due to changes in its loan structure.
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30. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(b) Liguidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities by maturity (principal and interest cash flows):

Descriti Carrying Contractual cash Between (- Between6- Between1- Between 2- Over 5
escription

amount flows 6 months 12 months 2 years 5 years years
31 December 2008
Non-derivative financial liabilities 35,129,120 41,396,117 16,286,696 2,780,001 6,500,895 9,046,496 6,782,029
Loans and borrowings 29,316,267 35,506,347 11075526 2,770,630 6485296 9046496 6,128,399
Other non-current financial liabilities 533,641 669,229 0 4] 15,599 0 653,630
Trade payables 5,101,448 5,101,448 5,101,448 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabiliies 117,164 119,093 109,722 9,371 0 0 0
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

b Liguidity risk (contintied)

_— . Contractual Between 0- Between Between 1-2  Between 2- Over 5
Description Carrying amount  cash flows 6-12
6 months years 5 years years
total months
31 December 2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities 33,791,694 31,328,319 9,786,635 2,945,008 5,092,122 19,699,479 173,936
Loans and borrowings 29,947,807 33,825,067 6,614,480 2,909,962 5018946 19,107,743 173,936
Other non-current financial liabilities 650,614 664,912 0 0 13,176 591,736 0
Trade payables 2,838,400 2,838,400 2,829,073 9,327 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 354,873 0 343,082 25,19 0 0 0

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2009.

The above tables present the undiscounted cash flows of the Groups financial liabilities according to their earliest possible maturity. The gross nominal outflow reflects the
undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities.

F-122



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2009
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

{c) Marketrisk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will
affect the Group's results and the fair values of financial instruments reported in the financial statements. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures while optimising the return.
The Company's finance department focuses on market risk management.

In terms of market risk the Group is primarily exposed to currency risks as well as cash-flow risks derived from
changes to interest rates.

Currency risk
The foreign currency risk is derived partly from the Company's foreign currency positions (foreign currency
income, foreign currency loans, foreign currency liabilities, including foreign currency contractual liabilities that are

payable in forints) and FCY ftransactions covering these pasitions, and partly from other FCY transactions
concluded by the finance department.

The Group's exposure by currencies:

At 31 December 2008:

Description EUR usb Other

Loans granted 436,691 0 0
Trade receivables 1,489,473 0 50
Cash and cash equivalents 750,841 1421 0
Total loans and receivables 2,677,006 1,421 50
Holdings 10,049

Total available for sale financial assets 10,049

Loans and borrowings 17,001,316 1,733,599 0
Other non-current financial liabilities 0 518,292 0
Trade payables 808,613 2.813.221 217
Total other financial liabilities 17,809,929 5,065,113 217
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
© Market risk {continued)

At 31 December 2009:

Description EUR usb Other

loans granted 2,897 0 0
Trade receivables 2125128 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents . 825415 198,310 5
Total loans and receivables 2,953,440 198,310 54
Holdings ) 10,279 0

Total available for sale financial assets 10,279 0 0
Loans and horrowings 13,560,268 0 0
Other non-current financial liabilities 0 547,933 0
[rade payables . 661,999 0 92
Total other financial liabilities 14,242,266.6 542,932.5 92

The risk derived from the exposure to currency risks is countered by the Company by means of forward
transactions in accordance with the risk management guidelines set forth in internal procedures. The Company
uses hedge accounting to deal with the effect on profit or loss of fluctuations in the exchange rate.

The Group applied the following significant exchange rates expressed in HUF

Spot exchange rate at the

Average rate reporting date

Currency 2009 2008 2009 2008

TEUR = 280.58 251.25 210.84 264.78
1CHF = 185.82 158.5 182.34 177.78
1TRON = 66.19 68.23 63.94 66.11
1RSD = 2.99 3.09 2.83 2.95
1USD = 202.26 171.80 188.07 187.91
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30. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
© Market risk (continued)
Analysis of exchange-rale sensitivity

The appreciation in the HUF around the reporting date would have increased or decreased equity and profit vis-a-
vis the following currencies as shown in the following table. The analysis was based on exchange rate changes
deemed reasonably possible by the Group on the reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other variables
remain constant, including interest rates. The analysis is based on the same principles as for comparative data,
with the exception of the exchange rate fluctuation deemed reasonably possible, which is different, as
demonstrated in the table below.

2009 2008
Currency Rate of Rate of
strengthening Equity Result strengthening Equity Result
(%) (%)
HUF/EUR 16 2,782,991 2,782,891 15 2268431 2,268,431
HUF/USD 24 321,913 321913 23 1,163,268 1,163,268

The table shows the impact on equity and profit or loss of an appreciation in the HUF against the given
foreign currencies.

If the HUF were to weaken as of the reporting date against the currencies above, this would have the same but
opposing effect on equity and profit or loss, provided that all other variables remain constant.

In the table above, the change in profit or loss is also included in the amount of the change in equity.
Interest risk

Interest rate risk is derived from the changes in the interest rates on the Group's interest-bearing assets and
drawn loans.
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30. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
© Market risk (continued)

Interest rate structure of the interest-bearing financial instruments of the Group as at the reporting date:

Description 2009 2008

Fixed-interest instruments

Financial assets 4,529,033 1,655,062
Financial liabilities 559,525 551,933
Total carrying amount 5,088,558 2,206,995
Floating-rate instruments

Financial assets 843,313 885,273
Financial liabilities 30,079,631 29,376,261
Total carrying amount 30,922,944 30,261,540

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate financial instiuments

The Group generally does not have fixed rate financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, nor did it conclude interest rate swaps for hedging purposes. Therefore a change in the
interestrate as at the reporting date would not affect the Company's equity and profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments
The following increases in interest rates as of the reporting date would have increased equity and profit or loss as

shown in the table below. This analysis assumed that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant.

2009 2008
- Increase Increase
D t
escriplion {basis Equity Result (basis Equity Result
paint) point)
(F'llcija%ng-rate instruments 104 150,586 150,586 347 100,066 100,066
(FLIJoSaS;gfrate instruments 14 3576 3576 89 17.702 17,702
(FE"EfS;Q’fa‘e instruments 11 20511 20671 3% 76281 76,284
(nI:tsh flow sensitivity, 174,673 174,673 194,052 194,052

A fall in the interest rate as of the reporting date would have the same but opposing effect on equity and profit or
loss, provided that all other variables remain constant.
In the table above, the change in profit or loss is also included in the amount of the change in equity.
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(d)  Fair value of financial instruments

The following table presents fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments:

Description Note 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Canying Fair value Carrying Fairvalue
amount amount
Loans granted 1,115,150 1,115,150 1,610,799 1,610,799
[rade receivables 1,882,000 1,882,000 5,034 871 5,034,811
Other financial assets 9,078,157 9,078,157 1,322 1.322
Cash and cash equivalents 4,296,977 4,296,977 1,645,793 1,645,793
Total loans and receivables 22,312,219 22,312,219 8,292,191 8,292,791
Holdings 11,879 11,879 120,249 120,249
Debt securities 220,743 220,743 0 0
Total available for sale financial
assets 232,622 232,622 120,249 120,249
Loans and borrowings 29947807 29947807 29,376,267 29,376,267
Other non-current financial liabilities 650,614 650,614 533,61 533,641
Trade payables 2,854,175 2,854,175 5,101,448 5,101,448
Qther financial liabilities and derivatives 216,659 216,659 117,764 117,764
Total other financial liabilities 33,669,265 33,669,265 35,129,120 35,129,120
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(d)  Fair value of financial instruments){continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels of
the fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:
- lLevel 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

31 December 2009 31 December 2008
Description
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total available for sale financial

0 232,622 0 0 120,249 0
assets
Financial assets from derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total carrying amount 0 232622 0 0 120,249 0

There were no reclassification among levels in the above periods.

(e)  Capital management

The Group aims to establish a strong equity position to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and the
market and support the future development of its business activities. The management constantly monitors the
yields achieved, which are the operating profit, profit before tax and the debt service indicator. The management
also monitors the registered capitalfequity ratios of the Company and the subsidiaries to ensure they comply with
statutory levels.

Debt service indicator:

(Profit after tax in reporting year - dividend + reporting year depreciation + reporting year interest on long-term
liability + reporting year interest on member loan) / (next year's repayment instalment of long-term liability and
member loan + reporting year interest of long-term liability)

The debt service indicator is calculated based on the figures in the Company's separate Hungarian financial
statements and the Company's bank loan agreements.
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30.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(e)  Capital management (continued)

Operating profit of the Company for 2009 in the annual report prepared in accordance with Hungarian accounting
rules amounted to THUF 3,407,052, (in 2008 THUF 16,334,957), profit before taxation in 2009 amounted to
THUF 1,730,068 (in 2008 THUF 7,679,167).

Debt service indicator in 2009 0.75 (in 2008 1.2)

When managing its capital the Group strives towards achieving a balance between the highest possible profit,
dividend and liabilities as well as a strong equity position.

The Group aims to keep the debt service ratio at the level permitted by the loan agreements.

Withdrawing dividends is subject to a debt service ratio of at least 1.3.

Legal regulations applicable for the Company and its Hungarian subsidiaries prescribe the following provisions for
equity:

To protect creditors, the Business Associations Act prescribes the following in terms of equity compliance: "If,
according to the annual report prepared pursuant to the Accounting Act, a business association does not have
sufficient equity to cover the share capital prescribed for its form of business association over two consecutive
financial years, and the members (shareholders) of the business association fail to provide for the necessary
equity within a period of three months after approval of the annual report prepared pursuant to the Accounting Act
for the second year, the business association shall be required to adopt a decision within sixty days of this
deadline on restructuring the enterprise into a different form of business association, or for its termination without
legal succession”

Serbian laws do not contain any restrictive sanctions with regard to the Serbian subsidiaries.

All of the Group members complied with the capital requirements above as of 31 December 2008 and 31
December 2009.

31. OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases with the Group as lessee

The amount of minimum lease payments in connection with non-cancellable operative lease obligations was zero
both in 2008 and 2009,

Operating leases with the Group as lessor

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Description 2009 2008

Due within 1 year 24,264 35,593

Total 24,264 35,593
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31.  OPERATING LEASES (continued)

Operating leases relate to temporary lease of parts of property and other equipment not used for own purposes.

32. CONTINGENT RECEIVABLES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Guaraniee

The Company provided guarantees as follows:

to Koronds Szarvas Kft. for the THUF 60,000 working capital loan and related charges as provided by
Pilisvérosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative, an agent of the Hungarian Development Bank, with
Pilisvorosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative as the beneficiary.
to Laszlo Tibor Bige for the repayment of the THUF 350,000 loan disbursed by Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. and
related charges, with Raiffeisen Bank /Zrt. as the beneficiary.
Bige Holding Kft. as security for the THUF 900,000 warehouse warrant coverage loan provided by CIB Bank
yigs

Other contingent abilities

As of 31 December 2009 the Company's deferred tax payment liability totalled THUF 195,682. The collateral
for this is the properties in Pétfirdé under land register nos. 2361/15, 2361/17, 2361/81, 2361/83, 2361/84,
2361/85, 2361/87 and 2361/88. The Company settled this liability on 30 June 2010.

Litigation
The Company recorded provisions for litigation up to the level of any expected payments. (See Note 21.)
As of the reporting date the Group had the following pending litigation:

Nitrogénmuvek Zrt. as the claimant launched an action on 14 July 2008 at the Court of Arbitration of the
Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry against EMFESZ Elsé Magyar Fdéldgaz-
Energiakereskedelmi és Szolgéltato Kft., the respondent.

EMFES/ Kft. launched an action against Nitrogénmdvek Zrt. to have the gas supply agreement concluded on
19 January 2005 terminated as of 1 July 2008.

Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. as the claimant launched an action at the Court of Arbitration of the Hungarian Chamber
of Commerce and Industry against Bothli-Trade AG, the respondent.
In its decision adopted on 12 April 2010 the Court of Arbitration of the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and
Industry found in favour of Nitrogénmdvek Zrt., the claimant.
In this decision the Court of Arbitration ordered the respondent Bothli-Trade AG to pay compensation of THUF
125,000 + interest.

On 14 October 2009 Shell Hungary Zrt. launched an action at the Court of Arbitration of the Hungarian
Chamber of Commerce and Industry against Nitrogénmvek Zrt.

Nitrogénmuvek Zrt., the claimant, launched an action against OTP Bank Nyrt., the respondent, for the
payment of compensation.
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MAINEX LLC (Kentucky, USA) launched an action against Nitrogénmdvek Zrt. at the Court of Arbitration of
the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry.

Chemoprojekt a.s. launched an action against Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. at the Vienna Court of Arbitration.

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Evenis refaied to investment tax credits

In 2009 the Company availed itself of the option provided in Sections 28 and 145 (4) of Act CXVI of 2009 in view
of the economic crisis. Together with its 2009 tax return it submitted a report on the use of development tax
credits, according to which the Company did not use development tax credits in 2009, while the 2009 wage cost
did not fall below the wage cost in the tax year prior to the commencement of the development.

This report means the deadlines for using development tax credits are extended by one year (until 2017 and
2019). See Note 8.

Deferring is also possible in 2010.

Other evenis

Despite the agricultural problems caused by the inclement weather the seasonal demand for the Company's
products was normal, peaking in February and March.

The 2009 N2O emission units were approved and the relevant part of the contract with Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH (KPC) - 717,412 units - was fulffilled.

The acid plant units for sale are being dismantled and prepared for delivery.
The Court of Arbitration at the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry found in favour of Nitrogénmvek
Zrtin the Bothli-Trade AG legal action. In this decision the Court of Arbitration ordered the respondent Bothli-

Trade AG to pay compensation of THUF 125,000 + interest. There were no significant changes in the other
cases.
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This is an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2008 Consolidated Financial Statements of Nitrogénmivek
Zrt. issued in Hungarian. If there are any differences, the Hungarian language original prevails. This report should be read in
conjunction with the complete Consolidated Financial Statements it refers to.

Independent Auditors” Report
To the sharcholders of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nitrogénmivek Zrt. (“the Company”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2008, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud
or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KPMG Hungaria Kft., a Hungarian limited liability company and

a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member

firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.
Company registration: Budapest, Févarosi Birésag, no: 01-08-063183
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This is an English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report on the 2008 Consolidated Financial Statements of Nitrogénmivek
Zrt, issued in Hungarian. If there are any differences, the Hungarian language original prevails, This report should be read in
conjunction with the complete Consolidated Financial Staternents it refers to.

Opinion

In our opinion. the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. as at 31 December 2008, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by EU.

Budapest, 29 June 2010
KPMG Hungéria Kft.

Laszlo Kajtar

Laszlé Kajtar

Partner, Registered Auditor
Identification number: 000269
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Pétfiirdé, 29 June 2010

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Description Note 31 December 31 December 1 January
P 2008 2007 2007

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4)) 30,082,260 30,375,504 23,902,397
Intangible assets 2 203,740 201,928 203,729
Emission allowances 3 0 0 103,824
Investments ) 178,310 1,216,702 213,577
Other non-current assets 5) 22,108 3.129 49,079
Deferred tax assets (25) 69,049 42,360 48,637
Total non-ctirrent assets 30,555,467 31,839,643 24,521,243
Current assets
Inventories (6) 14,317,478 7,785,261 8,069,912
Emission allowances 3 0 4,912 83,783
Current tax assets (3n 590,164 623,619 13,052
Trade receivables 7 5,034,877 5,630,322 4,563,627
Other financial assets and derivatives (8) 1,206,140 6,844,805 2,028,659
Other receivables (9 1,405,048 1,077,856 242240
Cash and cash equivalents (10) 1,645,793 4,015,467 1,587,612
Assets classified as held for sale (1mn 19,908 79,908 0
Total current assels 30,279,408 26,062,144 18,769,046
TOTAL ASSETS 60,834,875 57,901,787 43,290,289

Pétfirds, 29 June 2010

Dr. Istvan Blazsek

Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

Description

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital

Translation reserve

Hedging reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Total equity
Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings

Other non-current payables
Cther non-current liabilities
Provisions

Deferred tax liability

Total non-current labilities

Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings

Current tax liabilities

Trade payables

Cther financial liabilities and derivatives
Cther current liabilities

Provisions

Total current habilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Petfirdo, 29 June 2010

Note

—— e —
N N
O N Fa NS
L2
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31 December 31 December 1 January
2008 2007 2007
528,000 528,000 528,000
-844 51 0
Q -1,161,778 0
8,124,102 1,200,670 8,325,511
8,651,258 6,567,041 8,853,511
8,651,258 6,567,041 8,853,611
14,576,934 18,406,605 16,514,265
533.641 494,876 484,087
6,621,141 6,772,342 931,570
214,000 50,000 85,613
11,803 186,148 335,999
21,964,125 25,909,971 17,357,634
14,799,333 9,113,250 9.414,058
189,526 8,720 55,713
5,101,448 4,556,876 4,162,135
117,764 5,809,353 623,663
9,825,020 5,836,051 2,751,132
186,401 40,525 16,543
30,219,492 25,424,775 17,079,244
60,834,815 57,901,781 43,290,289

Dr. Istvan Blazsek

Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Description
Revenue
Other income
Total operating income
Material-type expenses
Staff costs
Depreciation and impairment
Other expenses
Changes in self-manufactured stocks
Capitalised value of self-manufactured assets
Total operating expenses

Results from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance losses/gains

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Translation difference

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow
hedges

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred
to profit or loss

Income tax on other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Pétfurdo, 29 June 2010
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2008 2007
47,981,465 16,259,660
464,076 1,097,890
48 445,950 47.357,550
40,311,642 33,338,909
4,168,617 4,161,086
1,372,337 811,650
1,575,681 1,368,781
5,980,068 1,393,293
67,498 521,830
41,380,711 40,551,889
7,064,830 6,805,661
2,849,423 1,196,490
8,835,455 6,824,092
-5,986,032 5,621,602
1,078,798 1,178,059
155,566 445,300
923,237 731,759
T1 51
1,156,625 2,147,085
2,608,748 694,842
-290,464 290,445
1,160,985 41,161,829
2,084,217 -430,070
923,232 731,759
2,084,217 430,070

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note Eaui Share Translation Hedging Revaluation Fair value Retained Total cor'::]clu}iin Total equi

quity capital reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings inter eslg quity
Balance at 1 January 2007 528,000 0 0 0 0 8325511 8853511 0 8,853,511
Profit for the period 0 0 0 0 0 731,759 131,759 0 131,759
Other comprehensive income 0
Translation difference 0 -51 0 0 0 0 -51 0 -51
Effective portion of changes in fair (24), 0 0 -1,856,620 0 0 0 -1,856,620 0 -1.856,620
value of cash flow hedges, net of tax {30
Net change in fair value of cash flow (24), 0 0 694,842 0 0 0 694,842 0 694,842
hedges transferred to profit or loss, net (30
of tax
Net change in fair value of available- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
for-sale financial assets, net of tax
Net change in fair value of available- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
for-sale financial assets ransferred o
profit or loss, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income [ -51 -1,161,778 0 [ 0 -1,161,829 0 -1,161,829
Total comprehensive income [ 51 1,161,778 0 [ 731,759 -430,070 0 -430,070
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Coniributions by and distributions to 0 0 0 0 0 -641 4000 641,400 0 641,400
owners
Issue of shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 -1,215,000 -1,215,000 0 -1,215,000
Totaf transactions with owners 0 0 0 0 0 -1,856,400 -1,856,400 0 -1,856,400

| Balance at 31 December 2007 | | 528,000 | 51 1161778 | o] 0 7200870 | 6,567,041 | 0] 6,567,041 |

Pétfirds, 29 June 2010
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note Equity Sha_re Translation Hedging Revaluation Fair value Rela?ned Total CDI”I\:fl;;hﬂg Total equity
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings interest
Balance at 1 January 2008 528.000 51 -1.161,778 0 0 1,200870 6.567.041 0 6,567,041
Profit for the period 0 0 0 0 0 923232 923.232 0 923.232
Other comprehensive income
Translation difference 0 -793 0 0 0 0 -793 0 -793
Effective portion of changes in fair (24), 0 0 -1,156,525 0 0 0 -1,156,525 0 -1,156,525
value of cash flow hedges, net of tax (30
Net change in fair value of cash flow (24), 0 0 2,318,303 0 0 0 2,318,303 0 2,318,303
hedges transferred to profit or loss, net (30)
of tax
Net change in fair value of available- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
for-sale financial assets, net of tax
Net change in fair value of available- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
for-sale financial assets ransferred to
profit or loss, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income 0 -793 1,161,778 0 1 0 1,760,985 0 1,160,985
Total comprehensive income 0 -793 1,161,778 1 1 923232 2,084,217 0 2,084,217
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
owners
Issue of shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total transactions with owners 0 1] 0 1] 1] 0 1] 0 1]
| Balance at 31 December 2008 I I 528,000 | 844 | 0 ] 0] 0] 8124102 | 8651258 | 0] 8651258 ]

Pétfiirds, 29 June 2010
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Description Note 2008 2007

Profit after tax 923,232 131,759
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (1.2 1,375,889 819,801
Impairment on quota 3) 0 124,956
Impairment on inventories and reversal thereof ) 47,548 167
Impairment on receivables and reversal thereof 4,187 26,299
Increase/Decrease in provisions (23) 309,876 11,631
Gains/Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment -12,608 -20,492
Unrealised exchange gains/losses 474,131 17,008
Decrease/Increase in inventories 6) 6,579,765 284,484
Decrease/Increase in emission allowances 3 4,912 57,739
Increase/Decrease in trade receivables 1,193,870 -1,091,389
DecreasefIncrease in other financial assets -370913 -5,059,046
DecreasefIncrease in other receivables 744,885 2,100,785
DecreasefIncrease in other assets -18,9719 45,950
Decrease/Increase in other non-current liabilities (19 -144,59 5,834,112
DecreasefIncrease in trade payables 1,143,816 500,937
DecreasefIncrease in other financial liabilities -2.,362 12,085
Decrease/Increase in other current liabilities (22) 3,968,969 3,078,919
Net change in income tax assets, liabilities 13,2471 801,154
Change in receivables and liabilities from derivative

transactions 4,542,192 4,709,018
Cash flows from operating activities -2,936,016 10,860,967
Interest income 219,190 222,681
Interest expense 2,021,222 1,019,497
Income tax paid -189,803 -156,240
Net cash flows from operating activities -1,371,181 10,901,537

Pétfirdd, 29 June 2010
Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

Description

Dividends received

Interest received

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Granting and repayment of loans

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and business units

Acquisition of subsidiaries and business units
Net cash flows from investing activities

Loans and borrowings

Repayment of loans and borrowings
Dividends paid

Interest paid

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Petfirdo, 29 June 2010
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Note 2008 2007
0 0

286,598 215,601

1,2) 1,401,784 7,501,565
1,2) 17,621 53,810
1,049,043 894,745

140,000 0

(34) 9,142 750,000
82,342 -8,876,899

(17) 11,549,221 9,719,869
(17) 110,627,738 7,134,065
0 1,215,000

(30) 1,994,913 967,542
41,073,430 403,262

2,368,875 2,427,900

(10) 4,015,461 1,587,612
793 51

(10) 1,645,793 4,015,461

Dr. Istvan Blazsek
Chief Executive Officer
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2008

. GENERAL

A Nitrogénmvek Zrt (hereinafter referred to as "the Company’) was established on 1 February 1990. Registered

office: 8105 Hungary, Pétfirds, Hosok tere 14.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2008 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as "Group entities”). In the
period covered by the consolidated financial statements the Company held no interest in associates or jointly

controlled entities.

The Group primarily is involved in the manufacture of artificial fertilisers containing solid nitrogen and nitrogen
solution. The group also manufactures industrial gases (argon, hydrogen, nitrogen).

Group subsidiaries:

Ownership  Ownership

Company Country Scope of activities share in share in
2008 2007

"Koronés-Szarvas” Kit Hungary Services related to plant production 0% 100%
Manufacture and distribution of

Nadudvari Agrokémiai Kft.  Hungary artificial fertilisers and nitrogen 100% 100%
compounds

Nitrogén - Pinkerton Kft. Hungary Investigation and security services 53.3%% 53.33%

g';;[;pl_le{ Deutschiand H. Germany Retail and wholesale 100% 0%

Nitropet ltalia S.R.L. Italy Retail and wholesale 100% 0%

NITROPET Slovakia Slovakia Retail and wholesalle of agricultural 519 51%
products and chemicals
Transportation and agency activities;

Nitro-Pét d.o.0. Serbia retail distribution of chemical 100% 100%
products and artificial fertilisers

Péti Gépészeti Kft. Hungary Metallurgy 100% 100%

R Manufacture, packaging and " o

PetiNivokomplex Kt Hungary distribution of artificial fertilisers 100% 100%

Peti Polietién Zsak KR~ Hungary ~ Manufacture and distribution of 100% 100%
polythene packaging materials

Peti VMA Kft. Hungary Technical review and analysis 100% 100%

gELBH CHEMICAL IMPEX Romania WWholesale of chemical products 100 % 100 %
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1. ADOPTION, STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

{a)  Adoption and statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. The Company is a first adopter of IFRSs. The Company prepares its
first IFRS consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2008.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2010.
(b)  Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position:

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.

The financial year corresponds to the calendar year.
{c)  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hungarian forint ("Ft" or HUF), which is the Company's
functional currency. The functional currency of each subsidiary is the currency of the country where the relevant
subsidiary is registered, since selling prices are typically determined by the economy of the country where the
subsidiary is active.

Financial information presented in forint has been rounded to the nearest thousand (THUF), while information
presented in other currencies has been rounded to one currency unit.

{d)  Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the following accounting policies
requires management (o make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. Information about
significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements relating to the following areas is
included in Note 4.
+ determination of useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

measurement of hedging transactions

recovery of deferred tax assets

recovery of investment tax credit
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and to the opening statement of financial position as at 1 January 2007, and
have been applied consistently by Group entities.

(a)  Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that conirol commences until the
date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align
them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisition of entities under common control

Acquisitions whereby an entity that is under the control of the shareholder that controls the Group, are accounted
at the date of acquisition by recognising the acquired assets and liabilities at the carrying amounts recorded
previously in the books of the acquired entity. The components of equity of the acquired entity are added to the
same components within Group equity. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in equity. The part
of cash paid for the acquisition in excess to the net asset value acquired is recognised as a deduction from
retained earnings.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Foreign currency
(i Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilites denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising
on refranslation are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments and differences from cash flow hedges, which are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items measured at cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

(i) Foreign operations
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The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments, if any, arising on
acquisition, are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve
is transferred to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable 1o a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised within other comprehensive
income in the translation reserve.

(i) Translation reserve

Taking advantage of the exemption provided in IFRS 1.22, the Group states the translation reserve in the
opening balance sheet as at 1 January 200/ at zero.

()  Financial instruments
Nen-derivative financial instruments

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables, deposits and borrowings on the date that they are
originated. All other financial instruments are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

Financial assets and liabilites are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less

any impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets
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Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale
and that are not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets. The Group’s investments in equity
securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign
currency differences on equity instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within
equity in the fair value reserve. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss. However, if an equity investment has no quoted price in an
active market and its fair value cannot be measured reliably, it is measured subsequent to initial recognition at
cost less impairment.

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposures.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Atiributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are
accounted for as described below.

Cash flow hedges

A cash flow hedge is hedging the exposure arising from the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit
or loss.

When a hedge is concluded, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging relationship to which
hedge accounting is to be applied, as well as the risk management goals and strategies of the hedge.
Documentation includes identification of the hedge, the related hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess hedge effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the
hedged item's fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. These hedges are expected to be highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows. Effectiveness is assessed on the reporting date.

When a derivative is included in a hedging relationship, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity, while
any ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is
removed and included in profit or loss in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss, e.g.
when the forecast transaction takes place. In the case of an effective hedge, the amount transferred to profit or
loss is included under the same line item in the statement of comprehensive income as the result of the hedged
transaction.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is

recognised in profit or loss. If the hedge expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, or the designation is revoked,
amounts previously recognised within equity in other comprehensive income remain in equity until the forecast
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transaction occurs, then are transferred to profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur,
then these amounts are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Other non-trading derivatives

Other non-trading derivatives are financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. When a
derivative financial instrument is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all
changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss under results of financial transactions.

(d) Equity
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

{(¢)  Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and Measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost values of individual assets in the categories of property, plant and equipment were determined
based on the remeasured value in accordance with previously applied accounting principles used as deemed
cost. The Group chose the option to consider the remeasured value in accordance with previously applied
accounting principles to be the cost on 1 January 2007 when the Group switched to IFRS reporting. See Note
37

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the
assets and restoring the site on which they are located, as well as borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment increases the cost of that
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within
other income or other expenses in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its

cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-
to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the cost of an asset, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets under finance lease are depreciated over
their useful lives, since the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.
The residual value of production plants and related production machinery and equipment is zero, since their
expected useful lives correspond to their expected economic lives, considering that the Group intends to use
such assets until exhaustion.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:

e buildings 35-50 years
e plant and equipment 5-35 years
o fixtures and fittings 2 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each reporting date.

i  Intangible assets

Measurement

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible

assets, from the date that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
o rights and concessions 2-5 years

(y) Leasedassels

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased assel is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is

accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial
position.
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(h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

Purchased inventories

The cost of purchased inventories is determined based on average weighted purchase price and includes direct
acquisition expenditure incurred, as well as costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their existing location and
condition.

Manufactured inventories

Cost of manufactured inventories is determined based on their direct production cost on the reporting date and
includes production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and
condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Cost also may include any gain or loss on cash flow
hedges concluded to hedge foreign exchange risk of forecasted purchases of raw materials, transferred from
comprehensive income through row item changes in manufactured inventories.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

()  Emission allowances
Carbon dioxide (CO2) quota

The Group receives emission allowances free of charge in Hungary as part of the Furopean Emission Trading
System since it emits greenhouse gases. These allowances are valid until the end of a pre-determined emissions
period. The allowances are credited each year based on the National Allocation Plan. The group must settle its
liability based on actual emissions by surrendering the emission allowances. In the event the actual emissions
exceed the quantity of emission allowances received, the difference may be purchased from a third party o
settle the liability.

The initial measurement of emission allowances received free of charge is at fair value as of the acquisition date,
which is the market price traded on the active market (bluenext.com) (see Note 1.2.q.). These allowances
received free of charge are recognised as emission allowances under fixed assets or current assets as part of
intangible assets. Emission allowances purchased from third parties are initially measured at the same amount
paid for the allowances. Thereafter the emission allowances are measured at cost net of impairment. Emission
allowances are not amortised.

Emission allowances can be sold on the market while valid. Emission allowances are derecognised when sold,
or when surrendered to settle liability based on actual emissions.

Emission allowances to be surrendered within one year are recognised under current assets.

The Group records provisions for liabilities which arise on account of actual emissions. Provisions are measured
based on a best estimate of the expense required to settle the liability prevailing as of the reporting date (see
Note 1.2.m.).

()  Impairment

F-149



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2008
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for
an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost can also be
objective evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. Impairment losses are accounted as other expenses in profit or loss. Interest on the
impaired asset continues 1o be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. Other financial assets are
grouped together based on similar creditrisk characteristics and are assessed for impairment collectively.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that
has been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve, to profit or loss.
The cumulative loss that is transferred to profit or loss is the difference between the cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit
or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest
income.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. f-or financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. In the case of available-for-sale equity
securities, the reversal is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Nen-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

In the case of emission allowances, fair value less costs to sell is a good approximate for the recoverable
amount, and since costs to sell are negligible, the Group considers the price as at the reporting date quoted in an
active market to be the recoverable amount (see Note I.2).

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
groups of assets ("cash-generating unit or CGU").
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Assets not involved directly in production do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that
such an asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated to the assets in the unit in
proportion to their carrying amounts. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

In respect of assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(kk  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately prior to the
classification as held for sale the assets {or components of the disposal group) are remeasured in accordance
with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less cost to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

{)  Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or
loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset 1o the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as expense when the Group is demonstrably committed to a detailed formal
plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to provide termination benefits as a result of
an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy, without a realistic possibility of withdrawal.
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as expense if the Group has made an offer
encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances
can be estimated reliably.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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(m) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Pravisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. When unwinding the
discount representing elapse of time the balance sheet value of the provision increases year-by-year by the
effect of discount. The increment is accounted as interest expense.

Provisions are typically allocated for emission quotas, termination benefits and early retirement pensions,
disputes and environmental protection liabilities.

Emission gioias

The Group allocates provisions for the liability to deliver emission allowances based on actual carbon dioxid
emission {see Note 1.2), the amount of which is set to the extent of emission allowances existing at the reporting
date based on their carrying amount and for liabilities not covered by existing emission allowances based on
market value of emission allowances as at the reporting date, since such liabilities can be settled by purchasing
emission allowances.

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions

Provisions for termination benefits and early retirement pensions connected to redundancies are recognised, if
by the reporting date the Group created justified expectations on the part of employees relating to the
redundancy. As a prerequisite, the redundancy plan has to be approved by the Board and communicated to
those concerned by the reporting date.

The provision is allocated based on best estimate relating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled
several years later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.

Provisions for environmental protection liabilities

Provisions for environmental protection costs are recognised if environmental damage assessment or
remediation is probable and related costs are reliably quantifiable. The provision is accounted generally parallel
to the acceptance of a relevant formal plan or task, if it is earlier, to the sale or closing down of inactive places.
The provision is allocated based on best estimate relating to the costs incurred. Where the liability will be settled
several years later, the amount booked is the present value of expected future costs.

(n)  Revenues

Goods sold

Revenue is recognised when economic benefit in connection with the transaction is likely to inflow to the Group
and its amount can be measured reliably. Revenue is booked net of taxes related to sales and discounts when
goods are delivered or services provided and risks and rewards are transferred.

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration net of returns, trade discounts
and volume rebates. Revenue does not include value added tax.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are met:
persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales supply agreement, that the
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significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer;

the Group has no actual control over the goods and there is no continuing management involvement
with the goods;

the consideration can be measured reliably;

financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and

the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably.

The Group sells its products on domestic markets in a "bill and hold” system. In the case of bill and hold
transactions revenue is booked when all the following conditions are met in addition to the above:
*  the buyer obtains ownership;

itis probable that delivery will take place;

the goods are ready for delivery, physically separated under the name of the buyer;

the buyer expressly acknowledges the demand for subsequent delivery;

normal payment terms apply;
or if one or more of these conditions are not met, revenue is booked at the latest when the buyer obtains
ownership and delivery takes place.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale. If
transportation is carried out by the Group, usually transfer occurs when the product is received at the destination
indicated by the customer; however, for shipments arranged by the costumer, transfer occurs upon loading the
goods onto the carrier of the transporter. For inventories stored at the customer's site (as an external venue),
transfer occurs when the goods are released from warehouse for the given customer.

If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is
recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

Services

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
performed.

Revenue from services is recognised when all the following conditions are met:
the consideration can be measured reliably;
financial settlement of the consideration is probable; and
the associated costs can be estimated reliably.

Commissions

When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the Group and it is booked when conditions listed in point
(i) are met.

Usually the Group sells the products of its related companies in the capacity of an agent. Revenue is booked
when sale takes place based on the contract concluded by the principal and the customer and the Group is
entitled to receive the commission.

Rental income

Rental income from operative leases is recognised evenly over the term of the lease in the profit or loss. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.
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(o) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term
of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(p)  Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises the following: interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial
assets), dividend income, exchange gains on FX items, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets, derivatives held for trading, and changes in the fair value of hedges to be recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group's right to receive payment is established, which in the
case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date, while for unlisted securities it is the date when the relevant
authorised body makes decision relating to distribution.

Finance expenses comprise the following: interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, exchange losses on FX items, changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading, changes in the
fair value of hedges to be recognised in profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on available-for-sale
financial assets.

{9  Government grants

An unconditional government grant is recognised in profit or loss, if it will be received.

Other government grants are recognised in profit or loss when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant,

Grants related to asset purchases are booked at fair value as deferred income and are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in proportion to expensing the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred {including government grants received in the form of
emission allowances received free of charge, see Note |.2.i) are recognised in profit or loss as other income at
fair value in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Investment tax credits are recognised similarly
to government granis related 1o asset purchases.

(N Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they
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reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities
will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(s)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2008, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements,
except for IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statemenis. None of these expected to have an effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which becomes
mandatory for the Group’s 2013 consolidated financial statements and might have an effect on classification and
measurement of financial assets; however, the expected effects have not been assessed yet.

{ty  Earlier application of standards and interpretations

Revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued on 6 September 2007) introduces new concepts for
the titles of financial statements and for some items therein, and implements the concept of "comprehensive
income” which presents changes in equity during a period from transactions with owners other than those carried
out in their capacity as owners. The amendment would be mandatory for the 2009 financial statements of the
Group, however, itis already applied in these 2008 consolidated financial statements.

3.  DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for financial instruments.
Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the
individual notes.

(a)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is based on the closing bid price quoted on an active market valid
on the reporting date.

{b)  Trade receivables, other financial assets not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of trade receivables and other financial assets for disclosure purposes is determined based on present
value of future cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.

{c)  Trade payables, other financial liabilities not arising from derivative transactions

Fair value of trade payables and other financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is determined based on present
value of future principal and interest cash flows discounted at market rate as of the reporting date.
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(d) Derivative transactions

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market
price is not available, then fair value is estimated based on the present value of the difference between the
contractual forward price and the forward price as at the reporting date discounted using a risk-free interest rate
(based on government bonds) for the residual maturity of the contract.

4. IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES
Estimation uncerainties

The preparation of financial staterments in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of estimates that affect the
amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements and the related notes. These estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of current events, however, actual results may differ from these estimates. These
most important estimates are described below:

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment The estimate of the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment was made based on the technical content of the assets and past experience of the individual
asset types, such as the frequency of replacements and faults. The fact that the actual useful life of the
assets can differ depending on the capacity in use, technology changes or technical factors does cause
some uncertainty, and therefore the Group analyses on an annual basis whether the previous estimate
is still pertinent, and revises the useful life estimate where necessary.

Hedges: Gains or losses on hedges are calculated based on estimates relating to future exchange rates
and interests as well as the timing and amount of hedged future gas purchases. Uncertainty lies in the
fact that these factors are subject to market expectations and changes in the economic environment.

Recovery of deferred tax liabilities: Recovery of deferred tax liability is subject to future taxable profits.
The availability of future taxable profits is supported by a business plan that is prepared for a period in
relation to which the Group is able to prepare a reliable plan.

Use of investment tax credits: The use of investment tax credits depends on future taxable profits. The
Group confirms the availability of future taxable profits with a business plan, prepared for the period that
the investment tax credits may be used. The recovery of investment tax credits is contingent upon the
uncertainties inherent in the estimates used for the business plan. Such factors of uncertainty include,
among others, expected sales volumes, market sales prices, the market price of material costs
(principally gas), capacity in use, tax rates and items reconciling the tax base.
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IIl. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Descripti Land and Plant and cher Assets under
escription buildi - equipment ; Total
uildings equipment and fittings construction
Gross opening value at 1 January
2007 2,114,299 8,094,159 221,811 18,672,078 29,108,347
- Additions from business unit
acquisitions 0 0 0 1,386,815 1,386,815
- Other additions 0 28,976 9,004 2,188 40,168
- Derecognitions 6,922 -140,568 8513 2466 -158,469
- Decrease due to in-kind contribution 0 88,343 15,841 0 -104,184
- Transfer 10 assets held for sale 53,636 923,455 1,735 0 978,826
- Transfers and reclassification + 4,884 4,387 27203 49,361 -50,151
- Capitalisation 5247249 12,282,732 51,877  -17,581,858 0
- Translation differences 0 0 22 0 22
Closing gross value at 31 December
2007 1,296,106 19,257,888 262,288 8,427,396 35,243,618
- Additions from business unit
acquisitions 0 0 0 1,167,508 1,167,508
- Other additions 0 0 0 0 0
- Derecognitions 97,023 61,237 23,247 4710 186,217
- Transfer to assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0
- Transfers and reclassification + 2426 57,583 733 0 -55,890
- Capitalisation 2,644,199 2,240,326 18,963 1,904,088 0
- Translation differences 0 0 23 0 232
Closing gross value at 31 December
2008 9,846,308 21,379,394 257,039 4,686,106 36,168,847
Opening accumulated depreciation 1
January 2007 816,139 4,191,491 198,320 0 520595
- Depreciation 118,425 615,233 41,708 0 775,366
- Depr. due to expanded cons. scope 0 3,128 4411 0 7,539
- Derecogpitions -2,240 106,270 8,214 0 -116,784
- Decrease due to inkind contribution 0 88,343 15,841 0 104,184
- Transfer 1o assets held for sale 21,942 875,247 1,735 -898,918
- Transfers + -845 348 292 0 -189
- Translation differences 0 0 6 0 6
Closing accumulated depreciation at
31 December 2007 909,537 3,740,346 218,291 0 4868174
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1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Other

D . Land and Plant and . Assets under

escription buildi - equipment ; Total
uildings equipment and fittings construction

- Depreciation 311,857 1,016,836 24,770 0 1,353,463

- Derecognitions -3,329 -55,238 21,623 0 -80,090

- Transfers + 538 53,516 733 0 -54,787

- Translation differences 0 0 173 0 173

Closing accumulated depreciation at

31 December 2008 1,217,521 4648428 220,632 0 6,086,587

g'géfpe”ing value at T January 1298160  3.902,668 29491 18,672,018 23,902,397

ggg;'“'”g value at 31December o 400 0o 15,517,542 43997 8,427,396 30,375,504

?gg;'“'“g value at 31 December g 95981 15,730,966 36,407 4686106 30,082,260

Assels under construction

The Company began constructing a new acid plant and granulation plant in 2004. The expense incurred by 31
December 2007 in connection with the acid plant — including borrowing costs — totalled THUF 15,145,571; in
2008 there were no further investment expenses in connection with the acid plant. For the granulation plant the
expense incurred by 31 December 2008 totalled THUF 10,438,398 (31 December 2007: THUF 9,842,405). The
acid plant was capitalised on 1 October 2007. Of the units that are part of the granulation plant the packaging
unit was capitalised on 1 November 2007, while the neutralisation plant unit was capitalised on 3 April 2008. The
granulation plant unit was capitalised in 2009.

Reclassification to assets held for sale

The Group reclassified the company's old decommissioned acid plant to assets held for sale. See Note 11.
Capitalised borrowing costs

The costs of investment loans capitalised on investments amounted to THUF 552,774 as of 31 December 2008
for the granulation plant (THUF 408,651 as of 31 December 2007), and THUF 306,725 for the acid plant by 31
December 2007, the capitalisation date.

Contractual investment abilities

As of 31 December 2008 the Group's contractual commitments for property, plant and equipment purchases

amounted to THUF 170,425 (as of 31 December 2007 THUF 833,327). The majority of the contractual
commitments are related to the granulation plant and the acid plant investments.
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1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Value of leased assets

Assets acquired under finance lease are included in property, plant and equipment.

Description 2008 2007
Gross value 63,764 63,764
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 19,837 3.895
Net value 43,921 59,869

The Group leases passenger cars under finance lease; the cars will be owned by the Group at the end of the
lease term.

Value of assels pledged as collaterals
As at 31 December 2008 land and buildings with a carrying amount of THUF 8,883,724 (31 December 2007:

THUF 6,575,506) and plant and equipment with a carrying amount of THUF 14,408,609 (31 December 2007:
THUF 13,249,498) were pledged as collateral for bank loans. See Note 36.

2.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Description CE:?CT:S?QSS Other Total
Gross opening value at 1 January 2007 58,837 496,973 555,810
- Other additions 23,235 11,508 34,743
- Derecognitions -3.68/7 -4,546 -8,233
Closing gross value at 31 December 2007 18,385 503,935 582,320
- Other additions 25,446 410 25,916
- Derecognitions -11 0 11
- Transfers 0 -5,230 -5,230
Closing gross value at 31 December 2008 103,754 499,175 602,929
Opening accumulated depreciation 1 January 2007 32,897 319,184 352,081
- Depreciation 14,345 21,939 36,284
- Depr. due to expanded consolidation scope 260 0 260
- Derecognitions -3.687 -4,546 -8,233
(ZI(I)(()sing accumulated depreciation at 31 December 43,815 336,577 380,392
- Depreciation 14,621 4,253 18,874
- Derecognitions -11 0 11
- Transfer to assets held for sale 0 0 0
(ZI(I)(())zing accumulated depreciation at 31 December 58,359 340,830 399,189
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2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Description Rights gnd Other Total
concessions
Net opening value at 1 January 2007 25,940 171,189 203,729
Net closing value at 1 December 2007 34,570 167,358 201,928
Net closing value at 1 December 2008 45,395 158,345 203,740

Rights and concessions primarily include purchased software.

3.  EMISSION ALLOWANCES

Emission allowances are CO, emission allowances received based on Government Decree 66/2006.111.27.

Changes in terms of quantity and carrying amount is presented in the table below:

Description Intangible assets Current assets Total

Unit THUF Unit THUF Unit THUF
Opening balance at 1 January 2007 14,740 103,824 13,000 83,783 21,740 187,607
Receipt of 2007 emission units 0 0 20,347 4821 20,347 4821
Delivery due to 2006 emission 0 0 9,707 62,560 9,707 62,560
Reclassification 14,740 103,824 14,740 103,824 0 0
Impairment {on 18,033 units) 0 0 0 -124,95 0 -124,956
Closing balance at 31 December 2007 0 0 38,380 4,912 38,380 4,912
Delivery due to 2007 emission 0 0 28,556 4,863 28,556 4,863
Derecognition of unused quotas 0 0 9,824 49 9,824 49
Closing balance at 31 December 2008 0 0 0 0 0 0
4. INVESTMENTS

Description 2008 2007

Loans granted 1,073 5225
Security deposit 50,961 956,539
Long-term receivables from contracts 21 3,990
Other investments 120,249 250,948
Total 178,310 1,216,702
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4, INVESTMENTS (continued)

Loans granted include housing loans provided to employees under favourable terms.

The fixed security deposit account includes the amounts of fixed deposits serving as collateral for loans related
to the granulating plant investment project. On 17 December 2008 a part of investment loan was repaid and the
related security deposit was used, that is why the 2008 balance is significantly lower.

No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.

Other investments include the amount of capital investments not consolidated.

5. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Description 2008 2007
Advances to suppliers of investment projects 3,036 0
Accrued payables due to replacement of catalysers in the
ammonia plant 18,154 1,639
Deferred option premium 43 0
Other non-current assets 487 1,490
Total 22,108 3,129

6. INVENTORIES

Description 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Raw materials and consumables 3,536,350 3,579,653
Work in progress, semi-finished goods 306,286 393,265
Finished goods 9,459,412 3,635,042
Goods 1,015,430 177,301
Total 14,317,418 1,185,261

Cost and net realisable values in 2008 of inventories carried at net realisable value are as follows:

Net realisable Net realisable
Cost value Cost value
Description K} | 31 3 31
December 2008 December 2008 December 2007 December 2007

Raw materials and 0 0
consumables 12 0

Finished goods 199,935 153,985 371 204
Goods 15,838 14,107 0 0
Total 215,785 168,072 3N 204

F-161



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2008
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

1. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Description 2008 2007
Trade receivables 5,047,290 5,656,621
- of which related: 4,018,787 611,546
Impairment for doubtful receivables 12,413 26,299
Total trade receivables 5,034,871 5.630,322

Trade receivables bear no interest and in general have a term of 30 days.
7. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

No impairment was booked on receivables from related parties neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous
year.

8.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DERIVATIVES

Description 2008 2007
Receivables from government 5,652,080 5,895,538
Loans granted 1,552,765 923,282
- of which to related parties: 1,550,459 920,333
Receivables from forward exchange contracts held for trading 0 17,566
Other financial assets 1,295 8,419
Total 1,206,140 6,844,805

The receivable derived from the development (investment) tax credit is recognised in the ‘receivables from the
state’ row. The Company can use the investment tax credit for the new acid plant capitalised in 2007 up to the
sum of THUF 6,100,178. The amount of the development tax credit that can be used in the given year is 80% of
the corporate tax payable. The credit may be used in the year of capitalisation and in the 9 subsequent fiscal
years (2007-2016), provided that in the four fiscal years after the tax credit was first used (2008-2011) the annual
wage cost accounted at the Company exceeds the annual wage cost of the fiscal year prior to the start of the
development by at least three times the minimum wage calculated for the fiscal year as of the first day of the
fiscal year. In 2008 (and 2007) the Company met this criterion, and so a tax credit of THUF 243,458 was used in
2008 {and THUF 204,640 in 2007). Subsequent events related to investment tax credits are presented in Note
35.

The Group disbursed loans in HUF and EUR to related parties. As at 31 December 2008 loans amounting to
THUF 566,857 bear no interest and loans amounting to THUF 983,607 are interest-bearing loans. This item also
includes loans to senior officers, which are disbursed in HUF and bear interest. The interest equals the prevailing
central bank base rate + 5%. See Note (39).

Loans disbursed are unsecured.

No impairment was booked on loans disbursed neither in the reporting year, nor in the previous year.
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9.  OTHER RECEIVABLES

Description 2008 2007
Advances paid to suppliers of investment projects 0 15,201
Advances on stocks 4,016 43,969
- of which related: 4,016 42,520
Prepayments on services 10,455 19,240
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 140,857 85,650
ergsa)ld and reclaimable taxes and duties (except for income 1237.271 861,911
Receivables from self-governments 1971 15,855
Receivables from employees 4,199 4,622
Other receivables 5,667 31,408
Total 1,405,048 1,077,856

The Other prepaid expenses and accrued assets row generally contains items (loss on acid plant catalyser nets
containing precious metals, subscription fees, etc.), which will only be recognised as expense in the subsequent
period, when they actually occur.

Prepaid and reclaimable taxes and duties comprise reclaimable VAT included in suppliers' invoices and on

continuous services, reclaimable energy tax and receivables from the Customs and Finance Guard; these items
were settled in the year following the reporting year.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Description 2008 2007

Cash 6,117 2,164
Bank deposits 881,332 167,159
Short-term fixed deposits 158,344 3,246,138
Total 1,645,793 4,015,461

The Group had no cash equivalents as at 31 December 2007 and 2008.
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11.  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The assets held for sale contain the property, plant and equipment of the old, decommissioned acid plant

After the capitalisation of the new acid plant the Group decided to close the old Russian (2C) and Japanese (3C)
acid plants and shut down the production there. The plants were reclassified as of 30 October 2007 under assets
held for sale. The Company also decided to sell the assets and the related components if a suitable bid was
received.

A contract was signed on 14 May 2008 between the Company and MAINEX LLC Louisville, KY, USA to sell the
2C acid plant for USD 2,350,000.

Due to non-performance of the contract by MAINEX LLC the Company cancelled it on 17 December 2008.

The amount specified in the contract was transferred by MAINEX LLC as an advance payment in late 2008 and
early 2009.

MAINEX LLC contested the cancellation in August 2009 at the Court of Arbitration; no decision has yet been
made.

On 6 October 2009 the Company received an offer from 0JSC "Nevinnomyssky Azot", a firm in Russia, as a
result of which a purchase contract was signed between the companies for USD 11.6 million. The plans are
currently being dismantled and the contract is being executed.

Description Net value of asset Net value of asset
P 2008 2007.
Acid plants 79,908 19,908
Total 75,908 19,908
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Equity
12.  SHARE CAPITAL

Composition of share capital:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Description Number N\(:;?:;al Number NS;TLZaI Number N\(:;?:;al
Tibor L &szl6 Bige 1,520 501,600 1520 501,600 1520 501,600
Zoltén Bige 80 26,400 80 26,400 80 26,400
Balance of share capital 1,600 528,000 1,600 528,000 1,600 528,000

The company has only ordinary shares with a nominal value of THUF 330 each.

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and have one vote per share at the
Company's general meeting.

13.  TRANSLATION RESERVE

Translation reserve includes all exchange differences arisen from 1 January 2007 from translating the financial
statements of foreign operations.

14.  HEDGING RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedges. See Note 20.

15.  RETAINED EARNINGS

The following amounts cannot be distributed as dividends from the retained earnings in the given financial year:

Financial year Amount

2006 1,384,224
2007 3454
2008 503,454

Acquisition of entities under common conirof
In 2007 retained earnings were reduced by the difference between the consideration paid and the carrying

amount of the net asset value upon the acquisition of the jointly controlled SC BH CHEMICAL IMPEX SRL in that
year.
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15.  RETAINED EARNINGS (continued)

Dividends

In 2007 the Group paid THUF 1,215,000, i.e. THUF 759.4 per share, dividends to the owners (in 2008 no

dividends were paid).

As at the reporting date there were no approved but unpaid dividends.

16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Terms and conditions of existing loans and borrowings:

Loans as at 31 December 2008

Balance at
31.12.2008 Balance Long-term  Short-term
Financial Collater Currenc portion portion
institution Type of loan als (Thousand) y THUF THUF THUF
0] 14,8789
MFB-OTP investment loan 56,194  EUR 22 107104663 4,774,258
K&H Bank German carbon aid] (1) 3745 HUF 3,745 0 3,745
K&H Bank German carbon aid Il (i) 39,436 HUF 39,437 6,105 33,332
K&H Bank current asset loan (i) 2755 USD 517,688 0 517,688
multicurrency (i) 4,702,01
Commerzbank overdraft facility 4,702,011 HUF 1 2,944,444 1,757,567
multicurrency v
multipurpose credit 1,215,91
UniCredit Bank facility 6,471 usb 1 0 121591
multicurrency v
multipurpose credit
UniCredit Bank facility 16 EUR 4154 0 4,154
long-term (vi)
multicurrency current 1,721,07
Budapest Bank asset loan 6,500  EUR 0 1475619 245,451
multicurrency (vi)
revolving loan
Budapest Bank agreement 1,500 EUR 397170 0 397,170
RB Kereskeddhaz  trading house (vii) 803,186 HUF 803,186 0 803,186
RB Kereskedohaz  trading house (vii) 216,700 HUF 216,700 0 216,700
457915
CIB Kereskeddhaz  trading house 2 0 4579152
OTP Bank Nyrt current asset loan (ix) 200,000 HUF 200,000 0 200,000
OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan by 94,935 HUF 94,935 45,000 49,935
CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 238 HUF 238 0 238
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 986 HUF 986 539 447
Merkantil Car vehicle loan 962 HUF 962 564 399
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Total long-term loans 14,576,934

Total short-term loans 14,799,333
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16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest rates: 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate/3 reference rate+ 0.5-4% interest margin.

Loans as at 31 December 2007

Balance at Short-term
Financial 31122007 currenc  Balance Long-term portion
institution Type of loan (Thousand) y THUF portion THUF THUF

MFB-OTP investment loan 1,170 EUR 18,030,862 15,626,747 2,404,115

OTP Bank Nyrt. overdraft facility 4,104 EUR 1,039,816 0 1,039,816

OTP Bank Nyrt. current asset loan 8,347 EUR 2,114,788 0 2,114,788

OTP Bank Nyrt. current asset loan 1971 EUR 2,020,922 0 2,020,922
German carbon aid

K&H Bank | 18,746 HUF 18,746 3,746 15,000
German carbon aid

K&H Bank Il 64,435 HUF 64,435 39,436 24,999

MKB Bank Nyrt. current asset loan 200,000 HUF 200,000 0 200,000

summit £rt. vehicle loan 573 HUF 573 0 513

OTP Bank Nyrt. acquisition loan 1,348 EUR 1,861,601 1,225,540 636,061
KPC purchase of

OTP Bank Nyrt. receivables 5,607 EUR 1,420,644 1,420,644 0

OTP Trade overdraft 12 12

OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan 146,250 HUF 146,250 90,000 56,250

OTP Bank Nyrt. overdraft facility 12,036 HUF 12,036 0 12,036
revolving  current

OTP Bank Nyrt. asset loan 10,000 HUF 10,000 0 10,000
revolving current

OTP Bank Nyrt. assel loan | 200,000 HUF 200,000 0 200,000
revolving current

OTP Bank Nyrt. asset loan Il 200,000 HUF 200,000 0 200,000

OTP Bank Nyrt. overdraft facility 175,645 HUF 175,645 0 175,645

Raiffeisen Lizing

. vehicle loan g14 492 324

CIB Credit Zrt. vehicle loan 2,109 0 2,109

Total long-term loans 18,406,605

Total short-term loans 9,173,250

Interest rates: 1-6-month BUBOR/EURIBOR or central bank base rate/3 reference rate+ 0.5-4% interest margin.
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16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Loan collateral

Collateral for loans drawn by the Group:

() Hungarian Development Bank (MFB) - OTP és Kereskedelmi Bank Nyrt.
THUF 21,893,268 (MFB Zrt.) + THUF 1,865,198 {OTP Bank Nyrt.) credit facility collaterals
(MFB-OTP investment loan)

Mortgage of THUF 28,748,000 on the properties, movable property and all assets owned by the Company
up to THUF 28,748,000

Lien on all EUA emission units created by the end of the loan terms as a result of developments financed
from "MFB Loan" and "OTP Loan".

Assignment:

s Advance repayment guarantees for the general contractor agreements for the granulation and acid
plant investmentsand any guarantee amounts used.

e Performance guarantees provided to the Company by contractors andfor general contractors.

o After the investment is realised, assignment of sales revenue whereby the minimum accumulated
amount over the termis THUF 17,750,208, and the total amount of assigned receivables must never be
no less than THUF 2,800,000.

o Insurance policies for Company's movable property and properties.

Right to make instant collections from all of the company's bank accounts, and to offset claims from all bank
accounts, in addition to the project accounts.

Security deposit:

e Depositin EUR amounting to 6 months interest on the entire amount of the credit facility.

o EUR 12,434,650 deposit amounting to 6 months interest on the entire amount of the credit facility.
e Security deposit amounting to the principal debt repayment for the subsequent six months.

The banks pay interest on the security deposit amaunting to the 6-month EURIBOR - 0.125% / year.

(i) OTP és Kereskedelmi Bank Nyrt.
credit facility collaterals

Mortgage on the Company's entire assets amounting to THUF 17,182,000.

Minimum annual account turnover amounting to THUF 30,000,000.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Assignment to the insurance policies for all the company's movable property and properties.

The loans belonging to the credit facility contracts were repaid in 2008; the collaterals were released in full as of
21 January 2009.
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16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Loan collateral (continued)

(i) Kereskedelmi és Hitelbank Nyrt.
Collateral for THUF 41,246 investment/development loan contract (K&H Bank "German Carbon Aid" loan
agreement)
Collateral for THUF 64,435 investment/development loan contract (K&H Bank "German Carbon Aid" loan
agreement)
Collateral for USD 8,264,933 loan contract (K&H Bank working capital loan)

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Collateral assignment contract between Kereskedelmi és Hitelbank Nyrt. and the Company in relation to the
carbon aid loans.

(iv) Commerzbank 7rt.
Collateral for THUF 5,300 current account overdraft

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.
{v) UniCredit Bank 7rt.
Collateral for multi-purpose credit facility up to THUF 2,000

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

{vi

=

Budapest Bank Nyrt.
Collateral for long-term multi-currency working capital credit facility of EUR 6,500,000
(Long-term multi-currency working capital loan of Budapest Bank)

General mortgage of THUF 3,000,000 on one of the Company's properties.
Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Budapest Bank Nyrt.
Collateral for a EUR 1,500,000 multi-currency revolving credit facility
{Budapest Bank multi-currency revolving loan contract)

Assignment to the bank from the Company's existing and future receivables vis-a-vis Fertilia Kft. up to an
amount of sales in proportion to the credit.

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Budapest Bank Nyrt.
(Long-term multi-currency working capital loan and multi-currency revolving loan of Budapest Bank)

Further collateral related to two loans outlined above:
Security deposits of THUF 300,000 and EUR 300,000.
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16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
(a) Loan collateral (continued)

(vii) RB Kereskeddhaz Kft. loans
(Raiffeisen Bank trading house)

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.
{viii) Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. Collateral for EUR 3,200,000 bank guarantee contract

Right to make instant collections from the Company's bank accounts.

Lien on all current and future receivables based on the purchase contract concluded between the Company
and Kommunalkredit Public Consulting Gmbh (KPC) on 14 July 2005 for 2,000,000 carbon dioxide emission
units (quotay.

(i) Collateral for OTP Bank Nyrt. working capital loan:
lien up to THUF 200,000 plus related charges on the entire current and future assets of N&dudvari
Agrokémiai Kft.
right to make instant collections from the bank accounts of Nadudvari Agrokémiai Kft.

The debt related to the lien was repaid as of 31 December 2008, but the mortgage was only cancelled in 2009,

(x) Collateral for OTP Bank Nyrt. investment loan:
- mortgage on machinery to be purchased from the loan, up to the amount of the loan and related charges

mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén Zsék Kft.up to a loan amount of THUF
225,000 and refated charges

right to make instant collections from the bank accounts of Péti Polietilen 7sék Kft.
third-ranked mortgage on all the current and future assets of Péti Polietilén 7sak Kft. up to the bank

guarantee value of THUF 180,000

{b) Breach of loan covenants

The Group complied with loan covenants in all cases.
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16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

{c) Finance lease

The following table details finance lease obligations:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Minimum Present value of . Present value of
Description lease Interest  finance lease M'mam Lrlnrgr:?:se Interest finance lease
payments obligations pay obligations
Due within 1 year 19,783 1491 18,292 22038 3135 18,903
Due within 1-5 years 16,687 322 16,365 31269 1,582 32,687
Due over & years 0 0 0 0 0 0
Present value of
finance lease
obligations 36,470 1,813 34,657 56,307 4,717 51,590
17.  OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Description 2008 2007
Long-term liabilities from contracts 518,379 462,209
Other non-current financial liabilities 15,262 32,667
Total 533,641 494,816

Long-term liabilities from confracts include gas bill payment liability to BOTHLI TRADE AG due in 2014.

18. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2008 2007
Deferred income 5,669,240 5,974,289
Other non-current liabilities 958,507 798,053
Total 6,621,747 6,712,342

Deferred income includes the amount due to investment tax credit (see Note 8), which were accounted as
government grant relating to assets. The amount is recognised over the average useful life of the assets (24
years) in the profit for the period starting from the capitalisation of the related investment projects (see Note 1).
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18.  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Other non-current liabilities include the portion to be accounted in years 2010-2013 in an amount of THUF
667,246 from the advance payment ransferred based on a contract concluded with Kommunalkredit Public
Consulting GmbH (KPC) for the sale of N>O emission reduction units produced in the period 2008-2012 at NZRt.
This row also includes THUF 291,267 advance payment received under the contract concluded with MAINEX
LLC then terminated due to default for the sale of the assets of the Russian plant of the assets held for sale of
old acid plants where operation was discontinued. See Note 11.

19. TRADE PAYABLES

Description 2008 2007
Trade payables 5,101,448 4,556,876
- of which to related parties: 822,328 1,142,104
Total trade payables 5,101,448 4,556,876

20. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVES

Description 2008 2007
Liabilities from forward exchange transactions designated as cash
0 1,452,223
flow hedgesSee Note 37.
Liabilities from forward transactions held for tradingSee Note 33. 0 4,269,313
Other financial liabilities 117,764 87,817
Total 111,764 5,809,353

In 2007 the Group opened cash flow hedges for future transactions to hedge the exchange risk of its monthly
USD gas purchases (USD purchase HUF sale). On 31 December 2007 the effective portion of the profit or loss
on hedges was accounted in equity. Hedges open as at 31 December 2007 were closed in 2008 and the amount
booked in equity was transferred to the profit or loss for the period as an adjustment for gas costs. See Note 14.
In 2007 entered into forward ecxhange transactions not qualifying for hedge accounting (USD purchase HUF
sale and USD purchase EUR sale). Hedges open as at 31 December 2007 were closed in 2008.
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21.  OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Description 2008 2007
Deferred income 518,017 235,332
Advances from customers 6,950,227 4,761,528
Taxes and duties payable (except for income taxes) 885,592 417,638
Liabilities 1o self-governments 175,700 1,380
Liabilities to employees 1,059,654 336,199
Liabilities to Magyar Szénhidrogén Készletez6 Szdvetség (Mszksz) 0 49,625
Rentals and other fees received in advance 3,814 4,090
Accrued costs 228,279 1,302
Other current liabilities 3731 28,957
Total 9,825,020 5,836,051

Deferred income includes the portion of deferred income connected to investment tax credit which has not yet
been accounted in the profit or loss for the period. Deferred income is released in proportion to depreciation. In
2008 THUF 196,868 was released (2007: THUF 53,810). See Note 8.

Liabilities to employees include wages and related contributions and in 2008 THUF 957,688 (2007: THUF 0)
bonuses for the year.

Advances from customers include normal advances from customers as well as amounts received in relation to

storage contracts concluded with third parties. These are amounts which were received from customers but do
not qualify for revenue accounting.

22.  PROVISIONS

Early
Emission retirement  Environme
Description uotas pensions and ntal Other Total
q termination  protection
benefits

Balance at 31 December 2006 0 109,906 50,000 2,250 162,156
Allocation 62,560 0 0 62,560
Use 57,648 -16,543 0 134191
Balance at 31 December 2007 4,912 33,363 50,000 2,250 90,525
Allocation 106,377 15,112 224,000 345,489
Use 0 -33,363 -2,250 -35,613
Balance at 31 December 2008 111,289 15,112 50,000 224,000 400,401
Short-term portion 2007 4,912 33,363 2,250 40,525
Long-term portion 2007 0 0 50,000 0 50,000
Short-term portion 2008 111,289 15,112 60,000 186,401
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Long-term portion 2008 0 0 50,000 164,000 214,000

22.  PROVISIONS (continued)

Emission quioias

The Group allocated provisions for its obligation to deliver carbon dioxide emission allowances. See Note 3.
Farly retirement pensions and termination benefits

Provisions for early retirement pensions and termination benefits were booked in relation to redundancies.
Environmenial protection

The Group recorded provisions for the costs expected in connection with re-cultivating the waste dump
abandoned on the site of the production plants.

Other
The provision for the used bank guarantee contested by Prochem s.a. and for the compensated penalty

contested by CHEMOPROJEKT s.a. are recorded on these grounds. The amount contested by Prochem s.a.
was repaid in 2009. The penalty issue is still not resolved.
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23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES
Recognised deferred tax assets and iax labilities

Deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and accounted in profit or loss as at 31 December 2007 and 2008 comprises the following:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Tax asset Tax liability Net Tax asset Tax liability Net
Property, plant and equipment 74,803 -923,884 -899,081 26,932 -588,474 -561,542
Emission allowances 0 0 0 0 0 0
Trade receivables 68,826 0 68,826 85,021 0 85,021
Inventories 29,186 -1,897,832 -1,868,646 8,385 -356,695 -348,310
Other assels 297,119 165,982 131,197 197,913 -165,982 31,931
Loans and borrowings 1,119,807 0 1,119,807 0 -63,878 -63,878
Trade payables 186 0 186 3,954 0 3,954
Other liabilities 1,523,738 -45,666 1,478,072 1,462,810 -112,366 690,504
Provisions 36,658 -12,942 23,116 14,680 0 14,680
Derivative transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other items 0 0 0 0 0 0
Development tax allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tax loss carried forward 3,169 0 3,169 3812 0 3872
Tax assets (tax liabilities) 3,103,552 - 3,046,306 57,246 1,803,627 -1,947,395 -143,768
Sweeping of accounts -3,034,503 3,034,503 0 1,761,247 1,767,247 0
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) 69,049 -11,803 57,246 42,380 -186,148 -143,168
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23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES (continued)
Recognised deferred tax assets and tax liabilities (continued)

Analysis of changes in net deferred tax assets and tax liabilities:

Opening Accounted  Accounted bCIIosing Accounte  Accounted .
balance in profit or in other alance at d in profit in other Closing balance
31 at 31

at 1 January loss for comprehens D or loss for comprehens
N o ecember . A December 2008

2007 the period ive income 2008 the period ive income
Property, plant and equipment -470,228 91,314 0 561,542 -337.539 0 -899,081
Trade receivables 212,224 -127,203 0 85,021 -16,195 0 68,826
Inventories 934,649 586,339 0 -348310  -1,520,339 0 -1,868,649
Other assels 26,286 5,645 0 31,931 99,266 0 131,197
Loans and borrowings 319,714 -383,652 0 63,878 1,183,685 0 1,119,807
Trade payables -18,724 82,678 0 3,954 -3,768 0 186
Other liabilities 611,714 -211,655 290,445 690,504 1,078,016 -290,445 1,418,075
Provisions 18,721 -4,041 0 14,680 9,036 0 23,116
Tax loss carried forward 1,520 -3.648 0 3,872 -684 -19 3,169
Net tax assets (tax liabilities) -281,362 -146,851 290,445 -143,768 491,478 -290,464 51,246

Within derivative transactions THUF 290,445 was accounted in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges in 2007; in 2008 this amount was transferred to the profit or
loss for the period after the transactions were closed. As at 31 December 2008 there was not deferred tax booked in other comprehensive income.
Other amounts accounted in other comprehensive income derive from translation differences of deferred tax due to changes in exchange rates.
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24. REVENUE
Description 2008 2007
Sale of own products 40,508,280 42,419,305
Sale of goods 4,188,987 2,834,186
Sale of materials 2,611,990 229112
Rendering of services 163,400 176,032
Other 2,808 1,025
Total 47,981,465 46,259,660
Composition of revenue by geographical regions:
Description 2008 2007

Hungary 30,620,295 28,695,821
Italy 2,595,821 4,063,324
Austria 2,902,559 3,316,220
Slovakia 2,195,353 2,128,396
Czech Republic 2,558,995 3,239,675
Romania 293131 1,650,158
Poland 0 22,102
Germany 3,718,115 171,161
Slovenia 1,960,956 1,580,804
Croatia 4,754 435,116
Serbia 244,021 995,483
Other European countries 26,8471 25,858
Other CEE 18 28,942
Outside Europe 0 0
Total 47,981,465 46,259,660
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25.  OTHER INCOME

Description 2008 2007
Gain on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 13,032 28,860
Gain on sale of emission allowances 4,913 62,560
Reversal of impairment on emission allowances 0 124,956
Release of provisions 2,250 47,346
Grants received 229121 99411
Default interest received 40,915 92,230
Damages 21,368 16,823
Penalties 24,101 547,31
Performance bank guarantee (Prochem s.a.) 52,390 0
Other 75,980 78,323
Total 464,076 1,097,890

Grants received include release of deferred income due to investment tax credit.
The 2007 figure in the penalties row contains the amount of the penalty enforced from the general contractor of

the acid plant based on the contract. The general contractor contested this in 2008; the procedure at the Court of
Arbitration is underway, no decision has yet been made.
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26. MATERIAL-TYPE EXPENSES

Description 2008 2007
Costs of raw and auxiliary materials 2,832,502 2,295,001
Costs of wire/pipeline energy 30,791,464 26,428,211
Costs of maintenance and other materials 489,164 513,672
Transportation costs 1,239,513 1,790,635
Maintenance costs 456,355 230,694
Keep-up costs 233,621 263,042
Security costs 171377 90,003
Travel and accommodation costs, inland and abroad 48,030 43,652
Rentals and utilisation fees 58,125 29,635
Accounting and audit fees 21,513 19,512
Advisory and expert fees 134,625 83,524
Advertising costs 116,374 39,210
Bank charges 101,027 64,859
Insurance premiums 141,494 106,574
Other services 461,225 361,879
Costs of goods sold (COGS) 2,923,198 896,903
Services sold (mediated) 139,969 81,903
Total 40,311,642 33,338,909

Cleaning was carried out in the decommissioned acid plant. The technological equipment was cleaned with a
special procedure, during which the precious metals of platinum, rhodium and palladium were recovered and sold
with a carrying value of THUF 310,409. This income reduced the costs of basic and auxiliary materials in 2008.

2]. STAFF COSTS

Description 2008 2007
Wage cost 2,835,232 2,555,719
Other staff benefits 350,624 691,964
Wage contributions 982,761 913,403
Total 4,168,617 4,161,086
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28. OTHER EXPENSES

Description 2008 2007

Loss on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 423 8,371
Loss on sale of emission allowances 4,913 0
Impairment on emission allowances 0 124,956
Impairment on trade receivables 12,413 26,299
Impairment on inventories 47,113 167
Provisions 345,489 4,912
Scrapped and missing assets 208,428 54,030
MSZKSZ membership fee 15,594 83,208
Taxes and contributions 695,989 524,034
Support given 1,105 6,534
Damage 18,079 24,631
Damages 9,166 24,012
Default interest payable 23,404 11,831
Carrying amount of forgiven receivables 0 360,782
Self-revision and default charge 38,328 108
Other 28,637 114,906
Total 1,575,681 1,368,781

In 2007 carrying amount of forgiven receivables included receivables forgiven to Alma Trade Kft (THUF 110,977)
and Koronas Szarvas Kft (THUF 247,833) due to adverse effects in their sphere of aperations.
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29. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income and finance costs recognised in profit or loss

Description 2008 2007
Interest income on loans and receivables 27.367 81,001
Interest income on bank deposits 266,546 118,210
Net exchange gain on FX items without forward exchange
transactions 2,453,563 609,100
Changes in fair value of and gain on forward exchange
transactions held for trading 94,321 387,324
Changes in fair value of ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 0 855
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables 7,626 0
Other finance income Total finance income 2,849,423 1,196,490
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost 2,027,466 1,022,719
Net exchange loss on FX items without forward exchange
transactions 2,602,479 768,300
Changes in fair value of and loss on forward exchange
transactions held for trading 4,205,510 5,028,031
Changes in fair value of ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 0 5,047
Total finance costs 8,835,455 6,824,092
Net finance costs -5,986,032 5,621,602
Finance income and finance costs recognised in other comprehensive income

Description 2008 2007
Translation difference 174 51
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 1,156,525 -2,141,065
Net changes in fa!r value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit 2 608,748 694,847
or loss for the period
Income tax on f|nalnce_ income and finance costs recognised in 290,464 290,445
other comprehensive income
Finance income/costs recognised in other comprehensive 1,160,985 1,161,829

income, net of tax
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30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group considers corporation tax and in Hungary special tax as income tax. The base for special tax differs
from the corporation tax base.

Income tax rates for the Company:

Description 2008 2007
Corporation tax 16% 1%
Special tax 16% 1%

Income tax recognised in the profit or loss for the period in the consolidated annual report for the years ended 31
December 2007 and 2008 comprises the following:

Description 2008 2007

Current period income tax expense

Current period income tax expense 647,044 299,449
Total current period income tax expense 647,044 299,449
Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences -491,478 146,851
Total deferred tax expense -491,478 146,851
Income tax 155,566 446,300
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30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation of income tax calculated based on accounting profit and current period income tax, as well as of
applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate is presented in the table below:

Description 2008 2007
Profit for the period 923,233 131,760
Income lax expense 155,566 446,300
Profit before income tax 1,078,799 1,178,060

Expected income tax calculated at the income tax rate of the

Company 20% 215,160  20% 235,612
Impact of tax rate in foreign countries 0% 306 0% -281
Impact of different tax rates 0% 490 1% 127,106
Impact of tax rate changes 0% 1,394 0% 0
Non-deductible expenses 8% 86,165  10% 123,149
Income exempt of tax -14% 148529 -3% -36,652
Other items 0% 20 0% 2
Corporation tax loss carried forward not recognised previously 0% 0 0% -2,136
Income tax 14% 155,566 38% 446,300
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31. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group is exposed to the following risks derived from financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidlity risk
market risk {including currency and interest rate risk)

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for setting the risk management guidelines and
frameworks for the Group. His task is to design and set up a standard risk management policy and strategy, and
continuously monitor the risks to which the Company is exposed. The CEO is also responsible for regularly
reviewing risk management policies and strategies, as well as updating and modifying them if market
circumstances change.

Carrying amount of financial instruments of the Group by categories:

Descrintion 31 December 31 December
P 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 1,645,793 4,015,461
Loans granted 1,610,799 1,885,046
Trade receivables 5,034,877 5,630,322
Other financial assets 1,322 12,409
Total loans and receivables 6,646,998 15,211,171
Holdings 120,249 250,948
Total available for sale financial assets 120,249 250,948
Derivative transactions 0 11,566
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0 11,566
Derivative transactions 0 5,721,536
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 0 5,121,536
Loans and borrowings 29,316,267 21,579,855
Other non-current financial liabilities 533,641 494 876
Trade payables 5,101,448 4,556,876
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 117,764 81,817
Total other financial liabilities 35,129,120 32,119,424

31, MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
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(a)  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. From
the perspective of the Group this primarily means the non-payment risk of clients.

Trade receivables and other financial assets

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
However, the Group also considers the geographical position of its customer base, past experience, features of
agriculture, the seasonal nature of fertiliser use and the impact of the economic crisis on the Company's primary
customers. The Company monitors the payment abilities of its primary customers and any influencing factors.
The Group sets the payment conditions offered to individual customers based on provisional and if necessary ad-
hoc reviews of creditworthiness as well as the factors outlined above. The Group prescribes payment by letters of
credit for some export customers. As a result of the economic crisis which emerged in 2008 the Group introduced
sales with advance payments for both domestic and foreign customers.

In Hungary the Group primarily sells to a relatively low number of wholesalers.
Maximum value as at 31 December of assets exposed to credit risk is presented in the following table:

Descriotion 31 December 31 December
P 2008

2007

Domestic trade receivables — wholesalers 2,843,560 2,231,346
Domestic trade receivables — other 1,937,184 915,067
Foreign trade receivables 254,133 2,483,909
Loans granted 1,610,799 1,885,046
Positive fair value of derivatives 0 11,566
Cash and cash equivalents 1,645,793 4,015,461
Other financial assets 1,322 12,409
Maximum value of assets exposed to credit risk

as at 31 December 8,292,191 11,560,804

21 wholesalers accounted for THUF 2,843,560 of domestic trade receivables as of 31 December 2008 (THUF
2,231,346 for 31 wholesalers as of 31 December 2007). In 2008 these customers generated sales revenue of
THUF 16,683,539 (THUF 27,354,038 in 2007), which is 57.17% of domestic sales revenue (63.65% in 2007).
Collection policy

For trade receivables past their payment deadline the Group sends reminder letters to partners every fortnight,
who then have eight days to settle their debts. For accounts not settled, payment by transfer is prohibited and
goods may only be sold going forward with cash payments. After the third reminder letter the collection is
enforced through legal channels.

Default interest

Letters confirming default interest are sent to our debtors every quarter.

31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
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Rating and impairment of receivables

The receivables in the accounting records are rated per debtor - based on the maturity date of the receivable, the
willingness and ability of the debtor to pay, and past experience of the debtor. During the rating process,
impairment is recorded on overdue and doubtful receivables with due consideration of their recoverability.

The Group's credit risk exposure is reflected by the carrying value of the financial assets.

The impairment recorded on trade receivables is presented in the following tables broken down by maturity and
the reporting year changes to impairment. There are no matured receivables under loans and other financial
receivables, and so no impairment is recorded.

The following table shows cost and impairment of trade receivables by maturity:

L 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Description ) .
Cost Impairment Cost Impairment
Not yet due 4,101 0 4,292,100 0
Between 1 - 90 days 266,262 0 1,286,363 630
Between 91 - 180 days 39,231 3219 23,280 4,630
Between 180 - 360 days 8293 2919 33,648 9,977
Over 360 days 53,868 36,810 11,463 61,885
Total 5,071,825 42,948 5,107,454 11132

Changes in impairment allocated on trade receivables:

Description 2008 2007
Opening balance at 1 January 77,132 67,467
Current year impairment 12,413 26,299
Derecognition of impairment 46,597 16,634
Balance of impairment at 31 December 42,948 77,132
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31, MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to settle its financial liabilities when they fall due. The
purpose of liquidity management is to ensure sufficient resources for the settlement of liabilities when they fall
due.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group prescribes for its entities that they must maintain a strong liquidity position and shape the liquidity
profiles of their assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to ensure balanced cash flows and the settlement of all
liabilities when due.

In light of the demand for the Group's products and the seasonality of the agricultural sector the Group really has
to focus on ensuring continuous liquidity. Adequate liquidity is ensured by aligning sales prices to demand, using
prepaid sales as well as short-term working capital loans and overdraft facilities secured by goods.

As of 31 December 2007 the Group had unused credit facilities of THUF 862,318 and EUR 13,406,000,

As of 31 December 2008 the Group had an unused credit facility of THUF 783,034, which covers the liquidity
shortfall in the summer months owing to seasonal factors.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
{b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities by maturity (principal and interest cash flows):

. ] Total Between 0- Between Between1-2  Between 2- Over5
Description Carrying amount  contractual 6 6-12
months years 5 years years
cash flows months

31 December 2007
Non-derivative financial liabilities 32,119,424 3854916 12,723,394 2,021,923 4,953,639 10,248,088 8,604,141
Loans and borrowings 27,579,855 33,271,380 8,087,794 2,018,709 4,927,895 10,232,321 8,004,655
Other non-current financial liabilities 494 876 633,521 0 0 25,744 15,761 599492
Trade payables 4,556,876 4,556,876 4,556,876 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 87817 81,938 18,724 9,214 0 0 0
Derivative financial liabilities 5121,536 184,660,245 97,662,850 86,997,395 0 0 0
Hedging forward exchange transactions
- Cash outflow 1,462,223 23,716,422 12,706,350 11,010,072 0 0 0
- Cash inflow 0 22,213,861 11,671,025 10,542,836 0 0 0
Other forward exchange transactions
- Cash outflow 4,269,313 71,572,240 38,169,571 33,402,669 0 0 0
- Cash inflow 0 67,157,722 35115904 32,041,818 0 0 0
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Descripti Carrying Contractual cash Between 0- Between 6- Between1- Between 2- Over 5
escription

amount flows 6 months 12 months 2 years 5 years years
31 December 2008
Non-derivative financial liabilities 35,129,120 41,396,117 16,286,696 2,780,001 6,500,805 9,046,496 6,782,029
Loans and borrowings 29,376,267 35,606,347 11075526 2770630 6486296 9046496 6,128,399
Other non-current financial liabilities 533.641 669,229 0 0 15,599 0 653,630
Trade payables 5,101,448 5,101,448 5,101,448 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 117,764 119,093 109,722 9.3/ 0 0 0

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2008.

The above tables present the undiscounted cash flows of the Groups financial liabilities according to their earliest possible maturity. The gross nominal outflow reflects the
undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

{c) Marketrisk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will
affect the Group's results and the fair values of financial instruments reported in the financial statements. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures while optimising the return.
The Company's finance department focuses on market risk management.

In terms of market risk the Group is primarily exposed to currency risks as well as cash-flow risks derived from
changes to interest rates.

Currency risk

The foreign currency risk is derived partly from the Company's foreign currency positions (foreign currency
income, foreign currency loans, foreign currency liabilities, including foreign currency confractual liabilities that are
payable in forints) and FCY ftransactions covering these pasitions, and partly from other FCY transactions
concluded by the finance department.

The Group's exposure by currencies:

At 31 December 2007:

Description EUR usb Other

Loans granted 1,298,562 1422 0
Trade receivables 2,863,458 32,161 0
Cash and cash equivalents 639,116 40,096 0
Total loans and receivables 4,801,135 80,279 0
Holdings 148 0 0
Total available for sale financial assets 148 0
Derivative transactions 0 1,806,657

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 0 1,806,657

Loans and borrowings 26,488,634 0 0
Other non-current financial liabilities 0 454,815 0
Trade payables 465,580 0 1179
Total other financial liabilities 26,954,214 454,815 1.179
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

© Market risk (continued)

At 31 December 2008:

Description EUR usD Other

Loans granted 436,691 0 0
Trade receivables 1,489,473 0 50
Cash and cash equivalents 750,841 1427 0
Total loans and receivables 2,671,005 1,421 50
Holdings 10,049

Total available for sale financial assets 10,049

Loans and borrowings 17,001,316 1,733,599 0
Other non-current financial liabilities 0 518,292 0
Trade payables 808,613 2,813,221 217
Total other financial liabilities 17,809,929 5,065,113 211

The risk derived from the exposure to currency risks is countered by the Company by means of forward
transactions in accordance with the risk management guidelines set forth in internal procedures. The Company
uses hedge accounting to deal with the effect on profit or loss of fluctuations in the exchange rate.

The Group applied the following significant exchange rates expressed in HUF:

Average rate of exchange

reporting date

Spot exchange rate at the

Currency 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

1EUR = 251.25 251.31 264.21 264.18 253.35 252.30
1CHF = 158.5 153.03 168.02 171.78 152.42 156.99
1RON = 68.23 75.46 74.96 66.11 10.32 74.64
1RSD = 3.09 3.14 3.23 2.95 3.16 318
1USD = 171.80 183.83 210.51 181.91 112.61 191.62
1 SKK = 8.04 1.44 11 8.719 1.54 1.31
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31. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
© Market risk (continued)
Analysis of exchange-rale sensitivity

The appreciation in the HUF around the reporting date would have increased or decreased equity and profit vis-a-
vis the following currencies as shown in the following table. The analysis was based on exchange rate changes
deemed reasonably possible by the Group on the reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other variables
remain constant, including interest rates. The analysis is based on the same principles as for comparative data,
with the exception of the exchange rate fluctuation deemed reasonably possible, which is different, as
demonstrated in the table below.

2008 2007
Currency Rate of Rate of
strengthening  Equity Result strengthening Equity Result
(%) (%)
HUF/EUR 15 0 2268431 8 o 1772186
HUF/USD 23 0 1,163,268 11 -2,350,302  -1,212,657

The table shows the impact on equity and profit or loss of an appreciation in the HUF against the given
foreign currencies.

As of 31 December 2007 the Group had a USD call/EUR put forward transaction with a nominal value of USD
314,256,000, which had a fair value on the reporting date of a THUF 17,566 profit and a THUF 3,914,879 loss.
The 13% swing in the EUR/USD exchange rate (stronger USD against the FUR) would have raised the profit by
THUF 6,890,053. As of 31 December 2008 the Group had no pending forward transactions.

If the HUF, or for hedge transactions the USD, were to weaken as of the reporting date against the currencies
above, this would have the same but opposing effect on equity and profit or loss, provided that all other variables
remain constant.

Interest risk

Interest rate risk is derived from the changes in the interest rates on the Group's interest-bearing assets and
drawn loans.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
© Market risk {continued)

Interest rate structure of the interest-bearing financial instruments of the Group as at the reporting date:

Description 2008 2007
Fixed-interest instruments
Financial assets 1,655,062 4,020,686
Financial liabilities 551,933 1,923,665
Total carrying amount 2,206,995 5,944,351
Floating-rate instruments
Financial assets 885,273 956,539
Financial liabilities 29,376,267 26,159,211
Total carrying amount 30,261,540 21,115,150

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate financial instruments

The Group generally does not have fixed rate financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, nor did it conclude interest rate swaps for hedging purposes. Therefore a change in the
interestrate as at the reporting date would not affect the Company's equity and profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rale financial instruments

The following increases in interest rates as of the reporting date would have increased equity and profit or loss as

shown in the table below. This analysis assumed that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

© Market risk (continued)

2008 2007
Description Increase Increase

(basis Equity Result (basis Equity Result

point) point)
Q;’@ﬂ;‘f;?fmum 31 100,066 100,066 53 8,009 8,000
QS$EPngéL?;e(usD) 60 17,702 17,702 57 0 0
Q;’?ﬂﬂng;ﬁe(wm B 76281 76,284 53 5139 51,398
Cash flow 194,052 194,052 59,407 59,407

sensitivity, net
Afall in the interest rate as of the reporting date would have the same but opposing effect on equity and profit or

loss, provided that all other variables remain constant.
In the table above, the change in profit or loss is alsoincluded in the amount of the change in equity.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)

(d)  Fair value of financial instruments

The following table presents fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments:

Description Note 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value
amount amount

L oans granted 1,610,799 1,610,799 1,885,046 1,885,046
Trade receivables 5,034,877 5,034,87/ 5,630,322 5,630,322
Qther financial assets 1,322 1,322 12,409 12,409
Cash and cash equivalents 1,645,793 1,645,793 4,015,461 4,015,461
Total loans and receivables 8,292,791 8,292,791 11,543,238 11,543,238
Holdings 120,249 120,249 250,948 250,948
Total available for sale financial 120,249 120,249 250,948 250,948
assets

Derivative transactions 0 0 17,566 11,566
Finaﬁcial assets at fair value through 0 0 17,566 17,566
profit or loss

Derivative transactions 0 0 5,121,536 5,121,536
Finqncial liabilities at fair value through 0 0 572153 5721536
profit or loss

Loans and borrowings 29,316,261 29,316,267 215719865 27,579,855
Other non-current financial liabilities 533,641 533,641 494,876 494,876
Trade payables 5,101,448 5,101,448 4,556,876 4,556,876
Qther financial liabilities and derivatives 117,764 117,764 87,817 87817
Total other financial liabilities 35,129,120 35,129,120 32,719,424 32,719,424

F-196



NITROGENMUVEK ZRT. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2008
(All figures are in THUF except if otherwise indicated)

31. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(d)  Fair value of financial instruments){continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels of
the fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:
- lLevel 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Description
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total available for sale financial

assets 0 120,249 0 0 250,948 0
Financial assets from derivatives 0 0 0 0 17,566 0
Total carrying amount 0 120,249 0 0 268514 0
Financial liabilities from

derivatives 0 0 0 0 5721536 0
Total carrying amount 0 0 0 0 57215636 0

There were no reclassification among levels in the above periods.

{e)  Capital management

The Group aims to establish a strong equity position to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and the
market and support the future development of its business activities. The management constantly monitors the
yields achieved, which are the operating profit, profit before tax and the debt service indicator. The management
also monitors the registered capitalfequity ratios of the Company and the subsidiaries to ensure they comply with
statutory levels.

Debt service indicator:

(Profit after tax in reporting year - dividend + reporting year depreciation + reparting year interest on long-term
liability + reporting year interest on member loan) / (next year's repayment instalment of long-term liability and
member loan + reporting year interest of long-term liability)

The debt service indicator is calculated based on the figures in the Company's separate Hungarian financial
statements and the Company's bank loan agreements.
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31.  MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued)
(e)  Capital management (continued)

Qperating profit in 2008: THUF 7,064,830 (in 2007: THUF 6,805,661).
Pre-tax profit in 2008: THUF 1,078,798, (in 2007: THUF 1,178,059).
Debt service indicator in 2008: 1.2 (in 2007: -0.33)

When managing its capital the Group strives towards achieving a balance between the highest possible profit,
dividend and liabilities as well as a strong equity position.

The Group aims to keep the debt service ratio at the level permitted by the loan agreements.

Withdrawing dividends is subject to a debt service ratio of at least 1.3.

Legal regulations applicable for the Company and its Hungarian subsidiaries prescribe the following provisions for
equity:

To protect creditors, the Business Associations Act prescribes the following in terms of equity compliance: "If,
according to the annual report prepared pursuant to the Accounting Act, a business association does not have
sufficient equity to cover the share capital prescribed for its form of business association over two consecutive
financial years, and the members (shareholders) of the business association fail to provide for the necessary
equity within a period of three months after approval of the annual report prepared pursuant to the Accounting Act
for the second year, the business association shall be required to adopt a decision within sixty days of this
deadline on restructuring the enterprise into a different form of business association, or for its termination without
legal succession”

Serbian laws do not contain any restrictive sanctions with regard to the Serbian subsidiaries.

All of the Group members complied with the capital requirements above as of 31 December 2007 and 31
December 2008.

32. OPERATING LEASES
Operating leases with the Group as lessee

The amount of minimum lease payments in connection with non-cancellable operative lease obligations was zero
both in 2007 and 2008.

Operating leases with the Group as lessor

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Description 2008 2007
Due within 1 year 35,593 32,085
Due within 1-5 years 0 4]
Due over 5 years 0 4]
Total 35,593 32,085
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32.  OPERATING LEASES (continued)

Operating leases relate to temporary lease of parts of property and other equipment not used for own purposes.

33.  AQUISITION OF ENTITIES UNDER COMMON CONTROL

As of 29 December 2007 the Group acquired SC BH CHEMICAL IMPEX SRL from Bige Holding Zrt. Bige
Holding Zrt. is a related party of the Company and belongs to the same proprietary structure as the Group. The
difference between the price paid and the carrying value of the net assets acquired reduced the accumulated
profit (see Note 15).

Reconciliation of acquired assets and liabilities and consideration paid:

Description 2007
Property, plant and equipment 4,480
Intangible assets 15
Trade receivables 89,249
Other receivables 36716
Cash 61,219
Trade payables 47,864
Other liabilities 2,115
Carrying amount of acquired net assets at the acquiree 108,600
Difference of consideration and carrying amount of acquired net assets 641,400
Consideration 750,000
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34,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guaraniee

The Company provided guarantees as follows:

to Koronds Szarvas Kft. for the THUF 60,000 working capital loan and related charges as provided by
Pilisvorosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative, an agent of the Hungarian Development Bank, with
Pilisvérosvar és Vidéke Savings Cooperative as the beneficiary.

to Lészlo Tibor Bige for the repayment of the THUF 350,000 loan disbursed by Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. and
related charges, with Raiffeisen Bank Zrt. as the beneficiary.

Based on a purchase obligation agreement between RB Kereskeddhdz Kit. and the Company,
Nitrogénmiivek Zrt. has a purchase obligation to be met by 31 July 2009 for fertiliser sold by BH Genezis Kft.
and BH Kft. Szolnok to RB Keresked6héz Kft. RB Kereskeddhéz Kit. enforced this obligation in 2009.

Litigation

The Company has no foreseeable payment obligations from litigation and therefore no provisions were recorded
on this basis.

As of the reporting date the Group had the following pending litigation:

Jan Brondos, claimant, launched an action against Nitrogénmivek Zrt., respondent, to have execution
proceedings terminated.

In the legal supervision proceedings launched by Sandor Falussy against Nitrogénmivek Zrt. the applicant
submitted a supervision application on 20 September 2008 to the Supreme Court against the decision made
by the Gyér Court of Appeal, requesting that the second-instance decision made by the Court of Appeal be
changed.
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35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Evenis related to investment tax credits

In 2009 the Company does not meet the wage cost condition, but based on Sections 28 and 145 (4) of Act CXVI
of 2009 and with reference to the economic crisis, before the deadline for submitting the 2009 tax return the
Company may request a postponement of 1 year to meet the conditions and use the tax credit; the Company
availed itself of this option. Deferring is also possible in 2010.

Other evenis

In the second half of 2008 the financial and economic crisis that spread throughout the world affected
Nitrogénmivek Zrt and its subsidiaries as well as agricultural entities using fertilisers, and financial difficulties
surfaced.

On 28 February 2009 and to ensure a smooth supply of nitrogen fertiliser in Hungary the Company re-launched
the production capacities which were shut down from 18 October 7008 on account of the uncertain market
outlook.

The resources required for this were provided by the government in the form of a working capital loan of HUF 10
billion based on Government Resolution 1086/2008 (XII. 20.) as modified by Government Resolution 1007/2009
{l. 23).

The Company completed its investrments resuilting in the introduction of new, world-class technologies.

After a successful trial operation period the Company capitalised its Granulation Plant on 1 April 2009.

At the start of the year the Company decided to insource some activities it had previously outsourced.

A stake was purchased in RSR Nitro Kft. and a decision was made to wind up Péti Gépészeti Kft. and Péti VMA
Kft. with solvent liquidation proceedings.
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36. RELATED PARTIES
Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel received the following benefits:

Description 2008 2007
Short-term benefits (honoraria, bonus) 539,525 139,076
Early retirement pension 5,842
Total 539,525 144,918

There were no other transactions with key management personnel.
Transactions with other related pariies
Balances with related parties are detailed in the individual notes. Balances are unsecured.

Transactions with related parties are as follows:

Description 2008 2007
Sale of goods to related parties 17,623,690 5,173,979
Purchase of goods from related parties 1,288,554 6,022,795
Services provided to related parties 830 1,082
Services used from related parties 178,621 28,500
Loans to key management personnel 300,000 534,312
Interest on loans to key management parsonnel 12,714 36,576

The Group used maintenance and security services provided by related companies.

Balance of loans to key management personnel:

Description 2008 2007
Loans to key management personnel 834,312 534,312
Interest on loans to key management parsonnel 149,290 36,576

The loans were granted to owners who are at the same time key managmenet personnel. Terms of the loans are
detailed in Note 8.

Other transactions were concluded at arm's length prices.
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37. EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTING IFRSS

As determined in Note 1.1.(a), these consolidated financial statements were compiled in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group applied the main accounting policies set forth in Note 1.2 for the financial statements compiled for the
year ended 31 December 2008 and the year ended 31 December 2007, and when compiling the opening IFRS
statements as of 1 January 2007 - the date the Group switched to IFRS.

When putting together the opening IFRS statements the Group altered the amounts in the previous consolidated
financial statements, which were compiled in accordance with accounting standards applicable in Hungary. The
following tables and notes present the impact on the financial situation, financial performance and cash flow of
switching from the previous accounting standards to [FRS.

Impact of adoption on equity

K1
December 1 January
Explanation 2007 2007
Equity under previous GAAP 3910529 7,030,536
Property, plant and equipment (M 1,464,568 1,357,707
Goodwill (3 297,295 312,688
Other investments (2 108,600 0
Inventaries (1).(6).(9.(10) 1,811,251 3,601,156
Trade receivables (8).(9 411,268 1,042,523
Other financial assets and derivatives (2).(6).13) 5,163,104 202,915
Loans and borrowings (10) 0 2,030,622
Other non-current financial liabilities 7 144,674 183,113
Other non-current liabilities (13) -5,849,500 0
Trade payables (10) 0 390,848
Other financial liabilities and derivatives (6).(8).(12) 2,559,997 615,114
Other current liabilities (9),(10),(13) 2423136 1,613,741
Provisions 4).(5) 4,912 179,218
Deferred tax assets / liabilities (14) 198,111 -332,898
Translation reserve (15) 51 0
Equity under IFRSs 6,567,041 8,853,511
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

Impact of adoption on fotal comprehensive income

2007
Other
Profit or loss for  comprehensive

Explanation the period income
Total comprehensive income under previous GAAP 3,072,014 0
Revenue (8).(9),0100,(11) -4,929,693 0
Other income (5),(13) -154,605 0
Material-type expenses 6).(9),010),(11) 5,931,665 0
Staff costs (5 -33.363 0
Depreciation and amortisation (n 106,861 0
Other expenses (3),(4).(6).(8) 5112543 0
Value of self-manufactured inventories (1).(6),(9),(10) 1,837,145 0
Finance income (6).(10) 134,591 0
Finance costs (6),(7).(10) 147,91 0
Hedging reserve 0 1,452,223
Income tax (14) -405,870 290,445
Translation reserve {15) 0 51
Total comprehensive income under [FRSs 131,759 1,161,829

Differences are presented as follows:
(1) Depreciation of tangible assets
2007
Consolidaied statement of comprehensive income 31 December
Depreciation 106,861
Changes in self-manufactured stocks - 1,525
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 105,336
31 December 1 January

Consolidated sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Property, plant and equipment 1,464,568 1,357,107
Inventories 6,020 1,545
Related income tax impact - 294118 - 273,050
Adjustment of retained earnings 1,116,410 1,092,202

37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)
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During the switch the useful lives of assets in the production plants were recalculated, which meant the
depreciation charge under IFRS is different from that applied under the Hungarian standards. Under Hungarian
regulations there is no rule that estimates of useful lives must be updated every year, and so the useful lives
previously determined are applied.

Longer useful lives are set in the IFRS financial statements than under Hungarian accounting standards, and
therefore re-setting the useful lives increases the net value of property, plant and equipment, while via the prime
cost it also impacts on the value of self-manufactured inventories.

(2) Accounting for acquisition of a business unit

31 December 1 January

Consolidated siatement of financial position 2007 2007
Investments 108,600
Other financial assets and derivatives - 750,000
Adjustment of retained earnings - 641,400

The Company acquired SC BH CHEMICAL IMPEX S.R.L. in 2007. Control over this entity was transferred to the
Company in 2007 when the purchase price was paid. Under IFRS this does not count as a business combination,
since according to IFRS 3, acquiring an entity under common control is not considered a business combination,
and so no goodwill is created. The difference between the purchase price and the carrying value of the acquired
net assets as reported at the acquired entity is recorded directly in equity. Under Hungarian accounting standards
it is not recognised as an interest but as a receivable, since the court did not register the transfer of the ownership
right by the reporting date.

(3) Derecogpnition of gooduwill

Consolidaied sialement of comprehensive income Deci:nber
Other expenses - 15,368
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax - 15,368
31

December 1 January
Consolidated sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Goodwill 291,320 312,688
Adjustment of retained earnings 291,320 312,688

If a company establishes a separate entity this is not considered a business combination under IFRS, and
therefore no goodwill is recognised upon the establishment. Under Hungarian accounting standards, goodwill is
reported as the difference between the paid amount and the amount pertaining to the Company of the acquired
entity's equity as of the initial consolidation, calculated under Hungarian accounting standards.

37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)
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{4) Accounting for provisions allocated for delivery obligation of emission allowances

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Deci:nber
Other expenses 51,648
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 571,648
31

December 1 January
Consolidaied sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Provisions -4.912 - 62,560
Related income tax impact 982 12,512
Adjustment of retained earnings - 3,930 -50,048

Under IFRS, provisions were allocated for the surrendering obligation related to emission allowances calculated
based on actual emissions, while no provision was recorded under Hungarian accounting standards. The
provision was reversed in 2007 when the surrendering obligation was met.

{5) Accounting for provisions allocated for termination benefits and early retirement pensions

31 December

Consolidaied statement of comprehensive income 2007

Other income - 208,415
Staff costs - 33,363
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax -241,718

31 Decemher 1 January

Consolidated siatement of financial position 2007 2007

Provisions 0 241,778
Related income tax impact 0 - 48,356
Adjustment of retained earnings 0 193422

Under IFRS the conditions for recording provisions differ from those applied under Hungarian accounting
standards, and therefore provisions were reported under Hungarian rules that do not comply with the recognition
requirements under IFRS. Based on Hungarian accounting standards, provisions were recorded as of 31
December 2006 for early retirement and termination benefits, but these were only communicated to those
affected after the reporting date, in 2007, and therefore as of 31 December 2006 there was no legal or
constructive obligation for the Company to make such payments. As of 31 December 2007, however, the
provision was recorded under [FRS too.
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

{6) Measurement of forward transactions

2007
Consolidated sialement of comprehensive income 31 December
Material-type expenses -694,842
Other expenses 5,031,054
Changes in self-manufactured stocks 42,939
Finance income - 149,397
Finance costs 243,160
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 4,473514

31 December 1 January

Consolidaied sialement of financial position 2007 2007

Inventories 42,939 0
Other financial assets and derivatives 17,566 202,915
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 4,016,038 - 599,886
Related income tax impact - 815,309 19,394
Adjustment of retained earnings 3,261,234 -31577

31 December 1 January

Consolidated sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Other financial liabilities and derivatives -1,462,223
Related income tax impact 290,445
Adjustment of hedging reserve -1,161,778

The method for calculating and accounting the fair value of forward transactions also differs in IFRS from the
Hungarian standards. In the IFRS financial statements the fair value is determined as the present value of future
profit discounted with a risk-free return, calculated based on an estimate of forward prices computed in turn
based on a curve of market interest rates. Under Hungarian accounting standards the reporting date value of
forward transactions for deals closed between the reporting date and the balance sheet preparation date is the
actual result, while for deals closed thereafter it is the value calculated using the price valid as of the date the
financial statements were prepared.

Under IFRS, the fair values of all forward transactions measured as of the reporting date are recognised under
other financial receivables and derivatives or other financial liabilities and derivatives in the balance sheet,
depending on whether the fair value is positive (gain) or negative (loss).
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

In IFRS, the effective part of hedges is recognised directly in equity in the hedging reserve, while under
Hungarian standards hedge accounting was not applied; for this reason the result of all forward transactions as of
the reporting date is recorded directly in the profit or loss for the period. Under Hungarian accounting rules the
results of forward transactions between the reporting date and the preparation date of the Hungarian financial
statements are recognised under profit or loss on financial transactions, while for those transactions completed
after the Hungarian financial statements are prepared the value measured as of the reporting date is recorded
under other expenses.

The effective portion of forward transactions used for hedging purposes is accounted for under IFRS in
accordance with the host contract (material cost) when the transaction is closed, while hedge accounting is not
applied under the Hungarian standards and the profit or loss on forward transactions appears under financial
profit or loss in the reporting year at the expected amount of the loss, and at the actual amount when the
transaction is completed. Since the host contract concerned the purchase of gas and this commodity was
accounted for under costs, according to IFRS the effective portion of the hedge also medifies the material cost,
and through this the cost of self-manufactured inventories.

(1) Measurement of financial liabilities

31 December

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2007
Finance costs - 38,439
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax - 38439

31 December 1 January

Consolidated statement of financial position 2007 2007

Other non-current financial liabilities 144,674 183,113
Related income tax impact - 28,935 - 36,623
Adjustment of retained earnings 115,739 146,490

The Group has one non-interest bearing long-term liability to one of its material suppliers. Financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value under IFRS, before being reported at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method; under the Hungarian accounting standards both the initial and subsequent recognitions are at the
contractual nominal value.
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

(8) Accounting for subsequent discounts

31 December

Consolidated siatement of comprehensive income 2007
Revenue 222,240
Other expenses 44,491
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax -177,149

31 December 1 January
Consolidated sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Trade receivables -203,823 - 29,892
Other financial liabilities and derivatives -3.818 0
Related income tax impact 41,528 5978
Adjustment of retained earnings -166,113 -23914

Ex ante uninvaiced discounts (relative to sales) are considered by IFRS as items lowering sales revenue, while
under the Hungarian accounting standards they are recorded as other expense in the profit or loss for the period,
if the period of the discount is closed by the reporting date; otherwise they are recognised at the expected
amount, but no later than when the discount is financially settled. Under IFRS the discount lowers the trade
receivable and any excess is recorded as an ‘other financial liability', while under Hungarian accounting standards

the whole amount payable on account of the discount is recorded as a liability.

{9) Accounting for sales

31 December

Consolidaied statement of comprehensive income 2007
Revenue 1,308,637
Material-type expenses 14
Changes in self-manufactured stocks -1,195.923
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 112,728

31 December 1 January
Consolidated sialement of financial position 2007 2007
Inventories 1,762,292 2,958,200
Trade receivables -213,445 -1,012,631
Other current liabilities -2,226,342 2,135,193
Related income tax impact 135,499 158,045
Adjustment of retained earnings -541,996 -632,179

37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)
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The Group sells some of its goods as part of contractual storage frameworks, in which the requirements for
recognising sales revenue under IFRS are not fulfilled; this is because the goods are not separated by customer
name, and so they are not ready for delivery. Sales revenue is recognised when the product is delivered to the
customer. Prior o the recognition of sales revenue the amount paid by the customer is recognised under other
liabilities as an advance payment. Under Hungarian accounting standards, sales are accounted independently of
all this and the sales revenue is recognised as of the performance date specified in the contract.

{10) Accounting for credits from trading houses

31 December

Consolidated siatement of comprehensive income 2007

Revenue -1,122053
Material-type expenses 1,732,440
Changes in self-manufactured stocks -682,636
Finance income 14,181
Finance costs -60,221
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax -117,689

31 December 1 January

Consolidated statement of financial position 2007 2007

Inventories 0 635,410
Loans and horrowings 0 -2,030,622
Trade payables 0 390,848
Other current liabilities 0 1,122,053
Related income tax impact 0 - 23538
Adjustment of retained earnings 0 94,151

For financing purposes the Group transfers goods to financial institutions (trading houses) specifying repurchase
rights and obligations. Under Hungarian accounting standards this is accounted as a sale, while under IF RS there
is no sale in view of the content of the contract, and instead it is construed as a loan secured by goods. There is
no supply of goods under IFRS and the sales revenue is not accounted until the goods are actually delivered to
the customer. Under IFRS the amount received from the trading house is recorded as a liability to the trading
house under borrowings until the financial settlement after the return. According to Hungarian accounting
standards, at the time of the return the amount not yet paid to the trading house is recognised under trade
payables.
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

{(11) Netting of revenues

31 December

Consolidated sialement of comprehensive income 2007

Revenue -4,894,037
Material-type expenses 4,894,037
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 0

The Group sells the goods of a related company as an agent, which under IFRS are accounted net, and only the
agent fee can be recognised as sales revenue since essentially all of the risks and benefits are borne by the
principal. By contrast, under Hungarian accounting standards, third-party sales revenue is recorded based on a
consignment framework, along with goods purchased from related parties, at the cost of goods sold.

{12) Recagnition of dividends

31 December 1 January

Consolidated siatement of financial position 2007 2007
Other financial liabilities and derivatives 0 1,215,000
Adjustment of retained earnings 0] 1,215,000

Under IFRS, dividend liabilities are only recognised if such are duly approved by the reporting date. Under
Hungarian regulations any dividends approved by the publication of the reporting year financial statements are
accounted in the reporting year financial statements. Since the divided on the 2006 profits was only approved in
2007, and was paid in 2007, under IFRS the dividend is accounted in 2007 and reduces the accumulated profit.

{13) Accounting for investment tax credit

31 December

Consolidated sialement of comprehensive income 2007

Other income 53.810
Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 53,810
Income tax - 204,640
Adjustment of profit or loss for the period -150,830
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

31 December 1 January

Consolidaied sialement of financial position 2007 2007

Other financial assets and derivatives 5,895,538 0
Other non-current liabilities -5,849,500 0
Other current liabilities - 196,868 0
Adjustment of retained earnings -150,830 0

Investment tax discounts are accounted under Hungarian standards when used, lowering the actual tax expense.
Under IFRS and by analogy with IAS 20 Government grants, the whole amount of the credit expected to be
recovered is accounted as a receivable from the government and as an accrued asset. The accrued income is
reversed as other income in proportion to the accounting as expense of the property, plant or equipment realised
in the investment related to the investment tax credit.

(14) Income tax, deferred tax

The IFRSs demand the settlement of deferred tax for the temporary differences between the IFRS balance sheet
figures and the balance sheet figures determined on the basis of tax laws. Hungarian standards only permit the
accounting of deferred tax in consolidated financial statements and only for temporary consolidation eliminations
{generally due to the elimination of interim resuilts).

Due to the accounting of deferred tax the accounting of investment tax credits differs in the IFRS from Hungarian
regulations, since under HAS the investment tax credit reduces the amount payable in the year when it is
included in the tax return, while according to the IFRS the investment tax credit is recorded by analogy with I1AS
20 on Government grants.

According to IFRS the tax impact of the items recorded under other comprehensive income must also be stated
under other comprehensive income, while under the HAS both actual and deferred tax must be recognised in the
profit or loss for the period.

(15) Differences on translation of foreign operations
The difference arising upon the switch of foreign interests from the functional currency to the presentation

currency is recorded under IFRS directly in equity in the translation reserve. By contrast, under Hungarian
regulations it is recognised in the reporting year profit or loss.
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37.  EXPLANATION FOR ADOPTION OF IFRSS (continued)

{16) Summary of factors adjusting comprehensive income

Adjustment of profit or loss before tax resulting from the above impacts:

31 December

Consolidated siatement of financial position Note 2007

Depreciation of tangible assets (1) 105,336

Derecognition of goodwill 3) - 15,368

Accounting for provisions allocated for delivery obligation of emission

allowances ) 57,648

Accounting for provisions allocated for termination benefits and early

retirement pensions ®) - 241,778

Measurement of forward transactions ) 4,473,574

Measurement of financial liabilities N - 38,439

Accounting for subsequent discounts (8) -177,749

Accounting for sales © 112,128

Accounting for credits frm trading houses (10) - 117,689

Accounting for investment tax credit (13) 53,810

Other items (14) - 2,310

Adjustment of profit or loss before tax 4,209,643
Adjustment of hedging reserve resulting from the above impacts:

31 December 1 January

Consolidated statement of financial position Note 2007 2007

Measurement of forward transactions (6) 1,161,778

Adjustment of hedging reserve -1,161,718
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